EDITED BY Marzenna Anna Weresa

COMPETITIVENESS REPORT 2014

Austria Belgium **Bulgaria** Croatia Cyprus **Czech Republic** Denmark Estonia Finland France Greece Spain **Ireland** Littuania Luxemboar tatvia Nata

WARSZAN

The Netherlands Germany Poland Portugal Romania Slovakia Slovakia Slovenia Sweden Hungary Great Britzin Jaly

A Decade n the European Union

WORLD ECONOMY RESEARCH INSTITUTE WARSAW SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS

WORLD ECONOMY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

A unit of the Warsaw School of Economics, the World Economy Research Institute (WERI) conducts research on the global economy and on international economic and financial relations, analyzing their impact on the Polish economy.

The institute's research focuses on the global aspects of economic development, foreign trade and foreign direct investment as well as innovation processes and their impact on competitiveness. Selected regions of the global economy are analyzed in depth, in particular the economic development of Poland and other Central and Eastern European countries, Germany, the United States and East Asian states.

Research results are published in numerous books and reports and the Working Papers series in Polish and English, which is available online at: http://kolegia.sgh.waw.pl/pl/KGS/struktura/IGS-KGS/publikacje/Strony/default.aspx

World Economy Research Institute Collegium of World Economy Warsaw School of Economics 24 Rakowiecka St., 02-521 Warsaw tel. +48 22 564 93 70 e-mail: weri@sgh.waw.pl http://www.sgh.waw.pl/igs/

POLAND COMPETITIVENESS REPORT 2014

A Decade in the European Union

EDITED BY Marzenna Anna Weresa

POLAND COMPETITIVENESS REPORT 2014

A Decade in the European Union



WORLD ECONOMY RESEARCH INSTITUTE WARSAW SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS WARSAW 2014 This publication is a result of research conducted by the World Economy Research Institute—a unit of the Collegium of the World Economy at the Warsaw School of Economics—and financed with funds provided by the Polish Ministry of Science and Higher Education.

Reviewer Krzysztof Marczewski

English editors Patricia Koza Grzegorz Siwicki

© Copyright by the Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw 2014 All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted without the permission of the Warsaw School of Economics.

First edition

ISSN 2083-229X ISBN 978-83-7378-908-1

Warsaw School of Economics Press

162 Niepodległości Ave., 02-554 Warsaw, Poland tel. +48 22 564 94 77, +48 22 564 94 86, fax +48 22 564 86 86 www.wydawnictwo.gh.waw.pl e-mail: wydawnictwo@sgh.waw.pl

Cover design Monika Trypuz

DTP Gemma

Print and binding QUICK-DRUK s.c. tel. 42 639 52 92 e-mail: quick@druk.pdi.pl

Order 69/V/14

Contents

Preface	 9

Marzenna Anna Weresa

PART I

POLAND'S COMPETITIVE ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE AND COMPETITIVE POSITION IN 2013

Chapter 1

Economic Development and Convergence	13
1.1. Comparative Economic Performance in 2004–2013: Poland and the EU Zbigniew Matkowski, Ryszard Rapacki, Mariusz Próchniak	13
1.2. Real Income Convergence in the EU: Current Performance and Future Opportunities for Poland	43
1.3. Income Inequality and Poverty in Poland: The Impact of Poland's EU Membership on Income Inequality Patrycja Graca-Gelert	61
Chapter 2 Poland's Competitive Position in External Economic Relations	91
2.1. The Geographical Structure and Commodity Patterns of Poland's Foreign Trade after the First Decade of EU Membership Elżbieta Czarny, Katarzyna Śledziewska	92
2.2. The Impact of Poland's Accession to the European Union on the Country's Foreign Investment Attractiveness	113
2.3. Balance of Payments, Official Reserve Assets and External Debt: State of Play and Changes since Poland's EU Entry in 2004 Bogdan Radomski	134

PART II DETERMINANTS OF POLAND'S COMPETITIVENESS

Chapter 3	
Assets and Their Productivity	143
3.1. Changes in Human Resources 2004–2013: Poland and the EU Mateusz Mokrogulski	143
3.2. Physical Capital and Infrastructure Ireneusz Bil, Piotr Maszczyk	156
3.3. Innovation System Restructuring in Poland in the Context of EU Membership Marzenna Anna Weresa, Małgorzata Stefania Lewandowska	171
3.4. Changes in Total Factor Productivity in 2004–2013 and the Competitiveness of the Polish Economy	192
Chapter 4	
Policies and Institutions	205
4.1. The Influence of EU Membership on Poland's Economic Policies in 2004–2013 Jan W. Bossak	205
4.2. Financial System Development Oskar Kowalewski	215

PART III

POLAND IN THE EUROPEAN UNION: SELECTED ISSUES

Chapter 5	
The Impact of EU Membership on Poland's Competitiveness	231
5.1. Poland in European Value Chains Mariusz-Jan Radło	231
5.2. A New Approach to Innovation Policy in Poland as a Result of EU Entry Arkadiusz Michał Kowalski	250
5.3. The Role of European Funds in Improving the Innovativeness and Competitiveness of the Polish Economy <i>Iwona Grabowska</i>	265
5.4. Support for Polish Agriculture and Rural Areas from the EU Budget Elżbieta Kawecka-Wyrzykowska	286
5.5. The Impact of EU Membership on Poland's Energy Market Grażyna Wojtkowska-Łodej	301

Contents	7
Chapter 6 Poland's Contribution to European Integration	315
6.1. The Track Record of the Polish Presidency of the Council of the European Union (Selected Economic and Financial Issues) Adam A. Ambroziak	315
6.2. Poland's Role in Shaping the Eastern Dimension of the European Union's Economic Cooperation as Part of the Eastern Partnership Initiative Krzysztof Falkowski	335

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Poland's Competitive Position in the European Union at the Start of 2014	353
Marzenna Anna Weresa	

Preface

This new monograph presents the results of the latest comparative studies conducted by the World Economy Research Institute at the Warsaw School of Economics. The book aims to determine Poland's competitive position in the European Union 10 years after the country's entry into the bloc. The Polish economy is shown in a broader comparative perspective against the background of other EU members, in particular the 11 new member states from Central and Eastern Europe (EU11). Competitiveness is defined for the purposes of these analyses as a country's ability to achieve a sustainable improvement in the quality of life, accompanied by a strengthening of the country's economic position on foreign markets and by an increase in its investment attractiveness. This definition provides a general framework for assessing various economic and social issues that make up the competitive position of the Polish economy.

Analyses carried out in this book go beyond a simple scoreboard approach that could fail to capture all structural factors. Developing effective policies requires an in-depth understanding of the complex factors that drive the competitiveness of economies. Therefore, a systematic approach has been adopted enabling comparisons of various determinants of Poland's competitive position. The cross-country comparison is conducted in both quantitative and qualitative terms, which allows the authors to forecast future trends and indicate some policy priorities.

The book consists of three parts, further divided into chapters, each with a number of subsections. The first part (Chapters 1–2) aims to show the development of Poland's competitive position during the first decade of its EU membership. The assessment consists of two complementary components: the nation's prosperity and its position versus external partners compared with other new EU member states. The starting point is an analysis of the nation's prosperity measured by its overall economic performance, the real income of the Polish population and the capacity to increase this income. This is followed by an assessment of Poland's competitive position in external relations. A comparison of Poland's economic performance in the 2004–2013 period with results achieved by other EU countries includes an analysis of real GDP growth, convergence of income levels in Poland in relation to the EU15, and an assessment of

the scale of income inequality and poverty (Chapter 1). The international competitiveness of the Polish economy is reflected in changes in the country's role in world trade and in international investment flows (Chapter 2).

The aim of Part II (Chapters 3–4) is to identify the main factors determining changes in the competitive position of the Polish economy in the past decade. Competitive position determinants were divided into two groups: (1) assets such as capital, labor, and technology, including changes in their productivity; and (2) institutions and their quality, including economic policy. Detailed characteristics of each of these factors are complemented with an attempt to establish their role in shaping the competitiveness of the Polish economy in the first 10 years of Poland's EU membership.

The third part of the book (Chapters 5–6) focuses on the impact of Poland joining the EU on the country's competitiveness. This analysis is not limited to identifying changes in competitiveness, but also shows Poland's role in shaping common market rules, including EU policies. When it comes to the EU's influence on Poland's competitiveness, we discuss the position of its enterprises in European value chains and the evolution of its innovation policy in the context of EU policies. We also focus on the importance of EU funds to the competitiveness of the Polish economy and on the transformation of Poland's energy market as a result of EU policies (Chapter 5).

Looking at Poland's contribution to European integration, we focus on two key factors, namely on the achievements of the Polish presidency of the EU Council and on Poland's role in developing the European Union's Eastern Partnership initiative (Chapter 6).

Conclusions from the analysis of specific issues are included at the end of each subsection. They are the basis for an overall assessment of Poland's competitive position in the European Union at the beginning of 2014. The assessment is made at the end of this book, along with some tentative conclusions for economic policy in the context of the EU's flagship Europe 2020 strategy.

Marzenna Anna Weresa

PART I

POLAND'S COMPETITIVE ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE AND COMPETITIVE POSITION IN 2013

Chapter 1 Economic Development and Convergence

This chapter aims to assess changes in the competitiveness of the Polish economy from 2004 to 2013, after Poland's EU accession. The comparative analysis covers key indicators of economic development, such as GDP growth, inflation, unemployment, public finances and the current-account balance, which collectively form the so-called "magic pentagon of competitiveness." In addition, income convergence among the 11 Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries that joined the EU in 2004, 2007 and 2013 – Poland, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Romania, Slovakia, and Slovenia (EU11) is analyzed in comparison with the old EU members (EU15). This comparative analysis is followed by a discussion of changes in income inequality in Poland compared with other EU countries.

1.1. Comparative Economic Performance in 2004–2013: Poland and the EU

Zbigniew Matkowski, Ryszard Rapacki, Mariusz Próchniak

The international context: economic growth trends in the world economy

Before embarking on a comparative analysis of Poland's economic performance in 2004–2013, we will first outline its global context by sketching a picture of the prevailing medium-term patterns of economic growth that occurred in the world economy during the studied period.

Year	2004-2007 (annual averages)	2007-2010 (annual averages)	2011	2012	2013ª
World	3.9	1.8	2.8	2.4	2.1
Developed countries	2.7	0.3	1.5	1.3	1.0
Eurozone	2.4	0.2	1.6	-0.7	-0.5
USA	2.8	0.3	1.8	2.8	1.6
Japan	2.3	0.0	-0.6	1.9	1.9
Transition countries ^b	7.8	2.9	4.6	3.2	2.0
Russia	7.6	2.4	4.3	3.4	1.5
Developing countries, of which:	7.2	5.9	5.9	4.7	4.6
Least developed countries	7.7	6.9	3.6	4.9	5.4
Africa	5.9	4.8	0.8	5.7	4.0
Southeastern Asia	8.4	7.6	7.0	5.5	5.6
China	11.3	10.8	9.3	7.7	7.7
India	9.1	8.1	7.3	5.1	4.8
Latin America	5.4	3.4	4.4	3.0	2.6

Table 1			
World economic growth in	2004–2013	(rates of growth	in %)

^a Preliminary data. ^b 17 post-socialist countries not including new EU member states of Central and Eastern Europe.

Economic growth rates of country groups are calculated as a weighted average of individual country GDP growth rates, where weights are based on GDP in 2005 prices and exchange rates.

Source: UN, (2009; 2011; 2014).

As can be seen from preliminary data shown in Table 1, the global Gross Domestic Product grew 2.1% in 2013, which implies some slowdown compared with 2011–2012. In the medium-term perspective, this growth dynamics is, on the one hand, above the trend line for 2007–2010, which includes the effects of the deepest global recession since World War II (–2.4% in 2009). On the other hand, it amounts to slightly more than half of the global economic growth in the pre-crisis years (2004–2007).

As in 2010 and 2011, and similar to the prevailing trends from 2004 to 2010, the continuing recovery of the global economy was mostly due to fast economic growth in developing economies; their GDP growth rate was 4.6%. The most remarkable growth indices were recorded in Southeastern Asia (5.6%), especially China (7.7%). The macroeconomic performance of the world economy was also supported by the relatively good growth performance of African and Latin American economies.

On the other hand, global economic growth was adversely affected by a continued deceleration in developed economies (compared with both 2011–2012 and 2004–2007), including in particular the eurozone, which sustained a GDP contraction. This trend was compounded by the mounting fiscal crisis in the eurozone and protracted recession in some of its member countries.

Also worth highlighting is an unprecedented change in the composition of world economic growth factors. In 2013, total factor productivity (TFP) in the global economy declined for the first time since World War II (by 0.1%), mainly due to a fall in the productivity of capital (Jankowiak, 2014).

Size of the economy

We begin our analysis of the results achieved by the Polish economy in 2013 and of its international competitive position with a brief assessment of Poland's economic potential and its place in the world economy as well as in the enlarged European Union.

Table 2, based on the latest IMF data, shows the ranking of the world's largest economies in 2013 according to the value of GDP measured in dollars at current exchange rates (CER) and at purchasing power parities (PPP). GDP data for 2013 given in the table are preliminary estimates that may be subject to revisions.

The list is based on the values of GDP calculated at CER. The rankings of the countries concerned in an alternative league table based on GDP values at PPP are shown in parentheses. The full list of the 30 biggest economies in terms of the value of GDP at PPP would additionally include Egypt, Pakistan, Malaysia, Nigeria, and the Philippines, while excluding Belgium, Sweden, Austria, Switzerland, and Norway.

The estimated values of GDP at PPP for developing countries are as a rule much higher than the alternative estimates of GDP at CER, while the relationship between the two estimates for developed countries is usually the opposite. The difference between the two estimates is mainly due to the difference in price levels: GDP calculated at PPP reflects the value of output produced in a given country expressed in dollars at prices that exist in the United States.

According to these data, Poland ranked 21st or 23rd, depending on the conversion rate, among the world's largest economies in 2013. With GDP calculated at CER (\$514 billion), Poland's economy was ranked 23rd, between Norway and Belgium, but in terms of GDP at PPP (\$814 billion), it ranked 21st, between Taiwan and Argentina. Compared with the previous year, Poland dropped by one position in terms of the GDP value measured at PPP, but it improved significantly (by three notches) in terms of GDP at CER, partly due to an appreciation of the Polish currency against the U.S. dollar.¹ The share of Poland in the global GDP was 0.7% in CER and 0.9% in PPP terms.

¹ According to Poland's central bank (NBP), in December 2013, the exchange rate of the Polish zloty against the U.S. dollar was 2.4% higher than a year earlier.

		GDP a	at CER	GDP at PPP		
Rank	Country	billions of \$	% of world's total	billions of \$	% of world's total	
1 (1)	United States	16.724	22.8	16.724	19.3	
2 (2)	China	8,939	12.2	13,374	15.4	
3 (4)	Japan	5,007	6.8	4,729	5.5	
4 (5)	Germany	3,593	4.9	3,227	3.7	
5 (9)	France	2,739	3.7	2,273	2.6	
6 (8)	United Kingdom	2,490	3.4	2,378	2.7	
7 (7)	Brazil	2,190	3.0	2,422	2.8	
8 (6)	Russia	2,118	2.9	2,558	3.0	
9 (11)	Italy	2,068	2.8	1,805	2.1	
10 (13)	Canada	1,825	2.5	1,518	1.8	
11 (3)	India	1,758	2.4	4,962	5.7	
12 (17)	Australia	1,488	2.0	998	1.2	
13 (14)	Spain	1,356	1.8	1,389	1.6	
14 (10)	Mexico	1,327	1.8	1,845	2.1	
15 (12)	South Korea	1,198	1.6	1,666	2.1	
16 (15)	Indonesia	867	1.2	1,285	1.5	
17 (16)	Turkey	822	1.1	1,167	1.3	
18 (23)	Netherlands	801	1.1	696	0.8	
19 (19)	Saudi Arabia	718	1.0	928	1.1	
20 (33)	Switzerland	646	0.9	370	0.4	
21 (32)	Sweden	552	0.8	394	0.5	
22 (35)	Norway	516	0.7	282	0.3	
23 (21)	Poland	514	0.7	814	0.9	
24 (31)	Belgium	507	0.7	422	0.5	
25 (22)	Argentina	485	0.7	771	0.9	
26 (20)	Taiwan	485	0.7	926	1.1	
27 (34)	Austria	418	0.6	361	0.4	
28 (24)	Thailand	401	0.5	674	0.8	
29 (18)	Iran	389	0.5	987	1.1	
30 (25)	South Africa	354	0.5	596	0.7	
	World	73,454	100.0	86,698	100.0	

Table 2The world's largest economies in 2013 (GDP in billions of dollars)

Note: All GDP data for 2013 are IMF preliminary estimates. The ranks given in the first column refer to GDP calculated at CER and GDP calculated at PPP (the latter in parenthesis).

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Database, www.imf.org, accessed on Jan. 30, 2014.

Year-to-year changes in GDP values expressed in an international currency reflect not only changes in output volumes, but also changes in price levels and exchange rates. A better basis for the assessment of a given country's position in the global economy or in another international grouping is data for a longer period, which reveal the long-run trend in the country's relative economic potential. In the case of Poland, this trend was until recently positive, meaning a gradual improvement in the international position of the Polish economy. However, the last few years have seen some deterioration in this position despite Poland's relatively strong growth. This is simply because some other countries in the world have grown more rapidly or benefited to a greater extent from favorable trends in exchange rates and relative price levels.

Of special note are some major changes that have occurred in the structure of the world economy during the past several years as a result of rapid economic growth in developing countries in Asia and Latin America. Developing or emerging economies today account for more than half of the world's 30 biggest economies in terms of the value of GDP at PPP. The five largest Asian economies now produce more than 30% of total world output, and the three largest economies of Latin America contribute a further 6%. The growing role of the emerging countries of Asia and Latin America in the world economy is reflected not only by their share in world output, but also by the increasing role they play in international trade and finance. The global financial and economic crisis has not stopped the rapid growth in the developing countries of the Far East, which have become the most dynamic part of the global economy.

Before we go on to evaluate the position of the Polish economy in the European Union (EU28), let us first indicate the share of the EU28 in the world economy. According to preliminary IMF estimates, the combined GDP of all EU28 countries in 2013 was \$17,267 billion at CER, or \$16,214 billion at PPP, which represented 23.5% and 18.7% of global output respectively. For benchmarking purposes, the GDP of the United States, the largest single economy in the world, was \$16,724 billion that same year, representing either 22.8% or 19.3% of global output, depending on the conversion rate used to calculate global output. China, the second—largest single economy, remained far behind the European Union in terms of GDP at CER (\$8,959 billion), but is rapidly bridging the gap in terms of GDP at PPP (\$13,374 billion), representing 12.2% or 15.4% of global output.

Table 3 provides data on the size of EU economies. It includes preliminary data on the value of GDP in individual member countries in 2013, calculated in euros at current exchange rates (CER) and at the purchasing power standard (PPS).² GDP data for 2013 are preliminary estimates that will be subject to revisions.³

As in the case of GDP estimates at PPP expressed in U.S. dollars, the GDP values at PPS expressed in euros depend on the purchasing power of international currency

² Purchasing power standard (PPS) for the member countries of the European Union, calculated by Eurostat, the EU's statistical office, is based on the average price level in the EU28. The value of GDP at PPS is measured in calculative units (called PPS), which express the purchasing power of the euro in the given country.

³ The preliminary (forecasting) estimates of the GDP values for EU countries in 2013, accessed on Jan. 17, 2014, have been withdrawn from the Eurostat database until the expected release of the revised GDP data, but the figures used here are still available in the *Statistical Annex of European Economy*, published by the European Commission in November 2013 (European Commission, 2013). The same remark applies to the per capita GDP data used in Figure 1.

(in this case, the euro) in a particular country, i.e. on the relative price level (against the average price level in the EU). In countries where prices are relatively high, the GDP value calculated at PPS is lower than the GDP value calculated at CER and in countries with relatively low prices, the GDP value at PPS is higher than the GDP value at CER. For all the CEE countries, the GDP values at PPS are much higher than those calculated at CER. For Poland, the difference in 2013 was 73%, for the Czech Republic it was 46%, and for Bulgaria 117%. The difference between the two alternative valuations of the GDP-at CER and at PPP or PPS-is usually larger the less developed the country concerned is, though this is not a strict rule since the difference is related to the relative price level, which may not be proportional to the development level. It cannot be ruled out that the PPP or PPS values of GDP for the CEE countries given by the World Bank, IMF and Eurostat may be overestimated. Anyway, the conversion rates (parities) used in estimating GDP at PPP or PPS are very favorable for most CEE countries. This reservation should be kept in mind when interpreting the comparative position of CEE economies in the EU and in assessing the gap between Central Eastern Europe and Western Europe in terms of per capita GDP. This is why we include both CER and PPP or PPS estimates of GDP in our comparisons.

The European Union is composed of 28 member states of very different sizes and economic potential.⁴ The five biggest countries in terms of population and production volume—Germany, France, the United Kingdom, Italy, and Spain—represent 63% of the total population of the EU28 and 71% of the combined GDP if calculated at CER or 68% at PPS. The 15 Western European countries that formed the EU before its major enlargement (EU15) represent 79% of the total population and produce 92% of the combined GDP calculated at CER, or 86% of the combined GDP at PPS. The 13 new member states that joined the EU in 2004, 2007 or later, i.e. 11 CEE countries along with Cyprus and Malta, represent 19% of the total population, but they produce only 8% or 14% of the total GDP respectively. This asymmetry between the "old core" of the EU and the new entrants (or, more broadly, between Western Europe and Central Eastern Europe) should be borne in mind when evaluating the position of Poland in the European Union.

Poland is the largest country among the new EU member states in terms of area, population and GDP. Poland ranks sixth in terms of area and population in the enlarged European Union (EU28), with 7.1% and 7.6% respectively. In terms of GDP value at PPS, it also ranks sixth (5.1%), but it is eighth (3.0%) if GDP is converted using CER. As we can see, Poland's share in the economic potential of the EU28 is much lower than what might be suggested by the size of its territory or population, but in the light of historical experience, this fact should come as no surprise; a similar disproportion exists in all other CEE countries. Poland has significantly improved its position in the European economy since its accession to the EU. Its share in the combined output of

⁴ Croatia was admitted as the 28th member state of the European Union on July 1, 2013; it has been included in the analysis in this chapter to the extent allowed by the available data.

all current EU member countries (EU28), calculated at CER, rose from 1.9% in 2004 to 2.5% in 2007, 2.9% in 2010, and 3.0% in 2013. Similarly, Poland's share in the total output of the EU28 calculated at PPS rose from 3.9% in 2004 to 4.2% in 2007, 4.8% in 2010, and 5.1% in 2013.

		GDP	at CER	GDP :	at PPS
Rank	Country	billions of €	%	billions of €	%
1 (1)	Germany	2,735.8	20.9	2,609.6	20.0
2 (2)	France	2,066.5	15.8	1,833.0	14.0
3 (3)	United Kingdom	1,893.0	14.5	1,742.9	13.3
4 (4)	Italy	1,558.8	11.9	1,545.0	11.8
5 (5)	Spain	1,019.9	7.8	1,122.4	8.6
6 (7)	Netherlands	602.9	4.6	544.2	4.2
7 (9)	Sweden	420.7	3.2	312.3	2.4
8 (6)	Poland	388.7	3.0	672.9	5.1
9 (8)	Belgium	384.1	2.9	342.1	2.6
10 (10)	Austria	314.6	2.4	282.6	2.2
11 (15)	Denmark	248.9	1.9	181.5	1.4
12 (17)	Finland	195.7	1.5	159.6	1.2
13 (13)	Greece	182.8	1.4	209.9	1.6
14 (18)	Ireland	165.7	1.3	152.6	1.2
15 (14)	Portugal	165.3	1.3	202.9	1.6
16 (12)	Czech Republic	148.3	1.1	216.7	1.7
17 (11)	Romania	141.6	1.1	280.4	2.1
18 (16)	Hungary	97.9	0.7	171.2	1.3
19 (19)	Slovakia	72.8	0.6	106.7	0.8
20 (24)	Luxembourg	45.3	0.3	36.6	0.3
21 (21)	Croatia	44.1	0.3	66.6	0.5
22 (20)	Bulgaria	41.0	0.3	89.1	0.7
23 (23)	Slovenia	35.0	0.3	43.2	0.3
24 (22)	Lithuania	34.7	0.3	57.0	0.4
25 (25)	Latvia	23.4	0.2	34.9	0.3
26 (26)	Estonia	18.5	0.1	24.9	0.2
27 (27)	Cyprus	16.4	0.1	18.7	0.1
28 (28)	Malta	7.1	0.1	9.4	0.1
	EU28	13,069.5ª	100.0	13,068.9ª	100.0

Table 3 GDP of EU member countries in 2013 (€ billion)

Note: All GDP data for 2013 are preliminary Eurostat estimates. The ranks given in the first column refer to GDP calculated at CER and PPS (the latter in parenthesis). The percentage shares in the EU28 total were calculated by the author.

^a The total for the GDP values shown in the table for individual countries differs slightly from the total GDP value for the EU28 given by Eurostat (ℓ 13,068 billion).

Source: Eurostat Database (ec.europa.eu/eurostat), accessed on Jan. 17, 2014.

Economic growth and real convergence

In the last 24 years, the Polish economy has experienced a fast real convergence vis-à-vis both EU countries and all transition economies. The improvement in Poland's relative development level is mostly due to its relatively fast economic growth, the fastest in the new CEE members of the European Union (EU11) and nearly twice as fast as the average for the "old" EU members (EU15). Similar economic growth trajectories in Poland and these two groups of countries were recorded between 2004 and 2013, i.e. after Poland's EU accession. Table 4 provides a statistical picture of the trends involved.

Table 4

	Real GDP growth rate						Pool GDP index		
Country	Average annual % growth		Annual 9	% growth	in 2013				
	1990-2013	2004	2011	2012	2013	1989 = 100	2000 = 100	200 = 100	
Poland	2.9	5.3	4.5	1.9	1.3	204	158	141	
Bulgaria	0.4	6.7	1.8	0.8	0.5	112	154	125	
Croatia	0.0	4.1	0.0	-2.0	-0.6	100	124	104	
Czech Rep.	1.3	4.7	1.8	-1.0	-0.4	138	140	122	
Estonia	1.5	6.3	9.6	3.9	1.5	146	163	126	
Hungary	1.0	4.8	1.6	-1.7	0.2	129	121	103	
Latvia	0.4	8.8	5.3	5.2	4.0	109	165	122	
Lithuania	0.6	7.4	6.0	3.7	3.4	117	174	129	
Romania	0.8	8.5	2.2	0.7	2.0	121	157	124	
Slovakia	2.2	5.1	3.0	1.8	0.8	173	169	142	
Slovenia	1.3	4.4	0.7	-2.5	-2.6	139	125	109	
EU15	1.5	2.4	1.5	-0.5	-0.1ª	144	114	106	

Growth of Gross Domestic Product, 1990-2013

^a Weighted average calculated by the authors, with PPP GDP estimates for 2013 treated as weights. The unweighted average is –0.4.

GDP growth rates for 2004, 2011 and 2012 according to Eurostat; GDP growth rates for 2013 according to IMF; growth indices 2000 = 100 and 2004 = 100 calculated based on Eurostat data supplemented by IMF data for 2013 (for EU15 – unweighted average); growth indices 1989 = 100 based on EBRD estimates going back to 1989.

Source: Eurostat, ec.europa.eu/eurostat; EBRD, www.ebrd.com; IMF, World Economic Outlook Database, October 2013; own calculations.

Poland's GDP rose by 41% in the studied period, or around 4% per annum on average. Poland's economic growth was the second-fastest among the new EU members from Central and Eastern Europe (EU11), just behind that of Slovakia (42%). At the same time, Poland's GDP grew seven times as fast as that of the EU15. As a result (see data in Tables 5 and 6), Poland managed to considerably narrow its gap in economic development to all the "old" EU members. In the "new" CEE group, Poland's income gap narrowed relative to six of the 11 economies. Changes in the relative development level of the Polish economy resulted not only from its fast growth but also from diverging demographic trends and different appreciation paths for real exchange rates in individual CEE countries.

					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Country	1989	2000	2004	2006	2008	2010	2011	2012	2013ª
Poland	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Germany	279	243	227	224	206	191	190	185	183
France	268	238	216	209	188	174	168	162	160
Italy	274	243	211	202	184	163	158	151	146
UK	256	248	244	237	202	172	163	159	159
Spain	199	200	198	202	182	158	149	144	140
Ireland	195	271	280	280	233	205	198	193	192
Portugal	159	167	151	152	137	128	119	113	110
Greece	178	174	184	178	163	139	124	113	107
EU15 average	262	238	222	217	196	175	169	164	162
Bulgaria	122	60	69	74	76	70	71	70	69
Croatia	133	102	111	111	112	93	93	92	90
Czech Republic	197	145	153	154	143	128	125	121	119
Estonia	142	93	113	128	122	102	107	107	107
Hungary	146	112	124	122	114	105	103	100	99
Latvia	137	76	91	102	104	88	93	97	100
Lithuania	145	81	102	111	114	98	105	108	110
Romania	89	55	67	74	82	77	75	75	75
Slovakia	155	102	111	122	127	118	117	115	114
Slovenia	194	164	169	170	161	135	131	126	121

Relative development levels in Poland and selected EU countries, 1989–2013 (GDP per capita at PPP, Poland = 100)

Table 5

^a Own estimates calculated using GDP growth rates for 2013 from the IMF data (for the EU15 group – weighted average calculated by the authors) and the 2012 Eurostat data for relative development levels.

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Database, September 2005 (for 1989); Eurostat, ec.europa.eu/eurostat (for 2000–2012); IMF, World Economic Outlook Database, October 2013 (for 2013); own calculations.

As the data in Table 5 show, at the time of the EU enlargement in 2004, the average level of economic development (or GDP per capita in PPP) in the EU15 was more than twice as high as in Poland (by 122%). During its first 10 years in the EU, Poland narrowed its gap to the "old" EU countries in terms of development level by 60 percentage points, i.e. at a rate of roughly 6 points a year. The process of real income convergence was the fastest with respect to Ireland (88 p.p.), the UK (85 p.p.) and Greece (77 p.p.). Under the most optimistic scenario, Poland is likely to close its development gap to Greece as well as Portugal and fully catch up with these two countries either this year or next at the latest.

As far as the new EU member countries are concerned, Poland was the most successful in real convergence—in terms of the level of economic development—with regard to the region's wealthiest countries. It narrowed its gap with Slovenia by 48 p.p. and to the Czech Republic by 34 p.p. In terms of GDP per capita, Poland outpaced Hungary for the first time since World War II. On the other hand, Poland's development gap widened vis-à-vis Lithuania and Slovakia, testifying to a process of real income divergence. Meanwhile, some other CEE economies, notably Latvia and Romania, narrowed their income gap with Poland.

Table 6

Country	1989	2004	2011	2012	2013ª
Poland	38	45	59	61	62
Czech Republic	75	69	74	74	74
Slovakia	59	50	69	70	71
Slovenia	74	76	77	77	75
Hungary	56	56	61	61	61
Estonia	54	51	63	65	66
Lithuania	55	46	62	66	68
Latvia	52	41	55	59	62
Bulgaria	47	31	42	43	43
Romania	34	30	44	46	47
Croatia	51	50	55	56	56

Development gap in new EU member countries vis-à-vis the EU15 average, 1989–2013 (GDP per capita in PPP, EU15 = 100)

^a Own estimates calculated using GDP growth rates for 2013 from the IMF data (for the EU15 group – weighted average calculated by the authors) and the 2012 Eurostat data for relative development levels.

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Database, September 2005 (for 1989); Eurostat, ec.europa.eu/eurostat (for 2004–2012); IMF, World Economic Outlook Database, October 2013 (for 2013); own calculations.

As can be seen from the data in Table 6, in 2013 Poland's GDP per capita in PPP terms stood at 62% of the EU15 average. This was equivalent to a gain of 24 percentage points between 1989 and 2013, of which 17 points were gained since Poland's EU entry in May 2004.⁵ These trends may be attributed to a remarkable acceleration in the real convergence process in Poland after EU accession. From 1990 to 2003, the gain was 0.5 p.p. per year on average; in 2004–2013 it more than tripled to 1.7 p.p.

⁵ Diverging demographic trends provide another explanation of the catching-up process in Poland with the target development level in the EU. While the Polish population increased only slightly between 1989 and 2013 (to 38.533 million from 38.173 million, i.e. by 0.9%), EU15 countries experienced more pronounced demographic growth. Their overall population increased by 8.3%, from 369 million to nearly 400 million. These demographic trends are reflected in larger GDP growth rate differentials in per capita terms. While the rate for Poland was 2.9% annually, the EU15 average for GDP per capita growth was 1.3% per annum.

Poland's growth and real convergence performance looks quite good compared with the remaining EU members from Central and Eastern Europe, particularly from the long-term perspective. i.e. the systemic transformation process so far. Overall, from 1990 to 2013, Poland was the undisputed leader in the process of catching up with the EU15 in terms of economic development. However, in the period following the EU's 2004 enlargement, the convergence process was the fastest in Lithuania, Latvia and Slovakia (which narrowed their respective income gaps vis-à-vis the EU15 by 22, 22 and 21 percentage points respectively). Further down the list were Poland and Romania, each with 17 p.p., followed by Estonia with 15 p.p. For the remaining EU11 countries, the gap either decreased insignificantly (in the case of the Czech Republic) or increased further.

Socioeconomic development and standard of living

The aim of this section is to assess the level of socioeconomic development and the standard of living in Poland compared with other EU countries.

The basic measure of socioeconomic development and standard of living is national income per inhabitant. Figure 1 shows the value of GDP per capita measured at PPS in EU28 countries in 2004 and 2013.⁶ The figure enables us to compare the value of GDP per capita and to evaluate the growth of real income in individual countries in the period after the EU's 2004 enlargement. The GDP per capita data for 2013 are preliminary estimates. As already noted, GDP data for CEE countries calculated at PPS are imprecise and may be overestimated.

According to our calculations based on the preliminary Eurostat data, the average GDP per capita in the enlarged EU (EU28), calculated at PPS, was \notin 25,600 in 2013. In the euro area (EU17 or EU18), the figure was \notin 27,500, and in the "old" EU countries (EU15) it was \notin 28,200.

The income levels recorded in individual EU countries vary greatly. Luxembourg leads the EU with a GDP per capita at PPS of €68,200 in 2013.⁷ A high per capita GDP (€30,000 or more) is also recorded in the Netherlands, Austria, Ireland, Sweden, Denmark, Germany, Belgium, and Finland. France, Britain, Italy, and Spain—the largest EU countries apart from Germany—exhibit lower per capita GDP, ranging between €24,000 and €28,000. The less advanced countries of Southern Europe—Greece, Portugal, Cyprus and Malta—have much lower incomes (between €19,000 and €22,000). In CEE countries, GDP per capita ranges between around €12,000 in Bulgaria and €21,000 in Slovenia.

⁶ For the convenience of the reader, the per capita GDP data originally expressed in PPS are labelled here \in (standardized euro). The same applies to the total GDP data shown in Table 3.

⁷ The unusually high value of GDP per capita in Luxembourg is largely due to high incomes generated and earned by international banks, financial institutions, and headquarters of big multinational corporations located in that country. This does not adequately reflect the average living standard of inhabitants compared with other Western European countries.



Figure 1 EU28 member countries by GDP per capita in PPS (€)

Note: The ranking is based on preliminary PPS GDP estimates for 2013. Reference data for 2004 illustrate the change observed in the period after EU enlargement. GDP per capita was calculated by dividing total GDP by total population at the beginning of the year.

Source: The figure is based on data taken from Eurostat Database (ec.europa.eu/eurostat), accessed Jan. 17, 2014.

Against this background, Poland's position in the per capita GDP rankings in the EU is unimpressive. With a per capita GDP at PPS of €17,500 in 2013, Poland is in the

lower part of the list in the enlarged EU. Only five other EU member countries, Hungary, Latvia, Croatia, Romania, and Bulgaria, display lower income per inhabitant.

In the last few years, this ranking has undergone substantial changes due to different responses of individual economies to the global financial crunch and the eurozone crisis. As a result, Poland has outdistanced Hungary and Latvia, and narrowed its income gap toward Estonia and Lithuania,⁸ but the distance to Slovakia, the Czech Republic, and Slovenia remains substantial.

Comparing the GDP per capita data for 2004 and 2013, shown in Figure 1, we can see that since joining the EU, Poland has made significant progress in reducing its income gap with more advanced countries in Western Europe. Poland's per capita GDP at PPS increased by almost 60% from 2004 and 2013, while the EU15's per capita GDP at PPS rose by only 15%.

GDP per capita is a crude and tentative measure of the standard of living in a country. Living standards of inhabitants are also highly dependent on income distribution and wealth possessed. Unfortunately, international statistics do not offer much data on financial and real assets possessed by households. Information on income inequality, particularly poverty, is also incomplete and often outdated. The latest estimates of poverty rates using the international poverty line of \$2 per day, made by the World Bank, show that the incidence of absolute poverty in all EU countries is small (below 2%). However, in most CEE countries, a considerable part of the population lives below the income and consumption level recognized as a poverty line using national standards. According to a recent OECD report on income distribution and poverty (OECD, 2013a), based on 2010 data, the relative poverty rate in Poland (the percentage of population living at less than half of the national median income) was about 11%, an indicator roughly equal to the OECD average, but almost twice as high as in the Czech Republic and Denmark.

A conventional gauge of income inequality is the Gini coefficient, which measures the overall concentration of household income. Poland is among the EU countries with relatively high income inequalities. The Gini coefficient for Poland, 30.9 in 2012, was slightly higher than the EU28 average. Among the new member states of the EU28, more egalitarian proportions of income distribution are reported by the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Slovenia, and Hungary. Among Western European countries, more equality can be seen in Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Sweden, Finland, and Germany, countries that strongly promote the welfare state idea. In a positive trend, the Gini coefficient in Poland has decreased gradually since 2005.

Another indicator of income inequality is the income gap between the poorest and the richest people in a country. According to the Eurostat data, the ratio between

⁸ The PPS data for Lithuania for the last few years published by the Eurostat suggest that, in terms of GDP per capita, Lithuania has outdistanced not only Poland and Hungary, but also Estonia. This fact, however, is not fully confirmed by the alternative estimates of GDP per capita at PPP provided by the IMF.

the income earned by the wealthiest 20% and the poorest 20% of families in Poland in 2012 was almost 5:1, roughly equal to the EU27 average. But in most EU countries this ratio was lower, and a significantly larger gap between the rich and the poor was only noted in Spain, Portugal, and Greece, as well as in Romania, Bulgaria, and Latvia. In the quintile distribution of household incomes observed in Poland, the wealthiest 20% of families accrue more than 40% of total household income, and the richest 10% gain almost 25% of total disposable income.⁹

A concise measure of social development and living standard is the Human Development Index (HDI), compiled by the UNDP. It is the geometric mean of three component indices reflecting GNI per capita, life expectancy at birth and education level, which are assumed to represent three basic dimensions of human development: a long and healthy life, thorough knowledge, and a decent standard of living. The index values range from 0 to 1; higher values imply a higher development level.

According to the latest *Human Development Report* (UNDP, 2013), based on 2012 data, the following countries lead the way in the global HDI classification: Norway, Australia, the United States, the Netherlands, and New Zealand. When it comes to EU members, the Netherlands, Germany, Ireland, and Sweden are also among the top 10 countries in the world. Slovenia is the highest ranked CEE state (21st), followed by the Czech Republic, Estonia, Slovakia, Hungary, Poland, Lithuania, Latvia, Croatia, Romania, and Bulgaria (57th). Poland, with an HDI of 0.821, is close to the CEE average, but behind most other EU28 countries and ahead of only Portugal, Lithuania, Latvia, Croatia, Romania, Romania, and Bulgaria. Poland is currently No. 39 in the global league table.

Poland's HDI has increased consistently, which testifies to the sustainability of the country's socioeconomic development. Since 2005, Poland has advanced in the HDI classification by three places – with most progress made in the last two years – and Poland's HDI has increased significantly. However, Poland's position in the worldwide HDI rankings is still close to that of developing countries such as Qatar, Brunei, and Barbados. Nor does Poland rank high in the HDI league table in terms of the three components of the index: income, health and education.

The same source gives estimates of the so-called inequality-adjusted HDI (IHDI). This index aims to capture the living standard and development level of the average person in society, which is less than the aggregate HDI when there is inequality in the distribution of income, education and health. Poland's IHDI is lower than the value of the original HDI, but this does not significantly change Poland's position in the global HDI rankings.¹⁰

⁹ More information on income inequality and poverty in Poland and in other EU countries can be found in part 1.3 of this chapter.

¹⁰ In terms of the IHDI, Poland ranked 30th among 132 countries in the latest global standings, which is roughly equivalent to its 39th rank on the overall HDI ranking list covering 187 countries.

Certainly, the very concept of the HDI and the computation method used in compiling this index are disputable. The index does not cover all the dimensions of social development (e.g. it does not consider such human values as freedom, democracy, justice, and social cohesion). The component indices used to reflect material wealth, health condition and education also exhibit some deficiencies. The resulting scores of individual countries are sometimes controversial (e.g. in the newest HDI standings, the United Kingdom is just ahead of the Czech Republic and Greece, and Belarus is ahead of Russia). If the index were used to indicate countries that are best to live in and to identify those that should rather be avoided, its indications could sometimes be misleading. Nevertheless, the HDI is the most popular general indicator of living standards, widely used in international comparisons.

In 2011, the OECD launched the Better Life Initiative, a program dedicated to multidimensional analysis of social well-being and living standards in OECD member countries. The Better Life Index (BLI) compiled under this program seeks to assess and compare social well-being in various countries, taking into consideration 11 dimensions representing the essential aspects of living conditions and the quality of life: (1) income and wealth, (2) housing, (3) jobs, (4) work-life balance, (5) education, (6) health, (7) environment, (8) community, (9) civic engagement and governance, (10) personal safety, and (11) life satisfaction. Each dimension of social well-being is measured by one to four specific indicators, based on data taken from non-official sources. After normalization, the component indices representing various areas of social well-being as well as the aggregate BLI take values ranging from 0 to 10 (higher values mean a better performance). The exact values of the aggregate BLI for individual countries are not published, but they can be easily calculated as a simple average of the component indices available online (www.oecdbetterlifeindex.org). Users can also calculate a weighted aggregate index, using their own weights attributed to various dimensions of well-being. The newest edition of the BLI report (OECD, 2013b) brings an overall assessment of social well-being in the OECD area (covering 36 member and candidate countries) based on 2010–2012 data, and comparative analyses of performance in the main areas shaping social well-being.

According to the newest BLI data, the highest levels of social well-being in the OECD area are found in Australia, Canada, the United States, Switzerland and the Nordic countries; for all these countries, the unweighted BLI assumes values close to 8. The lowest levels of social well-being are in Russia, Turkey, Brazil, Chile, and Mexico; the unweighted BLI in these countries ranges between 3 and 4. Poland, with an unweighted BLI of about 5.5, is close to the OECD average. Among several dimensions of social well-being captured by the BLI, Poland has relatively high marks in areas such as personal security, education and social bonds, but relatively low marks for material living conditions, health, and life satisfaction.

One important aspect of social wealth is the availability of jobs and employment opportunities. This factor directly influences income and wealth, as well as the extent to which education and knowledge can be transformed into higher living standards. High unemployment is in sharp conflict with people's sense of well-being and wealth. Meanwhile, high unemployment has become one of the main economic problems in Europe and elsewhere. The problem has become more acute in the last several years due to the global crisis and the turbulence in the eurozone. Unemployment levels in most EU countries remain high even though recession has phased out. This is because a large part of the jobless are affected by long-term structural unemployment and short-term frictional unemployment (both are unrelated to the current level of business activity), and because changes in employment and unemployment lag behind changes in output and are usually smaller. In 2013, the average unemployment rate in the EU28, as recorded in labor force surveys, was 10.9%. The highest unemployment was seen in Greece (27.3%), Spain (26.4%), Portugal (16.5%), and Ireland (13.1%). Among CEE countries, Croatia (17.6%), Slovakia (14.2%), and Bulgaria (12.9%) were the most affected.¹¹ Poland, with an unemployment rate of 10.4% reported in labor market surveys, was slightly below the EU average, but registered unemployment was much higher: 13.5% yearly on average (GUS, 2014a). A special problem is high unemployment among young people. On average in the EU28, the incidence of youth unemployment is two or three times higher as adults. In Poland, the unemployment rate among those aged under 25 was more than 27% in 2013 (Eurostat, 2014).

The global crisis of 2008–2009 and the subsequent debt crisis in the euro area, which slowed economic growth in Europe in 2012–13, strongly affected the well-being of people across Europe, reducing real incomes, increasing unemployment, and compounding many social problems related to living standards. The impact of the global crisis on living standards in CEE and other transition countries was scrutinized in a special study by World Bank experts (World Bank, 2011) as well as by the EBRD in its 2011 Transition Report (EBRD, 2011). The EBRD's 2012 Transition Report (EBRD, 2012) analyzed the impact of the eurozone crisis on economic development and social well-being in Central and Eastern Europe, while the most recent issue of the report (EBRD, 2013) highlighted the adverse implications of the economic slowdown and a halt to economic reforms on income convergence between transition countries and highly developed countries, and on attempts to catch up with the West in terms of living standards. The research shows that the adverse impact of the crisis on social well-being in transition countries has been much stronger than in Western Europe. The negative effects of the crisis on living standards have been reflected in high unemployment, lower real wages, reduced pensions and social remittances, in addition to decreased consumption and savings.

¹¹ All the figures are the average unemployment rates recorded in the harmonized labor force surveys (LFS). Registered unemployment was usually higher.

Comparative assessment of macroeconomic performance

Our general assessment of the current condition of the Polish economy will be based on an analysis of five macroeconomic indicators commonly used in comparative assessments of macroeconomic performance: (a) the rate of economic growth, (b) unemployment rate, (c) inflation rate, (d) general government balance, and (e) current-account balance. The key tool used in this analysis is called the pentagon of macroeconomic performance.¹² It illustrates the extent to which individual countries meet five macroeconomic goals: (a) economic growth, (b) full employment, (c) internal equilibrium (no inflation), (d) public finance equilibrium, and (e) external payments equilibrium. The extent to which these goals have been achieved is expressed by variables marked on the pentagon axes.

The tips of the pentagon, representing maximum or minimum values of the indicators, are considered to be desirable (positive) targets, although in some cases this can be disputable. For example, a high current-account surplus or a budget surplus, as well as zero inflation or zero unemployment, may not be an optimal result. Another problem is interrelations (notably conflicts) between individual macroeconomic goals. For example, low unemployment (according to the Phillips curve) is often accompanied by high inflation, and vice versa. A separate question is the relative significance of each criterion (e.g. whether low inflation is as important as low unemployment). All these reservations should be taken into account when interpreting such charts.

When comparing the pentagons drawn for a given year among individual countries or when comparing them over time for any single country, we should consider both their surface and shape. A larger surface of the pentagon is assumed to mean better economic performance, while a more harmonious shape indicates more balanced growth. Of course, such an assessment is confined to the five aforementioned parameters of current macroeconomic performance. It tells nothing about the size of a given economy, its economic potential, or its development prospects. It does not even tell much about its possible performance in the next year, though an economy in good condition increases the chances of good future performance. Nevertheless, any analysis based on this method should be conducted with caution.

We shall now compare the overall performance of the Polish economy in 2013 with the situation in three other CEE countries: Hungary, the Czech Republic, and Slovakia, and in five Western European economies: Germany, France, Italy, Spain, and Sweden. The choice of the countries included in this comparison is not accidental. Among the CEE countries, Hungary, the Czech Republic, and Slovakia are the most similar to Poland in terms of development level, structure of the economy, advancement of the process of market reform, and the progress of integration with the European Union.

¹² This method was also used in the comparative analysis of Poland's macroeconomic performance in earlier reports by this publisher. This is also where the merits and limitations of this kind of analysis are discussed in greater detail, along with a list of references (cf. Weresa, ed., 2013, pp. 27–33).

In Western Europe, Germany, France, and Italy are Poland's main trade partners and major sources of FDI inflows. Italy and Spain are similar to Poland in the size and structure of the economy, and face a number of similar macroeconomic problems, including a sizeable budget deficit, large public debt, and high unemployment. Sweden has been included in this comparison because of the similar value of its total GDP at CER and its good economic performance in the last few years, despite (or thanks to) its non-participation in the Economic and Monetary Union (EMU). Compared with the previous report (Weresa, eds., 2013), we have additionally included Italy.

Table 7

Key macroeconomic indicators in Poland and selected other EU countries in 2013

Country	GDP growth	Inflation	Unemployment	General government balance	Current- account balance
	%	%	%	% of GDP	% of GDP
Czech Republic	-1.2	1.4	7.0	-2.7	-2.4
France	0.3	1.0	10.8	-4.2	-1.9
Germany	0.4	1.6	5.3	-0.1	7.0
Hungary	1.1	1.7	10.2	-2.4	2.9
Italy	-1.9	1.3	12.2	-3.0	0.9
Poland	1.6	0.9	10.4	-4.4	-1.6
Slovakia	0.8	1.5	14.2	-2.5	2.0
Spain	-1.2	1.5	26.4	-7.2	1.1
Sweden	0.9	0.4	8.0	-1.1	6.2

Note: All the data are preliminary estimates. Data on unemployment are the harmonized unemployment rates based on labor market survey data (yearly average).

Source: Data on CPI inflation and unemployment according to the Eurostat Database, ec.europa.eu/eurostat, accessed on Feb. 25, 2014; the data on GDP growth, the general government balance and the current-account balance are preliminary estimates from the latest economic forecast by the European Commission (European Commission, 2014). The data on GDP growth and CPI inflation for Poland are in line with the latest estimates by Poland's Central Statistical Office (GUS, 2014a, 2014b).

Figure 2

Macroeconomic performance in Poland and selected other EU countries in 2013



Table 7 has data on the five macroeconomic indicators reflecting the performance of the analyzed economies in 2013. This is the most recent data available from the

Eurostat and the European Commission. Most of these data are preliminary estimates, which may be subject to further corrections and revisions. In the case of Poland, the data are more or less in line with the preliminary data published by the Central Statistical Office (GUS) and the National Bank of Poland (NBP). Whatever minor differences exist do not significantly affect our general assessment of the condition of the Polish economy and the conclusions drawn from the analysis. Figure 2 presents the data in the form of pentagons, more convenient for a comparative analysis.

We begin our analysis with an inter-country comparison of the five macroeconomic indicators (in light of the overall economic situation in the EU28). Later we will compare the general performance of the studied economies in 2013 – from the point of view of the comparative position of the Polish economy-taking into account changes from the previous year.

The year 2013 was the fourth straight year of moderate growth in the world economy after the global economic crisis of 2008–2009. The slowdown in Europe, which began in 2012 as a result of the financial crisis in the euro area, continued in 2013, but the second half of the year brought some signs of recovery. Nevertheless, 2013 as a whole closed with zero growth in the EU28's total real GDP, and the euro-zone GDP decreased by 0.4%, according to preliminary data. This was mainly due to almost no growth in output in Germany and France, and continued recession in Italy and Spain. In the analyzed group, a rise in aggregate output (by around 1.0%-1.5%) was noted in Poland, Hungary, Slovakia, and Sweden, while the Czech Republic saw its output drop by about 1%.

The slowdown in output growth has been accompanied by a remarkable decline in inflation. For the EU28 as a whole, average consumer price inflation fell from 3% in 2011 to 2.5% in 2012 and 1.5% in 2013. Inflation subsided as a result of reduced output in the wake of restrained fiscal policies and tight monetary policies. In the analyzed sample, all the countries posted significantly lower inflation than in the previous year. In most countries, inflation is now in a safe range between 1% and 1.5%; in Sweden it was cut to about 0.5%. In some European countries, governments and central banks have faced the risk of deflation, but if the ongoing recovery gains momentum, inflation will probably speed up.

As mentioned in the previous section, unemployment has stayed at relatively high levels in most EU countries because output is not yet rising vigorously and unemployment is mainly of the long-term structural and short-term frictional type, which is unlikely to respond significantly to eventual acceleration of output growth. As a matter of fact, the average unemployment rate in the EU has shown an upward trend since the beginning of the global crisis. In 2013, the average unemployment rate in the EU28 was almost 11%, a little higher than in 2012. In the analyzed group, the unemployment rate in 2013 continued to be relatively low in Germany (about 5.5%), the Czech Republic (7%), and Sweden (8%). In Poland, Hungary, and France, unemployment hovered around 10 to 11%, roughly the EU28 average. In Italy and Slovakia, it was higher (12% and 14% respectively), and in Spain it reached a new record of 26.5%. It should be remembered that the unemployment rates quoted here refer to the unemployment data recorded in labor market surveys; these are usually lower than the registered unemployment rates.

The last few years have seen some improvement in the state of public finance in the European Union, as reflected by a reduction in the average size of the general government deficit in the EU28 from 6.5% of GDP in 2010 to 3.5% of GDP in 2013. Nevertheless, the road toward meeting the budget deficit limit imposed by the Maastricht Treaty (3% of GDP) is still quite long for many EU member countries, including some EMU members. In the analyzed group, Germany was the only country with a full equilibrium between government expenditure and revenue in 2013, while Sweden was close behind. All the remaining countries reported significant budget deficits, ranging from 2.5% of GDP in the Czech Republic, Slovakia, and Hungary to 3% in Italy, 4% in France, and 7% in Spain. In Poland, the budget deficit calculated according to EU standards was around 4.5% of the GDP, a figure slightly higher than in 2012.¹³

Continued budget deficits lead to a rise in public debt, both in absolute terms and relative to the GDP value. By the end of 2013, the total gross public debt in the EU28 had risen to about €11,700 billion, or almost 90% of the total GDP produced that year, according to preliminary data. In the analyzed group, the public debt-to-GDP ratio at the end of 2013 ranged from 41% in Sweden to 46% in the Czech Republic, 54% in Slovakia, 58% in Poland, about 80% in Germany and Hungary, around 95% in France and Spain, and 130% in Italy (European Commission, 2014). In most countries, the public debt burden is growing, though at a slightly slower rate in recent years.

The current-account balances in individual countries are not directly comparable because they depend on a variety of factors that determine the volume of exports and imports, terms of trade, current international payments, current income transfers, and short-term capital flows. The current-account deficits or surpluses in individual countries are to a large extent structural in nature. At the same time, cyclical changes in the current account-balance do not follow a regular pattern and are difficult to forecast. In 2013, most countries in the analyzed group saw some improvement in their current accounts, which was a normal outcome of recession or slowdown. According to the preliminary balance-of-payments data, Poland has reduced its current-account deficit to around 1.5% of GDP. The Czech Republic, as well as France, also had a small deficit (of less than 2% of GDP), while the remaining countries in the group reported surpluses. The largest surpluses (6–7% of GDP) were recorded in Germany and Sweden.

¹³ In 2014 Poland's budget deficit, calculated according to EU standards, will probably be reduced as a result of a substantial transfer of funds from the private to the public tiers of the pension system. However, this artificial "improvement" in public finances will be a one-off effect that will disappear in 2015, much as it happened in Hungary in 2011 after authorities dismantled the private component of that country's pension system.

When analyzing the changes in the five macroeconomic performance indicators in 2013 compared with the previous year, we arrive at the following conclusion. The year 2013, similarly as 2012, was marked by a slowdown in Europe, with a complete stagnation in output in the EU28 as a whole and a slight drop in total output in the euro area. The same occurred in the analyzed group: some countries noted a slowdown in economic growth, while others reported almost no growth or even a small drop in output. The second half of the year brought some signs of recovery, but it remains quite fragile. The slowdown was accompanied by typical cyclical changes in the remaining economic indicators: a decline in inflation, an increase or no change in unemployment levels, and some improvement in the current-account balance.

Most countries in the sample also further reduced their budget deficits (in relation to GDP), though the relative size of the budget deficits in Poland, France and Spain was well in excess of the desired deficit limit (3% of GDP).

Let us now turn to the general assessment of Poland's current economic performance in terms of the five macroeconomic indicators considered here, compared with the results reported by other economies in the analyzed group.

Both the surface and the shape of the pentagon reflecting the overall condition of the Polish economy in 2013 are most similar to those shown by the economies of the Czech Republic, Hungary, and France. This means that, in terms of the five macroeconomic indicators considered here, the overall performance of these economies was more or less comparable. Unlike the Czech Republic, which was in recession during the last two years, and unlike Hungary and France whose economies were actually stagnating, Poland noted a considerable—though relatively low rise in output in both 2012 and 2013. Inflation was cut in all four countries, but unemployment remained high (except perhaps in the Czech Republic). The relative size of the budget deficit in Poland was comparable to that in France, but larger than in Hungary and the Czech Republic. All four countries saw some improvement in their balance of payments, but all of them except Hungary continued to produce a current-account deficit. The Polish economy also performed well when compared with Slovakia, which noted a marked slowdown in economic growth in 2012 and 2013, accompanied by significantly higher unemployment. Still, Slovakia has been doing better than Poland in terms of the current-account balance and public finances.

The shape of the pentagon drawn for Poland is also similar to the shapes for Germany and Sweden, but its surface is smaller. This indicates that, in terms of the five macroeconomic criteria analyzed here, the results achieved by the Polish economy in 2013 were generally poorer. GDP growth in Poland was much faster than in Germany and Sweden, and inflation, according to official estimates, was lower than in Germany, but in all other respects Germany and Sweden had better scores. Unemployment in Sweden and Germany is considerably lower. Both countries have
a sizeable current-account surplus and both have achieved better results in bringing their budgets into equilibrium. Poland continued to perform better economically than Spain, which has been stuck in recession since 2008 and is plagued by huge unemployment; Spain has restored equilibrium to its current account (mostly due to the recession), but Spain's public finances are in much worse shape than Poland's, both when it comes to the relative size of the budget deficit and the public debt. Much the same can be said about general macroeconomic performance in Poland and Italy, although Italy has a better track record in the general government balance and much lower unemployment than Spain.

Compared with the preceding year, the overall performance of the Polish economy did not change significantly in 2013. GDP growth was slightly slower than in 2012, inflation decreased, and the current-account deficit was reduced. However, unemployment remained high, the budget deficit was far above the required EU ceiling, and public debt, expressed as a percentage of GDP, approached or even surpassed the limit imposed by Polish law. A positive feature was an acceleration in GDP growth in the second half of the year, which may be an early sign of revival.

Overall, much as in the previous year, Poland did relatively well in 2013 in terms of the five basic macroeconomic performance indicators, especially in the context of Europe's economic woes. However, the Polish economy is not free from problems and threats to further development.

The Polish economy in 2013 and the outlook for the years ahead

Poland was the only EU member country that managed to avoid a recession during the global economic and financial crisis of 2008–2009. Even though this was mainly the result of a improvement in the country's foreign trade balance (a deeper fall in imports than in exports), the very fact that the Polish economy was able to avoid a decrease in real GDP during the crisis shows that Poland proved resilient to external shocks and it is generally in good shape. After two years of relatively fast GDP growth (3.9% in 2010 and 4.5% in 2011), the last two years were marked by a considerable deceleration in Poland's economic growth, to 1.9% in 2012 and 1.6% in 2013 (according to preliminary GUS data). The economic slowdown in Poland was a direct outcome of the stagnation or even a fall in output in Western Europe. It also stemmed from the global economic crisis and the debt crisis in the euro area. The moderate acceleration in GDP growth in the second half of last year and at the beginning of this year is an early sign of recovery, but the question is how permanent this trend will be in terms of the outlook for this year and the years ahead.

Output and damand		201	2	2013				
Output and demand	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
GDPa	3.6	2.4	1.3	0.7	0.5	0.8	1.9	2.7
Domestic demand	2.5	-0.3	-0.7	-1.3	-0.8	-1.7	0.5	1.7
Consumption	1.0	1.1	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.9	0.9	1.7
private	1.1	1.0	0.4	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.6	1.1
public ^b	-0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.8	0.3	0.6
Gross capital formation	1.5	-1.4	-1.3	-1.5	-0.8	-2.6	-0.4	0.0
fixed investment	0.7	0.1	-0.5	-1.3	-0.3	-0.6	0.1	0.5
change in stocks ^c	0.8	-1.5	-0.8	-0.2	-0.5	-2.0	-0.5	-0.5
Net exports	1.1	2.7	2.0	2.0	1.3	2.5	1.4	1.0

Table 8Contribution of final demand components to changes in real GDP in Poland,2012–2013 (%)

^a The percentage change in real GDP against the corresponding period of the preceding year without seasonal adjustment.

^b The difference between the impact of total consumption and private consumption.

^c The difference between the contribution of gross capital formation and gross fixed investment.

Source: GUS data, www.stat.gov.pl, supplemented by author's own calculations.

Some opinion on this subject can be formulated after examining the changes in the main components of final demand, which determined the dynamics of GDP during the slowdown in the last two years. This analysis is a follow-up to similar studies made in previous years and included in previous editions of this report (e.g. Weresa, ed., 2013). The analysis makes it possible to identify the demand components that helped either maintain or speed up GDP growth and those that hampered economic growth. It also enables us to establish whether the observed output growth was adequately matched by an increase in internal and external demand, which is essential for a further rise in output. The results of the analysis may be also helpful in assessing the growth prospects of the Polish economy in 2014 and beyond.

The impact of individual final demand components on real GDP growth in the consecutive quarters of the 2012–2013 period is illustrated by data in Table 8. The table shows the direct contribution of individual demand components to real GDP growth (without multiplier effects). This contribution is calculated by multiplying the growth rate of a given demand component by its share in the absorption of GDP.¹⁴ The first row of the table shows the growth rate of real GDP measured against the same quarter of the preceding year (without seasonal adjustment). It is equal to the

¹⁴ More precisely, it is the product of the growth of a given demand component (at constant prices) and of its share in GDP in the corresponding period of the preceding year, according to the well-known method of decomposition of the GDP growth rate.

combined impact of the demand components (domestic and external) shown in the given column. Public consumption is calculated as the residual of total consumption over private consumption. The change in stocks is calculated as the difference between gross capital formation and fixed investments. Net exports are the difference between exports and imports. All the components are measured in constant prices.

Looking at the data in Table 8, we can see that the meager growth in real GDP in the last two years was almost exclusively due to an improved foreign trade balance. Domestic demand was relatively weak throughout the analyzed period, and its total volume tended to decline, due to a continuous fall in accumulation, in terms of both fixed investment and inventory investment (change in stocks). With private consumption stagnating, the rise in government expenditure was insufficient to offset the deep decrease in investment. Looking at the annual data, we can see that the volume of domestic demand showed zero growth in the last two years, but the quarterly data indicate that it actually fell between the second quarter of 2012 and the second quarter of 2013. Undoubtedly, without the positive changes in the foreign trade balance, we would have a picture of complete stagnation in output during the last two years, or even a small recession, rather than the meager growth reflected in the annual and quarterly GDP data. Rising exports have been the main driver of growth in the Polish economy in the last two years, despite unfavorable developments on Poland's key export markets in Western Europe.

The rise in net exports in 2012 and 2013 – as in 2009 – was the result of exports growing at a faster rate than imports. In 2012, the volume of exports increased by almost 4%, while the volume of imports decreased slightly from the previous year. In 2013, the volume of exports increased by around 4%, while the volume of imports rose by only 1%. The resulting improvement in the trade balance enabled some output growth despite no increase in aggregate domestic demand. Paradoxically, the positive changes in Poland's trade balance, which occurred despite unfavorable developments abroad, helped the Polish economy avoid a recession twice: during the crisis and at a time of renewed turbulence in the external environment.

The analysis of demand components also shows that in order to sustain and accelerate growth in the Polish economy, a strong growth impulse is needed from autonomous demand components, chiefly investment and exports. Private consumption, as a major part of total demand, is the most important factor in maintaining output growth, but it cannot stimulate it forever because an increase in consumer spending ultimately depends on a rise in output and income. Much the same can be said of government expenditure, especially in the form of public consumption and transfer spending. An increase in government expenditure largely depends on an increase in tax revenue, which in turn depends on GDP growth. In the Keynesian approach, the government can play an active role in getting the economy out of a slump by increasing its spending financed by a budget deficit, and this kind of expansionary fiscal policy was actually pursued in many countries during the global crisis in order to alleviate the recession. But since the Polish government today is most concerned about the state of public finances, deliberate expansionary policies aimed at stimulating the economy through increased government spending are unlikely to be employed. If the economy speeds up, bringing about an increase in tax revenue, the government will eagerly spend the extra money gained in this way. However, it will probably continue to pursue a relatively restrictive fiscal policy aimed at reducing the budget deficit and stopping public debt from rising. The 2014 budget has been already drawn up, and there is little room for a further rise in government spending.¹⁵

Therefore, in order to sustain and reinforce the ongoing revival and to accelerate Poland's economic growth, a considerable increase in the total volume of investment outlays (both private and public) is needed, along with a further rise in the volume of exports. Sustained growth requires not just a one-off impulse, but a continual substantial increase in the volume of investment and exports. It is not certain when these conditions will be fulfilled, if at all.

Continued growth in Poland's exports will chiefly depend on what happens in the European economy, i.e. on the future growth of demand on Poland's key export markets. The ongoing recovery in Western Europe may not be strong enough to allow a substantial rise in Polish exports. At least in the short run, it is necessary to consider the probable adverse effect of the recent political turmoil in Ukraine and the Russian involvement there on Polish exports to Eastern Europe. Of course, an increase in Polish exports will also depend on efforts made by Polish producers and exporters to maintain and increase the attractiveness and competitiveness of their products. However, even if exports accelerate, the revival in the Polish economy will probably be accompanied by a considerable increase in imports. The strength of the growth impulse coming from foreign trade depends on the trade balance, or the difference between exports and imports. It is not certain whether the rise in exports will be strong enough to outweigh the increase in imports. A lot depends on the further evolution of the exchange rate, a factor difficult to foresee.

Even less probable is a rapid increase in investment outlays, whose total volume actually declined in the last two years. The inflow of foreign investment is decreasing because the list of attractive public assets still left for sale is short, and the number of companies interested in carrying out new greenfield projects is limited. Both Polish and foreign enterprises already active in the country are putting new projects on hold as long as business conditions on the domestic and foreign markets are uninspiring and future prospects are uncertain. One of the factors hampering private investment spending is the low financial liquidity of many enterprises after a long slack period on the market. This obstacle, however, could be overcome by increased borrowing,

¹⁵ According to official estimates (European Commission, 2014), general government expenditure counted as public consumption will increase by 3.1% in 2014 and 2.6% in 2015, while public investment will rise by 4.0% and 3.9% respectively. When assessing the possible impact of the increased government spending on aggregate demand and output, it is necessary to consider the share of government expenditure in GDP and the probable multiplier effects.

especially as many banks have recently expanded their range of loans and relaxed credit requirements for both enterprises and consumers. But in order to invest, one needs not only promising projects and sufficient financial means, but also—above all—the wish to do so, and the investment climate is generally weak.

A significant portion of total investment in Poland is public projects, mainly those in infrastructure, co-financed from the EU budget. While large-scale infrastructure projects will continue to drive business in the construction industry, they are unlikely to significantly increase the total level of investment in the economy. Companies have limited ability to absorb available EU funding, they do not have enough funds on their own and their capacity to undertake large projects is also insufficient.

Overall, some modest revival in investment this year is possible, but the increase in the total investment volume will probably be unimpressive. Without a significant rise in exports and investment, the chances of a solid and long-lasting revival in the economy are slim.

Meanwhile, there are clear signs of recovery in the Polish economy. The country's GDP growth increased from 0.5% in the first quarter of 2013 to 0.8% in the second quarter, 1.9% in the third quarter, and 2.7% in the fourth quarter on a year-to-year basis, according to preliminary GUS data. However, this upward trend is not fully confirmed by other indicators of economic activity; for the time being, the revival is not strong enough to encompass the entire economy.

Industrial production is 4%-5% higher than a year earlier, but in mid-2013, after a seasonal adjustment, it stopped growing. As usual, construction and assembly output increased at the end of the year as builders strived to complete their projects before winter, but after seasonal adjustment, output was considerably lower than in 2012. One optimistic sign is an upward trend in the retail sales of commodities, whose volume increased by 4% last year (the greatest rise was noted in the second half of the year). But the stock of commodities continued at a level comparable to that recorded in 2012, and inventories did not show an upward trend typical of a recovery phase. Following a prolonged lull on the housing market, last year saw a considerable increase in sales, but the number of new housing units completed in 2013 was smaller than in 2012.

Another positive trend is a significant growth in exports, despite the economic doldrums in Western Europe. The value of Poland's exports (in current prices) increased by 5.8% in 2013, according to the latest GUS data. But on the negative side is complete stagnation in investment, whose total volume did not rise for two consecutive years. The labor market is not improving, either. A marked rise in employment would require GDP to grow by at least 3% a year; while the current rate is about 2%. As a result, jobs in the enterprise sector and in the economy as a whole are not increasing, and registered unemployment remains high. Business sentiment indicators in industry, construction, and trade are rising, but remain negative. Consumer confidence improved at the end of last year, but is still relatively low, and the same is true of businesses' assessment of their own financial situation and of the general situation in the economy.

The growth prospects for the Polish economy in the years ahead will strongly depend on future developments in Europe and the global economy. Forecasts predict an acceleration in global output in the next two years as a result of a revival in the United States and Western Europe. The World Bank (World Bank, 2014) predicts that the global economy will grow 3.2% in 2014 and 3.4% in 2015. The IMF (IMF, 2014) projects slightly faster growth in global output – 3.6% in 2014 and 4.0% in 2015. For the euro area, both the World Bank and the IMF predict a gradual recovery and a return to modest growth: 1.0% in 2014 and 1.4% in 2015. The European Commission (European Commission, 2014) expects that the EU28 GDP will expand by 1.5% in 2014 and 2.0% in 2015, while the eurozone GDP is expected to grow 1.2% in 2014 and 1.8% in 2015.

The European Commission's latest GDP growth forecast for Poland is 2.9% in 2014 and 3.2% in 2015. The IMF's autumn forecast (IMF, 2013) predicts the Polish economy will grow 2.7% in 2014 and 3.3% in 2015, while the OECD's autumn forecast (OECD, 2013) lists 2.7% for Poland in 2014 and 3.3% in 2015.

A number of domestic and foreign institutions have upgraded their growth projections for Poland. The EBRD's latest GDP growth forecast for Poland is 2.7% in 2014 and 3.5% in 2015 (EBRD, 2014). Poland's own Gdańsk Institute for Market Economics (IBnGR, 2014) predicts that the country's GDP will expand by 2.8% in 2014 and 3.5% in 2015. Some optimists believe that Poland's economic growth may reach 3% or even 3.5% this year.

The medium-term IMF growth forecast until 2018 (IMF, 2014), published in the autumn of 2013 and revised in January 2014, assumed that both the euro area and the EU as a whole would return to their "usual" growth rates of around 1.5% and 2.0% respectively by 2015. For Poland, the IMF predicts some acceleration in GDP growth in the next few years – to 3% in 2016 and 3.5% in 2018.

Several analyses of growth factors for Poland published in the last few years suggest that the development potential of the Polish economy is still considerable and, if properly utilized and supported by an active growth-oriented economic policy, it could ensure a sustainable growth rate of about 4% a year (provided there is a sufficient rise in demand on the domestic and foreign markets).¹⁶ However, some recent studies by both domestic and foreign authors warn that the future growth of the Polish economy may be significantly reduced, to around 2% a year or even less, due to adverse demographic trends.

Even if economic growth in Poland picks up to about 3% a year in the next two years, as suggested by these short-run forecasts, it is quite unlikely that the country returns soon to the kind of growth it experienced before the outbreak of the global crisis, when Poland's GDP expanded at a healthy rate of 4%-5% a year. Moreover,

¹⁶ Such a long-term growth rate was assumed in many growth projections for the Polish economy for the next 10–20 years-see e.g. Boni (ed.), 2009; Kleer *et al.* (eds.), 2011; Matkowski (2010); Rapacki, 2012; Kołodko, 2013.

long-run growth forecasts taking into account supply constraints related to demography are extremely unfavorable to Poland and other CEE countries.

Long-term growth forecasts (until 2060) released by the European Commission and the OECD (European Commission, 2012; OECD, 2012) suggest Poland and other CEE countries will experience a gradual slowdown in economic growth after 2015. The European Commission predicts that Poland's GDP growth will decrease from 3.9% in 2010 to 3.3% in 2015, 2.0% in 2020, 1.5% in 2030, 1.2% in 2040, and 0.5% in 2050, followed by 0.6% in 2060. According to the OECD, Poland's GDP growth will decelerate from 4.3% in 1995–2011 to 2.6% in 2011–2030, and 1.0% in 2030–2060. Both these forecasts say the slowdown will be chiefly due to unfavorable demographic changes, including population aging, a drop in fertility, and a massive outflow of workers, especially young, well-educated working-age people.

If these forecasts come true, Poland will face not only slower growth in incomes and social well-being, but also a potential reversal of its catching-up process around 2045, coupled with a renewed widening in the country's income gap with Western Europe. In order to avoid such a scenario, the government should come up with a set of proper socioeconomic policies to neutralize the risks and keep GDP growth at a satisfactory rate. The same is true of other CEE countries facing similar risks to economic growth.¹⁷

Meanwhile, the growth of the Polish economy will be still critically dependent on further economic developments in Europe and worldwide. A big challenge for Poland in the years to come is the consolidation of its public finances. A serious threat is posed by the aging of the population and the growing burden imposed on the economy by the costs of retirement payments. In any case, the basic condition for sustained economic growth in the coming years is a continuous rise in exports and a strong rebound in investment.

References

Boni, M., (ed.) (2009), Wyzwania rozwojowe, Urząd Rady Ministrów, Warszawa.

EBRD, (2011), *Transition Report 2011: Crisis and Transition: The People's Perspective*, The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, London.

EBRD, (2012), Transition Report 2012: Integration Across Borders, The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, London.

EBRD, (2013), *Transition Report 2013: Stuck in Transition?*, The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, London.

EBRD, (2014), *Regional Economic Prospects*, The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, www.ebrd.com.

¹⁷ For more on this, see section 1.2 of this report, which discusses the implications of this long-term growth forecast for the income convergence process between CEE and Western Europe.

European Commission, (2012), 2012 Ageing Report: Economic and Budgetary Projections for the EU27 Member States: 2010–2060, "European Economy", No. 2/2012.

European Commission, (2013), Statistical Annex of European Economy, Autumn 2013 (ec.europa.eu).

European Commission, (2014), European Economic Forecast: Winter 2014, "European Economy", No. 2/2014).

Eurostat, (2014), Eurostat Database, ec.europa.eu/eurostat.

GUS, (2014a), Biuletyn Statystyczny, No. 1/2014 (and earlier issues of 2013).

GUS, (2014b), Informacja o sytuacji społeczno-gospodarczej kraju: rok 2013, Warsaw.

IMF, (2005), World Economic Outlook Database, September 2005.

IMF, (2013), World Economic Outlook, Washington D.C., October.

IMF, (2014), World Economic Outlook Database, www.imf.org.

IBnGR, (2014), Stan i prognoza koniunktury gospodarczej, Instytut Badań nad Gospodarką Rynkową, Gdańsk, www.ibngr.pl.

Jankowiak, J., (2014), Świat jest zdewastowany, "Rzeczpospolita", Feb. 19, 2014.

Kleer, J., Wierzbicki, A., Strzelecki, Z., Kuźnicki, L., (eds) (2011), Wizja przyszłości Polski. Studia i analizy, t. 2, Gospodarka i środowisko, PAN, Komitet Prognoz "Polska 2000 Plus", Warsaw.

Kołodko, G., (2013), Strategia dla Polski 2013–2025, "Rzeczpospolita", Jan. 30, 2013.

Matkowski, Z., (2010), Perspektywy wzrostu gospodarczego Polski w latach 2010–2020 i docelowy poziom PKB per capita, in: Płowiec U. (ed.), Innowacyjna Polska w Europie 2020. Szanse i zagrożenia trwałego rozwoju, PWE, Warszawa 2010, pp. 62–120.

OECD, (2012), Looking to 2060: Long-term Growth Prospects for the World, OECD Economic Policy Papers, No. 03/2012, Paris.

OECD, (2013a), Crisis Squeezes Income and Puts Pressure on Inequality and Poverty, OECD, Paris.

OECD, (2013b), How's Life? 2013: Measuring Well-being, OECD, Paris.

OECD, (2013c), Economic Outlook, No. 2/2013 (stats.oecd.org).

Rapacki, R., (2012), Oporne doganianie Unii, "Rzeczpospolita", June 20.

Rapacki, R., Próchniak M. (2013), Stawką przyszłość Polski, "Rzeczpospolita", Jan. 23, 2013.

UNDP, (2013), Human Development Report 2013, hdr.undp.org.

UN, (2009), World Economic Situation and Prospects 2009, United Nations, New York.

UN, (2011), World Economic Situation and Prospects 2011, United Nations, New York.

UN, (2014), World Economic Situation and Prospects 2014, United Nations, New York.

Weresa, M.A., (eds.) (2013), Poland. Competitiveness Report 2013: National and Regional Dimensions, World Economy Research Institute, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw.

World Bank, (2011), The Job Crisis: Household and Government Responses to the Great Recession in Eastern Europe and Central Asia, Washington D.C.

World Bank, (2014a), World Development Indicators Database, databank.worldbank.org.

World Bank, (2014b), Global Economic Prospects, Washington D.C.

1.2. Real Income Convergence in the EU: Current Performance and Future Opportunities for Poland

Zbigniew Matkowski, Mariusz Próchniak

Convergence between EU11 and EU15

This subchapter intends to assess income convergence among the 11 Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries that joined the EU in 2004, 2007, and 2013: Poland, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Romania, Slovakia, and Slovenia (EU11).¹⁸ Convergence in these countries is analyzed in relation to the old EU members (EU15). A detailed analysis of convergence inside the group of the new EU member countries (except Croatia) is included in previous editions of the report. This analysis covers the 1993–2013 period. The key topic of this edition is an assessment of the competitive position of the Polish economy in the EU and an analysis of how this position changed during Poland's first 10 years in the bloc. Calculations were also made for two shorter subperiods, 1993–2004 and 2004–2013. The inclusion of these subperiods allows us to assess the pace of the catching-up process before and after EU enlargement. The 2004–2013 period is treated as the after-accession period although three CEE countries—Bulgaria, Romania and Croatia—joined the EU a few years later (Bulgaria and Romania in January 2007 and Croatia in July 2013). The convergence analysis is important for the assessment of Poland's competitiveness, defined here as the capacity to increase the real incomes of society faster than in other countries.

Our analysis is based on the two most popular concepts of income convergence: absolute β -convergence and σ -convergence. Absolute β -convergence exists when less developed economies (with lower GDP per capita) grow faster than more developed economies (with higher GDP per capita). σ -convergence appears when income differentiation between economies decreases over time. Income differentiation can be measured by standard deviation, variance, or a coefficient of variation of GDP per capita levels.

To verify the absolute β -convergence hypothesis, we estimate the following regression equation:

¹⁸ This paper is a follow-up study to previous analyses on the subject published in earlier editions of the report (see e.g.: Matkowski and Próchniak, 2013). The 2013 edition includes an analysis of regional convergence in regions across the EU. The methodology of the analysis is described in detail in the 2008 edition of the report (Próchniak, 2008).

$$\frac{1}{T}\ln\frac{y_T}{y_0} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1\ln y_0 + \varepsilon_t.$$
(1)

The explained variable is the average annual growth rate of real GDP per capita between period T and 0; the explanatory variable is the log of the GDP per capita level in the initial period, while e_t is the random factor. If parameter a1 is negative and statistically significant, β -convergence exists. In such a case we can calculate the value of coefficient b, which measures the speed of convergence, from (see e.g. Barro and Sala-i-Martin, 2003, p. 467):

$$\beta = -\frac{1}{T}\ln\left(1 + \alpha_1 T\right). \tag{2}$$

In order to verify the σ -convergence hypothesis, we estimate the trend line of dispersion in income levels between countries:

$$\operatorname{sd}(\ln y_t) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 t + \varepsilon_t \,. \tag{3}$$

The explained variable is the standard deviation of log GDP per capita levels between the economies, the explanatory variable is the time variable (t = 1,..., 21 for the 1993–2013 period), while e_t , as previously, is a random factor. If parameter a1 is negative and statistically significant, σ -convergence exists.

The calculations are based on the time series of real GDP per capita at purchasing power parity (PPP in \$), extracted from the International Monetary Fund database (IMF, 2014). When converting nominal GDP per capita at PPP (in current prices) into real GDP per capita at PPP (in constant prices), we used the GDP deflator for the United States.

This edition of the report is expanded to include Croatia, the 11th and youngest EU member country from Central and Eastern Europe. Although Croatia joined the EU in 2013, its inclusion does not violate the assumption that the analyzed group is homogeneous. Economic reforms in Croatia began at about the same time as in Romania and Bulgaria, and Croatia does not lag behind other new EU member states in terms of the advancement of the reform process. Therefore, we may adopt a research hypothesis that the EU11 countries should exhibit income convergence both with regard to one another and toward the EU15. Although this study only examines convergence toward the EU15, some figures will also show the catching-up process inside the EU11 group.

The existence of income convergence in the examined countries is due to a number of factors, including their similar development level and economic structures, a similar course of system reforms, mutual economic cooperation, liberalization of international trade, and reduced restrictions in the flows of factors of production (including labor and capital) between countries. The convergence process was strengthened by EU structural and regional policies aimed at reducing development differences. Financial aid was mainly targeted at less developed regions and countries to accelerate their economic growth. All these factors stimulated the process of convergence both in the pre-accession period and after the entry of the new member countries to the EU, but the strength of these factors and their impact on the pace of convergence can vary for different countries and years.

In the study, we assess the pace of convergence throughout the analyzed period, and we also try to indicate how the catching-up process evolved over time. To do this, the studied period is divided into two subperiods: 1993–2004, the years before EU enlargement, and 2004–2013, the membership period of the EU8 economies. If convergence before EU enlargement turned out to be faster, that would mean that many of the benefits of EU accession (including a significant improvement in the competitiveness of individual economies) were gained in the years prior to the official date of EU entry. This would show that the integration anchor started to work before the enlargement took place and that the countries managed to take advantage of many of the enlargement-related benefits in the first decade of transition. However, if it turned out that convergence accelerated in 2004 or later, this would mean that EU membership was a key factor that enabled the Central and Eastern European countries to catch up with Western Europe more rapidly and to significantly increase their competitiveness. Such time frames of the study enable us to better evaluate the track record of the first 10 years after the EU's eastward enlargement.

β -convergence

The results of testing β -convergence between the EU11 countries and the EU15 are presented in Table 9 and Figure 3. The convergence is analyzed among the 26 EU countries as well as between the EU11 and EU15 areas. The aggregated data for the two regions, EU11 and EU15, are weighted averages with variable weights reflecting the population of a given country included in a specific group in a given year.

Table 9 shows the results of estimating regression equation (1) along with the estimated convergence coefficients calculated according to formula (2). The first column in Table 9 indicates the period. The next columns give the estimated values of parameters a_0 and a_1 , *t*-statistics, *p*-values (significance levels), and R^2 (the *R*-squared coefficient for the two-region model equals 1 by definition). The next column provides information about the existence of β -convergence. The answer is "yes" if the GDP growth rate is negatively and statistically significantly correlated with the initial income level. It is so if the estimated *a*1 coefficient is negative and the corresponding *p*-value is less than 0.1 (assuming a 10% significance level). The last column gives the estimated value of coefficient *b*.

Period	α	α ₁	t-stat. (α ₀)	t-stat. (α ₁)	p-value (α ₀)	p-value (α ₁)	R ²	β-convergence	β	
26 countries of the enlarged EU										
1993-2013	0.2039	-0.0186	7.02	-6.23	0.000	0.000	0.6182	yes	0.0232	
1993-2004	0.1921	-0.0163	4.47	-3.70	0.000	0.001	0.3636	yes	0.0180	
2004-2013	0.2574	-0.0244	5.04	-4.83	0.000	0.000	0.4934	yes	0.0276	
2 regions (E	U11 and E	U15)								
1993-2013	0.2319	-0.0216					1.0000	yes	0.0283	
1993-2004	0.2117	-0.0188			•	•	1.0000	yes	0.0211	
2004-2013	0.3301	-0.0316					1.0000	yes	0.0371	

Table 9Regression results for β-convergence

Source: Own calculations.

Figure 3

GDP per capita growth rate over the 1993–2013 period and the initial GDP per capita level



Source: Own calculations.

The results confirm the existence of a clear-cut income-level convergence of the EU11 countries toward the EU15 throughout the 1993–2013 period. The catching-up process took place both among the 26 countries of the examined sample and between the two regions, EU11 and EU15. For the 26 countries of the enlarged EU, the slope of the regression line is negative with *t*-statistics at -6.23, *p*-value at 0.000, and the *R*-squared coefficient at 62%. This shows the existence of strong convergence trends inside the enlarged European Union. Countries with lower 1993 income levels recorded more rapid economic growth on average in 1993–2013 than those countries that were

initially more developed. Since the Central and Eastern European economies were less developed in 1993, these results demonstrate an evident catching-up process by the EU11 countries with Western Europe.

The existence of β -convergence in 1993–2013 among the 26 EU countries is illustrated in Figure 3. In the figure, the EU11 countries are marked by rhombuses, while the EU15 countries are marked by triangles. As we can see, the points representing the EU11 countries appear in the upper left part of the chart, while the points representing the EU15 economies are located in the lower right part. This means that the EU11 countries recorded more rapid economic growth from 1993 to 2013, while their initial income level was lower.

Figure 3 shows that the dispersion of the points representing individual countries is not large from the negatively sloped trend line. This results in a relatively high value of the *R*-squared coefficient, at 62%. Differences in the initial income level account for almost two-thirds of the differences in the economic growth rates for the 1993–2013 period.

The points marked in the figure make it possible to compare the outcomes recorded by individual countries and to assess changes in their competitive position during the studied period. The most rapid economic growth rates were reported by the Baltic states. GDP per capita in Latvia, Estonia, and Lithuania grew at a rate of about 5% annually throughout the studied period, although these countries' initial income levels were relatively low. The results noted by the Baltics helped strengthen convergence inside the group. The position of Poland was also favorable compared with other CEE countries. Poland ranked fourth in terms of the rate of economic growth among the 26 EU countries. Rapid economic growth in Poland was one of the factors leading to an improvement in the country's competitive position. Given the relatively low income level in Poland in 1993, these results strengthened convergence in the group as a whole.

The average results of the catching-up process of the EU11 group toward Western Europe are weakened by Romania and Bulgaria. These two countries had a relatively low GDP per capita level in 1993, and they also recorded relatively slow economic growth throughout the 1993–2013 period. As a result, the points representing these two countries are located far below the trend line and negatively affect its gradient. Croatia's economic growth was also relatively slow, but its initial development level was higher (in 1993, Croatia was wealthier than Poland, the Baltic states, Romania, and Bulgaria).

Figure 3 also shows some differences in the economic growth paths of Western European countries. Two countries, Ireland and Luxembourg, exhibited relatively fast economic growth compared with their initial income level. As a result, the points representing these two countries appear significantly above the trend line. The situation of Luxembourg, however, is atypical because the high level of income per inhabitant in Luxembourg and the country's rapid growth stem mainly from the fact that Luxembourg is a tax haven and hosts a number of enterprises from the financial and high-tech sectors. By contrast, three Mediterranean countries, Italy, Greece, and Portugal, recorded a slow rate of economic growth.

In Figure 3, the analysis of individual countries demonstrates that convergence exists not only among the 26 EU countries but also inside the EU11 area. In the EU11 group, the highest initial income level was noted by the Czech Republic and Slovenia, while their economic growth rate between 1993 and 2013 was relatively low compared with other CEE countries. These results were one of the factors stimulating convergence in the CEE area.

Aggregated data for two regions, the EU11 and EU15, further confirm the existence of convergence in the 1993–2013 period. In Figure 3, the points representing these two regions are marked by squares. The EU11 group as a whole recorded more rapid economic growth than the EU15 area, while the group's initial income level was much lower.

The β -coefficients, which measure the speed of convergence and are calculated according to formula (2), stand at 2.32% for the 26 countries and at 2.83% for the two regions. The β -coefficients allow us to estimate the time needed to reduce the development gap between the studied countries. If the average growth patterns observed in 1993–2013 continue, the countries of the enlarged EU will need about 25–30 years to reduce the gap to their common hypothetical steady state by half (the value is calculated as follows: $-\ln(0.5)/0.0232 = 29.9$ years and $-\ln(0.5)/0.0283 = 24.5$ years).¹⁹ The above results point to a slow catching-up process by the EU11 countries toward Western Europe. Based on these estimates, it is not expected that the income levels in Poland and other Central and Eastern European countries will become equal to those in Western Europe in the medium term. Of course, we should treat these results with caution because such a simulation does not take into account unexpected internal or external shocks that may change a country's economic growth path. A good recent example is the global economic crisis, which hampered the catching-up process for the whole group. The crisis led to a deep recession in the Baltic states, which reported low 1993 income levels and rapid growth rates, especially in 2000–2007, in a trend that stimulated the convergence of the whole group.

Comparing the results for 1993–2004 with those for 2004–2013, it turns out that β -convergence occurred in both periods. However, the *b* catching-up process accelerated after EU enlargement, from 2004 to 2013. The relationship between the initial income level and the rate of economic growth was negative and statistically significant (*p*-values less than 0.1) in the two periods. This applies to the analysis for both the 26 countries and the trend line and, consequently, by higher *b*-coefficients. The *b*-coefficient for the EU26 countries increased from 1.80% in 1993–2004 to 2.76% in 2004–2013, while the β -coefficient for the two regions rose from 2.11% to 3.71% in the same period.²⁰ The acceleration of the catching-up process resulted from many factors, including further trade and capital liberalization that led to significant tariff cuts and an inflow of foreign

¹⁹ The half-life (t^*) is the solution of the equation: $e - \beta t^* = 0.5$, where β is the rate of decrease (Romer 2000, p. 41). By taking logs of the above formula, we get: $t^* = -\ln 0.5/\beta$.

²⁰ Próchniak and Witkowski (2013) apply more advanced econometric models—based on the Bayesian Model Averaging method—to analyze the time stability of conditional β -convergence in the EU.

direct investment, combined with liberalization (at least partial) on labor markets in a trend that led to labor force migration from regions and countries where wages are low to those with high wages. A big role in accelerating the convergence process was also played by EU structural funds, earmarked for the development of poorer EU countries and regions. The flow of funds from the EU budget intensified after the new member states joined the bloc, leading to these countries' rapid growth. This can be clearly seen in the case of Poland, a key recipient of funds from the EU's 2007–2013 budget. The amount of money granted by the EU in the form of various types of aid and structural funds positively influenced the Polish economy on both the demand and supply sides. As a result, Poland recorded relatively good economic growth figures in the last few years, becoming the only EU country to avoid recession during the global crisis. The EU's 2014–2020 budget sets aside more structural funds for new member states and should prove to be a major driver of convergence in Poland and other Central and Eastern European countries in the coming years.

The results of β -convergence presented here are the average results for the whole region. As shown in Figure 3, individual EU11 countries displayed different rates of GDP growth and different degres of convergence toward Western Europe. It is worth taking a look at the nature of the catching-up process in individual EU11 countries toward the EU15 in the period before and after EU enlargement.

Figure 4





^a The changes are expressed in percentage points; in each year the GDP per capita at PPP for the EU15 is taken as a base equal to 100.

Source: Own calculations based on IMF data.

Figure 4 shows by how many percentage points the income gap of a given EU11 country to the EU15 area decreased in the 1993–2004 and 2004–2013 periods. It turns out that only six countries saw an acceleration in the catching-up process after EU enlargement. On the one hand, in two Baltic states (Estonia and Latvia) as well as Slovenia, Croatia and Hungary, the income gap toward the EU15 narrowed faster in the period before EU enlargement (although it should be noted this period is longer). On the other hand, in Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Lithuania, Bulgaria, and Romania, the reduction in the income gap with Western Europe was more rapid after EU enlargement (since Bulgaria and Romania joined the EU in 2007, the 2004–2013 convergence analysis for these two countries covers a part of the pre-accession period). In Poland, European funds probably played a big role in accelerating the pace of convergence after EU enlargement, which increased the competitiveness of the Polish economy.

Individual EU11 countries used different paths to reduce their income gaps. Some countries took advantage of the substantial benefits from European integration before EU enlargement, while others benefited in terms of income level equalization, mostly after EU accession.

To sum up, despite the existence of a clear-cut tendency towards convergence between the old and new EU member states, the pace of the catching-up process suggests that no major changes can be expected in either the short or medium term in competitiveness measured by real GDP per capita between Poland and other EU11 countries, on the one hand, and the old EU members, on the other. Moreover, the economic performance of the EU11 countries may deteriorate unless the implications of the crisis are overcome quickly and the fiscal stance improves soon. The period of time it takes to return to the pre-crisis economic growth path will be a key determinant of the future competitive position of EU11 countries compared with the EU15 area.

σ -convergence

 σ -convergence of the Central and Eastern European countries toward Western Europe is measured by changes in the standard deviation of GDP per capita levels between the 26 EU countries as well as between the EU11 and EU15 areas. The results of the trend line estimation for standard deviations are shown in Table 10. Figure 5 offers a graphical illustration of the outcomes.

The data in Table 10 show that during all the considered time periods there existed σ -convergence both among the 26 EU countries and between the EU11 and EU15 areas. The slopes of all the estimated trend lines are negative and statistically significant at high significance levels (*p*-values do not exceed 0.001). The high values of the *R*-squared coefficients reflect a very good fit of empirical points to the trend line.

Figure 5 shows the standard deviation of log GDP per capita levels. As we can see, income differences between the EU11 countries and the old EU members generally displayed a downward trend. Income differences decreased most obviously and consistently

in the second half of the analyzed period, which means after 2000. In 2009–2010, due to the economic crisis and decelerated economic growth in many rapidly developing countries, income differences among the 26 countries of the analyzed group increased, although the average data for the two regions do not support this evidence.

The analysis of Figure 5 in terms of the benefits of EU membership shows that EU entry has contributed to a decrease in income level differences between the countries. In the 1990s, when EU membership was still a distant prospect, the development disparities in the considered group were relatively constant over time (of course, this applies to aggregated data for the 26 countries; an earlier analysis has shown that individual countries followed different paths of economic growth). Differences between countries in income levels decreased as the date of EU entry approached. After accession, aid and structural funds transferred to poorer countries and regions constituted an important factor behind reduced income disparities.

Figure 5 shows that convergence is not an automatic process and that the development differences will not necessarily continue to narrow in the future; divergence tendencies may appear. The latest global crisis is a good example; it has led to an increase in income level differences. Such unexpected shocks as well as any other future potential disruptions may hamper convergence trends in Europe. Consequently, it is essential to pursue the right economic policies (fiscal and monetary policies, combined with institutional environment reforms) in order to keep the process of income level equalization inside the enlarged European Union on track. If such high-quality policies are in place and if the external environment is favorable, a further decline may be expected in income differences in the next few years, along with an accelerated convergence of the EU11 countries toward the EU15.

Table 10

Period	α	α ₁	t-stat. (α ₀)	t-stat. (α_1)	p-value (α ₀)	p-value (α ₁)	R ²	σ -convergence
26 countries of the enlarged EU								
1993-2013	0.6001	-0.0103	69.84	-15.01	0.000	0.000	0.9222	yes
1993-2004	0.5797	-0.0062	58.51	-4.63	0.000	0.001	0.6822	yes
2004-2013	0.4723	-0.0088	65.88	-7.65	0.000	0.000	0.8797	yes
2 regions (EU	11 and EU1	5)						
1993-2013	0.5406	-0.0121	73.00	-20.52	0.000	0.000	0.9568	yes
1993-2004	0.5179	-0.0078	76.17	-8.48	0.000	0.000	0.8779	yes
2004-2013	0.4046	-0.0125	61.66	-11.86	0.000	0.000	0.9462	yes

Regression results for σ -convergence

Source: Own calculations.



Closing the income gap – a forecast

In the preceding section, income convergence between the CEE countries and Western Europe in the 1993–2013 period was analyzed with the help of some econometric methods. This section presents a simulative forecast of the catching-up process between the CEE countries (EU10 or EU11)²¹ and Western Europe (EU15). Our forecast (or, more precisely, simulation) of the further pace of income convergence between the two groups of countries will be made according to three hypothetical scenarios. The first two scenarios update our earlier forecasts based on similar assumptions, presented in earlier editions of this report (e.g. Weresa, ed., 2013); the third scenario is repeated with some minor numerical corrections.

The first scenario, which is a simple extrapolation of the past growth trends, assumes that individual CEE countries and the EU15 group as a whole will in the future maintain the average yearly per capita GDP growth rates noted in the 1993–2013 period.²² For most CEE countries, and particularly for Poland, this is a very optimistic scenario from the point of view of the period needed to close the income gap between the two groups of countries.

Figure 5

²¹ Croatia, which entered the EU in 2013, has been included here in the forecast made under the first scenario, but it could not be considered in the two other forecasting variants due to a lack of the required input data related to long-run economic and demographic forecasts.

²² The GDP per capita growth rates quoted here refer to the growth of real GDP measured at constant prices in national currencies (euro in the case of the EU15); they differ slightly from the growth rates calculated from PPS GDP data, which were used in the calculations made in the previous section.

The second scenario is more analytical in nature. It is based on a medium-term GDP forecast given by the IMF (IMF, 2014) and on a long-term demographic forecast published by Eurostat (Eurostat, 2014). The scenario assumes that during the next five years, CEE economies and the EU15 group as a whole will grow in line with the IMF's GDP growth forecast until 2018. A further assumption is that from 2020 onward these countries will continue to grow at the constant GDP growth rate foreseen by the IMF for 2018, with a minor correction for Hungary.²³ The data for 2019 have been inserted by interpolation and the assumed total GDP growth rates have been transformed into per capita terms using demographic projections.²⁴ Compared with the first scenario, this second scenario seems more realistic, though the assumptions about future GDP growth in the CEE countries are also quite optimistic.²⁵

The common feature of both these scenarios is the assumption that the CEE countries will maintain some lead over the EU15 group as regards the growth of per capita GDP and, as the result, the catching-up process will continue. We shall focus on calculating the probable length of the period needed to close the income gap (against the average per capita GDP level in the EU15). The only difference between the two variants is that the ratios of the growth rates between the CEE countries and the EU15 group in the first scenario are assumed to remain the same as in the 1993–2013 period, while in the second scenario, these ratios may change, according to the current growth trends and the assumed future growth rates.

In both of the above scenarios, the reference point in our forecast is the relative level of GDP per capita in 2013. The period necessary to close the income gap depends on the initial income gap and on the assumed future growth rate of per capita GDP, i.e. on the assumed growth of total GDP and the expected change in population numbers. The algorithm used to calculate the length of the catching-up period was presented and discussed in an earlier edition of this report (Weresa, ed., 2012, p. 57).

Our calculations have been made in two versions as regards estimating the initial income gap. In the first version, the income gap is measured by the relative level of per capita GDP calculated at the purchasing power standard (PPS). In the second version, the income gap is measured by the relative level of per capita GDP calculated at current exchange rates (CER). Although such calculations are usually done with respect to per capita income calculated at PPS, in this analysis we will consider both alternative ways of measuring the income gap (at PPS and CER) because it is still uncertain whether the GDP per capita at PPS figures for CEE countries are adequate rather than overestimated.

²³ For Hungary, the target GDP growth rate was increased by 0.5% (compared with the IMF forecast), from 1.6% to 2.1%, which seems to be more plausible and is more comparable with the growth rates assumed for the remaining CEE countries.

²⁴ After 2060, due to the lack of comparable demographic data, we have assumed no further change in population numbers.

²⁵ The assumed GDP growth rates for Poland after 2020 (3.5% per year) lie within the range accepted as feasible in several growth forecasts for Poland for the next 10–20 years (cf. the literature quoted in the discussion about the growth prospects of the Polish economy, given in part 1.1 of this chapter), though it may not be sustained in a longer time horizon due to the demographic barrier.

Table 11Closing the income gap – scenario 1

Country	GDP per capita growth rate (%)	GDP per ca (EU15	pita in 2013 = 100)	Number of years necessary to reach the average level of GDP per capita in the EU15		
		PPS	CER	PPS	CER	
Bulgaria	3.0	43	19	48	94	
Croatia	3.4	55	35	28	49	
Czech Republic	2.5	73	47	25	59	
Estonia	5.3	67	47	10	19	
Hungary	2.3	61	33	46	103	
Latvia	5.5	61	39	12	23	
Lithuania	5.0	68	39	10	26	
Poland	4.3	62	34	16	36	
Romania	3.3	50	24	34	69	
Slovakia	4.2	70	45	12	27	
Slovenia	2.8	74	57	19	36	
EU15	1.2	100	100	_	-	

Source: Author's calculation based on data from the Eurostat Database, ec.europa.eu/eurostat, supplemented when necessary by auxiliary data from the IMF and World Bank, (2014), www.imf.org; databank.worldbank. org, accessed Feb. 25, 2014.

Table 12Closing the income gap – scenario 2

Country	Growth rate of GDP		GDP per capita = 1	in 2013 (EU15 .00)	Number of years necessary to reach the average level of GDP per capita in the EU15		
	2013-2019	2020	PPS CER		PPS	CER	
Bulgaria	2.6	3.0	43	19	42	100	
Czech Republic	2.2	2.4	73	47	37	93	
Estonia	3.5	3.7	67	47	17	32	
Hungary	1.6	2.1	61	33	77	202	
Latvia	4.1	4.0	61	39	16	31	
Lithuania	3.6	3.7	68	39	15	37	
Poland	3.1	3.5	62	34	23	50	
Romania	3.0	3.5	50	24	31	66	
Slovakia	3.2	3.5	70	45	19	40	
Slovenia	1.5	2.6	74	57	35	60	
EU15	1.5	1.6	100	100	_	-	

Source: Author's calculation based on data from the Eurostat Database (ec.europa.eu/eurostat) and the IMF World Economic Outlook Database, www.imf.org, accessed Feb. 25, 2014.

It should be remembered that the EU15 group, used here as a reference frame to represent the average income level in Western Europe, is meant as composed of 15 countries that belonged to the EU before its major enlargement in 2004 and 2007 (it does not coincide exactly with the group of the 15 Western European countries that belong to the euro area, usually denoted as the EA15). The average per capita GDP level in the EU15 group was calculated by dividing the total GDP value for this group by the sum of the population. The growth rates of per capita GDP for the EU15 group used in the first scenario refer exactly to this group, but under the second and third scenarios, because of the lack of the respective data for the so-defined group, we used the GDP growth rates given by the IMF or European Commission for the euro area (EU17), which do not differ much from those for the EU15 group and are an acceptable substitute.

The assumptions made in the first two scenarios and the results of our calculations are presented in Table 11 and Table 12. The first column in both tables shows the assumed growth rates of per capita GDP or total GDP. The next two columns give the initial levels of GDP per capita at PPS and CER relative to the average level in the EU15, and the last two columns indicate the number of years necessary to reach the average level of GDP per capita in the EU15 if the initial GDP per capita level is measured at PPS or at CER.

In 2013, GDP per capita in all the CEE countries belonging to the EU was much lower than the EU15 average. The lowest level of GDP per capita was noted in Bulgaria (43% of the EU15 average at PPS and 19% at CER) and Romania (50% and 24% respectively), while the highest level was seen in Slovenia (74% at PPS and 57% at CER) and in the Czech Republic (73% and 47%). In Poland, GDP per capita in 2013 accounted for 62% of the EU15 average when calculated at PPS and for 34% when calculated at CER. For all the CEE countries, the per capita GDP values calculated at PPS are much higher than those converted at CER. Consequently, the period necessary to close the income gap calculated at PPS is considerably shorter than the period required for closing the income gap calculated at CER.

Scenario 1 is a simple extrapolation of the past trend of GDP per capita, assuming that the CEE countries (EU11) and the EU15 group will maintain the average yearly growth rates of GDP per capita noted in the 1993–2013 period. Under this assumption, individual EU11 countries would need 10 to 48 years to reach the average level of GDP per capita seen in the EU15 group if the initial income gap is calculated at PPS, but 19 to 103 years if it is calculated at CER. Estonia has the best position in the catching-up process; it would need only 10 years at PPS or 19 years at CER to reach the average income level in the EU15. Lithuania would need 10 or 26 years for the same, and Latvia 12 or 23 years. For Slovakia, the respective catching-up periods are 12 or 27 years, for Slovenia 19 or 36 years, for the Czech Republic 27 or 59 years, and for Croatia 29 or 49 years. Poland would need 16 years if the initial income gap is calculated at PPS or 36 years if it is calculated at CER. Hungary, Romania and Bulgaria are in the worst position: keeping up its earlier growth trend, revealed in the

above period, Hungary would need 46 years to achieve the average income level at PPS seen in the EU15 or 103 years at CER, and Romania and Bulgaria would need 34 or 69 years and 48 or 94 years respectively.

The time required to close the income gap against the EU15 under scenario 2 differs from that obtained in scenario 1 because the current and future GDP growth rates assumed here differ from the past trends. For most CEE countries, the catching-up period turns out to be longer than in the first scenario. The convergence period becomes a little shorter for Romania (31 years at PPS and 66 years at CER) and possibly for Bulgaria (42 years at PPS, but 100 years at CER). For all the remaining countries in the group, the catching-up period becomes considerably longer. For Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, the catching-up period rises to 15–17 years at PPS or 31–37 years at CER; for Slovakia it rises to 19 or 40 years respectively, for Slovenia to 35 or 60 years, and for the Czech Republic to 37 or 93 years. For Hungary, the catching-up period becomes extremely long: 77 years at PPS and 202 years at CER (despite our upward correction of the future growth rate). Poland ranks in the middle of the group in this respect, with a chance to bridge the income gap toward Western Europe within 23 years if the initial income gap is calculated at PPS, or 50 years if it is calculated at CER.

The above estimates of the catching-up period in terms of per capita GDP measured at PPS should be treated as minimal because they have been made at constant prices and exchange rates noted at the starting point, on the assumption that current price differentials between the CEE and EU15 will not change. In fact, due to the gradual equalization of price levels within the EU28, the purchasing power of the future income earned in any of the CEE countries may turn to be lower than expected on the basis of constant price calculations, with the resulting increase in the period needed to close the income gap.

In addition to the purely extrapolative forecast presented under scenario 1, based on the growth trends observed in the whole transition period 1993–2013, or instead of it, we could also develop a similar extrapolative forecast of income convergence based on the growth pattern observed in the 2004–2013 period, after the EU's major enlargement towards the CEE. The retrospective analysis of the catching-up process, presented in the preceding section, brings some empirical evidence of the acceleration of income convergence between the CEE countries and Western Europe after their EU accession, though identification of the specific effect of the integration on the speed of convergence would require further research. But the growth patterns seen in that period, influenced by the global financial and economic crisis as well as the debt crisis in the euro area, were atypical and are unlikely to be repeated. Therefore, the average growth rates noted by various EU countries in that period and the resulting growth differentials cannot be directly applied to any reasoning about possible future developments. For instance Poland, thanks to its continuous growth, reported a substantial increase in the real GDP volume over the whole period. Reinforced by population declines, this was reflected in a relatively high GDP per capita growth rate of 3.8% per year, whereas the average growth rate for the EU15 group in the same period was only 0.3%, a growth differential between Poland and the EU15 of almost 13:1. There is no doubt that such a big difference in the growth rates between member countries of the same integrated economic area cannot be sustained. Therefore the growth patterns seen during that period cannot be used to forecast the future course of the convergence process.

More meaningful in this respect may be the long-term growth patterns observed throughout the transition period (used in the forecast developed under scenario 1), though the question remains open whether the growth lead revealed in the past by the less developed CEE countries over the more developed EU15 countries may be maintained in the future.

We have also analyzed some other scenarios of the convergence process, including some alternative extrapolation variants with longer and shorter backward observation periods as well as some other variants of analytical forecasts, with different assumptions as to the future growth rates in the CEE countries and in the EU15 group (cf. Matkowski, 2010; Matkowski, Próchniak, Rapacki, 2013a, 2013b). In all the analyzed variants, the period necessary for Poland to close the income gap toward the EU15, measured at PPS and adjusted for the 2013 starting point, is between 15 and 25 years. We can therefore conclude that, under all realistic assumptions, the minimum period necessary for Poland to catch up with the EU15 in terms of the average PPS income level is now about 20 years.

Expectations voiced by some optimistic authors (cf. Rybiński, 2009)—that Poland can reach the income level in Western Europe within 10 years—are entirely unrealistic. This could happen if the Polish economy began to grow almost 5% per year, while the EU15 countries would stop growing altogether.²⁶ However, such a long stagnation in Western Europe is improbable and, furthermore, it would dampen Poland's economy, which is highly dependent on exports to Western markets and on the inflow of foreign investment. Therefore Poland needs to accept the fact that it may be capable of closing the income gap with Western Europe, but this requires a lot of time and effort. Likewise, a future economic slowdown in Poland and other CEE countries could bring down the rate of the convergence process and eventually reverse it into divergence. Such a possibility is implied by the third scenario, presented below. Scenario 3 is based on a long-term growth forecast for EU countries until 2060, developed under the auspices of the European Commission (European Commission, 2012). This forecast, already mentioned in the preceding section of this chapter, is based on a thorough analysis of the unfavorable demographic trends and their effect on employment and labor productivity, as well as of the expected changes in total factor productivity (TFP). Under the forecast, beginning in 2015 or 2010, economic growth in Poland and most other CEE countries will slow down, mainly as a result of population aging and the outflow of

²⁶ Even if the unique growth differential between Poland and the EU15 noted in the 2004–2013 period (13:1) could hold in the future—which is improbable—the time required to close the existing income gap measured at PPS would be 14 years.

young working-age people seeking jobs and better living conditions abroad. This would lead to a gradual decrease in the growth rate differential between the CEE countries and Western Europe and ultimately the disappearance of any growth advantage and the reversal of the growth ratio between the two groups, at a very low level of growth rates. One of the consequences of the changing growth patterns would be a decrease in the rate of income convergence between the two groups of countries, leading to a reversal in the convergence process and a renewed widening of the income gap. It should be noted that this forecast is highly pessimistic not only because it excludes the chance of bridging the income gap toward Western Europe within the lifetime of a single generation, but also because it foresees very slow growth in real income and wealth (about 1%-2% a year in terms of per capita GDP) over the next 50 years for both the EU15 and most CEE countries.

The implications of this scenario for the catching-up process between the CEE countries and Western Europe are shown in Table 13. Unlike the first two scenarios, which indicated the length of the period needed to close the income gap, this scenario because of the reversal of the convergence process within the forecast horizon—gives only the relative income levels foreseen at the beginning of the consecutive decades and the minimum size of the income gap at the turning point from convergence to divergence. For the sake of simplicity, the relative income levels illustrating the size of the income gap are only given in terms of GDP per capita calculated at PPS (the alternative estimates of the relative income level against the EU15 in terms of GDP per capita calculated at CER would be much lower). The starting point in this scenario is 2010, in line with the timing of the underlying growth forecast. The initial income gap in 2010 was calculated against the EU15 average, but the future GDP per capita growth rate for the reference group was assumed to be equal to the EU17 average given in the European Commission forecast. The figures given in the table differ slightly from those shown in last year's edition of the report (Weresa, ed., 2013) because the whole forecast was recalculated using the revised data for the initial income gap at a starting point, but this does not significantly change the results.

As can be seen from Table 13, in most CEE countries the switch from convergence to divergence against Western Europe would appear around 2045 (in the case of Slovenia and Slovakia a little earlier). At their turning points from convergence to divergence, individual CEE countries can reach the following income levels relative to Western Europe (EU15 = 100), illustrating the minimum size of the income gap: Slovakia – 89, Czech Republic – 87, Slovenia – 83, Estonia – 78, Latvia and Lithuania – 70, Hungary – 64, Romania – 51. Poland would reach the minimum income gap toward Western Europe in 2044, with the relative income level of 75% against the EU15 average. Bulgaria is the only CEE country that will be not affected by the divergence (at least not within the forecast horizon), but at the end of the forecasting period it can only enjoy 55% of the average income standard in the EU15. Of course, this scenario does not give any indication as to the further development of the convergence vs. divergence process after 2060, which is beyond the time scope of the underlying forecast.

Country	GDP per capita growth rate,		Income gap (GDP per capita at PPS, EU15 = 100)						
Country	2010–2060 (% per year)	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	income gap	
Bulgaria	1.9	40	46	50	54	55	55		
Czech Rep.	1.6	73	79	82	86	86	85	87 (2046)	
Estonia	1.8	58	63	70	77	77	76	78 (2046)	
Hungary	1.4	59	57	60	63	63	62	64 (2045)	
Latvia	1.8	50	55	63	69	69	67	70 (2044)	
Lithuania	1.7	52	57	62	68	70	68	70 (2048)	
Poland	1.8	57	67	71	75	74	71	75 (2044)	
Romania	1.5	43	48	49	51	51	49	51 (2044)	
Slovakia	1.8	66	79	87	89	86	83	89 (2038)	
Slovenia	1.3	77	82	83	83	81	80	83 (2037)	
EU15	1.3	100	100	100	100	100	100		

Table 13Closing the income gap – scenario 3

Source: Author's calculations based on data from the Eurostat Database, ec.europa.eu/eurostat and the European Commission (2012).

One can hope that this depressing scenario, which precludes bridging the income gap within one generation, will not come true. Nevertheless, the possibility of such undesirable developments, under *laissez-faire* conditions, cannot be ignored. It should be noted that the alarming forecast is supported by another long-term growth projection produced by the OECD (OECD, 2012). To prevent this eventuality, well-coordinated, multidirectional efforts must be undertaken as soon as possible by the governments of the countries concerned and also as part of common European policy, aimed at overcoming the emerging threats to future economic growth. In the case of Poland, a complex development program is needed dedicated to the maintenance and acceleration of economic growth, which should focus on correcting unfavorable demographic trends, creating better institutional conditions for enterprise development, further expanding and modernizing the infrastructure, better use of existing labor and material resources, and promoting education, knowledge and innovativeness—all the crucial factors of growth in a highly competitive international environment.

References

Barro, R.J., Sala-i-Martin X., (2003), Economic Growth, The MIT Press, Cambridge-London.

European Commission, (2012), 2012 Ageing Report: Economic and Budgetary Projections for the EU27 Member States: 2010–2060, "European Economy", No. 2/2012.

Eurostat, (2014), Eurostat Database, ec.europa.eu/eurostat.

IMF, (2014), World Economic Outlook Database, www.imf.org.

Matkowski, Z., (2010), Perspektywy wzrostu gospodarczego Polski w latach 2010–2020 i docelowy poziom PKB per capita, in: Płowiec U. (ed.), Innowacyjna Polska w Europie 2020. Szanse i zagrożenia trwałego rozwoju, PWE, Warszawa 2010, pp. 62–120.

Matkowski, Z., Próchniak, M., (2013), Real Income Convergence, in: Weresa M.A. (ed.), Poland. Competitiveness Report 2013. National and Regional Dimensions, World Economy Research Institute, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw, pp. 44–64.

Matkowski, Z., Próchniak, M., Rapacki, R., (2013a), Nowe i stare kraje UE – konwergencja czy dywergencja?, in: Walczyk K. (ed.), Badania koniunktury – zwierciadło gospodarki, part II, "Prace i Materiały IRG", vol. 91, Instytut Rozwoju Gospodarczego, Szkoła Główna Handlowa, Warszawa 2013, pp. 63–98.

Matkowski, Z., Próchniak, M., Rapacki, R., (2013b), Scenariusze realnej konwergencji w Unii Europejskiej – kraje EŚW a UE15, IX Kongres Ekonomistów Polskich, 28–29 November, 2013, Warszawa.

OECD, (2012), Looking to 2060: Long-term Growth Prospects for the World, OECD Economic Policy Papers, No. 03/2012.

Próchniak, M., (2008), Methodology of Income Convergence Analysis, in: Weresa M.A. (ed.), Poland. Competitiveness Report 2008, World Economy Research Institute, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw, pp. 337–338.

Próchniak, M., Witkowski, B., (2013), Time Stability of the Beta Convergence among EU Countries: Bayesian Model Averaging Perspective, "Economic Modelling", vol. 30, p. 322–333.

Romer, D., (2000), Makroekonomia dla zaawansowanych, Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, Warszawa.

Rybiński, K., (2009), Mamy szansę na złotą dekadę, "Polska. The Times", 24–25.10.2009.

Weresa, M.A., (ed.) (2012), Poland. Competitiveness Report 2012: Focus on Education, World Economy Research Institute, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw.

Weresa, M.A., (ed.) (2013), Poland. Competitiveness Report 2013: National and Regional Dimensions, World Economy Research Institute, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw.

World Bank, (2014), World Development Indicators Database, databank.worldbank.org.

1.3. Income Inequality and Poverty in Poland: The Impact of Poland's EU Membership on Income Inequality

Patrycja Graca-Gelert

This subchapter outlines the main income inequality and poverty trends in Poland compared with other European Union countries between 2003 and 2012. This edition of the report assesses the impact of Poland's EU membership on income inequality in the country.

Methodological remarks

Income inequality and poverty are complex issues. The interpretation of inequality and poverty—their dimension and change—depend to a large extent on the adopted assumptions. In this subchapter, we assume what follows.

- 1. We refer to household disposable income unless specified otherwise.
- 2. We refer mainly to equivalised income unless specified otherwise. The adopted equivalence scale is the modified OECD scale. The equivalence scale makes it possible to compare incomes of households with different characteristics. The modified OECD equivalence scale assigns a value of 1 to the household head, 0.5 to each person aged 14 and above, and 0.3 to each child.
- 3. The following inequality measures are used in this subchapter:
 - a. the Gini coefficient—it ranges from 0 for perfect equality to 1 for extreme inequality, $^{\rm 27}$
 - b. the S80/S20 income quintile share ratio (the ratio of total income received by the 20% of the population with the highest income to that received by the 20% of the population with the lowest income) and other kinds of quintile share ratios (the ratio of the mean income of one quintile group to the mean income of another quintile group).
- 4. Unless specified otherwise, a relative approach to poverty has been adopted. Poverty—"the lack of, or the inability to achieve, a socially acceptable standard of living" (FAO, 2005, p. 2)—referred to its relative approach is closely related to the notion of inequality (here: of income), where the standard of living (poverty line) is defined in relation to other people in the distribution (here: of income), (FAO, 2005). The information on the adopted poverty lines is to be found in subsequent parts of this subchapter.

 $^{^{\}rm 27}$ It may also be expressed as a percentage (from 0 to 100%), as for the most part of this subchapter.

- 5. The data used throughout this survey come mainly from *Budżety Gospodarstw Domowych* publications by Poland's Central Statistical Office (GUS) and directly from the office's household budget surveys (HBS) and EU-SILC. The analysis of income inequality and poverty was possible only up to 2012, 2010 or in some cases only up to 2008 due to problems with data availability and because information on household incomes (inequality) and poverty is published with a delay.
- 6. The calculations based on the HBS data and regarding the impact of EU membership on income inequality in Poland were performed using the DAD 4.6 software for distributive analysis (Jean-Yves Duclos, Abdelkrim Araar and Carl Fortin, "DAD: A Software for Distributive Analysis/Analyse Distributive," MIMAP programme, International Development Research Centre, Government of Canada, and CIRPÉE, Université Laval).

Differences in per capita income among EU countries and intracountry income inequality: Sen's social welfare function

Country rankings by GDP per capita (PPS), income inequality between countries and trends in regional income inequality (convergence/divergence) within countries are in principle not directly related to household income inequality in individual countries. EU countries experienced all possible combinations of regional convergence/ divergence of mean income (NUTS 2) and a decrease/increase in household income inequality (Weresa, (ed.), 2013, p. 69). However, the inter- and intra-inequality of income in EU countries can be analyzed jointly. One of the possible ways of analysis is the abbreviated Sen's social welfare function, which incorporates the problems of efficiency and equality. The social welfare function proposed by Sen is as follows (Sen, 1976; Sen, 1979):

$$W = e (1 - G)$$

where *e* denotes mean income and *G* is the Gini coefficient of the country's income distribution. In Table 14, *e* denotes GDP per capita (PPS). Sen's social welfare function adjusts GDP per capita—the traditional measure of welfare—by income inequality within a given country. The ranking of countries by Sen's social welfare function is obviously arbitrary and the function itself is not free of deficiencies (see e.g. Mukhopadhaya, 2001; Jacobs, Šlaus, 2010).

Table 14 shows data on GDP per capita (PPS) and the calculations of Sen's social welfare function. As the availability of data in 2003 and 2004 was limited, the base year for comparison was set at 2005.

Sen's Sen's GDP GDP No. Ranking Ranking Ranking SWF Ranking SWF 2005 2012 2005 2012 1 Luxembourg 57,100 Luxembourg 67,000 Luxembourg 41,969 Luxembourg 48,240 2 Ireland 32,500 33,300 Ireland 22,133 Sweden 24,558 Austria 3 Netherlands 29,400 Netherlands Netherlands Ireland 33,200 21,491 24,469 4 28,200 Netherlands 32,800 Denmark 21,156 24,109 Austria Austria 5 27,900 Ireland^a United Kingdom Sweden 32,700 Sweden 20,988 23,306 6 Denmark 27,800 Denmark 32,100 20,812 23,080 Austria Denmark 7 27,400 31,300 19,440 22,442 Sweden Germany Belgium Germany 8 27,000 22,344 Belgium Belgium 30,400 Germany 19,288 Belgium 9 Germany 26,100 Finland 29,100 Finland 19,018 Finland 21,563 10 Finland 25,700 United Kingdom 28,500 United Kingdom 18,247 United Kingdom 19,152 11 24,700 France France 27,500 France 17,858 France 19,113 12 23,700 EU28 25,600 15,926 EU28 17,766 Italy Italy 22,900 13 EU27 EU27 17,766 Spain 25,600 15,684 EU27 14 EU27 22,600 25,200 **EU28** 17,161 Italy Italy 15 EU28 22,500 16,215 Spain 24,400 Spain 15,618 Cyprus 16 20,900 23,500 14,935 16,089 Slovenia Malta Cyprus Cyprus 15,947 20,400 17 Greece Malta 22,100 Cyprus 14,902 Slovenia 18 Slovenia 19,600 20,900 13,627 15,860 Slovenia Greece Spain 19 Malta 18,100 Czech Republic 20,300 Malta 13,231 Czech Republic 15,245 20 Portugal 17,900 Greece 19,200 Czech Republic 13,172 Slovakia 14,268 21 Portugal Czech Republic 17,800 Portugal 19,200 11,080 Greece 12,614 22 14,200 Slovakia 19,100 10,281 Portugal 12,576 Hungary Hungary 23 Estonia 13,800 Estonia 18,000 Slovakia 9,963 Hungary 12,208 24 13,500 Slovakia Lithuania 17,900 Estonia 9,094 Lithuania 12,172 25 12,800 Poland Estonia 12,150 Croatia 16,800 Croatia 8,960 26 Lithuania 12,300 Hungary 16,700 Lithuania 7,835 Poland 11,609 27 Poland 11,500 Latvia 15,900 Poland 7,406 Croatia 10,842 28 11,100 7,093 Latvia Croatia 15,600 Latvia Latvia 10,192 29 Bulgaria 8,200 Romania 12,600 Bulgaria 6,150 Romania 8,417 7,900 30 Romania Bulgaria 12,100 Romania 5,451 Bulgaria 8,034

Table 14 Ranking of EU countries by GDP per capita (PPS, €) and Sen's social welfare function (SWF), 2005 and 2012

^a Data on income inequality (Gini index) refer to 2011.

Source: Own calculation based on Eurostat data.

As Table 14 shows, the application of Sen's social welfare function does not significantly alter the ranking of countries by GDP per capita. The most important conclusions resulting from Table 14 are as follows. First, three countries were ranked two positions higher according to Sen's social welfare function in 2005—Denmark, Sweden, and Slovenia. These countries recorded the lowest income inequality that year. Three other countries were ranked two or more positions lower according to Sen's social welfare function—Austria, Spain, and the United Kingdom (five positions lower). Sweden and Hungary were ranked three positions higher (Slovakia two positions higher), and Spain three positions lower (Austria, Ireland, and Estonia two positions lower) in 2012 according to Sen's social welfare function. Second, the rankings differ in the number of countries that changed their rank by two or more positions—14 countries according to the ranking by GDP per capita and 12 according to Sen's social welfare function. Interestingly, the United Kingdom experienced a fall by five notches between 2005 and 2012 according to the ranking by GDP per capita, whereas its rank did not change according to Sen's social welfare function. Third, if we compare welfare at the extremes of both rankings, greater relative disparities result from Sen's social welfare function; however, the relative differences in welfare decreased between 2005 and 2012 according to both rankings (a change from 623% to 458% for GDP per capita and from 670% to 500% for Sen's social welfare function²⁸).

Income inequality and poverty in Poland after the country's EU entry

The data on income inequality in Poland presented in Figure 6 show a decrease in income disparities after Poland's EU entry. The dimension of this decrease depends on the data taken into consideration, and the differences between the data result mainly from the adopted definition of income and the equivalence scale. According to the Central Statistical Office, income inequality in Poland increased rather than decreased in 2010 compared with the 2006–2009 period.

Table 15 presents data on households' mean monthly income for individual quintile groups and quintile share ratios. While the Gini coefficient measures changes across the income distribution spectrum, the quintile share ratios only take into account changes between particular quintiles of the income distribution. The quintile share ratios calculated from Poland's GUS data on disposable income do not show monotonic changes in income inequality in the analyzed period. However, it can be clearly seen that income disparities at the extremes of the income distribution and between the middle and the first quintile have been increasing since 2010.

²⁸ If we treat Luxembourg as an outlier and take into consideration the country with the secondhighest position, then the change in welfare disparities is as follows: from 311% to 175% for GDP per capita and from 306% to 206% for Sen's social welfare function.



Income inequality^a in Poland, 1989–2012

Figure 6

Note: ^a Disposable income in the case of TransMONEE and Eurostat data; available income for GUS data. Per capita income in the case of TransMONEE and GUS data; equivalised income for Eurostat data.

Source: Eurostat; TransMONEE 2012 Database, UNICEF Regional Office for CEE/CIS, Geneva; GUS, 2013, Table 5, p. 267.

Measure	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Total	802.43	894.53	1,006.57	1,071.67	1,147.18	1,183.66	1,232.85
I quintile	268.07	308.39	343.15	359.95	398.95	389.25	400.45
II quintile	490.16	552.41	631.11	671.72	710.69	739.81	764.16
III quintile	674.65	749.40	853.36	911.55	964.34	1,004.32	1,046.51
IV quintile	915.88	1,004.19	1,140.19	1,224.31	1,293.95	1,342.90	1,402.79
V quintile	1,667.26	1,862.22	2,068.89	2,196.16	2,373.77	2,446.12	2,556.19
V quintile/I quintile	6.22	6.04	6.03	6.10	5.95	6.28	6.38
III quintile/I quintile	2.52	2.43	2.49	2.53	2.42	2.58	2.61
V quintile/III quintile	2.47	2.48	2.42	2.41	2.46	2.44	2.44

Table 15 Households' mean monthly income^a in Poland by quintile groups, 2006–2012

Note: a Disposable per capita income. Rows 2-6 in zlotys.

Source: Calculated from GUS, (2004–2013), Budżety Gospodarstw Domowych.

Income inequality trends were different in individual socioeconomic groups throughout the analyzed period. The largest variability of income inequality was experienced by farmer households, while retirees and pensioners were the groups with the lowest variability of income disparities. The largest fluctuations of income inequality among all socioeconomic groups were observed until 2008. The most significant rise in income disparities occurred for farmer households, while the greatest decrease was experienced by self-employed households during the analyzed period. Rural income inequality was higher than urban income inequality for most of the time between 2006 and 2012.

Table 16

Households	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Employees	36.4	37.1	37.1	35.8	35.2	34.0	34.3	34.7	34.6	34.3
Farmers	47.3	49.1	49.7	49.6	54.8	57.2	53.6	53.3	53.9	55.9
Self-employed	40.8	40.3	39.7	41.5	41.3	38.7	37.8	37.5	37.3	38.2
Retirees	25.2	24.3	24.1	24.5	23.6	24.2	24.1	24.9	24.4	24.2
Pensioners	28.2	29.0	28.1	28.3	28.9	29.4	28.7	29.1	29.2	27.9
Urban	33.0	33.1	33.3	32.9	32.5	31.5	31.2	32.3	31.7	31.7
Rural	32.6	33.0	33.6	33.1	34.1	34.3	33.8	33.9	33.7	34.3

Income inequality^a in individual socioeconomic groups in Poland, 2003–2012

Note: ^a Available per capita income. Income inequality is measured by the Gini index. Source: GUS, 2013, Table 5, p. 267.

Income inequality can be considered *within* socioeconomic groups (as above), but it can also be considered *between* individual groups or in comparison to the mean total income. Figure 7 shows the relations of individual groups' mean income to the mean total income. Farmers were the group with the largest variability of income in comparison to the mean total income throughout the analyzed period. In addition, farmers experienced a continuous and significant improvement in their income position between 2003 and 2007. A similar trend can be observed in the case of the self-employed, although their relative income position worsened in subsequent years, falling below the 2003 level in 2009. The income position of retirees and pensioners worsened somewhat between 2003 and 2012, although it was relatively stable for the two groups analyzed jointly. As the data in Figure 7 were not adjusted by any equivalence scale, it is possible that adjusted data could yield different conclusions.

Figure 7





Note: ^a Relation of individual socioeconomic groups' mean monthly disposable per capita income to the mean monthly disposable per capita income in Poland.

Source: Calculated from GUS, (2004–2013), Budzety Gospodarstw Domowych.

In the case of poverty analysis, Poland's Central Statistical Office uses three key poverty measures. The first one is the relative poverty rate or rather the relative at-risk-of-poverty rate, which is defined as the share of households living below the poverty line determined by 50% of the mean monthly household expenditures. The two other poverty measures are the subsistence-level poverty rate and the poverty rate based on the statutory poverty line. The subsistence poverty rate is the share of households living below the extreme poverty line calculated by the Institute of Labor and Social Studies. The poverty rate based on the statutory poverty line is the share of households living below "the amount [of monthly income] that entitles one to social benefits" (GUS, 2013, p. 14). In the case of the subsistence-level and the at-risk-of-poverty rates, expenditures are adjusted by the so-called original equivalence scale. Figure 8 shows the trends of all the aforementioned poverty measures in Poland between 2003 and 2012 and the Eurostat main at-risk-of-poverty rate (relative poverty measure) for comparison. The Eurostat at-risk-of-poverty rate is defined as the percentage of people with an income below the poverty line, set at 60% of the median equivalised disposable income. Figure 8 shows that all the analyzed poverty measures decreased after 2004. This trend stopped in 2008 and some measures even began to increase. The poverty rate based on the statutory poverty line decreased significantly in the analyzed period, which was mainly caused by the fact that the nominal statutory threshold was not adjusted between Oct. 1, 2006 and Oct. 1, 2012.



Figure 8 Poverty in Poland at different poverty thresholds, 2003–2012

Income inequality and poverty in Poland compared with other EU countries

Income inequality has been relatively stable in most EU countries since 2003. The lowest variability of income disparities in the analyzed period was reported in Finland, Austria, the Czech Republic, and Slovenia. These countries also recorded the lowest income inequality levels (Figure 9), while Latvia, Spain, and Portugal were the countries with the highest income inequality in 2012. Portugal saw a large relative and absolute decrease in income inequality between 2005 and 2012. Other countries with large income inequality changes in this period were Bulgaria (an increase of more than 25%, by 8.6 p.p.), Denmark (increase), France (increase), Estonia (increase), Lithuania (decrease), and Poland (decrease)—Figure 10. Contrary to popular belief, Poland is not among the EU countries with the greatest income disparities. Income inequality in Poland was close to the EU average in 2012.

Source: Eurostat; GUS, (2007-2013a), Budżety Gospodarstw Domowych; GUS, (2013b).

Figure 9





Note: ^a Equivalised disposable income. ^b The data labels refer to 2012 with the exception of Ireland (2011). Source: Eurostat.

Figure 10





Note: a Absolute change by at least 2.8 p.p. $^{\rm b}$ A comparison with 2003 was not possible because of problems with data availability.

Source: Eurostat.

Some countries also experienced large changes in the at-risk-of-poverty rate²⁹ between 2005 and 2012. A significant increase in the relative and absolute at-risk-of-poverty was observed in Bulgaria, Sweden, Romania, Germany, and Greece, whereas Ireland and Poland were countries with the largest decrease in at-risk-of-poverty. The greatest variability of this poverty measure occurred in Bulgaria and Latvia, while somewhat lower variability—though much larger than in other EU countries—could be observed in Germany, Ireland, Croatia, Sweden, and Estonia. A clear pattern can be seen in the case of countries with the highest at-risk-of-poverty rate. These are either post-socialist or Mediterranean countries. Among the countries with the lowest at-risk-of-poverty rates were Nordic and several post-socialist countries as well as the Netherlands. The at-risk-of-poverty rate in Poland was close to the EU average.

Important conclusions can be drawn from the comparative analysis of two variables, the at-risk-of-poverty rate and the poverty threshold expressed in PPS (\notin), in 2005 and 2012 (Figure 12). Large at-risk-of-poverty combined with a low absolute poverty threshold indicate severe poverty, a real problem. Among the countries with this characteristic in 2005 were Lithuania, Latvia, Poland, Romania, and Portugal,

²⁹ The definition of this poverty measure is given in the previous part of this survey.


At-risk-of-poverty rates in 2003, 2005, 2008 and 2012^a; Poland compared with other EU countries

Note: ^a Data for Romania in 2005 refer to 2004. The data labels refer to 2012 with the exception of Ireland (2011).

Source: Eurostat.

Figure 11

and in 2012 the same was true of Romania, Bulgaria, Croatia, and Greece. Poland's relative situation improved on both these counts. By contrast, a significant deterioration was observed in Bulgaria and Romania. On the other hand, Nordic countries, the Netherlands, Germany, and Austria recorded low at-risk-of-poverty rates combined with a high absolute poverty threshold in 2005 (Luxembourg was excluded from the comparison because of its exceptionally high absolute poverty threshold). Germany left this group of countries with favorable indicators in 2012.

Figure 12





Note: ^a Data for Romania in 2005 refer to 2004 (at-risk-of-poverty rate) and 2007 (poverty threshold). Data (2005) for Croatia was not available. A comparison with 2003 was not possible because of problems with data availability.

Source: Eurostat.

Figure 13





Note: ^a Data for Romania in 2005 refer to 2004. Data for Ireland in 2012 refer to 2011. Source: Eurostat.

Another important variable characterizing poverty—apart from the at-risk-of-poverty rate and the absolute poverty threshold—is the depth of poverty (the relative at-risk-of-poverty gap). The relative at-risk-of-poverty gap shows the difference between the median equivalised disposable income of people below the at-risk-of-poverty threshold and the at-risk-of-poverty threshold, expressed as a percentage of this threshold. Figure 13 has data on the depth of poverty and the at-risk-of-poverty in individual EU countries. The conclusions drawn from the data are similar to those resulting from Figure 12. Poland, Lithuania, Latvia, Portugal, and Spain experienced the deepest poverty in 2005, while the lowest relative at-risk-of-poverty gap was observed in Nordic countries, Austria, France, the Czech Republic, and Germany. Poland's situation improved significantly in 2012 compared with 2005, whereas Bulgaria and Romania deteriorated considerably. The Netherlands joined the group of countries with the lowest relative at-risk-of-poverty rates, while Germany, Austria, and Sweden left this group of countries.

Three measures adopted in a long-term EU socioeconomic program known as Europe 2020 make it possible to monitor poverty and social exclusion—the at-risk-of-poverty rate (analyzed previously), the severe material deprivation rate, and the proportion of people living in households with very low work intensity. The severe material deprivation rate defined by Eurostat shows the percentage of people who are unable to pay for at least four of the following items: 1) to pay the rent, mortgage or utility bills, 2) to keep the home adequately warm, 3) to face unexpected expenses, 4) to eat meat or protein regularly, 5) to go on holiday, 6) to buy a television set, 7) to buy a washing machine, 8) to own a car, 9) to have a telephone. Households with very low work intensity are "people of all ages (from 0–59 years) living in households where the members of working age worked less than 20% of their total potential during the previous 12 months" (Eurostat).

Although the Europe 2020 program was approved in 2010, replacing the Lisbon Strategy launched in 2000, Figure 14 shows all three measures for monitoring poverty and social exclusion adopted in the new program in 2005 and 2012 for comparative purposes. The countries listed in the upper and lower graphs are ranked according to the sum of the three indicators, although it has to be emphasized that the dimensions represented by the three measures overlap.

A clear picture emerges from an analysis of the data. There were no post-socialist countries among those with the lowest sums of the three indices in 2005, while all the countries with the largest sums were post-socialist countries. The situation changed had changed by 2012, mainly due to Poland and the Czech Republic, which both significantly improved their positions. By contrast, most of the Mediterranean countries declined in the rankings in the analyzed period.

Figure 14





Note ^a Data for Romania in 2005 refer to 2004, 2007 and 2006 for the at-risk-of-poverty rate, severe material deprivation and jobless households respectively. Data for Bulgaria in 2005 refer to 2006 for severe material deprivation and jobless households. Data for Ireland in 2012 refer to 2011. Data for Croatia was not available.

Source: Eurostat.

The impact of EU membership on income inequality in Poland

EU membership can be considered from the moment of accession, but it is also possible to take into account the period of anticipated membership preceding actual EU entry. Recent studies have shown that the period of anticipated membership may have had a considerable impact on some areas of the economy and, in consequence, on income inequality. The analysis in this part of the study will therefore go beyond the first 10 years of Poland's EU membership. Part of the analysis will start as early as 1997, when Poland began its EU accession negotiations.

Income inequality in Poland increased for most of the 1990s. Many comments critical of European integration were made at the beginning of Poland's political and economic transition in the early 1990s. Critics argued that EU membership would lead to an increase in income disparities. However, available data on income inequality show that income disparities decreased after Poland's EU entry (Figure 6). Eurostat data point to a significant drop in income inequality, marking a change from the early 1990s when inequality sharply rose. As Poland's EU entry coincided with a decrease in income disparities, it would be interesting to know if there was a causal relationship between the two.

Studies show that EU accession has had a significant impact on many areas of the Polish economy (see e.g. Orłowski, 2003; Balcerowicz, 2007; UKIE, 2009; Breuss, 2001; Pelkmans, 2002; Lejour, Mooij, Nahuis, 2001). One of the approaches to analyze the impact of Poland's EU entry on income inequality is to investigate changes in inequality related to economic processes most influenced by accession. These include intensified international trade, increased foreign direct investment, migration of workers to other EU countries that opened their labor markets to employees from new member states (2004), and the inflow of European funds. A precise analysis of the changes in income disparities in the listed areas is a very complex research issue. However, it is possible to offer a general analysis of the changes in income inequality resulting from Poland's EU membership, with a special focus on some aspects of these changes.

Below we present the main theoretical aspects of the aforementioned income inequality determinants – the increase in international trade and foreign direct investment, labor force migration, and the inflow of European funds.

Many studies on income inequality determinants focus on trade liberalization and capital flows, especially foreign direct investment (FDI). Both factors have been extensively investigated, separately or jointly, as part of studies dealing with "globalization." Studies on trade liberalization and capital flows refer mainly to two theorems, the Heckscher-Ohlin Theorem (H-O) and the Stolper-Samuelson Theorem (S-S). As can be derived from both theorems, an increase in the trade volume (openness of the economy) leads to a decrease in income inequality in developing or relatively poor countries (labor- or unskilled-labor-abundant countries), while income inequality in developed or relatively richer countries (capital- or skilled-labor-abundant countries) tends to increase. Most empirical research does not confirm these relationships. Many of the contemporary theoretical studies go beyond the H-O and S-S theorems and try to explain changes in income inequality resulting from trade liberalization. These studies overrule the assumptions of traditional trade models and seek to find specific economic and institutional circumstances that would explain the inconsistency of empirical studies with the H-O and S-S theorems. The inconsistency of FDI's impact on income inequality with the traditional theory results mainly from the assumption of capital immobility between countries. Most studies to date have shown that FDI leads to an increase in earning and income disparities. Some authors have presented evidence to support a nonlinear relationship between these variables.

As mentioned earlier, there are many theoretical studies dedicated to the influence of trade liberalization and capital flows on income inequality. The most important ones that cite a relationship between those variables inconsistent with the traditional models concern unequal access to technology, transfer of technology and know-how between countries (Anderson, 2005; Wood, 2000), production factor mobility between countries and outsourcing³⁰ (Feenstra, Hanson, 1996), the local and global abundance of factors of production (Davis, 1996), the introduction of additional factors of production and the disaggregation of factors of production (Anderson, 2005; Milanovic, 2005), and the introduction of additional assumptions with regard to the relationship between factors of production (Meschi, Vivarelli, 2009; Goldberg, Pavcnik, 2007). The most important studies concerning the impact of FDI on income disparities emphasize the role of the transfer of new technologies (Figini, Görg, 1999; Te Velde, Morrisey, 2002), the migration of product-cycle goods (Zhu, 2005), and the payment of a wage premium over local firms by foreign companies (Jensen, Rosas, 2007; Lipsey, Sjöholm, 2001; Aitken, Harrison, Lipsey, 1996).

Far fewer studies on the influence of migration on income inequality have been published compared with the literature on the role of trade liberalization and FDI in shaping income distribution. Studies concerning migration and income inequality refer mainly to the problem of the impact of remittances on income disparities in the home country of migrants or to the influence of the inflow of migrants on income inequality in the destination country (mainly the United States). Conclusions resulting from these studies vary, which indicates that the impact of migration on income inequality is almost completely dependent on the individual characteristics of a given country or its population and the specific features of the migration process. It is therefore especially difficult, if not impossible, to determine some general relationships in this area. The most important studies focusing on migration as one of the determinants of income inequality are articles by the following authors: Stark, Taylor and Yitzhaki (1986)—the role of migration networks in determining income inequality and the application of the Gini index decomposition to calculate the effect of remittances on income inequality; Taylor (1992)—the direct, indirect and intertemporal effects of remittances on income inequality; numerous empirical studies—Stark, Taylor, Yitzhaki (1988); Taylor, Wyatt

³⁰ Many studies on the impact of FDI on income inequality refer to this article.

(1996); Mackenzie, Rapoport (2007); Barham, Boucher (1998); Brown, Jimenez (2007); Adams (1989); Oberai, Singh (1980); Rodrigues (1998); and Ahlburg (1996).

Not much research has been published on the impact of European funds on income inequality. Fragmentary analysis can be found in a study by Jimeno, Cantó, Cardoso, Izquierdo and Rodrigues (2000) focusing on the influence of Spain's and Portugal's integration and accession to the European Community on income inequality in these countries.

There are only a few studies on the impact of European integration and accession on income inequality in member countries. The available literature does not yield unambiguous conclusions about the resulting changes in income disparities.

A preliminary analysis of the data on income inequality from the countries that joined the European Communities or the EU show (Figures 9–11) that the inequality trends just before and right after accession were different for each country. The data does not support the hypothesis that income inequality increased in new member countries after accession; on the other hand, a thorough analysis may yield different findings. There are numerous income inequality determinants; a given country could hypothetically experience a decrease in income disparities resulting from factors other than EU entry, although accession itself would appear to have a generally negative impact on income inequality.

The few available studies on the impact of European integration on income inequality show (Fredricksen, 2012) that income disparities began increasing in the European Communities in the 1980s, a trend that resulted from more factors than just the EU's enlargement. Income inequality had also been increasing in the old member states. This rise in inequality was mainly due to an increase in the incomes of the wealthiest 10% of the population in the member countries. Studies show that there were several important causes of the increase in income inequality in EU as well as OECD countries. These include changes in taxation, labor market institutions, globalization, and technological change (Fredricksen, 2012). Yet these factors are only a very general explanation of income inequality trends, since inequality determinants are different for every country.

Beckfield (2006) demonstrated in his sociological study that almost half of the increase in income inequality in EU countries may be attributed to regional integration, and not globalization—in other words, the effect of economic and political regional integration. However, a later study by Beckfield from 2009 indicates that regional integration led to an increase in income disparities within member countries and a decrease in inequality between individual EU countries (real convergence). The net effect was favorable for income inequality, i.e. regional integration caused a reduction in income inequality within the European Union.

An earlier study by Jimeno, Canto, Cardoso, Izquierdo, and Rodrigues (2000) on the impact of European Community membership on income disparities in Spain and Portugal showed that inequality trends in both these countries differed markedly between 1980 and 1995 (Figure 15). The analysis confirms that income inequality depends on individual conditions and country characteristics rather than the accession process alone.



Income inequality^a in Spain and Portugal – 1980, 1990 and 1995–2012

Note: ^a The data labels refer to data from Jimeno, Cantó, Cardoso, Izquierdo, Rodrigues, 2000. Eurostat data are presented for comparison.

Source: Jimeno, Cantó, Cardoso, Izquierdo, Rodrigues, 2000, Table 10, p. 36, (*); Eurostat, (**).



Figure 16 Income inequality in Austria, Sweden and Finland, 1995–2012

Source: Eurostat.

Figure 15





The studies mentioned at the beginning of this part of the analysis demonstrated that Poland's EU membership has so far mainly influenced four economic spheres (apart from the impact on economic growth): foreign trade, FDI inflow, labor force migration, and the inflow of European funds. Below we attempted to assess the impact of the changes in these spheres on income inequality in Poland. The analysis of the four factors was very general and limited to selected aspects of their influence on inequality.

The four income inequality determinants described above were analyzed in pairs. In order to determine the relationship between foreign trade, FDI and earnings (and income) inequality, we carried out a correlation analysis (4–6) between exports (billions of \in), imports (billions of \in), FDI (billions of \in), and wage inequality (or skill premium, calculated as the relation of mean gross non-production wages and mean gross production wages). All the data were adjusted and the correlation analysis was carried out for current and lagged (1, 2, 3) data on foreign trade and FDI. Because of problems with data availability and data adjustment, the analysis of foreign trade was limited to industry and the analysis of FDI was limited to the following economic activities: industry, construction, trade and repair, transport and real estate, renting and business activities. The gray cells in Tables 17 and 18, which include statistically significant correlation coefficients, indicate a relationship between foreign trade and wage inequality that neither confirms nor invalidates the hypotheses from the

Figure 17

traditional models of foreign trade.³¹ In the case of FDI (Table 19), the hypothesis of a positive relationship between the FDI stock and wage inequality seems feasible. It concerns above all those sections of economic activity that experienced the largest FDI inflow throughout the analyzed period. Problems with data availability did not permit consideration of such kinds of economic activity as financial services, which were of great importance to FDI inflow in the analyzed period. The results of this analysis should therefore be treated with caution: a correlation analysis does not make it possible to determine a causal relationship between the analyzed variables.

Figure 18 shows the relationship between wage inequality (defined in the same way as in the correlation analysis), the relation of the available income of non-production worker households to the available income of production worker households and income inequality for all worker households. The variables show similar general trends. The relations for wages (NPROD wages/PROD wages) and incomes (NPROD income/PROD income) increased until Poland's EU entry, except in 1998. Then they began to decrease slightly, more significantly in the case of incomes. Similar changes occurred in the case of the Gini coefficient for employee household incomes.

Figure 19 shows income inequality for employee households as well as separately for households formed by non-production employees and households formed by production employees. It also shows total income inequality in Poland. The main finding is that income disparities for production employee households were much lower than total income inequality, whereas income disparities for non-production employee households were about the same as total income inequality although lower than for all employee households.

Two other determinants which can be analyzed jointly with the applied method of analysis are labor force migration after Poland's EU entry and the inflow of European funds. The analysis of both these factors is a very complex research problem. This study is limited to analyzing the impact of remittances, direct payments and structural pensions on income inequality in Poland.

All the calculations are based on individual data from household budget surveys (HBS) conducted by Poland's Central Statistical Office. The analysis of remittances was possible only from 2008, since information on foreign income sources was not added to the HBS until 2008. The analysis of European funds was carried out for the 2005–2010 period, although information on direct payments was also available for 2004. We decided to skip that year for the following reasons: 1) it is not consistent with European statistics, 2) the impact of this category of funds on income inequality was close to zero. Information on structural pensions was available from 2007.

³¹ Assuming that Poland is an unskilled-labor-abundant country.

Pearson's correlation coefficients ^a between exports and the ratio of non-production and
production wages and between imports and the ratio of non-production and production
wages, 1997–2008

Type of economic		Exp	orts			Imp	orts	
activity ^b	Current	Lag 1	Lag 2	Lag 3	Current	Lag 1	Lag 2	Lag 3
Sektor przemysłowy	0.79*	0.72*	0.64*	0.52	0.76*	0.72*	0.67*	0.57
А	-0.25	-0.51	0.20	0.04	-0.45	-0.52	-0.38	-0.07
AA	-0.18	-0.41	-0.30	-0.47	-0.65*	-0.65*	-0.56	-0.61
В	0.69*	0.59	0.44	0.21	0.66*	0.58	0.48	0.27
BA	0.75*	0.64*	0.50	0.29	0.66*	0.61*	0.53	0.36
BB	0.68*	0.59	0.53	0.57	0.67*	0.53	0.38	0.22
BC	0.87*	0.79*	0.75*	0.60	0.92*	0.80*	0.81*	0.68*
BD	-0.24	0.16	0.28	0.36	0.18	0.15	-0.04	-0.25
BE	0.88*	0.90*	0.88*	0.68*	0.84*	0.81*	0.82*	0.70*
BF	0.73*	0.52	0.29	0.03	0.50	0.33	0.15	0.02
BG	0.65*	0.43	0.13	-0.45	0.64*	0.49	0.17	-0.53
BH	0.31	0.09	-0.28	-0.56	0.24	0.11	-0.21	-0.52
BI	0.49	0.50	0.61	0.83*	0.58*	0.62*	0.66*	0.77*
BJ	0.69*	0.61*	0.52	0.34	0.79*	0.75*	0.69*	0.56
BK	0.75*	0.66*	0.58	0.46	0.77*	0.70*	0.65*	0.54
BL	0.84*	0.75*	0.68*	0.59	0.67*	0.65*	0.81*	0.82*
BM	0.93*	0.95*	0.95*	0.91*	0.95*	0.98*	0.99*	0.96*
BN	0.64*	0.52	0.36	0.13	0.65*	0.54	0.42	0.20
BO	0.82*	0.74*	0.68*	0.59	0.79*	0.74*	0.71*	0.57
BP	0.03	-0.12	-0.61	-0.48	0.30	0.02	-0.81*	-0.69*
BR	0.82*	0.70*	0.64*	0.54	0.76*	0.67*	0.62	0.46
BS	0.34	0.25	0.06	0.00	0.41	0.37	0.07	-0.09
BT	0.49	0.41	0.40	0.53	0.63*	0.44	0.43	0.54
BU	0.74*	0.62*	0.47	0.26	0.63*	0.57	0.52	0.31
BV	0.91*	0.87*	0.64*	0.42	0.85*	0.77	0.58	0.26
С	0.49	0.43	0.60	0.76*	0.59*	0.54	0.40	0.22
CA	-0.39	-0.49	-0.18	0.10	-0.07	-0.16	-0.29	-0.46

Note: ^a Significant at p<0,05 in gray cells. ^b A – mining and quarrying; AA – mining of coal and lignite and extraction of peat; B – manufacturing; BA – manufacture of food products and beverages; BB – manufacture of tobacco products; BC – manufacture of textiles; BD – manufacture of wearing apparel and furriery; BE – processing of leather and manufacture of leather products; BF – manufacture of wood and wood, straw and wicker products; BG – manufacture of pulp and paper; BH – publishing, printing and reproduction of recorded media; BI – manufacture of coke, refined petroleum products; BJ – manufacture of chemicals and chemical products; BK – manufacture of rubber and plastic products; BL – manufacture of other non-metallic mineral products; BM – manufacture of base metals; BN – manufacture of metal products (without machinery and equipment); BO – manufacture of machinery and equipment; BP – manufacture of office machinery and computers; BR – manufacture of electrical machinery and apparatus; BS – manufacture of radio, television and communication equipment and apparatus; BT – manufacture of medical, precision and optical instruments, watches and clocks; BU – manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers; BV – manufacture of other transport equipment; BW – manufacture of furniture, manufacturing n. e. c.; C – electricity, gas and water supply; CA – electricity, gas, steam and hot water supply.

Source: Own calculation based on Rocznik Statystyczny (GUS) from various years and OECD data.

Pearson's correlation coefficients ^a between exports and the ratio of the number	
of non-production and production workers and between imports and the ratio	
of the number of non-production and production workers, 1997–2008	

Type of		Exp	orts			Imp	orts	
economic activity ^b	Current	Lag 1	Lag 2	Lag 3	Current	Lag 1	Lag 2	Lag 3
Industry	0.70*	0.67*	0.70*	0.63	0.71*	0.70*	0.74*	0.66
А	0.51	0.58	0.56	0.58	0.89*	0.92*	0.90*	0.82*
AA	0.27	0.40	0.40	0.44	0.51	0.54	0.44	0.35
В	0.19	-0.04	-0.40	-0.44	0.22	0.01	-0.38	-0.43
BA	-0.07	-0.31	-0.64*	-0.52	-0.04	-0.24	-0.64*	-0.56
BB	0.06	-0.15	-0.34	-0.58	0.10	-0.22	-0.53	-0.76*
BC	-0.70*	-0.68*	-0.65*	-0.50	-0.71*	-0.68*	-0.68*	-0.59
BD	-0.70*	-0.73*	-0.69*	-0.45	0.88*	0.83*	0.81*	0.80*
BE	-0.59*	-0.76*	-0.94*	-0.87*	-0.75*	-0.77*	-0.80*	-0.71*
BF	-0.51	-0.27	-0.09	0.13	-0.24	-0.06	0.02	0.12
BG	0.78*	0.74*	0.54	0.30	0.75*	0.76*	0.55	0.28
BH	0.56	0.39	0.17	-0.06	0.48	0.25	0.03	0.03
BI	0.82*	0.79*	0.70*	0.68*	0.75*	0.67*	0.60	0.57
BJ	0.85*	0.83*	0.84*	0.86*	0.93*	0.93*	0.92*	0.92*
BK	-0.43	-0.71*	-0.83*	-0.86*	-0.38	-0.68*	-0.81*	-0.83*
BL	0.76*	0.76*	0.80*	0.73*	0.77*	0.80*	0.80*	0.76*
BM	-0.22	-0.50	-0.75*	-0.72*	-0.14	-0.45	-0.81*	-0.78*
BN	-0.58*	-0.77*	-0.82*	-0.78*	-0.54	-0.75*	-0.81*	-0.74*
BO	-0.79*	-0.88*	-0.88*	-0.85*	-0.76*	-0.84*	-0.90*	-0.82*
BP	-0.54	-0.60	-0.65*	-0.64	-0.41	-0.55	-0.65*	-0.53
BR	-0.73*	-0.58	-0.52	-0.43	-0.64*	-0.54	-0.54	-0.42
BS	-0.86*	-0.86*	-0.87*	-0.94*	-0.81*	-0.82*	-0.83*	-0.84*
BT	0.16	0.31	0.45	0.66	0.53	0.69*	0.52	0.65
BU	-0.90*	-0.83*	-0.78*	-0.69*	-0.84*	-0.79*	-0.77*	-0.67*
BV	-0.85*	-0.89*	-0.90*	-0.82*	-0.80*	-0.92*	-0.84*	-0.69*
С	0.92*	0.98*	0.95*	0.93*	0.76*	0.76*	0.84*	0.85*
CA	0.92*	0.98*	0.95*	0.93*	0.76*	0.75*	0.83*	0.85*

Note: ^a Significant at p < 0.05 in gray cells. ^b Notation as in Table 17.

Source: Own calculation based on Rocznik Statystyczny (GUS) from various years and OECD data.

Pearson's correlation coefficients^a between the stock of foreign direct investment and the ratio of non-production and production wages and between the stock of foreign direct investment and the ratio of the number of non-production and production workers, 1997–2008

Economic		Wage	e ratio		Employment ratio				
activity ^b	Current	Lag 1	Lag 2	Lag 3	Current	Lag 1	Lag 2	Lag 3	
Total	0.78*	0.70*	0.73*	0.74*	0.81*	0.76*	0.78*	0.79*	
А	-0.22	-0.70*	-0.44	0.08	0.77*	0.73*	0.58	0.57	
В	0.72*	0.56	0.47	0.30	0.24	0.10	-0.29	-0.38	
BA	0.87*	0.75*	0.70*	0.65	0.25	0.06	-0.60	-0.80*	
BB	0.48	0.39	0.10	0.07	0.76*	0.82*	0.76*	0.61	
BC	0.47	0.19	-0.14	-0.60	0.55	0.41	0.34	0.27	
BD	0.36	0.48	0.64*	0.84*	0.88*	0.80*	0.73*	0.79*	
BE	0.80*	0.69*	0.70*	0.69*	0.92*	0.95*	0.97*	0.97*	
BF	0.78*	0.65*	0.50	0.39	-0.43	-0.66*	-0.72*	-0.78*	
BG	0.45	0.26	0.18	0.01	-0.61*	-0.65*	-0.68*	-0.55	
BH	0.81	0.71*	0.66*	0.60	-0.76*	-0.86*	-0.85*	-0.83*	
BI	0.18	-0.27	-0.42	-0.23	-0.71*	-0.40	0.27	0.33	
BJ	0.54	0.37	-0.05	0.09	-0.68*	-0.73*	-0.69*	-0.70*	
BK	0.78*	0.56	0.39	0.18	-0.88*	-0.77*	-0.72*	-0.65	
BL	0.49	0.43	0.50	0.52	-0.64*	-0.52	-0.52	-0.64	
С	0.55	0.55	0.69*	0.70*	0.98*	0.97*	0.97*	0.94*	
D	0.45	0.44	0.51	0.46	0.47	0.48	0.62	0.58	
E	0.55	0.37	0.18	-0.09	0.90*	0.90*	0.92*	0.93*	
FA	0.53	0.58	0.68*	0.78*	-0.35	0.00	0.47	0.08	
FB ^c	0.80*	0.24	-0.98*	-1*	0.46	0.85*	0.96*	1*	
FC	0.76*	0.64*	0.62	0.64	0.78*	0.60	0.38	0.24	
F	0.87*	0.76*	0.73*	0.78*	0.82*	0.76*	0.65*	0.45	
G	0.63*	0.55	0.50	0.55	0.18	0.44	0.70*	0.82*	
GA	0.86*	0.86*	0.86*	0.86*	0.91*	0.92*	0.95*	0.97*	
GB	0.13	-0.15	-0.80*	-0.67*	0.55	0.51	0.41	0.14	

Note: ^a Significant at p < 0,05 in gray cells. ^b A – mining and quarrying; B – manufacturing; BA – manufacture of food products and beverages; BB – manufacture of tobacco products; BC – manufacture of textiles; BD – manufacture of wearing apparel and furriery; BE – processing of leather and manufacture of leather products; BF – manufacture of wood and wood, straw and wicker products; BG – manufacture of pulp and paper; BH – publishing, printing and reproduction of recorded media; BI – manufacture of coke, refined petroleum products; BJ – manufacture of chemicals and chemical products; BK – manufacture of rubber and plastic products; BL – manufacture of other non-metallic mineral products; C – electricity, gas and water supply; D – construction; E – trade and repair; FA – land and pipeline transport; FB – water transport; FC – post and telecommunications; F – transport, storage and communication; G – real estate, renting and business activities; GA – real estate activities; GB – computer and related activities. ^c The significance of the correlation coefficient for "water transport" is questionable because it is based on five observations.

Source: Own calculation based on Rocznik Statystyczny (GUS) from various years and Eurostat data.

Figure 18

The ratio of non-production and production wages (household income^a of non-production and production workers) – left axis – and employee household income inequality – right axis – in Poland, 1997–2008



Note: ^a Per capita available income.

Source: Own calculation based on HBS data, Rocznik Statystyczny (GUS) from 1998–2009 and information made available by GUS.

Figure 19

Income^a inequality in Poland – for employee households in general, for households formed by non-production employees, and for households formed by production employees, 1997–2008



Note: ^a Per capita available income.

Source: Own calculation based on HBS data (GUS).

A detailed analysis of the influence of remittances, direct payments and structural rents on income inequality would require a decomposition of the Gini coefficient using an approach developed by Stark, Yitzhaki and Taylor (1986). However, due to the concise form of this survey, we limited our analysis to discussing the differences between the Gini coefficients for income before and after including remittances, direct payments and structural pensions. A counterfactual analysis that would take into account the change in economic incentives in the presence of remittances influencing income from other sources as well as income inequality was not carried out.

Since it was impossible to identify the remittances strictly related to Poland's EU membership, we selected those income categories that probably resulted from membership and we also took into account total remittances. Thus the analysis shows the impact, on income inequality, of all the remittances and those categories of remittances that were most probably related to Poland's EU membership. The result is a value within a range. The selected income sources most probably related to Poland's EU membership are the following: income from permanent work abroad, income from temporary work abroad, income from permanent self-employment abroad, income from casual self-employment abroad, other foreign social benefits, foreign unemployment benefits, other gifts from private persons from abroad, other income from abroad. The rest of remittances include income from property and land rental (not related to economic activity) from abroad, foreign pensions, foreign allowances, and alimony payments from private persons from abroad. Table 20 shows that remittances led to a decrease in income inequality in the analyzed period.

Table 20

Income^a inequality (Gini coefficient) in Poland – total income and non-remittance income, 2008–2010

Category of income	2008	2009	2010
Total income	31.644	31.394	32.075
Total income w/o remittances most probably related with Poland's EU entry	32.279	31.911	32.666
Total income w/o remittances total	32.338	31.969	32.7

Note: a Equivalised disposable income (modified OECD equivalence scale).

Source: Own calculation based on HBS data (GUS).

The assessment of the impact of direct payments and structural pensions on income inequality is simpler than the analysis of remittances of Polish migrants, since there is no doubt that both direct payments and structural pensions result from Poland's membership in the European Union. It was possible to select two sources of income coming directly from funds transferred from the EU to Poland—direct payments and structural pensions. Table 21 shows that both categories of income taken jointly caused income inequality to decrease between 2007 and 2010. A more detailed analysis

indicates that structural pensions contributed to a reduction in income inequality in Poland, while direct payments had the opposite effect.

Table 21

Income^a inequality (Gini coefficient) in Poland – total income and income w/o direct payments and structural pensions, 2005–2010

Category of income	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
Total income	31.45741	31.17071	31.79873	31.64391	31.39366	32.07494
Total income w/o direct payments	31.41444	31.11897	31.75904	31.61631	31.39255	31.93207
Total income w/o structural pensions			31.91393	31.76783	31.52512	32.22387
Total income w/o direct payments and structural pensions	•	•	31.8766	31.74287	31.5265	32.08364

Note: a Equivalised disposable income (modified OECD equivalence scale).

Source: Own calculation based on HBS data (GUS).

To conclude, both income inequality and poverty have clearly shown positive changes since Poland joined the EU in 2004. Even though the exact extent of these changes largely depends on the applied measures of income inequality and poverty, Poland improved its position in both relative and absolute terms compared with other EU countries.

A preliminary and general analysis of the impact of Poland's EU membership on income inequality within the country does not provide enough evidence to determine if accession has contributed to a decrease in income disparities in Poland. Our fragmentary analysis of the four considered factors—intensified foreign trade, FDI inflow, remittances and the inflow of European funds—makes it possible to conclude that remittances and structural pensions had a moderating effect on income inequality, while direct payments for farmers, and probably also FDI, contributed to an increase in income disparities in Poland.

References

Adams, R.H.Jr., (1989), Worker remittances and inequality in rural Egypt, "Economic Development and Cultural Change", Vol. 38, No. 1, pp. 45–71.

Ahlburg, D.A., (1996), Remittances and the income distribution in Tonga, "Population Research and Policy Review", No. 15, pp. 391–400.

Aitken, B., Harrison, A., Lipsey, R.E., (1996), Wages and foreign ownership. A comparative study of Mexico, Venezuela, and the United States, "Journal of International Economics", No. 40, pp. 345–371.

Anderson, E., (2005), Openness and inequality in developing countries: A review of theory and recent evidence, "World Development", Vol. 33, No. 7, pp. 1045–1063.

Balcerowicz, E., (2007), The impact of Poland's EU accession on its economy, CASE, Studia i Analizy, No. 335.

Barham, B., Boucher, S., (1998), Migration, remittances, and inequality: estimating the net effects of migration on income distribution, "Journal of Development Economics", Vol. 55, pp. 307–331.

Beckfield, J., (2006), European integration and income inequality, "American Sociological Review", No. 71, pp. 964–985.

Beckfield, J., (2009), Remapping inequality in Europe: the net effect of regional integration on total income inequality in the European Union, "International Journal of Comparative Sociology", No. 50, pp. 486–509.

Breuss, F., (2001), Macroeconomic effects of EU enlargement for old and new members, WIFO Working Papers, No. 143.

Brown, R.P.C., Jimenez, E., (2007), Estimating the net effects of migration and remittances on poverty and inequality, UNU-WIDER, Research Paper, No. 2007/23.

Crinò, R., (2005), Wages, skills, and integration in Poland, Hungary and the Czech Republic: an industry-level analysis, "Transition Studies Review", Vol. 12, No. 3, pp. 432–459.

Davis, D.R., (1996), Trade liberalization and income distribution, NBER, Working paper, No. 5693.

FAO, (2005), Impacts of policies on poverty. The definition of poverty, EASYPol Module 004.

Feenstra, R.C., Hanson, G.H., (1996), Globalization, outsourcing, and wage inequality, NBER Working Paper Series, No. 5424.

Figini, P., Görg, H., (1999), Multinational companies and wage inequality in the host country: The case of Ireland, "Review of World Economics", Vol. 135, No. 4, pp. 594–612.

Fredricksen, B., (2012), *Income inequality in the European Union*, OECD Department Working Papers, No. 952, OECD Publishing, Paris.

Goldberg, P.K., Pavcnik, N., (2007), Distributional effects of globalization in developing countries, "Journal of Economic Literature", Vol. 45, pp. 39–82.

GUS, (years 2004–2013a), Budżety Gospodarstw Domowych, GUS, Warszawa.

GUS, (years 1998–2010), Rocznik Statystyczny, GUS, Warszawa.

GUS, (2013b), Ubóstwo w Polsce w 2012 r. (na podstawie badań budżetów gospodarstw domowych), press conference material (May 29, 2013).

Jacobs, G., Šlaus, I., (2010), Indicators of economic progress: the power of measurement and human welfare, "Cadmus Journal", Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 53–113.

Jensen, N.M., Rosas, G., (2007), Foreign direct investment and income inequality in Mexico, 1990–2000, "International Organization", No. 61, pp. 467–487.

Jimeno, J.F., Cantó, O., Cardoso, A. R., Izquierdo, M., Rodrigues, C. F., (2000), Integration and inequality: lessons from the accessions of Portugal and Spain to the EU, FEDEA, Documento de Trabajo, No. 2000–10, Madrid.

Lejour, A. M., Mooij, R.A., Nahuis, R., (2001), EU enlargement Economic implications for countries and industries, CESifo Working Papers, No. 585.

Lipsey, R.E., Sjöholm, F., (2001), Foreign direct investment and wages in Indonesian manufacturing, NBER, Working Paper, No. 8299.

Mackenzie, D., Rapoport, H., (2007), Network effects and the dynamics of migration and inequality: theory and evidence from Mexico, "Journal of Development Economics", No. 84, pp. 1–24.

Meschi, E., Vivarelli, M., (2009), *Trade and income inequality in developing countries*, "World Development", Vol. 37, No. 2, pp. 287–302.

Milanovic, B., (2005), Can we discern the effect of globalization on income distribution? Evidence from household surveys, "World Bank Economic Review", No. 19, pp. 21–44.

Mukhopadhaya, P., (2001), Efficiency criteria and the Sen-type social welfare function, NUS, Department of Economics Working Paper, No. 0114.

Oberai, A.S., Singh, H.K.M., (1980), Migration, remittances and rural development. Findings of a case study in the Indian Punjab, "International Labour Review", Vol. 119, No. 2., pp. 229–241.

Orłowski, W.M., (2003), Makroekonomiczne efekty członkostwa Polski w Unii Europejskiej, in: Bilans korzyści i kosztów przystąpienia Polski do Unii Europejskiej. Prezentacja wyników prac polskich ośrodków badawczych, Urząd Komitetu Integracji Europejskiej, Warsaw.

Pelkmans, J., (2002), *Economic implications of enlargement*, Bruges European Economic Policy briefing, No. 1.

Rodriguez, E.R., (1998), International migration and income distribution in the Philippines, "Economic Development and Cultural Change", Vol. 46, No. 2, pp. 329–350.

Sen, A., (1976), Real national income, "The Review of Economic Studies", Vol. 43, No. 1, pp. 19–39.

Sen, A., (1979), The welfare basis of real income comparisons: a survey, "Journal of Economic Literature", Vol. 17, No. 1, pp. 1–45.

Stark, O., Taylor, J.E., Yitzhaki, S., (1986), Remittances and inequality, "The Economic Journal", Vol. 96, No. 383, pp. 722–740.

Stark, O., Taylor, J.E., Yitzhaki, S., (1988), Migration, remittances and inequality. A sensitivity analysis using the extended Gini index, "Journal of Development Economics", Vol. 28, pp. 309–322.

Taylor, J.E., (1992), Remittances and inequality reconsidered: Direct, indirect, and intertemporal effects, "Journal of Policy Modeling", Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 187–208.

Taylor, J.E., Wyatt, T.J., (1996), The shadow value of migrant remittances, income and inequality in a household-farm economy, "The Journal of Development Studies", Vol. 32, No. 6, pp. 899–912.

Te Velde, D.W., Morrisey, O., (2002), *Foreign direct investment: Who gains?*, ODI Briefing Paper, Overseas Development Institute, London.

UKIE, (2009), 5 lat Polski w Unii Europejskiej, Urząd Komitetu Integracji Europejskiej, Warsaw.

Weresa, M.A., (eds.), (2013), Poland: Competitiveness Report 2013. National and Regional Dimensions, World Economy Research Institute, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw.

Wood, A., (2000), Globalization and wage inequalities: A synthesis of three theories, http://papers.ssrn.com/paper.taf?abstract_id=240458.

Zhu, S.C., (2005), Can product cycles explain skill upgrading?, "Journal of International Economics", Vol. 66, No. 1, pp. 131–155.

Chapter 2 Poland's Competitive Position in External Economic Relations

Poland's membership in the European Union—combined with agreements¹ that preceded the country's EU entry—has significantly changed the volume, geographical structure and commodity patterns of Poland's foreign trade. Upon joining the bloc in 2004, Poland gained free access to the EU market and began adapting to EU norms and standards. Preparations for accession and the subsequent EU entry itself also contributed to an inflow of foreign investment to Poland. As a result, the economy received a further modernization boost—added to the incentives after the fall of communism and the political and economic reforms of the early 1990s—and there was a further increase in the international competitiveness of Poland's products. All these issues are analyzed in this chapter.

¹ In December 1991, Poland signed an association agreement with the European Economic Community, known as the Europe Agreement. The part of that agreement regulating trade—referred to as the Interim Agreement—took effect in March 1992. Under that Interim Agreement, Poland and EEC countries undertook to create a free trade area for manufactured goods within 10 years. Most Polish goods gained access to the EU market in January 1996. The EU maintained restrictions in the trade of so-called sensitive goods, mainly labor- and raw material-intensive, such as iron and steel, chemical products, textiles, foodstuffs, and footwear), which accounted for 43% of Poland's total exports to the EU (see Rollo, Smith, 1993) and Gabrisch (2000, pp. 214–215)). After the Europe Agreement took effect, Poland abolished duties on almost 29% of imports from the EU in terms of value, while maintaining barriers in the import of goods such as cars and agricultural products and foodstuffs, for more, see *Unia Europejska* (1997, pp. 150, 214–215, 381–386) and Czarny, Śledziewska (2009, pp. 174–182)).

2.1. The Geographical Structure and Commodity Patterns of Poland's Foreign Trade after the First Decade of EU Membership

Elżbieta Czarny, Katarzyna Śledziewska

In this section we analyze the changes that took place in Poland's foreign trade in the first 10 years of the country's membership of the European Union (2004–2013). For reasons of space, we will focus exclusively on trade in goods, while excluding trade in services.

We will separately analyze changes in Poland's trade in goods with the European Union and with the rest of the world, although we believe that EU membership has strongly enhanced Poland's trading opportunities with the world as a whole. This is due to factors including an improved quality of products meeting EU standards and made by leading global manufacturers opening production plants in Poland. However, the separate treatment of these two types of trading partners makes it possible to evaluate Poland's trading opportunities on a market to which they have free access (the EU market) and on markets to which access is constrained by barriers (non-EU markets).

We also look at Poland's trade with individual EU member states, identifying where Polish products are gaining and where they are losing importance. We study the EU as a group made up of 25 countries (EU25), which means the way it was in 2004, when Poland joined it. We also compare the geographical structures of trade for Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, and Hungary, i.e. countries that all became EU members in May 2004² and together formed the Visegrad Group.³

We separately analyze imports and exports because first, the changes often vary in magnitude and direction, and second, the two types of trade flows illustrate different economic trends.

Poland's trade with the European Union and the rest of the world in 2004–2013

In this part of the study, we examine changes in Poland's imports and exports from/ to two groups of partners: the European Union and the rest of the world. In the case of trade within the European Union (denoted as "intra-EU exports/imports" in the tables and figures) we are dealing with a free movement of goods—because Poland

² In addition to the abovementioned countries, Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia as well as Cyprus, Malta and Slovenia became EU members at the time. Due to different structures and capabilities, it is difficult to compare these economies with Poland, so we have decided against doing so.

³ In February 1991, Poland, Czechoslovakia and Hungary established a free trade area based on terms and conditions agreed on in the Central European Free Trade Agreement,CEFTA) reached in the Hungarian town of Visegrad.

is part of the Single European Market, while trade with non-EU countries (extra-EU exports/imports) is subject to constraints. In imports, these limitations result from the EU trade policy, while in exports these are barriers imposed by trading partners. The intensity of Poland's intra-EU trade testifies to the level of the country's integration with fellow member states, while the intensity of Poland's extra-EU trade provides information about the country's economic ties with non-EU countries. Extra-EU imports are largely those that cannot be replaced or are difficult to replace by intra-EU sources of supply. In turn, extra-EU exports show that Polish goods are able to compete not only where trade is free from barriers, but also where the exchange of goods is constrained by barriers, because non-EU partners, even those who have agreements on trade preferences with the EU, often (temporarily or permanently) protect their own internal markets from the inflow of outside goods.

Poland's	intra- a	nd extra	-EU exp	orts and	i import	s in 2004	4–2013,	, in milli	ons of e	uros
	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Imports extra-EU 18,184 20,596 27,918 32,966 40,715 30,059 40,341 46,636 51,217 49,915										
extra-EU	18,184	20,596	27,918	32,966	40,715	30,059	40,341	46,636	51,217	49,915
intra-EU	53,925	61,101	73,221	87,946	101,252	77,096	93,964	104,655	103,717	104,522
					Exports					
extra-EU	12,609	16,393	19,911	23,584	28,020	21,605	27,229	32,375	37,337	41,693

87.875

Trade balance

-12,695

-13,377

76.261

-8,454

-835

93.254

-13,113

-710

103.182

-14,261

-1,472

106,946

-13,880

3,228

110,441

-8,222

5,919

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

78,675

-9,382

-9,271

68.318

-8,007

-4,903

Table 1

intra-EU

extra-EU

intra-EU

47.723

-5,575

-6,202

55,496

-4,203

-5,605

The value of Poland's exports and imports increased considerably in both intra- and extra-EU terms in 2004–2013 (Table 1). The biggest increase occurred in the value of Poland's intra-EU exports (almost €63 billion). The increase in extra-EU exports (at over €29 billion) was smaller than the increase in extra-EU imports (nearly €32 billion). Yet when added up, the values of Poland's intra-EU and extra-EU exports greatly exceed the corresponding figures for imports. This testifies to an improvement in the international position of Polish goods. Poland's intra-EU trade balance also improved. In 2013, a large deficit (which exceeded $\notin 6$ billion in 2004) was replaced by a large surplus that more than compensated for the increased deficit in extra-EU trade (in 2013, the deficit was more than \notin 8 billion, up from \notin 5.6 billion in 2004). This means that the values of both Poland's intra-EU exports and imports more than doubled. Moreover, after years of a deepening deficit, Poland finally recorded a growing trade surplus. This could serve as the shortest description of the great importance of EU membership to Poland's foreign trade.

The improved international position of Polish goods is also reflected in the proportion of extra-EU exports in total exports, which has been growing steadily since 2009. It turns out that Polish goods are also doing well on markets to which access is constrained by trade barriers. This change is also beneficial because of the diversification of the markets to which Poland supplies goods and because the country can become less dependent on its EU partners.

Table 2

Poland's share of extra- and intra-EU25 trade in 2004–2013, in %, and changes in this share and in net exports, in percentage points

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	Change	
Imports												
extra-EU	1.8	1.7	2.0	2.3	2.6	2.4	2.6	2.7	2.8	2.9	1.2	
intra-EU	2.8	2.9	3.1	3.5	3.9	3.7	3.9	4.0	3.9	3.9	1.2	
Exports												
extra-EU	1.3	1.5	1.7	1.9	2.1	1.9	2.0	2.0	2.2	2.4	1.1	
intra-EU	2.4	2.6	2.8	3.0	3.3	3.6	3.8	3.8	3.9	4.1	1.7	
	Net exports											
extra-EU	-0.5	-0.2	-0.4	-0.4	-0.5	-0.5	-0.7	-0.6	-0.7	-0.6		
intra-EU	-0.4	-0.4	-0.3	-0.4	-0.6	-0.2	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.1		

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

From 2004 to 2013, Poland's contribution to all the trade flows shown in Table 2 increased by more than 1 percentage point (p.p.). The largest increase was recorded in the case of intra-EU exports (1.7 p.p.).

Table 2 also shows net exports defined as the difference between Poland's contribution to the EU's overall exports and its contribution to the EU's overall imports (in both intra- and extra-EU terms), in percentage points. A minus sign indicates a greater importance of imports than exports in Poland's trade. In 2004, Poland was a more important player in imports than in exports in both intra- and extra-EU trade. In 2013, Poland became a more important exporter than importer in intra-EU trade. In extra-EU trade, imports show a lasting prevalence (these differences are significant, except in 2005, ranging from -0.4 p.p. to -0.7 p.p.).

This study shows that Poland is increasing its role in international trade. The improved competitive position of Polish goods is reflected, for example, by the fact that Poland's contribution to intra-EU exports increased more than its contribution to intra-EU imports. This more than compensates for the slightly larger (by 0.1 p.p.) increase in extra-EU imports than in exports.

Poland's intra-EU trade

In this part of the study, we examine to what extent the value and geographical structure of Poland's exports and imports have changed in intra-EU trade. We analyze changes in the value of trade with other EU countries since 2004 and explore how the role of individual EU partners has changed in Poland's trade. We check whether the contribution of individual partners to Poland's trade changed in the studied period.

Table 3

Poland's exports to individual EU member states and imports from these countries
in 2004–2013, in millions of euros

	Imports		Ex	ports	Trade balance		
	2004	2013	2004	2013	2004	2013	
Austria	1,664	3,512	1,191	2,688	-473	-824	
Belgium	2,296	4,932	1928	3353	-368	-1,578	
Cyprus	48	242	55	194	7	-48	
Czech Republic	2,744	6,389	2,609	9,391	-135	3,001	
Denmark	1,193	2,043	1,347	2,489	153	446	
Estonia	76	151	212	822	136	671	
Finland	981	1,212	479	1,157	-503	-55	
France	4,721	6,244	3,640	8,499	-1,081	2,255	
Greece	163	272	176	539	13	266	
Spain	1,785	3,359	1,477	3,377	-307	17	
Netherlands	3,861	8,797	2,592	6,024	-1,269	-2,773	
Ireland	281	924	178	486	-104	-437	
Lithuania	417	1,105	1,019	2,312	602	1,207	
Luxembourg	131	427	63	170	-67	-257	
Latvia	247	294	361	1287	113	993	
Malta	34	16	38	53	5	37	
Germany	20,176	40,450	18,092	38,027	-2,084	-2,422	
Portugal	171	339	383	491	213	152	
Slovakia	1,169	4,491	1,077	4,001	-92	-490	
Slovenia	473	698	200	475	-273	-224	
Sweden	2,020	3,726	2,109	4,169	89	443	
Hungary	1,406	2,830	1,549	3,857	143	1,027	
United Kingdom	2,473	4,248	3,263	9,884	791	5,636	
Italy	5,394	7,820	3,685	6,540	-1,710	-1,280	

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

When analyzing Poland's trade with 24 other EU member states (Table 3), we can see that in 2013 Poland had surpluses in the trade of goods with 13 countries, up from 11 in 2004. Poland's good position in intra-EU trade is shown not only by these surpluses, but also by the fact that the surpluses increased in the case of eight partners. Moreover, in the case of three countries, including the Czech Republic and France—both of which are among Poland's major trading partners—the deficits noted in 2004 were replaced by surpluses in 2013. Another piece of good news is that a large deficit has been replaced by a small surplus in trade with Spain.

The bad news, however, is that Poland's trade deficits widened in the case of most countries with which Poland had trade deficits in 2004. In trade with Cyprus, a small surplus in 2004 turned into a deficit that is several times larger. In general, the period saw deepening imbalances (surpluses and deficits) in Poland's trade with the majority of its EU partners.

Table 4

The	shares of	individu	1al EU m	ember sta	tes in Po	oland's in	tra-EU e	exports	and ir	nports
in 20	04-2013	, in %, a	and chan	ges in thes	se shares	s in perce	entage po	oints		

	Imp	orts	Exp	orts	Net e	xports
	2004	2013	2004	2013	2004	2013
Austria	3.1	3.4	2.5	2.4	-0.6	-0.9
Belgium	4.3	4.7	4.0	3.0	-0.2	-1.7
Cyprus	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.0	-0.1
Czech Republic	5.1	6.1	5.5	8.5	0.4	2.4
Denmark	2.2	2.0	2.8	2.3	0.6	0.3
Estonia	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.7	0.3	0.6
Finland	1.8	1.2	1.0	1.0	-0.8	-0.1
France	8.8	6.0	7.6	7.7	-1.1	1.7
Greece	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.1	0.2
Spain	3.3	3.2	3.1	3.1	-0.2	-0.2
Netherlands	7.2	8.4	5.4	5.5	-1.7	-3.0
Ireland	0.5	0.9	0.4	0.4	-0.1	-0.4
Lithuania	0.8	1.1	2.1	2.1	1.4	1.0
Luxembourg	0.2	0.4	0.1	0.2	-0.1	-0.3
Latvia	0.5	0.3	0.8	1.2	0.3	0.9
Malta	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
Germany	37.4	38.7	37.9	34.5	0.5	-4.2
Portugal	0.3	0.3	0.8	0.4	0.5	0.1
Slovakia	2.2	4.3	2.3	3.6	0.1	-0.7
Slovenia	0.9	0.7	0.4	0.4	-0.5	-0.2
Sweden	3.7	3.6	4.4	3.8	0.7	0.2
Hungary	2.6	2.7	3.2	3.5	0.6	0.8
United Kingdom	4.6	4.1	6.8	9.0	2.3	4.9
Italy	10.0	7.5	7.7	5.9	-2.3	-1.6

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

The period also saw changes in the shares of individual EU member states in Poland's intra-EU exports and imports (Table 4). Intra-EU imports and exports are a dominant portion of Poland's overall trade, and Germany plays a huge role in these. Germany's contribution to Poland's intra-EU imports increased from 37.4% in 2004 to 38.7% in 2013. Germany's share of Poland's intra-EU exports fell by 3.4 p.p., to 34.5% in 2013. Poland's intra-EU trade is strongly concentrated, and this concentration is increasingly deeper in imports, while becoming weaker in exports.

Except for Germany, which is the top country in both Poland's intra-EU imports and exports, Poland's key partners remained stable, although some changed places in the statistics. For example, Italy, which in 2004 was the second-largest supplier of goods to Poland and the second-largest buyer of Polish products, in 2013 defended its position only in imports (and lost its advantage over France, which was third on both counts). In Poland's exports, Italy declined to fifth place in 2013; the UK replaced it in second place. The improved position of the UK among buyers of Polish goods is probably due to the large number of Poles living and working in Britain. These expatriate Poles some of them temporary expats, others accompanied by their families—are bringing in Polish goods. Meanwhile, these Poles discovered British goods, which helped make Britain an important supplier of goods to the Polish market. The Czech Republic is also among Poland's five largest trading partners, and its importance is growing. It advanced in intra-EU imports from fifth to fourth place (its share increased by 1 p.p.) and moved up in intra-EU exports from fifth to third place (its share rose by 3 p.p.).

Table 4 also shows Poland's net exports, i.e. the difference between Poland's share of total exports by individual EU countries and Poland's share of total imports from these countries (in percentage points). Net exports understood in this way determine Poland's competitive position. The analysis shows that, in 2004, in trade with 12 EU partners, Poland had larger shares in exports than in imports (positive net exports). In 2013, Poland had positive net export in trade with 11 partners. Moreover, Poland's net exports increased in the case of six of these partners. The greatest increase in net exports was recorded in trade with Britain and the Czech Republic (more than 2 p.p.).

At the same time, the number of member states with which Poland had a greater share in imports than in exports increased by two (from 10 in 2004 to 12 in 2013). The group was joined by Germany and Cyprus, in trade with which a balance was replaced by a small deficit.

Generally, it can be noted that in 2013 net exports often reinforced the direction observed in 2004 (positive or negative). Such is the case with 11 of Poland's 24 trading partners from the EU. Poland's export potential is certainly growing, but it is gaining the most trade with neighboring countries, which joined the EU together with Poland in 2004 (the Czech Republic and the Baltic states). Poland is not doing as well at winning markets in the most developed EU countries, in particular eurozone countries. The one exception is France—Poland has positive, and large, net exports in bilateral trade. However, the position of France has deteriorated substantially in global trade since the start of the previous decade (for more see Czarny, Śledziewska (2012, 63–75)). France's trade with Poland mirrors its trade situation with other countries. Significantly, Poland's position as an exporter to the UK market has improved strongly, despite the geographical distance and Britain's traditional emphasis on economic ties with its former colonies. In our opinion, this testifies to a strong impact of labor migration on trade. At the same time, Poland is losing its position on the German market in a trend that is disturbing on the one hand, because Germany is a traditional buyer of Poland's goods, but gives Poland more latitude on the other hand because its trade is less concentrated and therefore less dependent on any single partner and its economic condition.

The importance of Poland in the intra-EU imports and exports of individual EU member states

In this part of the study, we investigate to what extent Poland is an important trading partner for other member states. We therefore look at how its position is changing in intra-EU trade conducted by individual member states. This time we conduct the analysis from the point of view of Poland's trading partners. Thus, for example, the imports presented in Table 5 are the imports of the country listed in the first column and are at the same time Poland's exports to this trading partner. In addition, we analyze Poland's exports and imports as a percentage of total intra-EU imports and exports, thus obtaining the EU average describing the position of Poland's trade in reference to a specific EU country.

In the analyzed period, Poland's contribution to overall intra-EU exports and imports increased strongly. In imports, Poland's share increased from 2.42% in 2004 to 4.25% in 2013, while in exports it rose from 2.83% to 4.13%. Again it is possible to see the importance of EU membership for the country's foreign trade. Poland also plays a growing role in the intra-EU imports and exports of its EU partners—Poland's shares increased in the intra-EU trade of most countries, except in the case of Malta's trade, Lithuania's imports, and the exports of the Czech Republic, Latvia and Slovenia. The greatest drop (2.93 p.p.) was noted in the case of Latvia's exports, or the sale of Latvian products on the Polish market. Significantly, the increases in Poland's shares in the imports of 18 of the 24 partners were greater than 1 p.p. Record growth was noted for the Czech Republic, at 5.02 p.p. Overall, Poland has a large share of Czech imports, at about 11.5%, which testifies to the imports of Central European countries such as the Czech Republic, Hungary, Estonia, Latvia, Slovenia, and Slovakia is growing significantly.

	In	ports		Exports	Ch	nange
	2004	2013	2004	2013		Exports
Austria	1.61	2.59	2.80	3.97	0.99	1.17
Belgium	1.23	1.59	1.37	2.13	0.36	0.76
Cyprus	1.60	3.54	4.46	13.62	1.95	9.16
Czech Republic	6.48	11.49	6.97	6.90	5.02	-0.07
Denmark	3.54	4.85	3.00	4.14	1.31	1.14
Estonia	4.30	7.16	1.78	1.94	2.86	0.16
Finland	1.65	3.05	3.26	3.80	1.40	0.54
France	1.33	2.39	2.12	2.50	1.06	0.39
Greece	0.64	2.66	2.21	2.74	2.02	0.53
Spain	0.99	2.40	1.70	2.49	1.41	0.79
Netherlands	1.78	2.81	1.78	2.44	1.03	0.66
Ireland	0.47	1.22	0.50	1.63	0.75	1.13
Lithuania	17.48	17.15	8.78	9.19	-0.33	0.42
Luxembourg	0.45	1.00	1.01	3.30	0.55	2.30
Latvia	8.31	12.18	7.23	4.30	3.87	-2.93
Malta	1.45	1.31	3.01	1.04	-0.14	-1.97
Germany	4.54	6.65	4.35	6.85	2.12	2.50
Portugal	0.95	1.21	0.67	1.12	0.25	0.45
Slovakia	6.16	8.81	6.34	9.61	2.65	3.28
Slovenia	1.76	2.99	5.41	4.55	1.23	-0.86
Sweden	3.41	4.97	3.38	4.77	1.56	1.40
Hungary	4.74	7.77	4.36	5.46	3.03	1.10
United Kingdom	1.42	3.59	1.53	2.32	2.17	0.79
Italy	2.11	3.41	3.40	4.20	1.30	0.80
EU24 average	2.42	4.25	2.83	4.13	1.84	1.29

Poland's shares of the intra-EU exports and imports of individual member states in 2004–2013, in %, and changes in these shares in percentage points

Table 5

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

In exports, Poland's shares increased by more than 1 p.p. in 10 cases. The greatest increase was noted in the case of Cyprus (by 9.16 p.p.). In all, Polish goods account for over 17% of Lithuania's imports (nearly 17.5% in 2004) and for 12% of Latvia's imports (8.31% in 2004). Poland also has a relatively large share of Estonia's imports. Poland's considerable impact on the imports of all three Baltic states is not surprising because all these are small economies, located close to Poland geographically and conducting free trade with it, which promotes intensified trade in goods. Of course, the

data in Table 5 also show that Poland has not become as important a trading partner for these countries as Germany is for Poland.

This study clearly shows that the differences in the economic potential of trading partners are an important factor. Above we showed the importance of Poland's exports to the Baltic states (Poland's shares in these countries' imports and exports are higher than these countries' shares in the Polish trade flows—cf. the data in Tables 4 and 5). But a look at Poland's trade with Germany from the German perspective reveals that Poland accounted for 6.65% of Germany's imports in 2013 (6.85% in exports) and was one of many moderately significant partners (although, notably, these shares are far above the EU average, which means that trade with Poland is of considerable importance to Germany). In other words, Poland's shares in both German imports and exports are less than one-fifth the size of Germany's shares in Poland's imports and exports.

Poland, the Czech Republic, Hungary, and Slovakia on the global market

Another way to look at Poland's position in international trade after its first decade in the EU is to compare its position with those of other countries that joined the bloc along with Poland. The reference countries are the Czech Republic, Slovakia, and Hungary. We look at these countries' exports to all countries worldwide, with a special focus on their main export markets.

Table 6

The value of Poland's exports to its 10 largest export markets in 2013, in millions of euros; these markets' shares in the respective exports in %; changes in these shares in 2004–2013 in percentage points; changes in ranks in the studied period

Countries	Value	Share	Change in share	Change in rank	
Germany	38,027	25.00	-4.99	0	
United Kingdom	9,884	6.50	1.09	2	
Czech Republic	9,391	6.17	1.85	2	
France	8,499	5.59	-0.45	-1	
Russia	8,110	5.33	1.47	2	
Italy	6,540	4.30	-1.81	-4	
Netherlands	6,024	3.96	-0.34	-1	
Ukraine	4,295	2.82	0.08	2	
Sweden	4,169	2.74	-0.75	-1	
Slovakia	4,001	2.63	0.84	6	

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

The value of the Czech Republic's exports to its 10 largest export markets in 2013, in millions of euros; these markets' shares in the respective exports in %; changes in these shares in 2004–2013 in percentage points; changes in ranks in the studied period

Countries	Value	Share	Change in share	Change in rank
Germany	38,013	31.27	-5.52	0
Slovakia	10,811	8.89	0.62	0
Poland	7,233	5.95	0.80	1
France	6,011	4.94	0.42	3
United Kingdom	5,881	4.84	0.23	1
Austria	5,542	4.56	-1.33	-3
Russia	4,475	3.68	2.29	6
Italy	4,391	3.61	-0.65	0
Netherlands	3,404	2.80	-1.82	-4
Hungary	3,146	2.59	-0.03	-1

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

Table 8

The value of Slovakia's exports to its 10 largest export markets in 2013, in millions of euros; these markets' shares in the respective exports in %; changes in these shares in 2004–2013 in percentage points; changes in ranks in the studied period

Countries	Value	Share	Change in share	Change in rank
Germany	13,611	20.97	-7.70	0
Czech Republic	8,811	13.58	0.13	0
Poland	5,484	8.45	2.99	2
Hungary	4,186	6.45	1.26	2
Austria	3,949	6.08	-1.75	-2
France	3,270	5.04	1.41	2
United Kingdom	2,993	4.61	1.70	3
Italy	2,915	4.49	-1.85	-4
Russia	2,564	3.95	2.74	4
China	1,597	2.46	2.18	17

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

The data in Tables 6–9 show that the geographical structures of Polish, Czech, Slovak and Hungarian exports are characterized by both similarities and differences.

Taking similarities first, in each case, Germany is the top buyer (it is also first in these countries' imports, which are not discussed here—see Eurostat, accessed March 28, 2014). Other major buyers beside Germany include the other large EU member states: France, Britain, and Italy. Moreover, all the studied countries are among the 10 lead-ing importers of goods from other analyzed countries (except for Hungary, which is only 11th among the largest importers of Polish goods). In general, EU25 countries dominated among the buyers of goods from Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, and Hungary. In Czech exports, EU25 countries occupy nine of the top 10 places.

Russia is among the top 10 buyers of goods from Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, and Hungary. Its role ranks from 5th place in Poland's exports to 10th place in Hungary's exports. Moreover, Russia's position in the exports of all these countries improved significantly in the examined 10-year period (up by two notches in Poland's exports and up by six notches in the exports of the Czech Republic and Hungary), which testifies to Russia's growing importance in these countries' exports.

Table 9

The value of Hungary's exports to its 10 largest export markets in 2013, in millions of euros; these markets' shares in the respective exports in %; changes in these shares in 2004–2013 in percentage points; changes in ranks in the studied period

Countries	Value	Share	Change in share	Change in rank
Germany	21,174	26.02	-5.54	0
Romania	4,628	5.69	2.49	5
Austria	4,526	5.56	-1.66	-1
Slovakia	4,315	5.30	3.38	11
Italy	3,911	4.81	-0.68	0
France	3,674	4.51	-1.04	-2
United Kingdom	3,244	3.99	-1.59	-4
Poland	3,198	3.93	1.07	1
Czech Republic	3,126	3.84	1.47	2
Russia	2,537	3.12	1.47	6

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

Similarities outnumber differences, which we believe further under scores the importance of EU membership from the point of view of trade by the studied member states, including Poland. Of course, the analyzed countries differ in terms of the value of exports. This can be seen from a comparison of the values of their exports and of the shares of the top 10 countries in these exports. For example, Germany's 25-percent share in Poland's exports means a value exceeding €38 billion, while Germany's 26-percent share of Hungary's exports means a value of just over €21 billion. There are contrasts as well in the shares of Germany in the exports of the studied

countries. These range from 20.97% in the case of Slovakia's exports to 31.27% in the case of Czech exports.⁴

Also visible is a close link between the Czech and Slovak economies (they are outranked only by Germany as trading partners). Also of note is the impact of historical ties on the current structure of trade. The top 10 importers of goods from the Czech Republic, Slovakia, and Hungary include Austria, which shares a common political past with these countries. Austria is also close geographically, which promotes more intense trade. Austria's role in these three countries' exports is decreasing, and its position among the top 10 importers is deteriorating. Despite this, in 2013 Austria's share of Czech exports exceeded 4.56%, its share of Slovakia's exports was over 6%, and its share of Hungary's exports was more than 5.5%.

In Hungary's exports, neighboring Romania—which is not part of the EU25, but has been an EU member since 2007—is in second place, while the United Kingdom is the runner-up in Poland's exports, largely because it absorbs a larger part of Polish expats.

China, the global leader in exports, is among the top 10 exporters only in the case of Slovakia, ranking 10th. In the case of the remaining countries, China did not make it into the top 10. In Poland's exports, China is outside the top 20. This further shows the importance of intra-EU trade from the perspective of the new member states, in particular Poland.

The commodity pattern of Poland's trade in 2004–2013

In this part of the analysis, we explore changes in the structure of Poland's imports and exports by major groups of goods. Again, we separately examine Poland's trade with EU member states and with countries outside the bloc. We analyze both the values and the shares of individual groups of goods in Poland's imports and exports. Changes in these values and shares in imports show the scale of Poland's dependence on buying any of these goods abroad. In turn, changes in exports show the developing and declining industries which are Poland's export specialties. This part is supplemented by a study of revealed comparative advantages and disadvantages in Poland's trade. We use the BEC nomenclature.⁵

⁴ Of course, Germany's share in Poland's total exports, at 25%, is lower than its share in Poland's intra-EU exports as shown in Table 4.

⁵ According to the Broad Economic Categories, (BEC), nomenclature developed by the United Nations Statistics Divisions in the second half of the 1960s and used since 1970, goods are classified according to their economic use. They are divided into 19 categories—for details see Czarny, Śledziewska (2012, pp. 126–127).

The value of Poland's intra-EU imports and exports and the trade balance in 2004 and 2013 by major groups of goods, in millions of euros

Course of room la	Imp	orts	Exports		Trade balance	
Group of goods	2004	2013	2004	2013	2004	2013
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for industry	183	991	245	837	62	-154
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for household consumption	610	2390	754	1792	143	-598
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for industry	431	1159	215	815	-216	-345
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for household consumption	1,255	5,118	2,290	8,916	1,035	3,798
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, primary	804	2,124	944	2,187	140	63
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, processed	20,343	36,590	12,892	29,916	-7,451	-6,673
Fuels and lubricants, primary	205	504	1,115	1,113	910	609
Fuels and lubricants, processed, motor spirit	222	283	135	407	-87	124
Fuels and lubricants, processed, other	924	1,699	1,579	3,691	656	1,992
Capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories thereof	7,698	13,769	2,313	9,812	-5,385	-3,957
Capital goods, parts and accessories	5,115	9,189	3,382	6,069	-1,732	-3,120
Transport equipment, passenger motor cars	2,620	3,458	2,872	4,220	252	762
Transport equipment, industrial	2,895	3,065	2,465	3,149	-430	84
Transport equipment, non-industrial	37	97	187	243	150	146
Transport equipment, parts and accessories	4,336	8,181	6,645	13,033	2,309	4,852
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, durable	1,165	2,912	4,257	9863	3,092	6,951
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, semi- durable	1,626	5,097	3,258	6,183	1,632	1,086
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, non-durable	3,399	7,185	2,115	8,137	-1,284	952
Goods not elsewhere specified	47	33	56	58	9	25
Total	53,925	10,4522	47,723	11,0441	-6,202	5,919

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

Earlier we highlighted the growth in Poland's intra-EU imports and exports (see comment for Table 1). Now, analyzing the data in Table 10, we can conclude that such is the case for almost all major groups of goods (except in the case of "goods not elsewhere classified" in imports, and "fuels and lubricants, primary" in exports). In Poland's imports and exports, both at the beginning and the end of the studied period, "industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, processed" dominate—see Tables 10 and 12. However, despite the large increase in the value of the imports and exports of these goods (by more than $\notin 16$ billion and $\notin 17$ billion respectively), their shares in Poland's intra-EU imports and exports decreased (by 1.3 p.p. in imports, and by about 7 p.p. in exports). Poland's deficit in the trade of these products also decreased (by almost $\notin 780$ billion), although it remained the highest among all the studied major groups of goods (standing at almost $\notin 6.7$ billion in 2013).

104

"Capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories thereof" and "capital goods, parts and accessories" rank second and third in Poland's imports respectively. This shows that Poland plays a major role in international production chains.

In exports, "transport equipment, parts and accessories" and "durable consumer goods" were number two and three respectively. These two groups also show the highest surpluses of exports over imports. Products with a relatively high level of technological advancement occupy an important place in the Polish economy, and consequently in exports. This is due to the adoption by Polish companies of EU standards and the inflow of foreign direct investment, especially in the automotive industry.

Table 11

The value of Poland's extra-EU imports and exports and the trade balance in 2004 and 2013 by major groups of goods, in millions of euros

	Imp	orts Exp		orts Trade balance		balance
Group of goods	2004	2013	2004	2013	2004	2013
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for industry	110	200	82	275	-28	76
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for household consumption	273	298	202	989	-71	691
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for industry	98	244	163	471	65	227
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for household consumption	381	820	860	2,879	478	2,059
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, primary	1,057	1,707	190	703	-867	-1,004
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, processed	3,616	9,270	3,741	9,439	125	169
Fuels and lubricants, primary	4,454	13,974	54	98	-4,401	-13,876
Fuels and lubricants, processed, motor spirit	0	0	0	266	0	266
Fuels and lubricants, processed, other	751	1,147	331	1,352	-420	205
Capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories thereof	1,898	5,255	990	4,901	-908	-353
Capital goods, parts and accessories	1,413	3,931	959	3,060	-453	-871
Transport equipment, passenger motor cars	244	425	595	927	351	503
Transport equipment, industrial	1,319	3,237	1,272	4,421	-48	1,184
Transport equipment, non-industrial	51	39	25	112	-27	73
Transport equipment, parts and accessories	590	2,080	727	3,881	138	1,801
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, durable	307	995	816	2,417	509	1,422
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, semi- durable	899	1,998	517	1,550	-382	-448
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, non-durable	693	1,183	1,038	3,764	346	2,580
Goods not elsewhere specified	30	91	46	162	17	71
Total	18,184	49,915	12,609	41,693	-5,575	-8,222

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

"Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, processed" occupy an important place in both Poland's intra- and extra-EU trade. These goods led the way in Poland's exports in both 2004 and in 2013 and were in second place in imports, behind "unprocessed fuels and lubricants" (the latter dominate in imports, while being marginal in exports, which explains why they show record deficits in Poland's trade balance at the beginning and end of the studied period). In both analyzed years, "capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories" were the runner-up in exports and third in imports. Poland has a deficit in the trade of these goods, however this deficit decreases over time (the same trend is observed in intra-EU trade), which again proves that Poland is part of international production networks and that its position in this area is improving.

"Transport equipment, parts and accessories" and "durable consumer goods," are important in Poland's intra-EU exports, but are also gaining importance in extra-EU trade, even though they are not among the leaders. Transport equipment exports increased more than fivefold during the studied period, while the trade surplus in the case of these goods increased by 13 times (in 2013, it was the third-largest among the trade surpluses). When it comes to durable consumer goods, the changes are less spectacular. Their imports increased more than three fold, while exports and the trade surplus less than doubled. However, in both analyzed years, they exhibit a much higher, though declining, share in Poland's extra-EU exports than in imports (their net exports were 6.8 p.p. in 2004 and 6.1 p.p. in 2013—see Table 13).

A separate analysis is required, in our view, for four groups of products related to agriculture and the food industry ("food and beverages, primary, mainly for industry"; "food and beverages, processed, mainly for industry"; and "food and beverages, processed, mainly for industry"; and "food and beverages, processed, mainly for household consumption"). In the two groups intended for household consumption, the surplus of Poland's intra-EU exports over imports increased significantly (in the case of food and beverages for industry, small deficits were recorded in 2013).

In turn, in extra-EU trade (Table 13), in the trade of the four analyzed product groups, surpluses were recorded in 2013. The surplus in the trade of processed food and beverages for household consumption was very high (the second-largest among all the major groups of goods analyzed). Moreover, in intra-EU exports, the shares of three groups of goods related to agriculture and the food industry are growing (with a simultaneous decrease in the shares of these groups of goods in imports). Particularly promising is an increase by 0.8 p.p. in the share, in Poland's intra-EU exports, of unprocessed goods intended for household consumption, accompanied by a decreased share of this group of goods in intra-EU imports by 0.9 p.p.
Table 12

The shares of major groups of goods in Poland's intra-EU imports and exports in 2004 and 2013, in %; changes in net exports in percentage points

Crown of reads		Imports		Exports		Net exports		Change	
Group of goods	2004	2013	2004	2013	2004	2013	Imports	Exports	
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for industry	0.6	0.4	0.7	0.7	0.0	0.3	-0.2	0.0	
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for household consumption	1.5	0.6	1.6	2.4	0.1	1.8	-0.9	0.8	
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for industry	0.5	0.5	1.3	1.1	0.8	0.6	-0.1	-0.2	
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for household consumption	2.1	1.6	6.8	6.9	4.7	5.3	-0.5	0.1	
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, primary	5.8	3.4	1.5	1.7	-4.3	-1.7	-2.4	0.2	
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, processed	19.9	18.6	29.7	22.6	9.8	4.1	-1.3	-7.0	
Fuels and lubricants, primary	24.5	28.0	0.4	0.2	-24.1	-27.8	3.5	-0.2	
Fuels and lubricants, processed, motor spirit	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.6	
Fuels and lubricants, processed, other	4.1	2.3	2.6	3.2	-1.5	0.9	-1.8	0.6	
Capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories thereof	10.4	10.5	7.9	11.8	-2.6	1.2	0.1	3.9	
Capital goods, parts and accessories	7.8	7.9	7.6	7.3	-0.2	-0.5	0.1	-0.3	
Transport equipment, passenger motor cars	1.3	0.9	4.7	2.2	3.4	1.4	-0.5	-2.5	
Transport equipment, industrial	7.3	6.5	10.1	10.6	2.8	4.1	-0.8	0.5	
Transport equipment, non-industrial	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.3	-0.1	0.2	-0.2	0.1	
Transport equipment, parts and accessories	3.2	4.2	5.8	9.3	2.5	5.1	0.9	3.5	
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, durable	1.7	2.0	6.5	5.8	4.8	3.8	0.3	-0.7	
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, semi-durable	4.9	4.0	4.1	3.7	-0.8	-0.3	-0.9	-0.4	
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, non-durable	3.8	2.4	8.2	9.0	4.4	6.7	-1.4	0.8	
Goods not elsewhere specified	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

Table 13

The shares of major groups of goods in Poland's extra-EU imports and exports in 2004 and 2013, in %; changes in net exports in percentage points

	Imp	orts	Exp	orts	Net e	xports	Ch	ange
Group of goods		2013	2004	2013	2004	2013	Import	Exports
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for industry	0.3	0.9	0.5	0.8	0.2	-0.2	0.6	0.2
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for household consumption	1.1	2.3	1.6	1.6	0.4	-0.7	1.2	0.0
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for industry	0.8	1.1	0.5	0.7	-0.3	-0.4	0.3	0.3
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for household consumption	2.3	4.9	4.8	8.1	2.5	3.2	2.6	3.3
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, primary	1.5	2.0	2.0	2.0	0.5	-0.1	0.5	0.0
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, processed	37.7	35.0	27.0	27.1	-10.7	-7.9	-2.7	0.1
Fuels and lubricants, primary	0.4	0.5	2.3	1.0	2.0	0.5	0.1	-1.3
Fuels and lubricants, processed, motor spirit	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.4	-0.1	0.1	-0.1	0.1
Fuels and lubricants, processed, other	1.7	1.6	3.3	3.3	1.6	1.7	-0.1	0.0
Capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories thereof	14.3	13.2	4.8	8.9	-9.4	-4.3	-1.1	4.0
Capital goods, parts and accessories	9.5	8.8	7.1	5.5	-2.4	-3.3	-0.7	-1.6
Transport equipment, passenger motor cars	4.9	3.3	6.0	3.8	1.2	0.5	-1.5	-2.2
Transport equipment, industrial	5.4	2.9	5.2	2.9	-0.2	-0.1	-2.4	-2.3
Transport equipment, non-industrial	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.0	-0.2
Transport equipment, parts and accessories	8.0	7.8	13.9	11.8	5.9	4.0	-0.2	-2.1
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, durable	2.2	2.8	8.9	8.9	6.8	6.1	0.6	0.0
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, semi-durable	3.0	4.9	6.8	5.6	3.8	0.7	1.9	-1.2
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, non-durable	6.3	6.9	4.4	7.4	-1.9	0.5	0.6	2.9
Goods not elsewhere specified	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

Trade with non-EU countries shows growing shares of all major groups of goods related to agriculture and the food industry, with the exception of unprocessed goods for household consumption, whose share in both analyzed years did not change. This time there is only an improvement in the position of Polish processed goods intended mainly for household consumption (increasing net exports and a larger increase in the share in exports than in imports).

108

Table 14 Revealed comparative advantage indices in Poland's intra-EU imports and exports in 2004 and 2013

	Imp	orts	Exp	orts
	2004	2013	2004	2013
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for industry	0.6	0.3	2.3	1.3
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for household consumption	0.8	0.3	3.6	3.9
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for industry	1.1	0.8	2.7	2.0
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for household consumption	1.0	0.8	1.8	1.7
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, primary	1.5	0.9	0.6	0.7
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, processed	1.0	1.0	1.2	0.9
Fuels and lubricants, primary	1.6	1.3	0.7	0.5
Fuels and lubricants, processed, motor spirit	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4
Fuels and lubricants, processed, other	1.4	0.4	1.4	0.8
Capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories thereof	0.7	0.8	0.4	0.7
Capital goods, parts and accessories	0.8	1.2	0.6	0.8
Transport equipment, passenger motor cars	0.5	0.5	0.8	0.3
Transport equipment, industrial	2.0	3.9	2.1	2.4
Transport equipment, non-industrial	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.9
Transport equipment, parts and accessories	0.7	0.8	0.9	1.3
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, durable	0.5	0.7	2.1	2.1
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, semi-durable	0.6	0.6	1.1	1.1
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, non-durable	0.9	0.6	1.2	1.2
Goods not elsewhere specified	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.5

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

Below we compare the structures of Poland's intra-EU imports and exports with the structures of intra-EU imports and exports of all the member states. We calculate revealed comparative advantage indices as the ratios of the shares in imports/exports of a given group of goods in Poland's trade with EU countries and the shares of this group of goods in total intra-EU exports/imports (Table 14). Then we calculate similar ratios for Poland's extra-EU trade in the EU as a whole (Table 15). In this way we define Poland's relative position in the exports of individual groups of goods compared with other EU exporters. An RCA index equal to 1 means that Polish goods have exactly the same position (in exports and imports) as goods from all EU member states taken together. An RCA index greater than 1 means that a given group of goods has a greater share in Poland's exports than the shares of all EU members combined. This shows that Poland has a comparative advantage over its EU partners: in intra-EU exports (Table 14) and extra-EU exports (Table 15) respectively. On the other hand, an RCA index lower than 1 indicates a relatively smaller share of a given group of goods in Poland's exports in relation to the shares in exports of the EU as a whole and is treated as a comparative disadvantage.

The indices for imports add up to a different picture. They tend to show a comparative disadvantage. The greater these indices, the greater the relative share of a given group of goods in Poland's imports compared with the EU average. An index close 0 to indicates a small share of a given group of goods in Poland's imports, compared with its share in the imports of the EU as a whole, and shows no comparative disadvantage.

Table 15

Revealed comparative advantage indices in Poland's extra-EU imports and exports in 2004 and 2013

	Imp	orts	Exp	orts
	2004	2013	2004	2013
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for industry	0.6	1.1	0.9	0.9
Food and beverages, primary, mainly for household consumption	1.0	1.5	1.6	1.4
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for industry	1.4	1.3	0.9	0.9
Food and beverages, processed, mainly for household consumption	0.4	0.8	0.9	1.3
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, primary	0.7	0.8	1.0	0.9
Industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, processed	1.4	1.2	1.0	1.0
Fuels and lubricants, primary	0.2	0.1	1.3	0.3
Fuels and lubricants, processed, motor spirit	1.3	0.5	0.8	0.7
Fuels and lubricants, processed, other	0.7	0.3	1.4	0.7
Capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories thereof	1.2	1.2	0.4	0.8
Capital goods, parts and accessories	1.1	1.2	0.8	0.8
Transport equipment, passenger motor cars	0.6	0.6	0.8	0.7
Transport equipment, industrial	1.6	1.2	1.4	1.1
Transport equipment, non-industrial	0.2	0.4	0.9	0.8
Transport equipment, parts and accessories	1.0	1.0	1.8	1.6
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, durable	0.8	0.9	3.0	3.0
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, semi-durable	0.6	1.1	1.4	1.1
Consumer goods not elsewhere specified, non-durable	0.9	1.0	0.6	1.1
Goods not elsewhere specified	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat database (accessed March 28, 2014).

Goods with the highest shares in Poland's intra-EU exports—"industrial supplies not elsewhere specified, processed" (22.6%—see Table 12) and "capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories thereof" (11.8%)—did not show

a comparative advantage in 2013 compared with other EU exporters (with indices of 0.9 and 0.7 respectively). These are diverse manufacturing industry products. The success of Poland's intra-EU exports in the case of these goods attests to considerable intra-industry trade in them within the EU. Also indicative of intra-industry trade is a lack of Poland's revealed comparative disadvantages in the imports of "capital goods (except transport equipment), and parts and accessories thereof." The index for imports is less than 1, testifying to Poland's low dependence on such imports. The opposite is true of "capital goods, parts and accessories," which are important to Poland's imports and in trade where Poland has comparative disadvantages (an index for imports of 1.2 in 2013). This makes them perfectly suitable for Polish imports.

"Transport equipment, parts and accessories" and durable consumer goods, which also figure prominently in Poland's exports, are characterized by a large (and growing in the case of transport equipment, parts and accessories) comparative advantage over other EU member states, which justifies the position of these goods in Poland's exports.

Poland has considerable advantages in the exports of four major groups of goods related to agriculture and the food industry. These advantages have been in place throughout the period of Poland's EU membership, but they increased over this time only in the case of "food and beverages, primary, mainly for household consumption" (3.9 in 2013). These goods also have a lasting, though smaller and decreasing, comparative advantage (1.4 in 2013) in Poland's trade with non-EU countries. It seems that Poland is not taking full advantage of the potential these agriculture-related categories offer, because they are not among leading sectors in Poland's exports (their share in intra-EU exports in 2013 was 2.4%, while in extra-EU exports in both analyzed years it was 1.6%). In general, other groups of goods related to agriculture and the food industry have a sizable though declining role, especially in intra-EU trade. These four groups together provide 11.1% of Poland's intra-EU exports, which does not reflect the comparative advantages that Poland has in their production. The reason is probably the EU's Common Agricultural Policy and the related production limits.

The commodity pattern of Poland's trade shows that Poland makes good use of its comparative advantage in the production of "transport equipment, parts and accessories" and durable consumer goods. These are important items in Poland's exports, in both intra-EU and extra-EU terms. On the other hand, Poland has comparative disadvantages in "capital goods, parts and accessories," which is an important item in Poland's imports. Furthermore, Poland is not using efficiently its comparative advantages in the export of goods from groups related to agriculture and the food industry. The four groups of goods from agriculture and the food industry account for just over 10% of Poland's intra-EU exports. The primary cause may be limitations resulting from the Common Agricultural Policy. Meanwhile, two groups of goods that have neither comparative advantages nor disadvantages on the EU market make up about one—third of Poland's intra-EU exports. This, in our opinion, signals intense intra-industry trade in these goods with EU partners.

Concluding remarks

Our analysis shows that Poland's membership of the European Union has had a positive impact on Poland's foreign trade. Its value, particularly in the case of trade with other EU member states, has increased significantly, and its structure has improved.

The international competitive position of Polish goods is improving. Poland's export potential is growing, especially in trade with neighboring countries that joined the EU together with Poland in 2004 (the Czech Republic and the Baltic states). Poland's export position on the UK market is also improving strongly, which, in our opinion shows the big role that labor migration has played in bilateral trade between Poland and Britain. With the exception of France, Poland is doing worse when it comes to goods winning markets of the most developed EU countries, in particular eurozone members. In particular, Poland is losing its position on the German market, which is the traditional buyer of Polish goods. This means, however, that Poland's trade is becoming less concentrated and that Poland is less dependent on Germany as its economic partner.

Analysis of the commodity structure of Poland's trade shows that Poland makes good use of its comparative advantages in the production of transport equipment, parts and accessories and in the production of durable consumer goods. These are important items among Poland's intra- and extra-EU exports. On the other hand, Poland has comparative disadvantages in the trade of capital goods, parts and accessories, which are an important item of Poland's imports. At the same time, Poland is not fully exploiting its advantages in the export of goods from agriculture and the food industry. This may be due to limitations resulting from the Common Agricultural Policy. Two groups of goods that have neither comparative advantages nor disadvantages on the EU market make up about one third of Poland's intra-EU exports. This, in our opinion, testifies to relatively intense intra-industry trade in these goods with EU partners.

References

Czarny, E., Śledziewska, K., (2009), Polska w handlu światowym, PWE, Warsaw.

Gabrisch, H., (2000), Die Entwicklung der Handelsstrukturen der Transformationsländer, w: Politische und ökonomische Transformation in Osteuropa, Brunner G. (ed.), Berlin – Verlag Spitz, Berlin, pp. 211–231.

Rollo, J., Smith, A., (1993), The political economy of Eastern European trade with the European Community: why so sensitive?, in: "Economic Policy. An European Forum", April, pp. 140–165.

Kawecka-Wyrzykowska, E., Synowiec, E., (eds.) (1997), Unia Europejska, Integracja Polski z Unią Europejską, Instytut Koniunktur i Cen Handlu Zagranicznego, Warsaw.

2.2. The Impact of Poland's Accession to the European Union on the Country's Foreign Investment Attractiveness

Tomasz M. Napiórkowski⁶

Foreign direct investment (FDI) and competitiveness are interconnected by spillovers that accompany inward FDI enjoyed by the host economy, the key spillovers in this case being the transfer of technology and know-how. For this reason attracting FDI has been included in Poland's policy agenda. Poland's membership in the European Union (EU) is often mentioned as one of many determinants of inward FDI. This subchapter is aimed at providing evidence supporting this hypothesis.

The aim of this research is to examine whether EU membership had an impact on and can be considered a determinant of inward FDI into selected Central European countries (CECs). Furthermore, if such is the case, does it enable an increase in competitiveness as a result of inward FDI?

The resulting main hypothesis states that the EU membership of selected Central European countries, including Poland, has had a positive and statistically significant impact on inward foreign direct investment into those host economies. The set of explored countries includes Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, and Slovenia.

This research is laid out as follows: first, the dynamics of the stocks and flows of inward and outward foreign direct investment activity in the world, the European Union and in the selected economies (as an aggregate and individually) is presented and analyzed; second, an econometric approach is taken to confirm these hypotheses with a static model based on panel data, the parameters of which are estimated with the use of the Ordinary Least Squares method.

The data is presented in U.S. dollars and not in euro, because there is no single source of data on FDI denoted in euro for the required time frame, i.e. years prior to and after EU accession.

⁶ The author is a recipient of the *Stypendia – dla nauki, dla rozwoju, dla Mazowsza* scholarship instituted by the Warsaw School of Economics and financed by the European Union under its European Social Fund.

FDI in Poland, Central European countries, EU27 and the world compared

This section explores the long-term perceived attractiveness of the examined parties (i.e., analysis of foreign direct investment stocks) as well as the more recent, short-term attractiveness (i.e., foreign direct investment flows).⁷

Inward and outward foreign direct investment stock—the longterm perspective

Inward foreign direct investment stock in the world increased during the examined period from \$7,511,311 million (2000) to \$22,812,680 million (2012). The two biggest negative shocks in this time period were two recessions: the dotcom recession and the housing/derivatives recession. Both had a significant impact on the stock of invested capital, but as the former only slowed growth, the latter actually caused a decline in the series from \$18,038,044 million (2007) to \$15,586,249 million (2008). This decline was erased the following year. Inward foreign direct investments in the European Union were also growing (\$2,350,014 million in 2000, \$7,805,297 million in 2012), but at a much slower pace with the two recessions having a similar impact on this series as the series described above. Central European economies were, as an aggregate, more attractive for investors than the European Union as these transitioning economies had a significant combined growth rate of inward FDI-from \$98,260.05 million to \$665,985.9 million in 2012. This growth was not suppressed by the dotcom recession, and the 2007 recession had only a minor negative impact on the series; in fact, a bigger decline was seen in 2011 than in 2008. The biggest growth of the inward FDI stock in CEC was recorded from 2005 to 2007, when hosts like Poland had begun enjoying the benefits of their EU accession in 2004, while states that were to join in 2007 were already enjoying the "expectation" benefits.

As far as the inward FDI stock into each of the Central European countries is concerned (Figure 1), the seven economies can be divided into two groups: the leaders (Poland – 34,227.17 million in 2000 to 230,603.6 million in 2012, the Czech Republic – 21,643.66 million to 136,442.4 million, and Hungary – 22,869.89 million to 103,556.5 million) and the followers (Slovenia – 2,892.73 million to 15,526.01 million, Bulgaria – 2,703.69 million to 49,870.63 million, and Slovakia – 6,969.92 million to 55,815.92 million), with Romania (6,952.99 million to 74,170.76 million) on the borderline between the groups. This prompts four observations:

1. Poland has diverged from the group the most.

⁷ The reason for separately analyzing the inward and outward activity of FDI is that different measuring agencies use varying methods of accounting for FDI; hence, opposite to what is expected, outward and inward FDI activities in the world are not equal.

- 2. Hungary and the Czech Republic were neck and neck until 2006 after which the appetite of foreign investors to invest in Hungary decreased and the series leveled out.
- 3. With the exception of Poland and Hungary, both of which experienced declines in 2008, the remaining members of the group either saw no negative effects or only saw a slowdown in the growth rates of inward foreign direct investment.
- 4. The trends themselves generally increased just prior to (e.g., Poland 2003–2004) and just after each economy joined the European Union.



Inward foreign direct investment stock (IFDIS) to selected Central European economies



Source: Author's own graph based on data from UNCTAD.4

Outward foreign direct investment has also been increasing globally, growing from \$8,025,834 million in 2000 to \$23,592,739 million in 2012. The impact of the two recessions was the same as in the case of inward FDI. These similarities also extend to the inward/outward foreign direct investments in/out of the European Union (\$3,508,626 million in 2000 to \$9,836,857 million in 2012). None of the recessions had any effect on the outward investments of Central European economies, which skyrock-eted after 2004, reaching \$122,935.5 million in 2012 (\$4,561.9 million in 2000). The series experienced its biggest growth after most of the group joined the EU in 2004.

How foreign investment has changed over time in Central European economies is best presented when looking at each economy separately (Figure 2). Until 2003, when Hungary started separating from the group, outward investments from these economies were, by today's investment standards, irrelevant. As with inward FDI, some key observations can be made:

1. Despite Hungary (\$1,279.85 million in 2000, \$34,741.2 million in 2012) being the first mover, it is Poland (\$1,018 million, \$57,525.2 million) that is the leading foreign investor in the group.

- 2. Of the leading investors (in descending order, Poland, Hungary, and the Czech Republic), only the Czech Republic's investments abroad declined during the latter part of the examined period.
- 3. Only two economies stood out as leaders in investments abroad (Poland and Hungary), while the Czech Republic is closer to Slovenia than to Hungary.
- 4. Outward foreign direct investment from Slovenia is declining, while the opposite is true for Slovakia.
- 5. Unlike in the case of inward activity, there was no anticipatory outward FDI (stock) activity in the researched economies until about a year after most of its members have joined the European Union.

Figure 2

Outward foreign direct investment stock (OFDIS) from selected Central European economies



Source: Author's own graph based on data from UNCTAD.

The above analysis can be extended to include a comparison of inward FDI stock in per capita terms. In this case, Poland, with \$890, was in third place in 2000, ahead of Bulgaria (\$331) and Romania (\$310), and behind Hungary (\$2,240) and the Czech Republic (\$2,111). Despite the growth of FDI per capita in Poland in the analyzed timeframe (\$2,272 in 2004 and \$5,984 in 2012), the position of the Polish economy, relative to the other analyzed countries, worsened after Bulgaria surpassed it in 2007. By 2012, Bulgaria had mustered \$6,826 vs. Poland's \$5,984.⁸

116

⁸ FDI expressed in per capita terms is not an ideal indicator of the general attractiveness of an economy to foreign investors. This is because, unlike in the case of GDP, there is no direct relationship between changes in population and FDI (with the possible exception of market-seeking FDI). This can be illustrated with the example of Estonia and China, where FDI per capita in 2012 was \$14,000 and \$610 respectively. This suggests that Estonia enjoys greater foreign investor interest than China. However, looking at the FDI stock in both economies as an indicator of attractiveness—\$18,826 million and \$832,882 million

The key conclusion from this section is that the economies in Central Europe are growing in their attractiveness both as a group and individually, and faster than the European Union as a whole. In terms of EU membership, inward foreign direct investment picked up before 2004 (when the biggest players entered the bloc) while outward foreign direct investment activity saw its greatest growth after the date of joining (in accordance with the findings of, e.g., Carstensen and Toubal, 2003, p. 2).⁹

Inward and outward foreign direct investment flows: the short-term perspective

Foreign direct investment flows have been much more volatile over the examined period, as can be expected given the methodology behind the measure. For the world, inward flows (Figure 3) had three maxima (\$1,413,169 million in 2000, \$2,002,695 million in 2007 and \$1,651,511 million in 2011), which in themselves show the parabolic general shape of the series. Flows coming from the European Union follow a similar path with relative maxima of \$701,825.7 million (2000), \$859,117.8 million (2007) and \$441,556.6 million (2011), showing a much flatter, less responsive pattern. CECs as a group mimic the volatility of the world more than does the European Union, reaching a maximum investment of \$65,797.3 million in 2007, with the biggest growth recorded from 2004 to 2007. As suggested earlier, all three series were more responsive to economic shocks such as the dotcom and 2007 crises, and the positive recoveries following these.

Figure 3

Inward foreign direct investment flows (IFDIF) to CECs (right-hand axis) the EU27 and the world (both left-hand axis)



respectively—the conclusion will be different. As a result, it is advisable to use more than one indicator of FDI attractiveness to get a clearer picture of the situation.

⁹ This suggests that, parallel to this work, a study should be conducted in order to examine the impact of EU membership on outward foreign direct investment activity in the CEC group.

The volatility of foreign direct investment flows is even more apparent when looking at flows directed at each of the economies separately (Figure 4). All flows were harmed by both recessions, with most of the series reaching their maxima right before the recession—excluding recoveries seen in the Czech Republic and Hungary, which rank these countries ahead of Poland. As can be observed on the referenced graph, inward flows are more evenly distributed among the economies than the foreign direct investment stock. Looking at average values, Poland is the leader (\$11,853.95 million per year), followed by the Czech Republic (\$6,321.1 million per year) and Hungary (\$4,638.9 million). Analyzing the data for all seven CECs, we see that FDI inflows are more evenly distributed among these host economies than FDI stock.

Figure 4

Inward foreign direct investment flows (IFDIF) to selected Central European economies



Source: Author's own graph based on data from UNCTAD.

Looking at the share of inward foreign direct investment directed at each of the hosts as a percentage of the sum (Table 16), Poland generally takes the top spot by attracting between 42.70% and 34.98% of total investment flows to CECs. The situation is very different in the last year of the analysis, in which Hungary (39.01%) is followed by the Czech Republic (30.68%) and the very distant Poland (9.72%). Slovenia is found at the other side of the spectrum throughout the period.

Just like in the case of stock, as in the case of flows of foreign direct investment there are similarities in terms of inward and outward investments – outflows for the world (Figure 5) reach three maxima (\$1,240,316 million in 2000, \$2,272,049 million in 2007 and \$1,678,035 in 2011) as does the series for the European Union (\$809,237.9 million, \$1,257,890 million and \$536,499.1 million respectively). Until around 2005, the two series appear to move parallel to each other, after which the latter series grows at a slower pace. In terms of CECs, the series does not really come into play until after the dotcom crisis around 2002 (\$262,060.9 million). It then sky-rockets to \$16,321.9 million (2006) during its highest growth period (2004–2007), after which the series is impacted by the 2007 crisis, which (as mentioned above) took its toll on the world and the European Union series significantly. After 2007, outflows of capital from the analyzed economies decreased. However, just two years later, FDI outflows began to rise again.

Table 16

Share of inward foreign direct investment	flows (IFDIF) by selected economies from
Central Europe as a percentage of total IF	DIF to CECs for selected years

	2000	2004	2007	2012
Bulgaria	4.6%	9.2%	18.8%	5.5%
Czech Republic	22.5%	13.5%	15.9%	30.7%
Hungary	12.5%	11.6%	6.0%	39.0%
Poland	42.7%	34.9%	35.8%	9.7%
Romania	4.8%	17.5%	15.1%	6.5%
Slovakia	12.3%	10.9%	6.1%	8.2%
Slovenia	0.6%	2.2%	2.3%	0.4%

Source: Author's own table based on data from UNCTAD.

Figure 5

Outward foreign direct investment flows (OFDIF) from CECs (right-hand axis), the EU27 and the world (both left-hand axis)



Source: Author's own graph based on data from UNCTAD.

When it comes to outward flows by each of the CECs (Figure 6), Hungary was the first of the examined economies to break out (2003) and was quickly followed by Poland (2004) and the Czech Republic (2006). When looking at all of the series, Hungary appears to have been damaged the most by the fallout of the most recent recession (the flows declined from 2006 to 2010), but it is also the country that shows the most impressive recovery. The opposite is true for Poland, which incurred a negative shock around 2007, followed by a slight recovery and then a staggering fall starting in 2011.

Figure 6

Outward foreign direct investment flows (OFDIF) from selected Central European economies



In terms of the share of investment coming out of each of the centrally located European economies (Table 17), with the exception of 2007, Hungary is the most significant leader, accounting for up to 95.06% of total foreign direct investments coming from the region. Poland takes a distant second spot, while Slovakia and Slovenia close the spectrum at the negative end.

Table 17

Share of outward foreign direct investment flows (OFDIF) by selected economies from Central Europe as a percentage of total OFDIF by CECs for selected years

	2000	2004	2007	2012
Bulgaria	0.4%	-6.0%	2.1%	2.0%
Czech Republic	5.5%	29.7%	11.8%	12.0%
Hungary	79.9%	32.7%	26.5%	95.1%
Poland	2.2%	26.3%	39.5%	-8.0%
Romania	-1.7%	2.0%	2.0%	0.4%
Slovakia	5.2%	-0.8%	4.9%	-0.7%
Slovenia	8.3%	16.0%	13.2%	-0.8%

Source: Author's own table based on data from UNCTAD.

As in the case of the foreign direct investment stock, the tempo enjoyed by the economies of interest is significantly closer to that enjoyed by the world rather than that seen in the European Union. When looking at the flows, the role of Hungary has been described as the key in the region, especially as a foreign investor from the point of view of FDI flows.

Lastly, there are two points to make. First, as seen earlier, inward activity begins prior to 2004 and outward activity begins after 2004. Second, the decline in FDI flows is a result of investors shifting into capital in transit (NBP, 2014, p. 1), which also resulted in shifts in the geographical and economic allocation of investments (this issue is also discussed in the *World Investment Report 2013*, UNCTAD, 2013, pp. 15–17). National Bank of Poland studies shows that if the 2012 value were corrected for the capital in transit, the FDI inflow to Poland would turn out to be only 30% lower than in the previous year (NBP, 2014, p. 2).

Focusing specifically on Poland, from the long-term perspective (i.e., FDI stock), it is the biggest investor (Figure 1) and the biggest recipient (Figure 2) among all the CECs, with both series significantly diverging from those for other Central European economies. Poland's dominant position does carry over to the short-term perspective (i.e., FDI flows) where Poland is the biggest recipient (Table 16) and one of the biggest sources (Table 17) of FDI flows (with the exception of 2012).

Foreign direct investment in Central European countries by indexes

This part of the research will look at two indexes: 1) the Bilateral FDI Index, to show the intensity of bilateral foreign direct investments of CECs, and 2) UNCTAD's FDI Attraction Index (to show another measure of hosts' ability and success in attracting foreign direct investment over a rolling three-year period, UNCTAD, 2012, p. 30).

The first index is based on the Intra-Industry Trade Index (discussed by Misala, 2011, p. 167, Equation 1). The value of the index ranges from 0 to 1; the higher the value, the higher the intensity of bilateral foreign direct investments (between, e.g., Poland and the European Union or Poland and the world).

Equation 1 Bilateral FDI Index formula

$$BFDII_{ij,t} = \frac{\left(OFDI_{ij,t} + IFDI_{ij,t}\right) - \left|\left(OFDI_{ij,t} - IFDI_{ij,t}\right)\right|}{\left(OFDI_{ij,t} + IFDI_{ij,t}\right)}$$

Where:

 $BFDII_{ij,t}$ – bilateral FDI index between economies *i* and *j* in year *t*, $OFDI_{ij,t}$ – outward stock of FDI from economy *i* to economy *j* in year *t*, $IFDI_{ij,t}$ – inward stock of FDI from economy *j* to economy *i* in year *t*. Source: Author's own formula. The second index looks at "the average of a country's rankings in FDI inflows" (UNCTAD, 2012, p. 30); the higher the value of the index, the higher the country's ability to attract foreign investors with the incorporation of the size of its economy. The index itself is the "average of country's rankings in FDI inflows and in FDI inflows as a share of GDP" (UNCTAD, 2012, p. 30). The index can also be calculated based on the FDI stock, which provides a more long-term perspective (UNCTAD, 2012, p. 30).

The European Union as a collective has a high degree of bilateral investment (Table 18), and Slovenia is the only CEC country that reaches levels near the EU average, being the dominant economy in terms of the Bilateral FDI Index. In 2012, Slovenia was ahead of Hungary and Poland, both of which show the highest levels of bilateral foreign direct investments. The values for the index have been growing since the economies' accession to the EU; this reflects the trends for CECs' outward FDI activity, as discussed earlier.

Table 18

Bilateral FDI Index with the world for CECs individually and as a collective, and for the European Union for selected years

	2000	2004	2007	2012
Bulgaria	0.0484	0.0173	0.0420	0.0722
Czech Republic	0.0659	0.1232	0.1415	0.2002
Hungary	0.1060	0.1781	0.3071	0.5024
Poland	0.0578	0.0744	0.2135	0.3993
Romania	0.0384	0.0262	0.0386	0.0375
Slovakia	0.1475	0.0741	0.0836	0.1465
Slovenia	0.4195	0.5700	0.7169	0.6685
CECs	0.0887	0.1216	0.1951	0.3117
EU27	0.8022	0.9269	0.9266	0.8848

Source: Author's own table based on own calculations using data from UNCTAD.

In ranking countries according to their ability to attract FDI (Table 19), as measured with the UNCTAD Attraction Index, Poland's position underwent some changes. It worsened until 2003 (46th), after which Poland's ranking improved, and in 2006 Poland was 23rd. After 2007, Poland's ability to attract FDI deteriorated again. In 2011, the country ranked 40th. Notably, Poland's deteriorating attractiveness is not an exception when looking at the entire CEC group, and in 2011 it was Poland that was at the top spot in UNCTAD's ranking among all the analyzed economies.

	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011
Bulgaria	33	30	33	21	12	6	5	4	4	4	12	45
Czech Republic	10	9	7	9	15	13	20	24	54	72	80	65
Hungary	15	14	18	22	32	19	22	45	56	90	81	82
Poland	29	32	37	46	30	30	23	30	37	39	56	40
Romania	54	70	68	57	18	10	6	13	15	26	36	88
Slovakia	43	25	11	8	8	26	18	42	41	93	118	144
Slovenia	136	133	61	69	67	126	125	125	122	142	152	167

Researched economies ranked according to UNCTAD's FDI Attraction Index

Source: UNCTAD.

Table 19

An interesting observation that can serve as a conclusion to this section is that Slovenia (despite its relatively low FDI activity in absolute terms) is looking very good when it comes to bilateral FDI, but it is Slovenia's attractiveness to foreign investors that has deteriorated the most in the researched timeframe, as shown by UNCTAD's FDI Attraction Index.

EU accession as a determinant of foreign direct investment in Poland and other Central European Countries

EU membership has been approached by Bevan and Estrin (2000) as a reduction in a member's country risk, which is an indication of economic, institutional, environmental and political stability (Bevan and Estrin, 2000, p. 9; Buch, Kokta and Piazolo, 2001, p. 1). Sometimes even the prospect of membership is enough to stimulate investments directed at that economy as investors seek to get a head start, as proven for Spain and Portugal by Buch, Kokta and Piazolo, 2001, p. 21). In addition to sharing this view, another benefit of EU membership is highlighted by Carstensen and Toubal, who underline that when a home economy makes an investment in a host economy that is a member of the European Union, it also gains access to EU markets (Carstensen and Toubal, 2003, p. 3). Authors also point out that EU membership can be seen as an indication of, and a proxy for, the transition process of CECs (Carstensen and Toubal, 2003, p. 2; Buch, Kokta and Piazolo, 2001, pp. 7–8).

The list of possible determinants of foreign direct investment in very general. Many economic concepts are used, such as the size/potential of the host market, and the same concept can be represented by many variables—for example, GDP – Bevan and Estrin, 2000, p. 13; GDP per capita—Walsh and Yu, 2010, p. 7; and the sum of the host's and home's GDPs– Xun and Awokuse, 2005, p. 11 (the issue of oversaturation has been covered by Blonigen and Piger, 2011).

Still, it is possible to extrapolate three staple economic concepts that appear in all models where foreign direct investment is the dependent variable, i.e. $FDI = f(X_1, ..., X_n)$

and the topic of the research are the determinants of this phenomenon. These concepts are: 1) market size/potential, 2) trade and its costs and 3) cost of the resource (which almost always is the cost of labor). Following this theme, the author makes a subjective choice (given the abundance of possible determinants) to use gross domestic product (*GDP*), openness to trade (exports plus imports as a percentage of the host's GDP, [(X+M)/GDP]*100, Kerr, Peter, 2001, p. 5) and the unit labor cost (*ULC*) to represent the three staple concepts of what attracts foreign direct investment.

The best way of entering the EU membership of the host economy into the model is presented (and used in this research) by Buch, Kokta and Piazolo (2001, p. 9), who use a simple dummy variable with a value of 1 to denote a member of the European Union (also used by Buch, Kleinert and Toubal, 2003, p. 19).

In addition, because of the importance of the financial system highlighted by many researchers (e.g., Buch, Kokta and Piazolo, 2001, pp. 9–10), a decision was made to include money and quasi money (M2, a measure used by Buch, Kokta and Piazolo, 2001, in per GDP terms) to represent its development.

Data and correlation analysis

Because the data on inward FDI in Poland constitute too short of a timeframe, and due to a lack of complementary data on the determinants of inward FDI (e.g., unit labor costs), it was not possible to construct a valid time-series model for this economy. As a result, it was decided to construct a panel data base for the countries that have a similar geographical location and entered the European Union in 2004 and 2007, and to build the model for those economies as a collective. The countries selected for this part of the research are the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Slovakia, and Slovenia. Due to the fact that inclusion of countries such as Bulgaria or Romania would create a significantly unbalanced dataset (i.e., there was no data on key macroeconomic factors such as unit labor costs), despite meeting the geographical and accession requirement listed above, these countries have been excluded from this part of the research.

Data has been collected on the following variables:

- Inward foreign direct investment stock in the host economies in U.S. dollars at current prices and current exchange rates in millions from UNCTAD,
- Gross domestic product of the host economies in constant 2005 dollars from the World Bank,
- Exports of goods and services out of the host economies in constant 2005 dollars from the World Bank,
- Imports of goods and services into the host economies in constant 2005 dollars from the World Bank,
- Unit labor cost in the host economies expressed as an index where 2010 = 100 from the OECD,
- Money and quasi money (M2) in the host economy as a percentage of the respective host's gross domestic product from the World Bank.

The independent variable of interest in this study, i.e. the host's EU membership, has been introduced into the model as a dummy variable, which takes the value of 1 for the year in which the economy joined the European Union and afterwards, and the value of 0 for years prior to joining.

Data on some macroeconomic concepts had to be complemented by the author.¹⁰ For Hungary, Slovakia, and Slovenia the referenced source did not have the data on international trade for 2011 and 2012 and for Slovakia there was a lack of data on money and quasi money for 2009–2012. To resolve this issue, the author fit a linear trend¹¹ to the data in order to forecast the missing values based on the fitted trend equation for each of the seven series.

- For exports from Hungary, the trend has the R-squared value of 0.9629
- For the imports to Hungary, the trend has the R-squared value of 0.9627
- For exports from Slovakia, the trend has the R-squared value of 0.9367
- For the imports to Slovakia, the trend has the R-squared value of 0.9309
- For exports from Slovenia, the trend has the R-squared value of 0.9165
- For the imports to Slovenia, the trend has the R-squared value of 0.8972
- For money and quasi money for Slovakia, the trend has the R-squared value of $0.4358^{\scriptscriptstyle 12}$

The collected data was used to construct the following six variables:

- 1. The dependent variable: Stock of inward foreign direct investments, IFDIS
- 2. Independent variables:
 - a. Gross domestic product, GDP,
 - b. Openness of the host economy to trade as expressed by the sum of its exports and imports as a percentage of its gross domestic product, [(X+M)/GDP]*100,
 - c. Unit labor cost, ULC (OECD Index 2010 = 100),
 - d. Membership in the European Union, EU,
 - e. Money and quasi money, M2.¹³

¹⁰ In some cases, data in constant 2005 dollars were unavailable in the World Bank's database. Using data in current prices would be a mistake given that inflation in each host economy was different. This would make the calculations even more difficult as it would require another complete set of data (coming from one source) on inflation for each analyzed economy. Because supplementing the existing dataset with data from other source(s) is impossible due to possible differences in the methodology used to arrive at constant 2005 dollars, it was decided to use the existing data to estimate the missing data points. Of course, another alternative was to accept an unbalanced panel dataset, but this would have been a much worse solution, especially in light of the fact that the number of estimated values is at most six out of 90 (i.e., 6.67%).

¹¹ Admittedly, the R-squared value was higher for the fit of the exponential trend, but the estimated values for 2011 and 2012 were sometimes more than four times greater than the value for 2010; hence, these results were rejected.

¹² Despite attempts to fit non-linear trends to the data, the value of R-squared changed insignificantly; hence, it was decided to stay with the linear trend.

¹³ This variable was derived by first multiplying the original data by GDP and then by dividing it by 100, i.e., reversing the procedure of expressing M2 as a percentage of GDP.

Based on previous studies on the subject of determinants of foreign direct investment, it is hypothesized that the coefficient of the gross domestic product, openness to trade, membership in the European Union and money and quasi money variables will be positive while the coefficient of the unit labor cost variable will be negative (Table 20).

Table 20

Summary of variable coefficient's num and anermative hypotheses statement	Summary of	of variable	coefficient's	null and	alternative	hypotheses	statements
---	------------	-------------	---------------	----------	-------------	------------	------------

Independent Variable's Coefficient	Null Hypothesis	Alternative Hypothesis
β _{ODP}	$\beta_{ODP} \leq 0$	$\beta_{ODP} > 0$
β _{[(X+M)/ODP]*100}	$\beta_{[(X+M)/ODP]*100} \le 0$	$\beta_{[(X+M)/ODP]*100} > 0$
β _{ULC}	$\beta_{ULC} \ge 0$	$\beta_{\rm ULC} < 0$
β_{EU}	$\beta_{EU} \leq 0$	$\beta_{\rm EU} > 0$
β _{M2}	$\beta_{M2} \leq 0$	$\beta_{M2} > 0$

Source: Author's own table.

Because the used variables are non-stationary, a co-integration analysis was employed in order to determine if the data can be used in its original form. If this is the case, this will mean that common trends cancel out and that there is a long-term equilibrium between the used variables (Banerjee, Carrion-i-Silvestre, 2006, p. 1). To test for co-integration, Pedroni (1999, Table 21) statistics with the null hypothesis of no co-integration were used and calculated with the EViews 8 software package. The within-dimension statistics are divided, as two of them (Panel v-Statistic and panel rho-Statistic) do not allow for the rejection of the null hypothesis, while the other two (Panel PP-Statistic and Panel ADF-Statistic) suggest that, at a 5% level of significance, the null hypothesis can be rejected. In terms of between-dimension statistics, two of them (Group PP-Statistic and Group ADF-Statistic) are for the rejection of the null hypothesis, while Group rho-Statistic points to the contrary.

The initial step taken in the econometric analysis is the examination of Pearson linear correlation coefficients (r) and their respective null hypotheses (H0: r = 0) at a 5% level of significance. Despite the fact that a correlation coefficient between two variables has been found statistically significant, it does not justify a statement of causation between the two variables. Keeping this restriction in mind, the analysis of the calculated coefficients of correlation will take place via the lens of the previously stated hypothesis statements in regards to the cause-and-effect relationship between inward foreign direct investments and selected independent variables.

First, the analysis is conducted on the data as an aggregate (i.e., without separating the data by countries).

Pedroni's co-integration test									
Variables: IFDIS PKB [(X+M)/PKB]*100 ULC EU M2									
	Statistic	Prob.	Weighted statistic	Prob.					
Panel v-Statistic	-0.879	0.810	-0.940	0.827					
Panel rho-Statistic	1.082	0.860	1.597	0.945					
Panel PP-Statistic	-11.997	0.000	-6.601	0.000					
Panel ADF-Statistic	-4.212	0.000	-3.693	0.000					
	Statistic	Prob.							
Group rho-Statistic	2.605	0.995							
Group PP-Statistic	-8.870	0.000							
Group ADF-Statistic	-4.579	0.000							

Results of Pedroni tests for co-integration with the null hypothesis of no co-integration

Source: Author's own table based on results obtained with EViews software.

Table 22

Table 21

Pearson correlation coefficients for data without by-country separation

		IFDIS	GDP	Х	М	ULC	EU	M2
CDD	Pearson Correlation	0.753	1.000	0.583	0.849	0.343	0.207	0.953
GDP	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000		0.000	0.000	0.001	0.050	0.000
v	Pearson Correlation	0.741	0.583	1.000	0.813	0.547	0.474	0.666
Λ	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
М —	Pearson Correlation	0.942	0.849	0.813	1.000	0.634	0.526	0.916
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000		0.000	0.000	0.000
	Pearson Correlation	0.614	0.343	0.547	0.634	1.000	0.753	0.461
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000		0.000	0.000
EII	Pearson Correlation	0.608	0.207	0.474	0.526	0.753	1.000	0.332
EU	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.050	0.000	0.000	0.000		0.001
142	Pearson Correlation	0.878	0.953	0.666	0.916	0.461	0.332	1.000
ML	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.001	

Source: Author's table of results obtained with SPSS software.

All of the used independent variables are significantly correlated with the dependent variable from the statistical point of view (i.e., *p*-value < 0.05). Almost all of the calculated coefficients have the expected sign, the exception being the positive sign of the coefficient for the pair of ULC and IFDIS; based on the set hypotheses, the expected sign was negative. The reason for the positive sign of the coefficient of correlation can be the fact that the unit labor cost is measured as an index that is almost constantly increasing throughout the studied period, reaching 100 in 2010; hence, in the examined period, the value for inward foreign direct investment and the unit

labor cost were both increasing.¹⁴ Again, there is no call for alarm as this is just a test for correlation and not a cause-and-effect relationship. Of note are the high correlation coefficients between GDP and international trade variables. This problem goes away after the openness of the economy to international trade is expressed as a sum of exports and imports relative to the host's GDP. Admittedly, this transformation yields the correlation coefficient between the dependent variable and the newly formed independent variable statistically insignificant, *p*-value = 0.183, but due to its solid base in research publications on the topic and the nature of the correlation as a phenomenon, this issue does not play a significant role in this study.

Another troubling coefficient of correlation is the one between GDP and money and quasi money. This is due to the fact that a) these two macro variables go in tandem, as in the case of the international trade variables and b) the initial M2 variable was transformed using GDP, which may have also contributed to the issue. Unfortunately, there is no other data (i.e., M1) that is available for all of the explored economies from one source, so a decision was made to stay with the current measurement of M2.

When the correlation coefficients are calculated by separating the data by countries (Table 23), the results closely follow those obtained for the aggregate database. That is, all correlation coefficients (with the exception of the X and IFDIS pair for Hungary) are found to be statistically significant at a 1% level of significance and their signs are as hypothesized, again with the exception of the unit labor cost.

		Czech Republic	Hungary	Poland	Slovakia	Slovenia			
		IFDIS							
CDD	Pearson Correlation	0.982	0.924	0.982	0.988	0.934			
GDP	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
v	Pearson Correlation	0.976	0.526	0.982	0.979	0.942			
X	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.025	0.000	0.000	0.000			
	Pearson Correlation	0.970	0.948	0.972	0.966	0.944			
IVI	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
	Pearson Correlation	0.861	0.944	0.750	0.936	0.925			
ULC	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
EU	Pearson Correlation	0.883	0.921	0.879	0.919	0.882			
EU	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
142	Pearson Correlation	0.951	0.977	0.977 0.973		0.963			
ML	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			

Table 23

Source: Author's table of results obtained with SPSS software.

¹⁴ For the researched period and the researched economies, it was impossible to find a different variable to represent ULC that would come from one source as a requirement for unified methodology.

Model estimation

The model, as mentioned earlier, is built on a set for five countries for years from 1995 to 2012, i.e. 90 observations per variable for each of the six variables—one dependent and five independent, yielding a balanced dataset. Because the model is static rather than dynamic (i.e., it does not have a lagged dependent variable as one of its independent variables, which is dictated by the fact that the FDI stock is more static than FDI flows, as has been presented earlier), it can be estimated with the use of the Ordinary Least Squares method (Leitão, 2010) as it does not lead to the issues listed by Carstensen and Toubal (2003, pp. 7–12). Research (e.g., Woodridge, 2010) suggests using cross-section and time effects (random or fixed, used for example by Razin, Rubinstein and Sadka, 2004, p. 17) in order to correct for, i.e. capture, the data pertaining to a particular cross-section (in this case, a host country) and to a particular point in time (in this case, a particular year). Unfortunately, because of the use of a dummy variable that is time-dependent (EU membership), it is impossible to use time fixed/random effects as they create the problem of a near singular matrix; that is, they are perfectly correlated with the used dummy variable causing the problem of multicolinearity. In order to decide whether the used cross-section effects should be fixed or random, a model with fixed effects has been estimated and then the effects were tested with the Redundant Fixed Effects Test with a null hypothesis of the effects being redundant. As the results of the test show (Table 24), the null hypothesis can be rejected; therefore, statistically confirming the correctness of applied cross-section fixed effects. For the coefficient covariance method, the White cross-section method was applied in order to achieve estimators robust to cross-section correlation and heteroskadesticity.

Table 24 Redundant Fixed Effects Test

Effects Test	Statistic	d.f.	Prob.
Cross-section F	11.412	(4,80)	0.000
Cross-section Chi-square	40.632	4	0.000

Source: Author's own table based on results obtained with EViews software.

The presented procedure was carried out on the following structural equation (Equation 2):

Equation 2

Structural equation of the model to be estimated

$$IFDIS_{i,t} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 PKB_{i,t} + \beta_2 [(\frac{X+M}{PKB}) * 100]_{i,t} + \beta_3 ULC_{i,t} + \beta_4 UE_{i,t} + \beta_5 M2_{i,t} + \delta_i + \varepsilon_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t} + \delta_1 VLC_{i,t} + \delta_1 VLC_{i,t}$$

Where:

IFDISi,t – Stock of inward foreign direct investment in the host economy *i* in year *t*, i.e., the dependent variable β_0 – Constant term β_a – Coefficient of the ath dependent variable, a = 1, 2,..., 5GDP_{*i*,*t*} – Gross domestic product in the host economy *i* in year *t* [[(X+M)/GDP]*100]_{*i*,*t*} – Openness to trade of the host economy *i* in year *t* ULC_{*i*,*t*} – Unit labor cost in the host economy *i* in year *t* EU_{*i*,*t*} – Dummy variable for host i's membership in the European Union in year *t* δ_t – Cross section fixed effect $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ – Error term Source: Author's own equation.

After estimating the model within the EViews software package, the results presented in Table 25 were obtained.

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.
С	-87886.8	13471.98	-6.524	0.000
GDP	7.31E-07	2.04E-07	3.593	0.001
[(X+M)/GDP]*100	562.816	99.0416	5.683	0.000
ULC	-679.746	171.1046	-3.973	0.000
EU	9985.738	3650.444	2.735	0.008
M2	5.12E-07	2.33E-07	2.199	0.031
R-squared	0.965537	F-statistic	249.0351	
Adjusted R-squared	0.96166	Prob(F-statistic)	0.000	

Table 25Model's estimation results

Source: Author's own table based on results obtained with EViews software.

Starting with the model statistics, based on the Prob.(F-statistic) being equal to 0.000, it can be said that the model as a whole is statistically valid and it is a better explanation of the changes in the dependent variable than using mean values. As for the extent of variation in the dependent variable that is explained by the model (R-squared = 0.965), 96.55% of the variation in inward foreign direct investment

into the group of host economies is explained by the applied model. Therefore it is possible to say that the model is a good fit to the data. The Jarque-Bera test was used to establish that the residuals have a normal distribution, i.e. the null hypothesis of normal distribution could not have been rejected with the probability associated with the Jarque-Bera statistic being equal to 0.11. The validity of the model is also aided by the fact that the fitted data points are very close—at times spot-on—to the actual data (Figure 7).

Figure 7



Actual and fitted data (left-hand side axis), and residuals (right-hand side axis)

Source: Author's own graph based on results obtained with EViews software.

All the coefficients of the used explanatory variables were found to have the hypothesized signs and to be statistically significant on the very restrictive 1% level of significance (admittedly, the coefficient for M2 was found to be statistically significant at 5% with *p*-value = 0.0308). The values of the coefficients can be interpreted, *ceteris paribus*, as follows:

- An increase in the hosts' gross domestic product by \$1 in constant 2005 dollars resulted in an increase in inward foreign direct investment by a mere \$0.73.
- An increase in hosts' openness to trade, as expressed by the sum of exports and imports as a percentage of hosts' gross domestic product by one unit, resulted in an increase in inward foreign direct investment by \$562.82 million,
- An increase in the unit labor cost index in the host country by one unit resulted in a decrease in inward foreign direct investment by \$679.746 million,
- A change from the host country not being a member (EU = 0) to being a member (EU = 1) resulted in an increase in inward foreign direct investment by \$9,985.738 million,

• An increase in the hosts' M2 by \$1 million constant 2005 dollars resulted in an increase in inward foreign direct investment by a mere \$0.51.

The above analysis suggests the following conclusions that can be useful for economic policies dealing with increasing the attractiveness of an economy for foreign investors. First, the host's openness to trade is a positive factor in attracting FDI, at least up to the point when FDI and foreign trade become substitutes for each other. Second, hosts cannot permit an increase in their labor costs without shifting their economic structure toward the production of more technology-intensive goods. The obvious goal is to increase the host's GDP, which directly and indirectly impacts inward FDI.

Summary and conclusions

Analyzing the trends in foreign direct investment from the long- and short-term perspectives (i.e., FDI stock and FDI flows), it is apparent that the attractiveness of the European Union to foreign investors increased in the 2000–2012 period, but not as fast as that of Central European countries, whose investment appeal grew more in line with global trends. Countries from this region are not only becoming recipients of more foreign direct investment. They are also becoming foreign investors themselves, with the same three economies leading the charge.

In terms of the impact EU membership has had on foreign direct investment in Central Europe, it can be observed that a) inward investments increased upon the host's EU entry or just prior to it, while b) the outward activity has been found to take place after accession.

A static econometric model constructed on the basis of panel data with the Ordinary Least Squares as the parameter estimation method was used to show that becoming a member of the European Union (introduced into the model as a dummy variable) had a positive impact on inward foreign direct investments in the researched countries.

The data analyzed in this study have shown that, in reference to attractiveness to foreign investors, the positive impact on a new member is twofold:

- Pre-accession: the potential member is seen as reaching a specific level not only in terms of economic development, but also—which is probably more important—in terms of economic, legislative and political stability,
- After accession: the new member is able to consume and build on the benefits of its membership (e.g., low-cost access to other members' markets).

Therefore, it is possible to say that the hypothesis that the EU membership of selected Central European countries has had a positive and statistically significant impact on inward foreign direct investment into those host economies, has been confirmed. Furthermore, based on data analysis, this hypothesis can be extended to include the period just prior to the CECs' accession to the European Union.

Lastly, it is noteworthy that the significance of Poland as an investor and as a recipient of FDI in the CEC group is further highlighted by the fact that all the observations for the aggregate are generally in line with what can be observed for the series in Poland. This means that Poland's membership in the European Union has had a positive impact on the country's attractiveness to foreign investors.

The results of this analysis for the researched economies from 1995 to 2012 should be interpreted with caution. One limitation is that there was no single source of data for all of the economies in all of the analyzed years, creating a need to estimate the missing data. Also, as in other studies on this topic, the choice of explanatory variables was a subjective decision of the researcher. These limitations may have an impact on the results, which should be taken into consideration when they are interpreted.

References

Banerjee, A., Carrion-i-Silvestre, J.L., (2006), Cointegration in Panel Data with Breaks and Cross-section Dependence, European Central Bank Working Paper Series No. 591, February.

Bevan, A.A., Estrin, S., (2000), The Determinants of Foreign Direct Investment in Transition Economies, William Davidson Institute Working Paper 342.

Blonigen, B.A., Piger, J., (2011), Determinants of Foreign Direct Investment, NBER Working Paper 16704.

Buch, C.M., Kokta, R.M., Piazolo, D., (2001), Does the East Get What Would Otherwise Flows to the South? FDI Diversion in Europe, Kiel Institute of World Economics, Kiel Working Paper 1061.

Buch, C.M., Kleinert, J., Toubal, F., (2003), Where Enterprises Lead, People Follow? Links between Migration and German FDI, Kiel Institute for World Economics, Kiel Working paper 1190.

Carstensen, K., Toubal, F., (2003), Foreign Direct Investment in Central and Eastern European Countries: A Dynamic Panel Analysis, Kiel Institute for World Economics, Kiel Working Paper 1143.

Kerr, I.A., Peter, V.M., (2001), *The Determinants of Foreign Direct Investment in China*, Paper prepared for presentation at the 30th Annual Conference of Economics, University of Western Australia, Perth 23rd-26th September.

Leitão, N.C., (2010), Foreign Direct Investment: The Canadian Experience, "International Journal of Economics and Finance", Vol. 2, No. 4.

Misala, J., (2011), Międzynarodowa konkurencyjność gospodarki narodowej, (ed.) A. Werner, PWE, Warsaw.

NBP, (2014), Zagraniczne inwestycje bezpośrednie w Polsce w 2012 roku, http://www.nbp.pl/publikacje/zib/ zib_2012_n.pdf, accessed April, 30, 2014.

Pedroni, P., (1999), Critical Values for Cointegration Tests in Heterogeneous Panels with Multiple Regressors, "Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics", Special Issue (1999) 0305–9049.

Razin, A., Rubinstein, Y., Sadka, E., (2004), Fixed Costs and FDI: The Conflicting Effects of Productivity Shocks, NBER Working Paper 10864.

UNCTAD, (2012), World Investment Report 2012, Switzerland.

UNCTAD, (2013), World Investment Report 2013, Switzerland.

Walsh, J.P., Yu, J., (2010), Determinants of Foreign Direct Investment: A Sectoral and Institutional Approach, IMF Working Paper WP/10/187.

Wooldridge, J.M., (2010), Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data, MIT Press, London.

Xun, L., Awokuse, T.O., (2005), *The Determinants of US Outgoing FDI in the Food-Processing Sector*, Paper prepared for presentation at the American Agricultural Economics Association Annual Meeting, Providence, Rhode Island, July 24–17, 2005.

2.3. Balance of Payments, Official Reserve Assets and External Debt: State of Play and Changes since Poland's EU Entry in 2004

Bogdan Radomski

In international competitiveness studies, foreign trade and the openness of an economy are treated as important determinants of a country's status in terms of its ability to compete. In the case of Poland, exports and foreign direct investment are factors strengthening the international competitive position of the Polish economy, although they do not play a key role in the country's competitiveness ratings.

The Swiss-based International Institute for Management Development (IMD) ranked Poland 26th in terms of the role of foreign trade in the country's international competitiveness and 56th in terms of foreign investment (IMD, 2013, p. 228).

A country's economic transactions with the rest of the world are recorded in a periodically drawn-up balance of payments. The balance of payments shows the results of this turnover in the form of the current account and the capital account. This offers an insight into how the country's current-account deficit is financed or how a potential current-account surplus is redistributed. The influence of the current-account surplus or deficit on a country's international competitive position is not clearly defined. The IMD's multiple-factor international competitiveness league table gives high scores to countries with current-account deficits as well as those with surpluses. Poland has steadily improved its position in the IMD standings¹⁵ over the past several years (Table 26).

Table 26

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Current account	-10,736	-5,856	-10,425,	-19,245	-23,799	-12,152	-18,129,	-18,519	-14,191	-4,984
Balance on goods	-4,826	-2,508	-5,829	-13,827	-20,928	-5,427	-8,893	-10,059	-5,175	2,309
Balance on services	28	585	582	3,441	3,475	3,427	2,334	4,048	4,642	5,249
Balance on income	-6,775	-5,490	-7,728	-11,928	-8,685	-11,828	-,14,415	-16,869	-17,662	-16,377
Balance on current transfers	837	1,557	2,550	3,069	2,339	1,676	2,845	4,361	4,004,	3,835

Poland's balance of payments in 2004-2013-the current account, in millions of euros

Source: National Bank of Poland - www.nbp.pl, Bilans Platniczy Polski.

¹⁵ For example, Poland was ranked 44th in 2009, followed by 32nd place in 2010, 2011 and 2012.

After the fall of communism and the start of Poland's transition to a market economy in the early 1990s, its current account showed a surplus only until 1995, but from 1996 onward, these surpluses were insufficient and the current account showed a deficit.

Poland's imports used to be higher than exports, but this trend changed in 2013. The country's outgoing payments—including transfers of profits and transfers of financial liabilities—are greater than incoming payments from similar sources. Service exports and private transfers from abroad outweigh outgoing payments from these sources.

The prices of imported goods are shaped by several factors including the exchange rate (Table 27). A strong national currency promotes imports while discouraging exports. With low inflation at home, consumers and producers may be less eager to buy domestically produced goods.

Year	Euro	U.S. dollar
2005	4.02	3.23
2008	3.51	2.41
2009	4.32	3.11
2011	4.11	2.96
2012	4.18	3.25
2013	4.19	3.16

Table 27NBP exchange rates in zlotys

Source: GUS, (2013), p. 43.

Table 28

The terms-of-trade index in Poland's foreign trade, 2005–2013

Year	Terms of trade
2005	100.1
2008	97.9
2009	104.4
2011	98.8
2012	97.8
2013	102.7

Source: GUS, 2013, p. 41.

If we take the level of export and import prices in 2005 as 100, the terms-of-trade index in 2005–2013 stood at 1.10.¹⁶ the index fluctuated in 2005–2013 (Table 27).

The relatively stable exchange rate is due to a constant surplus in the supply of capital from abroad and EU funds. This surplus supply of foreign currency strengthens the domestic currency because the Polish financial market is credible and the public finance deficit is moderate. This guarantees stable rates of return on invested capital, which strengthens the supply and stabilizes the exchange rate. This in a sense means coming full circle because the same factors create this credibility and strengthen it at the same time.

A key macroeconomic cause of the deficit is a shortage of domestic savings and the necessity of financing the gap from external sources (Orłowski, 1999, pp. 19–34). Foreign funds can come from a variety of sources: foreign direct investment, portfolio investment, grants, and subsidies. Funds from foreign investment and grants and subsidies are the least risky form of raising funds abroad. In both of these cases, they pose a minimal threat to the financial stability of the country. On the other hand, portfolio investment, which means investment in domestic securities and futures transactions, involves high risk.

The portion of the capital market formed by foreign portfolio investors is particularly vulnerable to speculative attacks and a "domino effect," both of which pose a risk to the country's financial system. Although the country's floating exchange rate system and quite substantial foreign exchange reserves are a protective shield for the Polish economy, the best guarantee for stabilization would be entering the eurozone.

The financial account of Poland's balance of payments (Table 29) confirms that the current-account deficit has been financed from external funds. This is explained in greater detail by an analysis of Poland's international investment position from 2004 to 2013 (Table 30).

The international investment position of a country, in this case Poland, is determined by the foreign assets and liabilities of domestic entities at the end of each year. The difference between the assets and liabilities determines the country's net international investment position. A positive difference (assets minus liabilities) means that the country is a net creditor, while a negative difference means that the country is a net debtor to the rest of the world. Since the beginning of its transition to a market economy, Poland has been a net debtor (Table 31). In 2011, its net international investment position was negative and accounted for –59.2% of the GDP; in 2010 the indicator was –66%. Other Central European countries had similar indicators of net international investment position relative to GDP in 2011. For example, in the Czech Republic the indicator was –0.7%, and Romania reported –60.5%.

¹⁶ Own calculations based on GUS data for IMD competitiveness reports, 2005–2013.

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
1.Capital account – balance	954	786	1,666	3,418	4,068	5080	6,453	7,254	8,550	9,011
2. Financial account – balance	6,629	12,151	10,586	27,621	25,924	24,597	30,936	23,091	17,549	2,182
3.Balancing transactions	3,838	-627	204	-2,414	-8,621	-7,111	-7,767	-7,132	-3,171	-5,452
4. Current account minus financial account	685	6,454	2,031	9,380	2,428	10,414	11,493	4,694	8,737	757
5. Official reserve assets	-685	-6,454	-2,031	-9,380	-2,428	-10,414	-11,493	-4,694	-8,737	-757

Table 29 Poland's balance of payments in 2004–2013—the financial and capital accounts, in millions of euros

Source: National Bank of Poland data - www.nbp.pl, Bilans Platniczy Polski.

Table 30

Poland's balance of payments in 2004–2013—the country's international investment position, in millions of euros

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
TOTAL ASSETS	58,475	77,842	89,610	106,642	97,159	108,349	139,628	153,232	166,687	158,725
1. Polish direct investment abroad	2,457	5,330	10,933	14,492	17,104	20,334	33,264	40,890	43,495	39,926
2. Polish portfolio investment abroad	4,920	7,420	10,515	14,943	7,516	9,764	11,085	8,280	10,031	11,712
3. Other investment	23,910	28,700	30,910	31,643	26,721	22,349	22,130	23,860	25,942	25,861
4. Financial derivatives	222	421	419	872	1,679	681	3,158	4,880	4,642	4,082
5. Official reserve assets	26,966	35,971	36,833	44,692	44,139	55,221	69,991	75,722	82,577	77,144
TOTAL LIABILITIES	152,768	185,926	215,990	270,699	269,397	300,884	373,657	374,804	426,482	429,229
1. Foreign direct investment in Poland	63,601	76,785	95,554	121,280	116,634	128,494	161,396	157,153	178,258	183,048
2. Foreign portfolio investment in Poland	41,517	60,313	64,411	71,287	55,249	70,839	95,732	97,435	128,848	126,072
3. Other foreign investment	47,345	48,386	55,555	77,051	94,334	100,591	111,756	114,662	114,023	115,691
4. Financial derivatives	305	442	470	1,081	3,180	960	4,773	5,554	5,353	4,418
Net international investment position	-94,293	-108,084	-126,380	-164,057	-172,238	-192,535	-234,029	-221,572	-259,795	-270,504

Source: National Bank of Poland data – www.nbp.pl, Międzynarodowa pozycja inwestycyjna Polski w 2013.

As shown by the data in Table 30, starting from 2004 Poland's liabilities increased significantly in foreign portfolio investment and other foreign investment. Foreign portfolio investment increased due to a strong rise in the sales of government debt securities, and "other foreign investment" increased due to government loans incurred. In other words, the government sector and non-banking institutions have become major debtors in Poland in recent years. This debt is subject to the heavy influence of various types of turbulence generated by financial markets, which poses a risk to the country's competitive position.

Table 31

			-							
	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Total debt of which:	95,264	112,267	128,968	158,624	173,736	194,396	237,359	250,138	277,300	278,888
non-government and non-banking sector	41,981	48,233	58,694	73,352	81,872	87,508	98,407	105,292	110,293	110,455
Long-term debt	77,055	89,404	102,713	117,246	126,943	145,821	179,545	194,534	223,877	218,901

41,378

The breakdown of Poland's foreign debt in 2004–2013 in millions of euros

Source: National Bank of Poland data - www.nbp.pl, Bilans Platniczy Polski.

26,255

22,863

Poland's foreign debt is long-term in nature and rising. The short-term debt has remained practically the same for three years (Table 31). The data also show that the government sector and non-banking sector strongly contribute to the growth of Poland's foreign debt.

46,793

48,575

57,814

55,604

53,423

59,987

Table 32

Short-term debt

18,209

Poland's foreign exchange reserves in 2009-2013-as of December, in millions of euros

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Total reserves of which:	26,966	35,971	36,833	44,692	44,139	55,221	69,991	75,722	82,577	77,144
– currency reserve	25,339	34,218	35,034	42,644	42,840	50,929	64,612	69,403	76,067	72,153
– monetary gold	1,062	1,434	1,598	1,881	2,032	2,534	3,493	4,031	4,174	2,887
 IMF reserve 	514	253	133	99	190	299	375	898	1,023	916
– SDR	51	66	68	68	77	1,459	1,511	1,390	1,313	1,188

Source: National Bank of Poland data - www.nbp.pl, Bilans platniczy Polski.

Poland's foreign exchange reserves are steadily increasing. A pronounced increase was noted in currency reserve assets. In 2013, according to data from December of that

year, the overall reserves totaled €77.144 billion. This amount consisted of €72.153 billion in foreign currency, €2.887 billion worth of monetary gold, €1.188 billion worth of Special Drawing Rights (SDR), and a €916 million IMF reserve. Overall, Poland's foreign exchange reserves were 6.6% lower in 2013 than in 2012. Monetary gold reserves fell dramatically: they were 31% lower than in 2012. Currency reserves decreased by 5.2%, SDRs dropped by 9.6%, and the IMF reserve shrank by 10.5% (Table 32).

In conclusion, Poland's balance of payments shows a chronic current-account deficit accompanied by a constant capital-account surplus. The current-account deficit is due to a shortage of domestic savings for investment needs, combined with the supply of foreign capital, which has a strengthening effect on the Polish currency. This produces impulses for monetary policy, in particular for setting interest rates and foreign exchange sterilization operations. The state of foreign exchange reserves does not raise concern, because it is chiefly the government sector—and not the banking sector—that is becoming indebted and the debt is being incurred for long-term periods on the debt securities market rather than on the direct investment market. As the history of financial turbulence shows, the direct investment market is the most unstable. A guarantee of security is the country's continued economic growth, so the risk is manageable for now.

References

GUS, (2014), Biuletyn Statystyczny, No. 12 (662), Central Statistical Office, Warsaw.

IMD, (2013), World Competitiveness Report 2013, Institute for Management Development, Lausanne, Switzerland.

Orłowski, W.M., (1999), Makroekonomiczne przyczyny deficytu, in: U. Płowiec, W.M. Orłowski (eds.), Bilans płatniczy Polski. Wyzwania i zagrożenia, PTE and Dom Wydawniczy Bellona. www.nbp.pl.

PART II

DETERMINANTS OF POLAND'S COMPETITIVENESS
Chapter 3 Assets and Their Productivity

This chapter provides an analysis of tangible factors shaping the competitiveness of the Polish economy, such as human resources and physical capital (including infrastructure). We also look at technological factors reflected in the functioning of the national innovation system. Next, we examine changes in total factor productivity. This analysis shows to what extent economic growth and the related shifts in Poland's competitive position result from changes in tangible factor inputs (capital and labor) and to what extent they stem from changes in the level of technology.

3.1. Changes in Human Resources 2004–2013: Poland and the EU

Mateusz Mokrogulski

This subchapter seeks to evaluate trends in the development of human resources in Poland as one of the factors behind economic competitiveness during the first 10 years of Poland's membership in the European Union—from 2004 to 2013. The analysis covers the main factors determining the state of human resources in the economy, including demographic trends, changes in employment and unemployment, wages, and changes in labor productivity. Particular emphasis has been placed on demographic issues, especially in terms of low fertility rates and family policy tools.

Demography

In terms of population, Poland is the sixth-largest economy in the European Union. In 2004, just after joining the bloc, Poland's population accounted for 8.3% of the EU25 population, while the total population of all the new member countries

accounted for 16.1% of the EU25 population. This means that Poland accounted for more than half of the population growth related to the accession of the 10 new member states. Currently, the Polish population represents 7.6% of the EU28 total (the percentage reduction results mainly from the subsequent two rounds of EU enlargement, including Romania and Bulgaria in 2007 and Croatia in mid-2013). Despite Poland's significant demographic potential, demographic processes in the country have been largely negative since the beginning of its EU membership, and the observed temporary improvements were short-lived.

Poland still has one of the lowest fertility rates in the EU. In 2012, Poland's fertility rate was 1.30, roughly the same as in 2011. Other EU countries with low fertility rates include Portugal (1.28), Spain (1.32), and Greece, Hungary, and Slovakia (each with 1.34). In Poland, the fertility rate reached its highest value of 1.40 in 2009 and has declined ever since. Given that a simple replacement of generations takes place with a fertility rate of 2.1, the results are alarming and pose the risk of a continual decline in Poland's population in the coming years. Demographic problems are now affecting countries throughout the European Union, with the average fertility rate in the bloc at 1.58. France and Ireland are the only two EU countries with a rate above 2 (both with 2.1 in 2012).

Another demographic problem is a large number of Poles living outside the country. Poland's EU entry created opportunities for citizens to work in other member states, but this process was gradual. Britain, Ireland, and Sweden were the first EU countries to open their labor markets to Poles in 2004, and Finland, Greece, Spain, and Portugal followed suit two years later. From the end of July 2006, Poles could take jobs in Italy, and from May 1, 2007 in the Netherlands. Luxembourg opened its labor markets in November 2007, France in July 2008, Belgium and Denmark in May 2009, and Austria and Germany in May 2011. From 2004 to 2012, the number of Poles residing temporarily abroad more than doubled, from 1 million to 2.13 million. Significant changes came especially during the first three years after accession. Poles began to seek employment primarily in the UK, where there were about 637,000 Polish residents at the end of 2012. Many Poles are also living in Germany (500,000) and Ireland (118,000).

The question is why the fertility rate in Poland was so low. It turns out that Poles living abroad have far more children on average than their compatriots back home, according to data from the UK Office for National Statistics. Polish women living in the UK have a fertility rate of 2.13 and account for 3% of all newborn babies in the UK. The significant difference between the patterns of fertility displayed by Polish women living in Poland and the UK is frequently attributed to the lack of an adequate family policy in Poland. But is this claim justified? Until 2005 family policy tools were applied on a small scale in Poland. One of these was tax allowances for single parents. Owing to this solution taxpayers could deduct an additional tax credit for the child and, if they had sufficiently high income, they could reduce their taxable income. Critics argued this approach discriminated against married people, who, in order to reduce the tax burden, could get a fictional divorce. In fact, this policy was widely viewed as an anti-family policy. In 2006, a one-off child birth allowance

of ZL1,000 was introduced. As of 2007 taxpayers raising children, regardless of their marital status, could deduct an additional credit equal to twice the general tax credit (in 2007 it was 2 × ZL572.54 a year for each child). Now the rules for child allowances have been tightened. In 2013, single parents raising one child were entitled to a tax deduction of ZL1,112.04 (i.e. 2 × ZL556.02), but only if their annual income did not exceed ZL56,000. In the case of spouses filing jointly, the maximum amount of income entitling them to the tax relief is twice as high and stands at ZL112,000. For those bringing up two children, the rules of using the allowance did not change. But for people bringing up three children, the allowance for the third child was increased by 50%, and for those bringing up four children and more, the relief for the fourth and each subsequent child was increased by 100%. Recent changes in tax breaks for children do not change the fact that there is a family policy in place in Poland. However, demographic trends are still negative.

Figure 1

Natural increase, net migration (left axis) and total fertility rate (the number of newly born children to a woman—right axis) in Poland, 1990–2013





There are probably other factors behind the low fertility rate in Poland. One of them may be the financial situation of households in the broad sense. A closer look at family policy tools used in other European¹ countries (Table 1) makes it possible to assess the quality of those used in Poland.

¹ Due to the fact that information on family policy tools is collected by the OECD, Table 1 contains data for selected OECD countries. Among EU28 countries, only Bulgaria, Romania, Croatia, Cyprus,

Table 1	
Family policy tools in selected European countries in 2012	

Country	Family policy tools in 2012 (yearly scale)
Austria	Family allowance of €1,264.80 for 1st child, €1,418.40 for 2nd child, €1,684.80 for 3rd child, and €1,864.80 for 4th and each additional child. Certain additives are allowed along with the age of the child. The children's tax credit amounts to €700.80 for each child, plus a family allowance of €132 or €220 per child. Additional tax relief is granted to families in which only one of the spouses is employed.
Belgium	The following income is tax exempt: $(1,440 (1 \text{ child}), (3,720 (\text{total for 2 children}), (8,330 (\text{total for 3 children}), (13,480 (\text{total for 4 children}), and (5,150 for each additional child.) When income is lower than the amount of the relief, the family gets a refund. In addition, family allowances depend on the age of the child and range from (1,000 to (1,500 for the first child and from (3,000 to (3,700 for the third child.))$
Czech Republic	Payable tax credit of CZK 13,404 (€533) for each child. In addition, non-taxable family allowances are paid as follows: CZK 6,000 (€239) to CZK 8,400 (€334) per child (depending on the age of the child) for the poorest families.
Denmark	Transfers for each child ranging from DKK 10,632 (€1,428) to DKK 17,064 (€2,292) depending on the age of the child.
France	The family quotient (<i>quotient familial</i> in French) in which the income of family members is added up and then divided by the number of family "units;" the parents have a weight of 1, the first and second child has a weight of 0.5, and each additional child a weight of 1. The calculated tax is multiplied by the number of family members with weights. Income of up to $€5,963$ is exempt from tax. In addition, family allowances are also available.
Germany	Tax credit of $\notin 2,208$ for the 1st and 2nd child, $\notin 2,280$ for the 3rd child, and $\notin 2,580$ for each additional child.
Hungary	The family tax allowance is HUF 750,000 (€2,594) per child for families with one or two children or HUF 2,475 million (€8,560) per child for families with at least 3 children (available after the 91st day of pregnancy). In addition, there are transfers for dependent children ranging from HUF 146,400 (€506) to HUF 310,800 (€1,075) for each child.
Ireland	Tax credit of \notin 810 for families where one spouse works at home to look after children or incapacitated persons. Transfers for dependent children are \notin 1,680 for the 1st and 2nd child and \notin 1,776 for each additional child. There are also additional allowances for families with the lowest income.
Italy	Tax credit depends on the family income and the number of children. In addition, families with at least three children receive a tax credit of €200 per child.
Norway	Transfers for dependent children in the amount of NOK 11,640 (€1,557) per child.
Slovakia	Tax credit of \notin 249.24 per child allowed if the annual income is at least six times the average monthly salary. Otherwise the tax credit is equal to \notin 1,963.20. If the tax due is less than the amount of relief, the family gets a refund. Generous benefits granted to families with low income.
Spain	Income exempt of $\notin 1,836$ for the 1st child, $\notin 2,040$ for the 2nd child, $\notin 3,672$ for the 3rd child, and $\notin 4,182$ for the 4th child. An additional allowance of $\notin 2,244$ per child under three years of age.

Malta, Lithuania and Latvia are not OECD members. At the same time, the analysis of the tax wedge includes four European countries that are not EU28 members, namely Norway, Switzerland, Iceland and Turkey.

Country	Family policy tools in 2012 (yearly scale)							
Sweden	Transfers are tax exempt and independent of the parents' income. The transfers for each child are as follows: SEK 12,000 (€1,448) for the 1st child, SEK 14,400 (€1,654) for the 2nd child, SEK 18,048 (€2,073) for the 3rd child, SEK 24,720 (€2,840) for the 4th child, and SEK 27,600 (€3,171) for the 5th and each subsequent child.							
Switzerland	Tax deduction of CHF 6,500 (€5,393) for each child and a tax credit of CHF 251 (€208) for each child. In addition, employers pay a benefit of approximately CHF 3,000 (€2,489) for each child of the employee.							
UK	A child benefit of £1,058.50 (€1,305) per year for one child and £698.70 (€862) for the 2nd and each subsequent child. Additional relief granted to families with low income.							

Note: The conversion from national currencies to the euro is based on the average 2012 annual exchange rates published by the National Bank of Poland, taking into account cross rates for the Polish zloty.

Source: Own calculation based on Taxing Wages 2012, OECD.

The multitude of tools used in the member states (allowances, tax credits, tax relief) causes difficulties in comparative analysis. An additional problem arises from the difference in wages and prices between EU countries. Therefore, for the purpose of this study, we will use indicators that will measure the relative intensity of family policy tools. The analysis uses the notion of a "tax wedge," which represents the difference between gross earnings increased by contributions paid by the employer (total labor costs) and the net salary, i.e. the amount received by the employee. The value of the tax wedge is given in relative terms, i.e. in relation to the total labor cost incurred by the employer. Among the available statistics of the tax wedge in the OECD databases, the following groups were selected:

- a) a single person, no children, average earnings,
- b) a married couple with two children, one spouse with average earnings, the other not employed,
- c) a married couple with two children, one spouse with average earnings, the other spouse with two-thirds of average earnings.

The next step is to determine how the tax wedge is reduced when the taxpayer is bringing up children (an increase in net wages in relative terms is one of the effects of family policy tools). Therefore two indicators are calculated. The first one represents the difference between the tax wedge in case b) and a), and the second is the difference between the tax wedge in case c) and a). The higher the value of each indicator, the more significant the family policy tools used in the country. The values of both indicators are shown in Figure 2.





The intensity of family policy tools (in % of labor costs) in selected OECD countries for two selected types of families

☐ difference: marriage, 2 children avg - 0 ☐ difference: marriage 2 children avg - 2/3 avg Source: Own calculations based on OECD data.

The data in Figure 2 show that Poland is among countries with the least developed family policy tools. Therefore, despite the changes in this area in Poland since 2006, this policy is not carried out on a large scale. Although the policy entails specific costs for the government, in the long term it represents an investment in the new generation. The current demographic trends make it very desirable. The financial and economic crisis in Europe has not resulted in cuts in family allowances (except in Ireland). In the majority of the countries, a slight increase in spending on family policy was observed. Despite the debt crisis, European countries have been generous in offering incentives for citizens to have children.

The calculations presented here refer only to the income side of households. They do not include expenses incurred by parents in connection with bringing up children. Expenditures are strongly influenced by the VAT rate, which is at the standard level of 23% in Poland in the case of children's products. The latest tax increase took place in early 2012, when the preferential 8% rate tax on children's shoes and baby clothes was increased. Also, the analysis does not consider workers' rights related to parenthood, such as maternity leave. In Poland, the leave entitlement for mothers after childbirth has been extended to one year and covers all children born in 2013 or later. The annual leave is now 20 weeks of basic maternity leave, six weeks of additional

maternity leave and 26 weeks of parental leave. In the case of the annual leave, the allowance has been reduced to 80% of the salary (from the previous level of 100% for the basic maternity leave of 20 weeks).

Low fertility means a gradual loss of the population, which causes society to age with time. This increases the proportion of retirement age persons per working-age person which requires reform of the existing pension system in order to ensure its long-term sustainability. In 2004, people aged 60–65 and over accounted for 15.3% of the Polish population, and those aged 0–17 years accounted for 21.2%. This means that there were 575 non-working-age persons (334 pre-working age and 241 post-working age persons) for every 1,000 working-age persons (i.e. 18–59/64). Over the years, the structure has undergone a gradual deterioration and in 2013 people aged 60–65 and over accounted for 18.2% of the population, the same as in the case of those aged 0–17 years. For every 1,000 people of working age there where 572 non-working age individuals, nearly the same as at the time of Poland's accession to the European Union. However, this last group included 286 pre-working people and 286 retirement-age persons. The share of older people has therefore clearly increased at the expense of children. In the years ahead, the population aging process will continue, posing a problem for both Poland and many other economies.

Labor market

When Poland was entering the European Union, the situation on the Polish labor market was difficult, even dramatic. The unemployment rate hovered around 20%, and employment was steadily falling. This was primarily due to an economic slowdown in 2002 and 2003, as labor market trends are usually delayed by several months before showing fluctuations in the real product economy. Also of significance was the fact that the process of systemic transformation in Poland was still in progress, reflected in developments including an artificial increase in labor productivity caused by reduced employment among the least productive workers. In this way people who were previously "disguisedly unemployed" (that is, at least partly employed) officially joined the unemployed ranks.

The period after Poland's EU accession can be divided into three phases in terms of labor market trends: rising, declining and stagnant. Each of these periods was conditioned by trends in the global economy. The first phase resulted from the economic recovery and was characterized by a significant increase in employment, a marked decline in the unemployment rate, and a rise in both nominal and real salaries. Although the increase in wages was partly due to a shrinking supply of labor caused by emigration, an increase in demand for labor was also evident. In 2006–2008, real wages in the economy increased by 16.2%, which represented an average annual growth of 5.1%. The increase in the corporate sector was greater than in the public sector, at 18.1% (5.7% annually) vs. 15.4% (4.9% annually).

A further increase in net salaries was noted as a result of reductions in disability premiums paid by employees,² from 6.5% to 3.5% in July 2007, and subsequently from 3.5% to 1.5% in 2008. At the end of April 2004, just before Poland joined the EU, the unemployment rate stood at 19.9% but by the end of the year it had fallen to 19.0%. At the end of 2007, the rate reached 11.2% and in October 2008 it fell to a historical low of 8.8%. Employment in the enterprise sector increased by a record 4.6% in 2007 on average. This trend continued until the global financial and economic crisis began in the third quarter of 2008. The Polish economy improved significantly and was doing increasingly better than other EU economies. The Polish labor market expanded faster than its counterparts in other member states on average. On accession to the EU Poland had the highest unemployment rate among the new entrants, at 19.1% on average in 2004, according to Eurostat data. Slovakia was next, with 18.4%. Overall, unemployment in the new member states was significantly higher than in the EU15 countries (at the time, Spain, Greece, and Germany had unemployment rates exceeding 10%). Although Poland has never matched leading EU economies in terms of labor market trends, in 2008 the unemployment rate in Poland was exactly at the EU27 average of 7.1%. Afterwards the rate began to rise in the aftermath of the financial and economic crisis. However, in Poland the deterioration was less visible than in the EU as a whole.

Figure 3

Increase/decrease of real wages and employment in the enterprise sector (corresponding month of previous year = 100) and the registered unemployment rate in Poland



² Beginning in 2008 disability premiums paid by employers were reduced from 6.5% to 4.5%, only to return 6.5% at the beginning of February 2012. Although the value of premiums paid by employers does affect labor costs, it remains neutral for both gross and net wages.

The second phase was a period of a rapid decline in economic activity, accompanied by a drop in employment and an increase in unemployment, with slower wage growth than in the previous phase. However, wages continued to rise in real terms. Interestingly, as the Polish labor market relatively quickly reacted to the crisis, the negative trends spread much faster than the positive trends in the first phase. Poland's labor market rapidly deteriorated in the fourth quarter of 2008 in a trend that lasted until the first half of 2010. The registered unemployment rate increased from 9.5% at the end of 2008 to 12.1% at the end of 2009 and to 12.4% in 2010. Demand for labor across the economy was uneven. Real wage growth decelerated substantially, to 2.0% in 2009 and 1.4% in 2010. In addition, in 2009 employment in the enterprise sector fell by an average of 1.5%. Beginning in 2008, wages grew faster in the public sector than in the corporate sector. While in the initial phase of the crisis, higher wage growth in the public sector can contribute to the stabilization of consumer demand, a continuation of this trend may suggest the presence of rigidities in the labor market in Poland. These actually occurred in the next phase.

The third phase, which began in the first half of 2010, was a period of stability in employment and unemployment. These indicators were subject to relatively small fluctuations. At the end of 2013 the unemployment rate logged at 13.4%, equaling that at the end of 2012 and overshooting the 12.5% registered at the end of 2011. From the end of 2010 to the end of 2013, employment in the manufacturing sector increased by 2.1%, growing at an average annual rate of 0.7%. This phase saw relatively slow real wage growth in the national economy, at 1.4% in 2011, 0.1% in 2012 and 2.5% in 2013. In 2012, wages in the enterprise sector fell by 0.2% in real terms. The marked increase in real wage growth in 2013 was partly due to an unexpected drop in inflation, to which nominal wages had no time to adjust, due to their rigidity. During the third phase, the labor market also became less flexible, which was reflected in an increase in long-term unemployment as well as by the jobless rate among 15–24-year-olds. At the end of 2012, long-term unemployment stood at 4.1%, up from 3.0% at the end of 2010 and 2.4% in late 2008. The jobless rate among 15–24-year-olds increased to 27.3% at the end of 2013, from 23.6% at the end of 2010 and 17.1% at the end of 2008, highlighting a growing problem among first-time job seekers.

The increasing number of long-term unemployed may eventually lead to their social exclusion. In the fourth quarter of 2013, the average job search lasted longer than a year and was about two months longer than in 2010. The progressing rigidity of the labor market was one of the reasons for an increase in emigration after the first phase of the financial and economic crisis.

The overall employment rate (in the 15–64 age group) increased from 51.7% to 59.7% from 2004 to 2012. At the beginning of the analyzed period, Poland had the lowest rate among EU states. At the end of 2012, employment rates in nine countries were lower than in Poland, with the EU27 average at 64.2%. During this period there was a significant increase in the employment rate in the 55–64 age group, from 26.2% to 38.7%, which helped the Polish economy advance from last to sixth position from

the end in the EU27 ranks (with an average of 48.9%). Recent data go hand in hand with the rise in the average age of professional deactivation, which in the analyzed period increased from less than 58 years to nearly 62 years. The observed trends are the result of the following changes:

- part of the population was stripped of their right to state pensions (transition);
- lack of extended privileges in the form of early retirement for women born after 1953 and men born after 1948;
- activation of older people on the labor market by the 50+ program.³

In the coming years, there will be a further improvement in the activity of the people aged over 55, which will be induced artificially by raising the retirement age. Changes will be particularly evident in the employment rates for women.

Education, labor costs and labor productivity

Polish society is relatively well educated in comparison with other European countries in terms of the percentage of people with at least a secondary education among those aged 25–64. This ratio stood at 90.0% in 2013, compared with 83.6% in 2004 and 74.9% on average in member states. However, in the case of higher education, Poland is below the EU average (25.5%, compared with 28.3% in 2013). Yet this is still a noticeable increase compared with 2004, when the indicator logged at 15.6%. Similarly, a relatively small percentage of people in Poland participate in various courses and training programs; the indicator stands at 4.4% vs. 10.7% in the EU27 on average in 2013. The high level of education has a positive effect on wages, as confirmed by statistics. However, lifelong learning is as important as education. Focusing on self-development and raising professional qualifications helps avoid unemployment during an economic downturn and reduces the risk of unemployment among people approaching retirement age.

The relatively good education of Poles is accompanied by low nominal labor costs per hour of work. For Poland this ratio is comparable to those in Hungary, Slovakia and Estonia, higher than in Lithuania, Latvia, Romania, and Bulgaria, but still one-third the figure in the UK and one-fourth the labor costs in Germany. Therefore the cost advantage of Poland, along with the entire Central and Eastern Europe region, seems evident. The question is whether, in the longer term, this will be a sufficient incentive for foreign companies to create new jobs in Poland. In addition, it may turn out that the persistence of relatively low wages compared with the EU average will continue to encourage educated people to leave the country in search of employment. Incentives are needed for young people to remain in the country where their work will create significant value added. Financial stability is an important factor when making a decision to start a family and have children.

³ The full name of the program is "Solidarity across generations. Measures aiming at increasing the economic activity of people over 50."

Country	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Poland	5.2	5.7	6.4	7.6	6.6	7.2	7.3	7.4
Czech Republic	6.3	7.0	7.7	9.2	9.1	9.8	10.5	10.6
Slovakia	5.9	6.4	6.9	7.3	7.6	7.7	8.0	8.3
Hungary	6.3	6.4	7.3	7.8	7.1	7.0	7.3	7.5
Lithuania	3.5	4.1	5.0	5.9	5.6	5.4	5.5	5.8
Latvia	3.0	3.7	4.8	5.9	5.8	5.5	5.7	6.0
Estonia	4.9	5.7	6.8	7.8	7.7	7.6	7.9	8.4
Slovenia	11.7	12.2	12.8	13.9	14.4	14.6	14.9	14.9
Germany	26.8	27.1	27.3	27.9	28.6	28.8	29.6	30.5
France	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	31.2	31.6	32.5	33.6	34.2
Ireland	25.2	26.4	27.6	28.9	29.3	28.9	28.7	29.1
UK	21.3	22.4	23.3	20.9	18.8	20.0	20.1	21.6
Luxembourg	28.3	29.2	30.0	31.0	32.2	32.9	33.9	34.6
Romania	2.4	3.0	3.8	4.2	4.0	4.1	4.2	4.4
Bulgaria	1.6	1.7	2.0	2.6	2.9	3.1	3.3	3.6

Table 2Nominal labor costs in euro per hour in selected European Union countries

Source: Eurostat.

When entering the European Union, Poland had one of the lowest labor productivity rates (expressed as GDP per person employed, in PPS); only the Baltic states⁴ were lower. Labor productivity in Poland⁵ began to increase slowly but steadily beginning in 2007 and the country's position has improved in comparison with the EU27 average. However, this does not change the fact that Poland is still among countries where labor productivity is low. In 2012, only Latvia, Estonia, Bulgaria, Romania, and Hungary had lower labor productivity rates (Table 3). Now that the Polish economy is recovering noticeably, a slow increase in labor productivity in Poland can be expected, along with a continuing process of catching up with Western Europe. It is also important that the potential inflationary pressures will not lead into an excessive increase in real wages, which can happen as a result of strongly adaptive inflation expectations. Such a scenario would result in employers focusing on reducing labor costs rather than creating new jobs.

⁴ As well as Bulgaria and Romania, which became EU members in 2007.

⁵ Data on labor productivity in 2013 were not yet available at this writing.

Country	2003	2004	2005ª	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Poland	60.3	61.8	61.7	61.1	62.2	62.3	65.4	70.1	72.1	73.5
Czech Republic	71.1	72.9	73.0	73.9	76.2	74.0	75.8	74.4	74.7	73.8
Slovakia	63.6	65.7	68.7	71.6	76.3	79.7	79.9	82.5	81.7	81.9
Hungary	65.9	67.0	67.6	67.7	66.5	70.6	72.3	71.8	72.7	71.1
Lithuania	52.5	53.8	54.9	56.7	59.5	61.9	57.9	68.3	72.4	73.9
Latvia	44.1	45.8	47.8	48.8	53.9	55.1	57.2	60.8	63.9	66.1
Estonia	54.9	57.7	60.7	62.3	66.6	65.6	66.0	69.0	69.8	69.9
Slovenia	78.8	81.5	83.1	83.2	83.1	83.6	80.0	79.6	81.2	80.8
Germany	107.8	107.5	108.5	108.6	108.2	107.8	104.1	106.9	108.3	106.9
France	116.1	115.3	116.3	115.2	115.5	115.2	117.2	116.9	116.9	116.1
Ireland	137.4	136.6	135.4	135.4	136.3	126.9	132.8	138.0	141.3	141.6
UK	114.0	115.4	114.9	114.3	111.7	108.8	106.9	102.6	100.4	99.7
Luxembourg	167.9	170.4	170.0	179.2	179.7	168.2	159.3	164.4	165.6	162.4
Romania	31.3	34.6	36.1	39.7	43.3	49.1	49.4	49.8	50.5	51.0
Bulgaria	34.7	34.7	35.8	36.4	37.4	39.7	39.7	41.0	43.0	44.2
United States	147.2	148.6	149.8	145.4	144.2	142.2	144.7	146.6	n.a.	n.a.

Labor productivity expressed in GDP (in PPS) per person employed: Poland in comparison with selected EU countries (EU27 = 100 for each year)

Source: Eurostat.

Unit labor costs increased temporarily after Poland joined the European Union and have shown a slight downward trend since 2008. Unit labor costs are now about 6% lower than in 2002, the reference year for this analysis. On the other hand, a look at selected sectors of the economy reveals a number of divergent processes. Above all, there is a substantial surplus in unit labor costs in trade, a service sector that is insignificantly exposed to the international exchange of goods. Unit labor costs showed a clear upward trend from 2007 onward, achieving their maximum value in the fourth quarter of 2008, at 140% of the 2002 average. In 2009, there was a significant correction in the index, and from 2010 it was positioned at a relatively stable level equal to an average of 112% of the value from the reference period. In industry and the construction sector, unit labor costs remained significantly lower than in 2002 on average (81% and 79% of the reference value respectively). It is expected that the stagnation today on the labor market will continue to have a disinflationary effect. However, price developments in Poland are highly dependent on trends on global markets where uncertainty persists about commodity prices. In addition, the exchange rate of the Polish zloty against the base market currencies remains a risk, especially to the euro and the U.S. dollar. Nevertheless, the stabilization in overall unit labor costs is a positive signal for the Polish economy.

Table 3



Growth of seasonally adjusted unit labor costs in Poland (2002 = 100)

Source: Own calculations based on GUS data.

Conclusions

Figure 4

The first 10 years of Poland's membership in the European Union did not bring an improvement in demographic trends. Instead, the country's EU entry intensified labor force migration, with the opening of internal EU borders and the uncertain situation on the domestic labor market. At the same time, Poland began to use family policy tools on a small scale, but they have yet to produce a higher fertility rate. Despite an increase in real wages at a time of strong economic growth, Poland still has a noticeable competitive advantage over Western European countries in terms of labor costs. But a major challenge for economic policy is to create incentives for young and educated people to stay in the country and live their family and professional life here.

References

Ehrenberg, R.G., Smith, R.S., (2003), Modern Labor Economics. Theory and Public Policy, Pearson Education, Inc., 8th ed.

Eurostat, (2014), epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/eurostat/home/.gazetapraca.pl/gazetapraca/1,67527,9535543,Jak_sie_Europa_przed_Polakiem_otwierala.htm, accessed March 4, 2014.

GUS, www.stat.gov.pl.

GUS, (2013a), Informacja o rozmiarach i kierunkach emigracji z Polski w latach 2004–2012.

GUS, (2014a), Biuletyn Statystyczny, 1/2014 and previous months.

GUS, (2014b), Informacja o sytuacji społeczno-ekonomicznej kraju, 2013.

GUS, (2014c), Kwartalna informacja o rynku pracy, IVQ 2013.

Iglicka, K., (2010), Migracje długookresowe i osiedleńcze z Polski po 2004 roku – przykład Wielkiej Brytanii. Wyzwania dla statystyki i demografii państwa, Raporty i Analizy Centrum Stosunków Międzynarodowych. OECD, (2011), Taxing Wages 2011–2012.

UK National Statistics, www.statistics.gov.uk.

www.rp.pl/artykul/1084723.html, accessed Feb. 26, 2014.

3.2. Physical Capital and Infrastructure

Ireneusz Bil, Piotr Maszczyk

Investment and infrastructure are important determinants of the competitiveness of economies. In this subsection, their role in shaping the competitiveness of the Polish economy is analyzed, taking into account the changes that have occurred since Poland joined the European Union in 2004.

Investment

An in-depth look at investment outlays in Poland during its first 10 years of European Union membership, from 2004 to 2013, reveals two different periods in terms of the value and growth of this part of aggregate demand. From 2004 to 2008, the value of investment outlays grew consistently, with double-digit growth in 2006 and 2007. That made it possible to reach a level of investment equal to values from before the deep drop during the 2001–2003 period. This positive change in investment in Poland was definitely a result of Poland's EU accession and a general improvement in the Polish economy. In 2009 the value of investment outlays in the Polish economy began decreasing, except in 2011 when—together with GDP growth—investment increased by 8.4%. In the last five years the growth and value of investment outlays have shown negative trends due to the influence of adverse effects of the global economic crisis. Nevertheless, as in the case of GDP growth, the adverse influence on Poland was relatively moderate, at least compared with the rest of the EU. The value of investment outlays decreased no more than 1.7% in year-on-year terms, with a 17.6% increase in 2007.

Growing investment has increased the competitiveness of the Polish economy on the one hand. On the other, Polish enterprises performed better on the European market and increased their investment outlays and thus their capacity to meet growing demand. Because of a specific feedback mechanism described in the Keynesian model, investment outlays influence the economy far more dramatically than private consumption or government spending and are responsible for the part of aggregate demand most dependent on the business climate. So, investment has stimulated both the demand and supply sides of the Polish economy. Both 2004 and 2005 marked a significant improvement in the Polish economy (with cumulative growth at around 9%, compared with just 5.3% during the 2002–2003 period). This automatically changed previous, negative trends in the value of investment and economic growth in Poland. In 2006 and 2007 the country's GDP growth rate was higher than 6%, with doubledigit dynamics in investment. In 2008, the Polish economy expanded by 5.1% and the value of investment outlays grew by around 10%. The following year marked a negative change in both GDP growth (1.6%) and the value of investment (a decrease by 1%). In 2010, the Polish economy grew by 3.9%, not enough to increase the value of investment outlays, but the rate at which this part of aggregate demand decreased was lower than in the previous year (0.4%). In 2011, Poland's economic growth picked up again (to 4.5%) and investment increased by around 8% because of the feedback mechanism described above. The following year marked another deceleration in GDP growth (to 1.9%) and the value of investment outlays dropped by 1.7%, as expected.

The future path of investment growth in Poland is considered later in this chapter. Still, it is widely expected that the value of investment outlays will increase as a result of faster GDP growth (most probably 2.5%-3%). That could mean that the feedback mechanism observed in the 2008–2012 period would be at work again.



Figure 5

Source: Author's own calculations based on Central Statistical Office data.

Contrary to optimistic expectations voiced last year by the government and some independent economists, 2013 most likely did not mark a positive change in investment in Poland, albeit the rate at which the value of investment outlays decreased dropped significantly compared with the previous year. This change in the rate at which the value of investment outlays decreased should be treated as a positive trend, despite the fact

that 2013 was another consecutive year of negative dynamics in this part of aggregate demand and the total amount of investment outlays was substantially lower than during the 2007–2011 period. The 2013 investment ratio (relation of investment outlays to the GDP in current prices) was 18.4%, compared with 19.1% in 2012 and 20.3% in 2011.

The significant deceleration in investment outlays and gross fixed capital formation in the Polish economy in 2012 occurred despite slower GDP growth than in the previous year (1.6% in 2013, compared with 1.9% in 2012, according to preliminary data by the Central Statistical Office). This means that the link between this part of aggregate demand and the overall economic situation was not only different than in previous years, but also different than the relationship described by the Keynesian model. Yet, insofar as the data describing the Polish economy during the 2008–2012 period proved such a feedback mechanism, in 2013 the relationship between GDP growth and the value and growth of investment outlays was shaped in a totally different way.

The prime factor driving the decreasing negative growth of the investment pattern in 2013 was direct financing from the European Union budget combined with structural and cohesion funds, which fueled capital formation in both the public and private sectors. Data by the Ministry of Regional Development show that the total expenditure of businesses, institutions and individuals benefiting from EU funds in Poland in 2013 came to ZL255.2 billion and increased by ZL65.2 billion (in the part directly financed by the EU, the increase was ZL45.4 billion), compared with ZL68.6 billion in 2012 (ZL48.4 billion directly financed by the EU). In 2013, businesses, institutions and individuals benefiting from EU funds again spent more than 30% of all structural and cohesion funds allocated to Poland under the EU's 2007–2013 budget.

Another factor behind the deceleration in investment was the relatively moderate course of the financial crisis in Poland, at least compared with the rest of the EU. From 2008 to 2013 the Polish economy expanded by almost 20%, while the average cumulative growth in the EU as a whole was close to zero. However, the crisis led to a general decline in confidence among both households and enterprises, triggering a decreased propensity to consume and invest. The rate at which investment grew fell in 2008, followed by a significant drop in investment outlays in 2009 and 2010. In addition, in the first two years of the crisis, the availability of credit offered to both households and enterprises decreased significantly because of a new, restrictive policy introduced by commercial banks. However, as time passed, banks became accustomed to the poorer climate and started to lend money to enterprises planning investment projects, which led to a positive growth rate for investment in 2011. In 2012–2013, the value of investment outlays dropped again (by 2%). Notably, the non-financial sector recorded substantial financial results, which enabled it to finance investment projects with its own funds.

The key factor that led to continued negative trends in investment, alongside slower GDP growth, was a significant drop in the foreign direct investment (FDI). Preliminary data by the Polish central bank (NBP) show that FDI in Poland not only decreased but its value was negative (–\$2.9 billion) in 2013. The NBP said this was chiefly due to a single decision to close down a special-purpose entity established previously in

Poland. As a result of that decision, Poland lost almost \$3 billion in FDI. Such decisions made by foreign owners of such special-purpose entities have a major influence on Polish statistics, but regardless of that, last year marked a significant change in the FDI inflow to Poland. From 2004 to 2011 foreign direct investment in Poland reached \$10-24 billion annually. In 2012 it was only \$4.8 billion and this decrease was accompanied by an increased outflow of foreign capital, amounting to \$4 billion. In 2013, the FDI inflow was negative for the first time since the NBP began publishing its own statistics. The most important question is whether this change is only temporary or whether the negative trend will continue in the longer term. That could mean that Poland is losing its selling points. Admittedly, according to a ranking list of the best destinations for direct investment compiled by A.T. Kearney, Poland moved from 23rd to 19th place in 2013, but this did not lead to financial decisions. Besides, Poland had been ranked higher in previous years: fifth in 2005 and sixth in 2010.

A comparison of changes in investment outlays in Poland with those of the Czech Republic, Slovakia, and Hungary—Poland's main competitors in the region for foreign capital—shows that, although the level and growth of capital formation in all the Central and Eastern European countries that have joined the EU is mainly determined by external factors, there are significant differences between them (Figure 6).⁶ More precisely, the value and growth of investment outlays in the Czech Republic, Slovakia, and Hungary are changing in the same way, and this increasingly visible convergence trend is different than the pattern influencing investment in Poland.

Figure 6



A comparison of investment growth in Poland, the Czech Republic, Hungary, and Slovakia, 2008–2013

^a preliminary data

Source: Author's own calculations based on Eurostat data.

⁶ The data on investment outlays in the Czech Republic, Hungary, and Slovakia in 2008–2013 come from the Eurostat website: http://epp.eurostat.cec.eu.int.

In 2013, investment in the Czech Republic was projected to increase by around 0.8%, which—as in the case of all of the analyzed countries—marked a positive change following a prolonged negative trend. Nevertheless, the Czech economy has been unable to return to its 2008 investment level. After a nearly 24% drop in 2009 and another cumulative drop of 7.5% in 2011 and 2012, the Czech economy cannot reach a stable growth rate in this part of aggregate demand.

Until 2013 data on investment outlays and their growth showed that, in the analyzed group of countries, the Slovak pattern was been the closest to that of Poland, although the 4.4% growth in investment in Slovakia could mean a future change in this pattern. Alongside Poland, Slovakia managed to maintain positive investment growth in 2010 and 2011. Slovakia's 2011 growth rate was lower than Poland's, but in 2010 and 2013 the value of investment outlays in Slovakia increased, whereas investment in Poland declined. While the Slovak investment growth path was similar to that of Poland until 2009, 2010 marked a major change and the endogenous factors influencing the dynamics of investment outlays not only offset the negative influence of external problems, but resulted in higher investment outlays than in the previous year. The amplitude of variations in the value of investment in Slovakia is the highest in the group. Regardless of whether the rate rises or falls, in Slovakia the figure is always the highest.

Hungary, like the Czech Republic and Slovakia, also recorded a positive growth rate for investment in 2013 (1.9%). Thus Poland was the only country in the group that failed to change its unfavorable investment climate last year.

The future path of investment growth: tentative estimates

Considering the acceleration in GDP growth and in investment outlays in 2013, combined with some optimistic data published in February 2014, investment in Poland is likely to increase strongly in 2014, after a moderate decline in 2012 and 2013.

The trend on the supply side, in particular the productivity of capital since the mid-1990s, shows that the rapid growth of investment was correlated with rapid GDP growth. Ever since the growth of fixed capital investment in Poland started to decelerate at the end of 1997, GDP growth has slowed as well. When fixed capital outlays began to grow again at the end of 2003, the same trend was noted for GDP. A peculiar situation emerged during the 2009–2010 and 2012–2013 periods when, together with the decreased investment outlays and reduced employment, the GDP growth rate remained positive, chiefly due to total factor productivity (TFP). During this period, capital and labor were utilized so effectively that GDP continued to grow despite a decrease in these two factors of production. This indicates that the fast growth of fixed capital investment in the Polish economy leads to faster TFP growth in both the medium and long term. This correlation suggests a specific business cycle in which periods of very fast growth in investment outlays and stable or even decreasing TFP alternate with periods of negative growth in investment and labor outlays and

high TFP dynamics, which keeps the GDP growth rate above zero. In the case of the Polish economy, capital and labor create a substitutive relationship, while in Western European countries they are in a complementary relationship, as indicated by analyses of the impact of capital and labor on GDP growth.

Taking into account this mechanism, 2013 marked a substantial change from previous trends. Slower GDP growth was accompanied by a still negative but substantially slower rate at which the value of investment outlays changed. A turning point in this specific Polish business cycle was in the first quarter of 2013, when the GDP growth rate was 0.5%, mainly due to net exports. In subsequent quarters, positive trends on the demand side were increasingly visible. In the third and fourth quarters domestic demand positively influenced GDP growth, and the value of investment outlays increased 0.6% and 1.3% respectively. Data released by the Central Statistical Office in January this year showed a further acceleration in GDP growth. Considering positive forecasts, including a European Commission projection for 2.5% GDP growth in Poland in 2014, it is likely that investment in Poland will increase by around 5%. Of course, the higher the GDP growth rate (a March forecast by the NBP suggested the Polish economy would grow 3% in 2014), the higher investment outlays can be expected.

While analyzing the probability of the positive scenario, one more factor should be taken into consideration. In the absence of serious inflationary pressure, the central bank will probably keep interest rates at their previous low level until the end of the third quarter of 2014. This would help increase the amount of credit available to the corporate sector. A low cost of money, coupled with credit expansion, may lead to easier access to funds for enterprises. This should boost the overall level of investment in the country, especially in the second and third quarters of 2014.

With all these favorable data and forecasts for the Polish economy, it is highly unlikely that investment in Poland will decline further in 2014. The worst-case scenario is moderate growth of 2-3%, while the optimistic scenario is growth of around 7%.

In analyzing the probability of a negative scenario, three key factors should be considered. First, the negative scenario is more likely because the inflow of financial transfers from the EU budget began to decrease in the second half of 2013. Most of the growth in investment outlays over the past three years or so has been generated by the public sector, chiefly via EU funds. This positive climate will likely turn negative in 2014. Most of the funds allocated to the enterprise sector have already been spent and their beneficiaries have been reimbursed for their expenditures or are waiting for such reimbursement, so they will not continue with their investment projects. This means that prospective investment has already been made and it is very unlikely that investment projects in the coming 12–15 months will likely be financed by companies' own resources or bank credit, and the cost of money from this source is much more expensive than EU funds.

A medium-term strategy introduced by the Polish government for the public finance sector calls for lowering the deficit below 3% of the GDP and thus bringing down the public debt level. Consequently, local governments will no longer be able to freely incur debts to carry out projects co-financed by the European Union. This practice was particularly widespread in the case of projects financed under the Infrastructure and Environment Operational Programme. As a result, the high ratio of absorption in the public sector will decrease significantly together with the value of Polish investment.

Second, in the longer term, the structure of investment in Poland could limit GDP growth to 2%-3.5%, leaving Poland in the "middle income trap." Because of the specific feedback mechanism described above, investment is most dependent on the business climate, so with this moderate GDP growth, investment outlays would increase relatively slowly, which would have a negative influence on the economy. So far the Polish economy, with its emerging "model of capitalism" and institutions supporting the development of the market, has managed to grow without any significant investment in innovative projects. But over time, the efficiency of the predominant strategy whereby Polish enterprises (and the economy as a whole) import technology (mostly machinery) and know-how from more developed economies and countries—as a result of which the Polish economy is growing faster than more developed countries—is quickly declining. In such a case, this specific business cycle in which periods of fast growth in investment outlays and employment (and consequently rapid GDP growth) alternate with periods of moderate growth (during which TFP is the only factor of GDP growth) could end soon. Moreover, the "model of capitalism" based on imitation (instead innovation) and low costs, which has functioned relatively well in Poland so far, could end quickly with production reallocated to countries with cheaper labor. What the Polish economy really needs is a strategy in which the enterprise sector will manage to transform imported technology in an original and productive way in order to be able to create innovative goods and services. And such a process would be impossible without new (or at least reformed) institutions that will ensure an appropriate level of factors of production, and thus enable sufficient investment in innovation. These institutions (such as universities, investment funds, venture capital, business angels) have to be financed—at least in part and in the first few years—from public sources, including EU funds.

Third, the negative scenario is more likely because of the sharp decrease in the value of FDI in Poland in 2012 and 2013. The long-term evaluation of Poland as a destination for foreign direct investment is generally moderate. The positive appraisement of Poland's investment appeal offered in the previous edition of the report—in terms of the possibility of maintaining the positive trend in FDI—proved to be too optimistic. This was due to sagging GDP growth, combined with the continued existence of administrative barriers, underdeveloped transport infrastructure, and an incomprehensible system of public financial support for direct investment as well as an increasingly outdated model of the Polish economy. That model relied on cheap labor as the main

factor designed to draw investors, which negatively influenced the attractiveness of the Polish economy as a potential investment destination, not only compared with Asian countries but also other Central and Eastern European countries. Nevertheless, in the short and medium term, the Polish economy will stay relatively competitive for foreign direct investment, due to lower labor costs in both euro and dollar terms, even taking into account the moderate increase in labor costs due to higher average taxation. Poland should be an especially interesting destination for an additional transfer of capital in the next three to five years, especially for those international companies that have already invested in this country and could transfer a part or all of their production processes from Western Europe. But this strategy could be stopped in its tracks by growing unit labor costs. In such a case, many multinational companies could be tempted to move their production processes to countries with cheaper labor (such as Turkey and Central and Southeast Asian nations).

As in the previous edition of the report, all these estimates have been made with the assumption that Poland's economic and political environment will develop according to a baseline scenario in which no unexpected positive or negative trends will emerge either in Europe or worldwide during 2014. Poland's central bank will be able to pursue an expansionary monetary policy—one encouraging a moderate increase in credit offered by commercial banks to the corporate sector—only if inflation in Poland falls. But this could be prevented by a further increase in commodity prices stimulated by continued tension in political relations between the EU and the United States, on the one hand, and Russia, on the other, in the wake of the Ukrainian crisis. The same would happen if the negative consequences of the financial crisis in Greece, Portugal and Spain spilled over the rest of the eurozone, lowering the GDP growth rate in this group. The deteriorating political situation across Poland's border could negatively influence the business plans of American companies and households and in such a situation all European countries (particularly Germany) would be hurt and investment outlays in Poland would drop significantly. This year started with a series of crises on emerging markets (Turkey, South Africa, Russia) that not only destabilized currencies in emerging economies (including the Polish zloty), but also called into question the hypothesis that the global crisis is finally over.

If, however, the political and economic situation in Ukraine and Russia improves and there is a relatively swift positive change in the business climate throughout the European Union, mainly the eurozone, economic growth in Germany and other countries that are Poland's most important foreign trade partners will pick up. As a result, Poland's own investment outlays and GDP will be higher than expected. However, such a scenario is far less probable.

Infrastructure

Since the early 1990s, infrastructure has been the subject of research as one of the additional factors of production, in most cases classified alongside physical resources and labor. It is often defined as a factor supporting other factors of production.

Research reports usually distinguish three main effects of infrastructure on the real economy:

- (public) infrastructure, exploited complementarily, constitutes a direct expenditure in the production process. Therefore, the impact of infrastructure can be defined as the effect of complementary expenditure. In this particular case, infrastructure constitutes an additional, complementary factor of production.
- (public and private) infrastructure facilitates innovation processes (by modernizing manufacturing processes); as a result, it indirectly impacts on production, productivity and competitiveness.
- (public and private) infrastructure can impact on the productivity of other factors of production. Infrastructure may be substitutive or complementary in relation to other factors and thus can affect factor productivity, which can be specified as an effect of factor "distortion" (Mackiewicz-Łyziak, 2010).

Infrastructure is of key importance for competitiveness since it affects productivity in the economy. This effect (or impact) may vary depending on whether a given sector produces for export or not. The greater the importance of infrastructure in the production and export process, the greater its impact on international competitiveness as well.

As in previous years, the accelerated process of investment in infrastructure continued in Poland in 2013. This was chiefly due to financial support from the EU's Cohesion Fund and structural funds (under the EU budget for 2007–2013). The main area of investment was transport infrastructure (roads and railways). In total, projects co-financed from the EU budget resulted in the construction of 10,948 km of roads, including 1,355 km of motorways and expressways. The government also built or modernized 1,653 km of railway lines; purchased or modernized 2,127 units of municipal transportation fleet; built 408 wastewater treatment plants; and built 46,012 km of a broadband internet network.

Road infrastructure

In 2013, 350 km of new supra-regional roads were put into operation, including 120 km of motorways, 181 km of expressways and around 48 km of main (national) roads. This accounts for less than half the figure from 2012 when a record 294 km of new motorways and 330 km of new expressways were launched. In addition, 246 road stretches with a total length of 677 km were renovated in 2013. As a result, at the end of 2013, Poland's network of dual carriageways was expected to total 2,759 km,

including 1,491 km of motorways and 1268 km of expressways. By the end of 2014, around 500 km of new road is expected to be put to use, according to the General Directorate for National Roads and Motorways in Poland (GDDKiA)—see Table 4.

Table 4		
Length of motorways and expressways in 2004 vs.	2014 in Poland	(km)

	2004	2014
Motorways	405	1,491
Expressways	226	1,268
Total	631	2,759

Source: GDDKiA.

The improved quantity and quality of roads is largely due to Poland's EU membership, especially the bloc's 2007–2013 budget, of which Poland is the biggest beneficiary. From 2007 to 2013, a total of 2,871 km of new roads were constructed in Poland, including 1,695 km of motorways and expressways. In addition, 5,739 km of road were renovated or modernized.

Figure 7 Total length of motorways and expressways in Poland in 2004–2013 (km)



With these expenditures, the density ratio of the motorway network per 100 km² in Poland has increased by more than 100%, while the length of expressways and motorways in Poland has more than doubled. The growth rate in terms of the number of kilometers of motorways in Poland in 2007–2012 is 106% (GDDKiA, 2013).

Railway infrastructure

Poland has a relatively dense network of railway lines. However, the length of the network has decreased steadily since 1989. In 2013, the length of the railway network totaled 19,191 km in terms of railway lines (i.e. 37,076 km of tracks), including 27,768 km of mainline tracks and primary basic tracks at railway stations and 9,308 km of railway station tracks (PKP PLK, 2014).

A positive factor that makes Poland stand out in the European Union is a high degree of electrification, which brings about measurable energy savings and ecological benefits. However, this does not change the fact that the railway infrastructure (including tracks and traction equipment, train stations, signaling devices, technical instrumentation and railway crossings) is to a large extent obsolete and does not meet the standards for a high-speed train ride. The advantage of the national rail network is the existence of broad gauge connection hubs with Russia and CIS countries. They ensure fast and reliable transportation of goods to Eastern European markets.⁷

Tracks in "good condition" account for 43% of the total length of the railway network. Tracks in "satisfactory condition" account for 30%, those in "unsatisfactory condition" for 23%, and those in "poor condition" for 4%.

The most significant strategic change benefiting the development of the railway network has been the government's decision to change investment priorities in transport. With this decision, more funds than in the past have been allocated to the railways at the expense of road infrastructure. Furthermore, changes in rail system investment in 2012–1013 have contributed to an increased efficiency with which EU funds are being absorbed and spent. In the first half of 2012, 40% of ongoing projects were critically endangered. In order to increase the effectiveness of EU funds, the European Commission authorized the implementation of "revitalization" projects—not just modernization, as it was described previously (PKP PLK, 2014).

As a result, PKP PLK has become the biggest beneficiary of EU funds in Poland. This should be seen as a good sign for the future of railways in Poland. PKP PLK's investment expenditure in 2008–2011 was around ZL14 billion, while in 2012–2015 it is expected to reach ZL31 billion. In 2014, modernization projects on railway lines with a total length of 3,000 km are scheduled to be carried out.

The rolling stock is also being modernized. PKP Intercity has bought 40 new electric multiple units (EMU), 20 Pendolino trains, and 10 double-deck cars. It has also modernized 218 cars and purchased 45 new standard cars and 10 diesel engines, in addition to modernizing 20 engines. This investment means a significant improvement in the quality of railway equipment and shorter travel time. It should contribute

⁷ The broad-gauge network is 400 km long. The trail begins in Sławków in Poland's southern Upper Silesia region, where the country's largest loading ramp is located, and continues to the eastern town of Hrubieszów on the European Union's border with Ukraine.

to an increased number of passengers. According to PKP, the new Pendolino trains will carry 3.4 million passengers in 2015, followed by 4.3 million in 2016, and 4.9 million in 2019, with average seat occupancy of 65%.

The outlook for further investment in the coming years is positive, chiefly due to EU co-financing. Under the Infrastructure and the Environment Operational Programme alone, Poland will receive $\in 27.5$ billion for road and railway infrastructure, an amount similar to that allocated under the previous budget (2007–2013). Railways will claim a significantly larger portion of the funds. In 2008–2011, expenditure on railways in Poland was around ZL14 billion, while in the 2012–2015 period it is expected to reach around ZL31 billion (PKP PLK).

Airport infrastructure

Poland's accession to the European Union and the opening of the Polish aviation market has brought about a rapid growth of the air services market. This process has been further stimulated by a growing number of Poles living and working in other EU member states that have opened their labor markets to Polish workers since 2004. The appearance of low-cost air carriers (Ryanair and Wizzair) contributed to an increased use of air transport instead of bus transport. As a result, the number of checked-in passengers increased from 8.8 million in 2004 to 25.2 million in 2013 (according to preliminary data). This is a 310% increase in passenger traffic in the first 10 years since accession (ULC 2008; 2013).

With the increasing popularity of air transport, Poland's airfield and airport infrastructure has been modernized, expanded and developed. Today in Poland, there are 13 airports that handle passengers. Another three (in Gdynia, Radom and Szymany) are under construction or are operated seasonally. The Euro 2012 European football championships in Poland and Ukraine were an important stimulus to improve the quality of passenger service. Four airports in Euro 2012 host cities earmarked a combined ZL1.7 billion for investment projects.

As a result, the air traffic infrastructure in Poland is very well developed. The airports meet all European standards, reflecting the size of the country and the demand for air services.

Inland waterways and seaports

Although Poland is a country of lowlands, its inland waterways are poorly developed. The total length of the country's waterways was 3,660 km in 2013, and this figure has not changed for years. Of this, 91% of the total length (3,347 km) was actually in use. Only 206 km (5.5%) are river waterways with international significance. Inland waterways handle around 0.25% of the total volume of shipping, a figure that has been decreasing over the years (GUS, 2013). In general, only two rivers in Poland are of economic value for transport, the Oder and the Vistula. The busiest waterway is the Oder Waterway (along with Gliwicki and Kędzierzyński Canals). However, for most of the navigation period, it is not possible to navigate between the upper and lower sections of the Oder River. The Vistula River is most often used in its upper section and in the lower section stretching from Plock to the Włocławek barrage and on downstream, from Tczew to the mouth of the Gulf of Gdańsk. Ports constitute an integral part of the inland waterway infrastructure. In recent years, rather scarce resources have been allocated to its development and extension, as a result of which Poland's inland waterways have undergone further deterioration.

There are four key seaports of international significance in Poland—Gdańsk, Gdynia, Szczecin and Świnoujście—along with 57 minor ports and marinas; 18 of these are sea border crossings as well. The most important regional ports include Police, Kołobrzeg, Darłowo, and Elbląg (MIR).

In 2013, all Polish seaports recorded an increase in the transshipment of goods. The Port of Gdańsk, for the first time in history, crossed the 30 million ton mark. The Port of Gdynia closed 2013 with nearly 18 million tons, a 11.7% increase over 2012. The ports of Szczecin and Świnoujście handled 22.7 million tons of goods, a 7% increase over 2012.

Power and energy infrastructure

Thanks to improved energy efficiency in manufacturing, primary energy consumption in Poland has gradually decreased since the launch of political and economic reforms in 1989. The process of reducing energy consumption has been accompanied by a gradual decommissioning of the most worn manufacturing equipment and transmission installations. For many years, this process had ensured that the infrastructure was kept in relatively good shape.

Without new investment, these basic reserves were soon depleted, and today the main problem of the energy infrastructure in Poland is due to a high level of depreciation of manufacturing equipment. The average age of the distribution network infrastructure ranges from 27 to 35 years, and in the case of the transmission network it is even higher. Around 70% of the power plants and power grids are depreciated: 15% of the power units are more than 50 years old and 40% are over 40 years old. The average energy efficiency of generation units in Poland is around 35%, while the efficiency of new units is around 45%.⁸

Due to a strong role of solid fuels in primary energy consumption, Poland still has a high, unfavorable ratio of emissions to energy use. The emission rate is about a third

⁸ Moreover, in early 2016, Directive 2001/80 on the limitation of emissions of certain pollutants into the air from large combustion plants (LCP) and Directive 2001/81 on national emission limits for SO2 and NOx will enter into force. This means that the environmental performance of some of the equipment used in Poland will be below acceptable levels and the units will have to be decommissioned.

higher than the EU27 average and also higher than the average for Central European countries. The only positive feature is a low level of emissions per capita, similar to that in other EU countries on average. This is due to significantly lower total energy consumption per capita than more developed countries.

In terms of electrical power engineering, the demand for electrical power in Poland has grown gradually. In 2014, work started on two new power units—with a total capacity of 1,800 MW—at the Opole II power plant, in what marks the biggest investment project in Poland's electrical power industry since 1989. Power unit no. 5 is scheduled to be completed after 54 months, and power unit No. 6 after 62 months. The project was postponed several times due to doubts over its profitability. However, the government's firm position led to its launch.

The Polish power grid company, Polskie Sieci Elektroenergetyczne (PSE), is expected to invest heavily in the development of transmission and distribution networks. By 2025, ZL23 billion will have been allocated for this purpose, of which around ZL9 billion will be spent in 2014–2018.

The beginning of 2014 brought significant progress in efforts to build Poland's first nuclear power plant. On Jan. 28, 2014, the government approved the Polish Nuclear Energy Program, which specifies the schedule for building two nuclear power plants and for developing regulatory and organizational infrastructure for this long-term project. It is estimated that the project will take at least 15 years to move from the decision to the actual launch of the power plant. In order to create a nuclear power industry in Poland, it is essential to build almost the entire infrastructure that this industry needs to operate and develop (including legal, organizational, institutional and R&D infrastructure as well as a personnel training system) (Ministry of Economy, 2014).

However, in December 2014, another flagship energy infrastructure project is scheduled to be completed, an LNG terminal in Świnoujście. Once it is operational, Poland will be able to import gas from alternative geographical regions and become more independent from Russian supplies.

This is even more important in the light of forecasts for growing demand for natural gas in Poland. Gas consumption is estimated to increase by 12.2% by 2020, and by 32.5% (to 20.2 billion m³) by 2030. Such profound and drastic fluctuations in demand require an expansion and modernization of gas infrastructure. After years of stagnation and underinvestment, the Polish gas transmission network is in need of comprehensive modernization, especially as 62% of the gas transmission network is over 26 years old. Gas transmission facilities that are less than five years old account for a mere 3% of the network. The costs of replacing the oldest sections of the gas transmission network will be ZL14 billion by 2025 (Gaz-System).

In 2014, the government is expected to come up with a new long-term energy policy until 2050 to replace its old policy, which spans the period until 2030. Most probably, the new policy will provide for the growing importance of natural gas from the country's own sources (including non-conventional ones) as well as from imports, accompanied by a decreased role of hard coal and lignite.

Conclusions

Poland's first 10 years in the European Union coincided with a period of dynamic infrastructure development. To a large extent, this was made possible by the proper use of EU structural funds and the Cohesion Fund; Poland's total allocation from these two sources was a generous €67.3 billion. Poland has become the biggest beneficiary of EU structural aid, which helped build 10,948 km of road, including 1,355 km of motorways and expressways in the country during the 10-year period. Poland also built or modernized 1,653 km of railway lines. With these projects, the country has managed to reduce its development gap with other EU member states.

Airport infrastructure has also undergone intensive development. Today Poland has a network of modern airports in major cities and regional airports that meet the demand for air transport services in the country.

However, Poland failed to stop the process of energy and power infrastructure depreciation in 2004–2014. Most investment plans have not been implemented, mainly due to shifts in the legal environment, regulatory provisions, and environmental conditions. It was not until the beginning of 2014 that a decision was made to build new large power units (Opole II) and go ahead with the Polish nuclear power program.

The EU's new budget for 2014–2020 is fairly generous for Poland, offering prospects for further improvement in infrastructure. The government's decision to change investment priorities in favor of public transport (railways and rolling stock)—accompanied by decreased support for the development of airports—deserves positive ratings. With domestic financing supported by EU funds, the coming years should see further convergence by Poland to more developed EU member states in terms of infrastructure. However, the importance of infrastructure for Poland's competitiveness is bound to decrease because the country has reached a level of development that requires it to look for more sophisticated sources of competitive advantages.

References

Central Statistical Office, (2014), Biuletyn Statystyczny, No. 1, February, Warsaw.

Central Statistical Office, (2013), Statistical Yearbook 2012, Warsaw.

Eurostat, (2012), www.ec.europa.eu/eurostat/.

Mackiewicz-Łyziak, J., (2010), Influence of Infrastructure on Productivity In Polish Economy, "Gospodarka Narodowa", No. 3, March.

Gaz-System (2014), www.gaz-system.pl.

GDDKiA, (2013), Annual Report.

GDDKiA, (2014), General Directorate for National Roads and Motorways, www.gddkia.gov.pl.

Ministry of Economy, (2014), www.mg.gov.pl.

MIR, (2014), Ministry of Infrastructure and Development, www.mir.gov.pl.

PKPPLK, (2014), Polish Railway Lines, www.plk-sa.pl.

PSE, (2013), Annual Report.

PwC, (2013), Road Construction in Poland. Facts and myths, experiences and perspectives, Warsaw. Report on Road Industry, (2012), Working Group of the Parliamentary Committee on Infrastructure. Reuters, (2013), Roads to ruin, 2013.

ULC, (2008), Analysis of Air Transport Market in Poland in 2004–2006, Warsaw.

ULC, (2013), Analysis of Air Transport Market in Poland in 2012, Warsaw.

3.3. Innovation System Restructuring in Poland in the Context of EU Membership

Marzenna Anna Weresa, Małgorzata Stefania Lewandowska

EU11 countries restructured their innovation systems gradually, with some delay compared with the speed of economic transition in this region. The results of innovation system restructuring in EU11 countries, in combination with convergence processes, can be analyzed by comparing changes in the Summary Innovation Index (SII) with changes in real GDP per capita. This is illustrated in Figure 8, where the convergence (divergence) of real GDP per capita relative to the EU28 average (in p.p.) during the 2004–2013 period is marked on the horizontal axis, while the vertical axis shows the change in the Summary Innovation Index (SII) in relation to the EU28 average for the same period.

The convergence of GDP per capita was observed in all of the EU11 economies (excluding Slovenia) and was accompanied by slower changes in the innovativeness of these economies as expressed with the SII. However, the rate at which the SII changed in 2004–2013 in most EU11 countries was faster than the EU28 average. This trend was also present in Poland, while Slovakia and Hungary were the only EU11 economies that saw a convergence in terms of the SII in relation to the EU28 average. In the case of Slovenia, the process of catching up to the EU average in terms of innovation was accompanied by a divergence in terms of real GDP per capita (Figure 8). As far as Poland is concerned, in the 2004–2013 period, the country failed to complement the growth of real GDP per capita by catching up with the EU average—let alone EU innovation leaders—in terms of innovativeness. What are the causes of this negative trend? This question can be answered on the basis of a comparative analysis of the indicators incorporated in the SII. This analysis will show areas where the restructuring of the national innovation system was not completed. Table 5 gives an overview of the development of science and innovation in Poland compared with the other EU11 economies.

Figure 8

Changes in the Summary Innovation Index (SII) and changes in real GDP per capita (in PPS) in relation to the EU28 average levels, 2004–2013 (EU28=100; percentage points)



Source: Authors' elaboration based on Eurostat data and on Innovation Union Scoreboard 2013, European Commission, 2013.

The main indicator describing R&D from the input side is R&D intensity, understood as the ratio of R&D expenditures to GDP, and its changes over time. In the first decade of the 21st century in Poland, this relationship was well below the EU average. For example, in 2012 the figures were 0.90% vs. 2.06%. On the positive side, the Polish indicator grew twice as fast (1.6%) as the rate in the EU as a whole (0.8%). In 2012, only two EU11 economies, Slovenia and Estonia, had a higher level of R&D expenditure than the EU average. In 2000–2011, R&D expenditure growth in these two economies was in the double digits. In terms of the intensity of R&D expenditure in the EU11 group, the Czech Republic and Hungary stand out, with 1.88% and 1.30% respectively in 2012. R&D expenditure in other EU11 economies did not break the 1% of GDP threshold. The low level of R&D expenditure in Poland is also reflected by the *per capita* value: in 2012, R&D expenditure per capita in Poland, at €73.6, was one-seventh of the EU average of €516.2 (GUS, 2013, p. 54).

One of the problems in Poland is the structure of R&D expenditure inherited from a centrally planned economy, with the government sector in the dominant position. Only four EU11 economies—Estonia, Hungary, Slovenia, and Lithuania—were able to significantly restructure their R&D expenditures toward a growing role for the non-government sector (Figure 9).

Table 5	
Overview of research and innovation performance: Poland and other EU11 countrie	es
compared	

	R&D inde	intensity x, 2012	Popula 25–6 having at lea seco edu	tion aged 4 years completed st upper ondary cation	HRST witl education ii mathema compu	n tertiary n science, tics and tting	Excellen index	ce in S&T c, 2010	nic impact of	Knowledge econ 20	intensity of omy 10
	value	growth rate (2000– 2011) (%)	% of total in 2012	change since 2004 in p.p.	as a % of active population in 2012	change since 2004 in p.p.	value	growth rate (2005– 2010) (%)	Index of econon innovation 2010–2011	value	growth rate (2000– 2011) (%)
Bulgaria	0.64	1.06	81.0	2.4	5.1	1.5	24.65	3.40	0.23	29.45	3.65
Czech Republic	1.88	4.23	92.5	5.7	9.3	2.0	29.90	4.58	0.50	39.58	2.91
Estonia	2.18	13.31	89.8	1.4	6.7	1.4	25.85	11.70	0.45	46.48	2.94
Latvia	0.66	4.15	89.1	4.1	5.1	-3.0	11.49	-0.15	0.25	34.38	3.96
Lithuania	0.90	4.13	93.4	0.4	6.5	0.0	13.92	2.62	0.22	35.28	5.04
Hungary	1.30	4.64	82.1	2.3	7.0	2.3	31.88	2.03	0.53	50.23	1.87
Poland	0.90	1.60	89.6	3.9	9.7	8.7	20.47	4.45	0.21	31.78	1.65
Romania	0.42	2.53	75.9	2.7	8.7	-7.3	17.84	7.81	0.38	28.35	5.86
Slovenia	2.80	12.47	85.0	3.5	5.1	-0.7	27.47	3.99	0.52	45.90	4.25
Slovakia	0.82	0.41	91.7	2.1	7.2	0.8	17.73	3.85	0.48	31.64	0.07
Croatia	0.75	-2.72	79.3	0.2	6.6	1.5	12.25	2.31	0.35	n.a	n.a
EU28 average ^a	2.06	0.80	74.2	2.1	8.7	-0.1	47.86	3.09	0.61	48.75	0.93

^a if data were not available for EU28, average values for EU27 are given.

Source: Methodology and data derived from: European Commission (2013a), p. 5; data also taken from the Eurostat database.

In Poland, there was no significant change in the role of the business sector in R&D expenditures in 2004–2012; it was responsible for around 30% of total expenditure. However, the role of foreign funds in terms of R&D expenditure increased from 5.2% in 2004 to 13.3% in 2012. This was chiefly due to an inflow of EU funds; their contribution increased in the first few years of Poland's membership, reaching 5.6% in 2006. In 2007–2009, the role of EU funds fell to 3.6%, only to spring back to 10.9% in 2012. Even though the number of beneficiaries using EU funds for R&D has increased continuously, these entities account for a falling percentage of all research entities, at 14.2% in 2012, down from a high of 23% in 2006 (GUS, 2013, p. 66). This may mean that EU funds intended for R&D are increasingly reaching beneficiaries that are the most active in applying for foreign funds.

Figure 9

Gross domestic expenditure on R&D (GERD) by source of funds in Poland and other EU11 countries: 2004 and 2012 compared





In summary, Poland, like most other EU11 countries, saw some restructuring in its innovation system in terms of R&D financing in 2004–2012, but this was mainly based on an increased role of foreign funds, including EU funds. The business sector still is not the key player in financing research in the EU11. However, four of these economies stand out from this pattern: Estonia, Hungary, Lithuania, and Slovenia.

In these countries, the role of the business sector as a source of R&D financing increased. But only in Slovenia did the role of businesses in financing R&D surpass 50% and overshoot the EU average (Figure 9).

Human capital is a key factor for the proper functioning of a national innovation system. This is a strong point for Poland and most other EU11 countries, compared with the EU average, especially as human capital indicators in most of these countries grew at a faster rate than the EU average. Poland was the fifth economy among EU11 countries in terms of the percentage of the population aged 25–64 with more than a secondary education (89.6% in 2012), but was third (behind the Czech Republic and Latvia) with regard to the average growth of this indicator in 2004–2012. A similar trend was noted in another human capital indicator in EU11 countries in 2004–2012: the percentage of employees with a university degree in mathematics and computer science in the total working population. In Poland, the Czech Republic and Romania, this indicator was above the EU average. In 2012, it amounted to 9.7% in Poland, while the EU average was 8.7% (Table 5).

To sum up this assessment of restructuring in EU11 innovation systems in terms of human capital, it is necessary to note the relatively strong position of most EU11 countries, Poland in particular, and the positive changes in this position from 2004 to 2012.

In order to access how changes in the financing of R&D and in human capital affect the positions of Poland and other EU11 economies in science and technology, the Excellence in S&T index will be analyzed. This index comprises four separate indicators that describe scientific publications, references to these works, grants in per capita terms, and R&D expenditure.⁹

For all of the members of the EU11 group, the values of this index are significantly lower than the EU average (47.86 in 2010). However, three subgroups can be identified within the analyzed group.

The first subgroup consists of Hungary, the Czech Republic, Slovenia, and Estonia. The best performer in the group, Hungary, had an Excellence in S&T index of 31.88 in 2010. However, its index grew at a slower rate than the EU average in 2005–2010 (2.03% vs. 3.09%). The Czech Republic, Slovenia, and Estonia had relatively high indices in 2010 (above 25.0). These grew at a faster rate than the EU average in 2005–2010, with Estonia recording the fastest growth, at 11.7%.

Poland, as with Bulgaria, Romania, and Slovakia, recorded a moderate Excellence in S&T index in relation to other EU11 economies. In 2010, Poland's index was

⁹ The Excellence in S&T index consists of four separate variables: 1) the share of most-quoted scientific publications in the general number of publications where at least one author is a resident of the said country, 2) the number of reputable universities and public R&D units in the said country per 1 million inhabitants, 3) the number of patents awarded in the international PCT procedure per 1 million inhabitants of the said country, and 4) the general value of European grants (ECR) awarded to the said country based on R&D expenditures of its public sector and higher education units. The details of the methodology are described in: European Commission (2013), p. 321.

20.47, similar to that in Bulgaria, but higher than in Romania (17.84) and Slovakia (17.73). Significantly, the indices in all four economies grew at a faster rate than the EU average in 2004–2010.

The third and the weakest group of the EU11 economies in terms of the Excellence in S&T index is made up of Lithuania, Croatia, and Latvia. The value of the index for these economies ranged from 11.49 (Latvia) to 13.92 (Lithuania), and its growth in 2005–2010 was slower than the EU average, with negative growth in Latvia (Table 6).

Overall, Poland is outperformed by Hungary, the Czech Republic, Slovenia, Estonia, and Bulgaria in terms of Excellence in S&T in the EU11 group. Estonia stands out positively in terms of the rate at which this index grew in the studied period: its index grew almost three times as fast as the EU average. As it turns out, there is little correlation between the growth of R&D expenditure in 2000–2011 and the growth of the Excellence in S&T index. The Pearson correlation index is 0.508 (Table 6), which means that an increase in the intensity of R&D only partially translates into a rise in the Excellence in S&T index. Given the small changes in the structure of R&D expenditure in most EU11 economies, including Poland, it can be surmised that an increased involvement of the business sector is a key factor needed to improve the guality of a national science and technology system. This is confirmed by the example of Estonia. In 2004–2011, the share of the business sector in R&D expenditure in that country increased by 12 p.p., constituting over half of total R&D expenditure. During that period, Estonia's Excellence in S&T index rose the fastest (11.70% in 2005–2010) among all EU11 countries and far outpaced the EU average, which grew only 3.09% from 2005 to 2010 (Table 5).

Similar conclusions can be drawn from the Index of Economic Impact of Innovation, another indicator that describes the quality of national innovation systems.¹⁰ In 2010–2011, this index for all EU11 economies was lower than the EU average (0.61). Poland's index, at 0.21, was just over one-third of the EU average. In the EU11 group, the following countries stand out with their Indices of Economic Impact of Innovation: Hungary (0.53), Slovenia (0.52), the Czech Republic (0.50), Slovakia (0.48), and Estonia (0.45). These countries also lead the way in the EU11 in terms of sales of innovative goods as a percentage of total sales (Figure 10). For Poland, this percentage is one of the lowest in the studied group, with a fall from 13.5% in 2004 to 8% in 2010.

¹⁰ The index consists of five indicators identified in the *Innovation Union Scoreboard 2013*. They are: 1) patents obtained via international PCT per 1 billion EURO GDP (PPP), 2) employment in knowledge-based manufacturing and services as a fraction of total labor employment, 3) share of exports of mid-high and high technology in the trade balance, 4) sales of innovation new to the market and to the firms as a percentage of total sales in innovative enterprises, and 5) export of knowledge-based services as a percentage of total service exports. Detailed information on the methodology behind the index and its components can be found in: (European Commission, 2013; 2013a).



Figure 10 Turnover from innovation as % of total turnover

Source: Own elaboration based on Eurostat data.

There is no strong correlation between the Index of Economic Impact of Innovation and the average growth of R&D intensity in 2000–2011. The Pearson correlation coefficient between these two variables is 0.42 (Table 6), which shows that the growth of R&D expenditure is not strongly connected with the economic impact of innovation on EU11 economies. The strength of this relationship is clearly impacted by the fact that the increase of R&D expenditure in most EU11 economies is not accompanied by a new structure of research funding.

Table 6

Pearson's correlation coefficients between variables describing performance of national innovation systems in EU11 countries

Variables correlated	Index of Excellence in S&T (2010)	Index of economic impact of innovation		
R&D intensity growth rate (2000–2011)	0.508	0.421		

Source: Own calculations in SPSS based on data from: European Commission, (2013a).

This general picture of Poland's innovative position and changes in it since the country's accession to the European Union needs to be supplemented by a comment on Poland's technological profile. The main technologies in which EU members specialize were identified on the basis of patents granted by the European Patent Office in 2001–2010, broken down by the investor's home country as well as the country from which the patent application originated (European Commission, 2013a). Table 7 gives an insight into Poland's technological profile against the background of other EU11 economies.

Table 7

Country	Hot spots in key technologies				
Bulgaria	agriculture, nano- and biotechnology, ICT and energy				
Croatia	healthcare sector; food processing and agribusiness; energy technology; electronics and advanced materials and digital techniques				
Czech Republic	Republic automobiles, transport, construction, materials, energy and environment				
Estonia	energy, environment, food and agriculture				
Hungary	health, environment, automobiles, biotechnology				
Latvia	materials, health, nano-sciences, environment, energy				
Lithuania	other transport technologies (other than automobiles and aeronautics), construction technologies, energy				
Poland	food, agriculture and fisheries; energy; environment; security; ICT; materials				
Romania	automobiles, ICT, new production technologies, nanotechnologies, and security				
Slovakia	food and agriculture, energy, ICT, materials				
Slovenia	health, food and agriculture, ICT, materials, new production technologies, environment				

Hot spots	in key	v technolog	ies in	EU11	countries
-----------	--------	-------------	--------	------	-----------

Source: Research and Innovation Performance in EU Member States and Associated Countries. Innovation Union Progress at Country Level, Directorate-General for Research and Innovation, European Commission 2013.

The key technologies in which Poland has technological advantages are in areas such as food, agriculture and fisheries, energy, IT, materials, the environment and security. The technological advantages of individual EU11 economies vary considerably. In many of these countries, technological advantages are found in traditional industries such as agriculture and food production (Bulgaria, Croatia, Poland, Slovakia, and Slovenia). Advantages in the automobile sector—which is classified as a mid-high technology industry—play a significant role in the Czech Republic, Hungary, and Romania. In some EU11 countries, for instance in Slovenia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Poland, Latvia, and Hungary, environmental technologies are among technological specializations. Some advantages are also emerging in high-tech industries in the EU11, for example in IT and nanotechnology. Hence, there is no one model of technical specialization for all of the EU11 members, and this observation has significant implications for policy makers.

Support for innovation is especially important in the case of Poland, because this analysis shows restructuring of the national innovation system has not yet been
completed. As a result, the innovation gap between Poland and other EU economies is growing.

In this context, the question is where innovation policies should be focused so that the innovation gap can be bridged. In addition, it is worth considering whether and to what extent this gap can be narrowed through using funds for research and development from the EU budget. This question may be answered by examining the impact that EU funds set aside for R&D and absorbed by Poland have on the country's innovativeness. Such an analysis can point to new areas of interest in Polish innovation policy, especially since the role of EU funds in Poland's R&D expenditure has been growing since 2008. In 2012, EU funds accounted for more than 10% of Poland's total R&D expenditure (GUS, 2013).

Additionality of financial support for innovation from EU funds. Results of research for Polish industrial enterprises

Previous studies show that insufficient financial resources are the main barrier to the development of R&D, including in Polish enterprises (Guijarro-Madrid *et al.*, 2009; Watkins, Paff, 2009; Lewandowska, 2012).

The inability of firms to enjoy all the potential benefits from investment in innovation, which proves to be costly, is a factor responsible for the slower growth of R&D expenditures.

Likewise, the inability to capture all the potential benefits from investment in innovation, with its high cost, is responsible for underinvestment in R&D (Berube and Mohnen, 2009).

The government has at its disposal a wide range of tools that can support companies, such as deferred tax payments, tax deductions, grants, preferential loans for R&D activities, and establishing technology labs and innovation clusters. However, grants are not without drawbacks, arising from information asymmetries between the investors and government agencies, from costly administrative procedures, from corruption and often from political pressure (Czarnitzki, Hanel and Rosa, 2011).

Tax incentives directed at stimulating R&D (delayed tax payments, tax allowances and payroll withholding credit for R&D wages, preferential rates on royalty income and other income associated with knowledge ownership) can act as market tools aimed at lowering marginal costs of R&D activities. Such an approach to the problem of financing innovation can be more effective than direct support for R&D (OECD, 2012). This is because no arbitrary decisions need to be made about the distribution of support among specific economic sectors, industries, and firms. As a result, more firms are encouraged to undertake innovative activities (Bloom, 2002). The policy makers are convinced that greater public support for R&D activities will lead to an increase in R&D investments, which, in turn, will result in an increase in innovation performance. To determine if this "input additionality" is really the case, it is crucial to estimate to what extent the use of a specific support program contributes to additional R&D investment within the firm being supported.

For the purpose of this research, in addition to analyzing the impact of public support programs on investment in R&D, we will also look for the presence of additionality in the case of investment in technologically advanced machinery and equipment used to produce new, or significantly improved, products and processes.

A large body of research has focused on whether public support for R&D is complementary and stimulates additional efforts (the so-called additionality effect), or whether it is a substitute for the undertaking of such activities (the so-called crowding-out effect). Research into R&D expenditure in German firms has found no crowding-out effect, but has confirmed the presence of an additionality effect in the case of public support (Hussinger, 2003). However, some research results confirm the crowding-out effect in R&D expenditure in big companies, while additionality has been observed in small firms (Serrano-Velarde, 2008). Moreover, it has been proven that the crowding-out effect is often at work in the case of commercial projects—a finding that feeds the debate on the need for direct support by government agencies (Bussom, 1999).

While input additionality makes it possible to determine to what extent public support encourages firms to undertake private R&D expenditure, output additionality allows for the identification of leverage effects on firms' innovation performance¹¹ (Luukkonen, 1998). An example of how the additionality effect can be estimated is included in the works of Halpern (2010), who, while investigating Hungarian firms, found a positive relationship between subsidies and both the level of R&D expenditure and innovation. Garcia and Mohnen (2010) have found that support from the central government increases the intensity of R&D activities as well as the share of innovative products in total sales. However, in the case of simultaneous central- government and EU support, the latter source of support decreases in significance.

Government investments impact innovation performance not only directly (Bergman, Ejermo, Fisher *et al.*, 2010, cited by Afcha, 2012), but also indirectly, leading to an improvement in the level of knowledge and relations with the surrounding environment (Norman, Klofsten, 2010). This is the rationale behind the concept of behavioral additionality, which was first formulated by Buisseret, Cameron and Georghiou (1995) and used to measure changes in the state of firms resulting from obtained public support.

Below we will try to determine if there is an additionality effect at work that strengthens the level of firms' knowledge resulting from their resources and competences—especially as the more a firm invests in in-house R&D activities, the greater

¹¹ The indicator of innovation performance (*InnoPerf*) will often be used by other researchers (e.g., Lokshin, Hagedoorn and Letterie, 2011; Tether and Tajar, 2008); namely, the log of fraction of turnover from innovative products in total turnover.

181

its absorptive capacity,¹² i.e. the better it is prepared for the absorption of external knowledge, including knowledge resulting from cooperation (Cohen, Levinthal, 1989, 1990).

Various studies have highlighted the growing importance of nonmaterial resources to create an enterprise's competitive potential (Grant, 1991). These in particular include knowledge, which many researchers see as a strategic asset (Kogut, Zander, 1992). Other key intangible resources that enterprises should develop are employees' competences and their ability to undertake specific actions (de Wit, Meyer, 2007). In this context, it will be interesting to explore to what extent support from European funds increases the propensity of Polish enterprises to incur expenditure on staff training directly related to the introduction of new, or significantly improved, products and processes.

One dimension of behavioral additionality is cooperation additionality, which pertains to situations in which public support received by a firm for R&D impacts the scope and level of cooperation (Wanzenböck, Scherngell and Fischer, 2013).

Garcia and Mohnen (2010) found a positive relationship between public support and cooperation in terms of innovation. Likewise, Kang and Park (2012), while researching a South Korean biotech firm, showed the existence of a strong, positive relationship between government support for firms intended for R&D and these firms' cooperation with their domestic "upstream partners." The two researchers also found a significant positive effect regarding cooperation with "downstream partners." Similar conclusions were reached by Teirlinck and Spithoven (2010), though in this case only for cooperation with research institutes.

For reasons of space, we will limit this analysis to institutional cooperation undertaken by Polish firms. Only 11.4% of surveyed enterprises view universities as their important partners for cooperation, and only 0.6% said the same of research institutes run by the Polish Academy of Sciences (PAN). A paltry 0.2% mentioned foreign research institutions (GUS, 2013). This is surprising because research publications provide many examples of how cooperation with institutional partners can have a positive influence on the innovation performance of enterprises. Robin and Schubert (2013), on the basis of a Community Innovation Survey (CIS) for France and Germany, demonstrated that institutional cooperation fosters product innovation, although it does not influence process innovation. Monjon and Waelbroeck (2003) found that firms that introduce more radical innovations more often cooperate with universities, while imitator firms, to a much greater extent, use solutions already available on the market.

¹² This variable (*AbsCap*) is operationalized as a percentage share of expenditures on R&D in total income of an enterprise in a given period (Zahra, Hayton, 2008; Cohen, Levinthal, 1990). Unfortunately, due to the fact that such data are impossible to obtain, a proxy has been used in the form of an assumption that an enterprise conducts R&D activities in a continuous manner—an indicator also used by other researchers (e.g., Veugelers, 1997).

Institutional partners often possess knowledge that fosters the creation of completely new products (Nieto, Santamaria, 2007), while not being directly affected by changes produced by those innovative projects that lead to the creation of new market segments (Monjon, Waelbroeck, 2003). As a result, their behavior is less opportunistic in nature than that of other cooperating partners (Kim, Lui, 2010).

On the basis of the above discussion, which points to the existence of significant relationships between the discussed variables, the following model can be presented as a summary of these relationships:¹³

Y ExtR&D = $\beta_{10} + \beta_1$ InnoFundEU + s $\varepsilon_{ExtR\&D}$ Y $_{AcqMachEq} = \beta_{20} + \beta_1$ InnoFundEU + $\varepsilon_{AcqMachEq}$ Y $_{InnoPerf} = \beta_{30} + \beta_1$ InnoFundEU + β_2 ExtR&D + β_3 AcqMachEq + β_4 TrainPers + β_5 AbsCap + β_6 InstCoop + $\varepsilon_{InnoPerf}$ Y $_{AbsCap} = \beta_{40} + \beta_1$ InnoFundEU + ε_{AbsCap} Y TrainPers = $\beta_{50} + \beta_1$ InnoFundEU + $\varepsilon_{TrainPers}$ Y $_{InstCoop} = \beta_{60} + \beta_1$ InnoFundEU + β_2 TrainPers + β_3 AbsCap + $\varepsilon_{InstCoop}$ where β represents the estimated coefficients and ε stands for the standard error

(Greene, 2003).

Details of variable operationalization are given in Table 9.

Sample description, variable operationalization, method applied

The study is based on a representative sample of 7,783 large and medium-sized enterprises that took part in a survey conducted by Poland's Central Statistical Office (GUS)—(PNT-02 questionnaire; Polish version of the Community Innovation Survey)—over the period of 2008–2010. The enterprises are from NACE sections B-E.¹⁴

A chi-square method with column proportions and the Bonferroni correction was applied to statistically verify significant differences between active and non-active innovators. Non-active innovators (firms that did not introduce product or process innovation in 2008–2010) constitute the majority of the research sample (N=4,988). The remainder are active innovators (N=2795), firms that introduced process (77.6%), product (73.5%), organizational (48.3%) and marketing innovation (39.6%). The analyzed sample mainly consisted of medium-sized enterprises (67.4%), from medium-

¹³ The abbreviations used in the model stand for the following: *InnoFundEU* – financial support from EU; *ExtR&D* – acquisition of external R&D; *AcqMachEq* – acquisition of advanced machinery and equipment; *TrainPers* – training of personnel for innovative activities; *AbsCap* – absorptive capacity; *InstCoop*– institutional cooperation. Details of variable operationalization are given in Table 9.

¹⁴ The selection of units for the survey was performed using the Polish Classification of Activities (PKD) 2007, consistent with the Statistical Classification of Economic Activities in the European Union (*Nomenclature statistique des Activités économiques dans la Communauté Européenne*) (NACE Rev. 2). In 2011, the study on innovation in both industry (Sections B to E) and the service sector (Sections H to M) was conducted on the entire group of entities. For details, see: *Innovation Activities of Enterprises in* 2008–2010, Central Statistical Office, Statistical Office in Szczecin, Warsaw 2012, p. 15.

technology industries (55.7%) (Eurostat classification, 2008), for which the local market is the most important sales destination (48.6%).

Sample characteristics			ple in nodel :652	Non-active innovators N=4,988		Active innovators N=2,795		Whole sample N=7,783	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	
Introduction of prod	524	80.4	0	0a	2055	73.5b	2,055	26.4	
Introduction of proce	ess innovation	480	82.8	0	0a	2169	77.6b	2,169	27.9
Introduction of organ	nizational innovation	414	63.5	458	9.2a	1349	48.3b	1,807	23.2
Introduction of mark	eting innovation	342	52.5	402	8.1a	1107	39.6b	1,509	19.4
Einer in	Medium	331	50.8	4,356	87.3a	1885	67.4b	6,241	80.2
Firm size	Large	321	49.2	632	12.7a	910	32.6b	1,542	19.8
	Not classified	68	10.4	655	13.1a	272	9.7b	927	11.9
T1	Low tech	95	14.6	2,232	44.7a	843	30.2b	3,075	39.5
lechnology level	Medium tech	440	67.5	2,026	40.6a	1,558	55.7b	3,584	46
	High tech	49	7.5	75	1.5a	122	4.4b	197	2.5
	Local	588	90.2	1,667	33.4a	661	23.6b	2,328	29.9
	Domestic	581	89.1	1,981	39.7a	1,359	48.6b	3,340	42.9
Dominant market	EU	524	80.4	1,165	23.4a	654	23.4a	1,819	23.4
	Other markets	412	63.2	175	3.5a	121	4.3a	296	3.8

Table 8Sample characteristics

^a Each subscript letter (a, b) denotes a subset of categories whose column proportions (Bonferroni method) differ significantly from each other at the.05 level.

Source: Own calculation in SPSS 21 based on data from PNT-02 questionnaire, Sprawozdanie o innowacjach w przemyśle za lata 2008–2010, www.stat.gov.pl/formularze

Due to the PNT-02/CIS questionnaire construction, where most questions refer to innovative enterprises, we will assume, like other researchers (Veugelers, Cassiman, 2004; Mothe *et al.*, 2010), as a filter variable indication of whether the company introduced new or significantly improved products or processes in 2008–2010.

In addition, we assume that only companies that received public support for innovative activity in the researched period will be analyzed. Based on this we extract 652 companies. Details on the operationalization of all the variables are presented in Table 9.

Table 9	
Variable o	operationalization

Variable	Description and construction of variables
InnoActComp	Filter variable – "Innovation activity" and "Public support"
InnoActCompPr	"1" if the firm introduced product innovation; "0" otherwise and/or
InnoActCompProc	"1" if the firm introduced product innovation; "0" otherwise
InnoFund	"1" if the firm received public financial support from local agencies, government agencies or EU
InnoFundEU	Variable – "Financial support from EU"
Calcuated if the firm rec support of international specialized consulting; su R&D activity; other pro	eived public financial support for innovation activity from EU for personnel training; cooperation; support of domestic, regional, cluster cooperation; support of exporting; upport for investments; support for cooperation with institutional partners; support for grams.
InnoPerf	Dependent variable – "Innovation performance"
Log of fraction (from 0 to in 2010.	o 100) of turnover from innovative products introduced in 2008–2010 in total turnover
InnoExp	Variables – "Expenditures on innovation activities"
ExtR&D	Calcuated if the firm declared acquisition of external R&D and/or acquisition of external knowledge (purchase or licensing of patents and non-patented inventions, know-how, and other types of knowledge from other enterprises or organizations for the development of new or significantly improved products and processes).
AcqMachEq	"1" if the firm declared acquisition of advanced machinery or equipment (including computer hardware) or software to produce new or significantly improved products and processes; "0" otherwise.
AbsCap	Variable – "Absorptive capacity"
"1" if the firm performed "0" otherwise.	R&D continuously (had permanent R&D staff in-house) from 2008 to 2010;
TrainPers	Variable – "Training for innovative activities"
"1" if the firm conducted introduction of new or si	d internal or external training for its personnel, specifically for the development and/or ignificantly improved products and processes; "0" otherwise.
InstCoop	Variable - "Cooperation with institutional partners"
Calcuated if the firm dec domestic universities; for	clares cooperation with the Polish Academy of Sciences; domestic research institutes; reign research institutes; foreign universities.

Source: Own compilation based on PNT-02 questionnaire for 2008–2010, www.stat.gov.pl/formularze

The structural equation modeling (SEM) method—specifically a technique known as path analysis, designed to examine the structure and strength of linear relationships between at least one independent variable and one or more dependent variables—will be used to assess the relationships between the variables (Bedyńska, Książek, 2012). The aim of SEM is to find a model that describes reality in the best way (Perek-Białas, Pleśniak, 2013). In order to verify the hierarchy of variables, an analysis was conducted of critical values between parameters.

Since reasoning based only on data from a single sample may result in an over- or under-estimation of the parameters of the population, the analysis of the distribution of the estimation errors was made with multiple sampling with replacement from the sample (non-parametric bootstrap method) (Hayes, 2009; Efron,1979). The models applied the Bollen and Stine (1992) correction for the p level to test the null hypothesis of model fit.

Results of analysis, hypothesis verification

Our Structural Modeling Analysis (IBM AMOS, ADF (Asymptotically Distribution Free estimation¹⁵)), with 10,000 bootstrap samples, resulted in a model that very well fits to the data (x^2 (2) = 0.570; p = 0.752; Cmin/Df = 0.285; CFI = 1.00; RMSEA = 0.000). Additionally, the Bollen-Stine correction to the significance of the chi-square model did not significantly change the model (p = 0.750). There were 2,504 cases when the model was better fit.

The analysis of standardized estimations (*bias-corrected*, 95% CI) showed that most paths in the model are statistically significant at a level of p < 0.05 (with simultaneous 95% CI).

The analysis of "input additionality"—conducted to determine the impact of EU funds on innovation (*InnoFundEU*)—showed there is a positive and statistically significant relationship between the funds granted and the acquisition of advanced machinery and equipment (*AcqMachEq*) to produce new or significantly improved products and processes.

The negative and statistically significant relationship between the received funds (*InnoFundEU*) and expenditures on external R&D (*ExtR&D*) indicates that an increase in EU funds leads to a decreased propensity for external expenditures, which may suggest the existence of the crowding-out effect. A clear confirmation of this effect would require additional in-depth research.

¹⁵ The ADF method does not require the assumption of multivariate normal distribution, yet an estimation based on this method is only possible with large samples (Bedyńska, Książek, 2012). This study meets this requirement.

Table 10Standardized estimates for the structural model

P	aramet	er	Estimate	LC	UCI	P value				
Dependence between (input additionality)	expend	itures on innovation act	tivities and EU finan	cial support						
AcqMachEq	<	InnoFundEU	0.185***	0.140	0.225	0.000				
ExtR&D	<	InnoFundEU	-0.076*	-0.141	-0.011	0.022				
Hierarchy of variables influencing innovation performance, including output additionality										
InnoPerf	<	AbsCap	0.113**	0.051	0.173	0.001				
InnoPerf	<	TrainPers	0.084**	0.021	0.149	0.008				
InnoPerf	<	AcqMachEq	0.084*	0.018	0.152	0.014				
InnoPerf	<	ExtR&D	-0.074*	-0.137	-0.006	0.034				
InnoPerf	<	InnoFundEU	-0.035	-0.103	0.029	0.287				
InnoPerf	<	InstCoop	0.021	-0.049	0.090	0.556				
Dependence between additionality)	expend	itures on creation of abs	sorptive capacity and	l EU financial	support (beha	avioral				
TrainPers	<	InnoFundEU	0.059	-0.003	0.118	0.065				
AbsCap	<	InnoFundEU	0.047	-0.017	0.110	0.148				
Hierarchy of variables	influen	cing institutional coope	ration, including coo	operation addi	itionality					
InstCoop	<	InnoFundEU	0.143***	0.080	0.207	0.000				
InstCoop	<	TrainPers	0.075*	0.011	0.140	0.020				
InstCoop	<	AbsCap	0.048	-0.013	0.107	0.136				
Dependence among different innovation activity expenditures										
ExtR&D	<	AcqMachEq	-0.095**	-0.160	-0.030	0.006				
ExtR&D	<	TrainPers	-0.084*	-0.149	-0.018	0.014				

Significant for: ***p< 0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05

<--- (direction of dependence).

The standardized coefficients (standardized estimates) show by how many standard deviations the value of the dependent variable will change when the value of the explanatory variable will increase by one standard deviation (Bedyńska, Książek, 2012).

Source: Own calculations in AMOS21 based on the obtained structural model.

Further analysis showed that three determinants of innovation performance (*InnoPerf*) (operationalized by the log of fraction of sales of innovative products in total sales) have a positive and statistically significant impact on enterprise innovation performance. In descending order, these are: absorptive capacity (*AbsCap*), training for innovative activities (*TrainPers*); and expenditures on machinery and equipment (*AcqMachEq*). By contrast, innovation performance (*InnoPerf*) decreases when expenditure on the purchase of external R&D (*ExtR&D*) grows.

Neither EU financial support nor institutional cooperation has a statistically significant influence on the innovation performance of the surveyed firms. Therefore

the existence of output additionality resulting from EU financial support has not been confirmed.

The Critical Ratio (CR) Analysis showed that absorptive capacity is a stronger determinant of innovation performance than external R&D expenditures. Differences between other determinants were not statistically significant.

The study did not confirm a statistically significant behavioral additionality effect for the studied group of enterprises.

The relationship between EU financial support (*InnoFundEU*) and absorptive capacity (*AbsCap*) proved to be statistically insignificant, while in the case of expenditure on personnel training related to the introduction of innovations (*TrainPers*), only a statistical trend was demonstrated.

In addition, the study showed that obtaining financial support from the EU (*Inno-FundEU*) as well as staff training (*TrainPers*) result in an increase in institutional cooperation (*InstCoop*). The Critical Ratio (CR) Analysis showed there is no difference between the strength of the influence of individual factors. The positive relationship between EU funds (*InnoFundEU*) and institutional cooperation (*InstCoop*) may testify to the existence of the cooperation additionality effect. The detailed results are presented in Table 10.

Conclusions

This study of the impact of European Union funds on innovative activities among Polish industrial enterprises showed the existence of input additionality, which means that EU funds earmarked for R&D have contributed to an increase in enterprise expenditure on machinery and equipment. At the same time, the research showed a negative relationship between EU financial support and expenditures on external R&D and a negative relationship between expenditures on machinery and equipment as well as training and expenditures on external R&D. These results suggest that European funds are chiefly spent by enterprises to buy machinery and equipment and to finance training programs rather than purchase external R&D services. At this point, it should be noted that EU funds appear to play a less important role if the innovation activities of enterprises are simultaneously financed from funds obtained from the national government (further study would be needed to prove this). In addition, the research sample was composed of medium-sized and large enterprises, where the crowding-out effect is observed more often than with small firms.

Among factors that stimulate the innovation performance of enterprises, of special importance are their knowledge and absorptive capacity, as well as staff training and acquisition of machinery and equipment. However, no output additionality was found, which means that there is no direct connection between EU funds and an increase in innovation performance, as measured by the percentage of innovative products in total sales. But the innovation process cannot be reduced to linear compounds only. Therefore, a study of indirect relationships between EU support and enterprise innovation performance could reveal some additional relationships that have not been verified here.

Nor has this study confirmed the existence of a statistically significant behavioral additionality, though, in this case as well, it can be expected that such an effect could be deferred over time. Instead, the analysis showed the existence of cooperation additionality in enterprises' cooperation with institutional partners.

Notably, our empirical studies are based on a representative sample of mediumsized and large industrial firms from NACE sections B to E. The structural equation model shows a high level of convergence with the empirical data; (CFI = 1.00; RMSEA = 0.000). Therefore, the results substantially reflect the business practices of the analyzed firms.

The research, however, has its limitations and these should be taken into consideration when interpreting the results. First, there is the issue of sample selection bias, which stems from the fact that a proven record of cooperation with institutional partners is one of the conditions for receiving EU funds. Also, there is a set of other enterprise features that have not been analyzed here even though they increase the probability of support being granted. Second, public support for innovative businesses is, by definition, long-term, and its effects can be significantly delayed. Third, the research looked at large and medium-sized manufacturing enterprises, which means the conclusions pertaining to this group cannot be extended to apply to small firms and the service sector.

Space constraints do not allow for a deeper analysis to identify issues such as to what extent, if at all, the discussed relationships depend on such enterprise features as their technological level or the intensity and geographical span of sales.

Despite these limitations, the survey results offer an insight into some aspects of the impact of R&D funding from the EU on the innovativeness of Polish firms.

To sum up, the results of the analysis conducted in this subchapter show that Poland's national innovation system is in need of further restructuring. Even though most innovativeness indicators in the Polish economy improved in 2004–2013, this improvement was too slow to guarantee convergence with their average indicators in the EU. This means that the innovation gap that separates Poland from the average EU level is widening.

Poland's integration with the EU is undoubtedly one of the factors that has helped the country embark on a path of catching up with European innovation leaders. Coordination of Polish innovation policy with EU policy, monitoring and constant benchmarking of advances in innovation performance, and access to R&D funding from the EU—these are just some of the activities that support the restructuring of Poland's national innovation system. The study of the additionalities of EU R&D funding has confirmed the importance of these funds for the modernization of Polish firms. The modernization process is chiefly taking place through the procurement of new machines and equipment. In addition, EU funds contribute to the growth of the absorption capacity of firms via training and the development of cooperation, especially cooperation with institutional partners (as shown by the analysis of the additionalities of innovation policy). The financing of R&D activities with EU funds has not had an impact so far on an increase of companies' own R&D funding, nor has it stimulated the procurement of outside research services or an increased innovativeness of Polish firms as measured by sales of innovative products as a percentage share of total sales. However, these effects can appear with some delay in reference to inputs, which means that capturing them in the short term, as attempted in this analysis, is very hard to do. Still, it is clear that outside resources, including those from the EU, can play a supportive role in the development of enterprises' ability to innovate (Weresa, 2004; 2013). However, the key role in this process is played by domestic factors and their quality. Enhanced development of these resources and an improved ability to absorb new knowledge are the problems that should be solved by Polish innovation policy makers over the next decade.

References

Afcha, S., (2012), Analyzing the interaction between R&D subsidies and firm's innovation strategy, "Journal of Technology Management and Innovation," Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 57–70.

Bedyńska, S., Książek, M., (2012), Statystyczny drogowskaz 3. Praktyczny przewodnik wykorzystania modeli regresji oraz równań strukturalnych, Wydawnictwo Akademickie Sedno, Warsaw.

Bergman, K., Ejermo, O., Fischer, J., Hallonsten, O., Hansen, H.K., Moodysson, J., (2010), Effects of VINNOVA programmes on small and medium-sized enterprises—the cases of Forska & Väx and VINN NU in: "VINNOVA Analysis," VA 2010:09, Stockholm.

Berube, C., Mohnen, P., (2009), Are firms that receive R&D subsidies more innovative?, "Canadian Journal of Economics," Vol. 42 (1), pp. 206–225.

Bloom, N. Griffith, R., Van Reenen, J., (2002), Do R&D tax credits work? Evidence from a panel of countries 1979–199, "Journal of Public Economics," No. 85, pp. 1–31.

Bollen, K.A., Stine, R.A., (1992), Bootstrapping Goodness-of-Fit Measures in Structural Equation Models, "Sociological Methods Research," November, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 205–229.

Buisseret, T., Cameron, H., Georghiou, L., (1995), What difference does it make? Additionality in the public support of R&D in large firms, "International Journal of Technology Management," Vol. 10, No. 4/5/6, pp. 587–600.

Busom, I., (2000), An Empirical Evaluation of the Effects of R&D Subsidies, "Economics of Innovation and New Technology," Vol. 9 (2), pp. 111–148.

Cohen, W.M., Levinthal, D.A., (1989), Innovation and learning: The two faces of R&D, "Economic Journal," No. 99, September, pp. 569–596.

Cohen, W.M., Levinthal, D.A., (1990), Absorptive capacity: A new perspective on learning and innovation, "Administrative Science Quarterly," No. 35, pp. 128–152.

Czarnitzki, D., Hanel, P., Rosa, J.M., (2011), Evaluating the impact of R&D tax credits on innovation: A microeconometric study on Canadian firms, "Research Policy," Vol. 40 (2), pp. 217–229.

De Wit, B., R., Meyer, (2005), Strategy Synthesis: Resolving Strategy Paradoxes to Create Competitive Advantage, Thomson Learning, London. Efron, B., (1979), Bootstrap Methods: Another Look at the Jackknife, "The Annals of Statistics," Vol. 7, No. 1 (January 1979), pp. 1–26.

European Commission, (2013), Innovation Union Scoreboard 2013, European Commission, Brussels.

European Commission, (2013a), Research and Innovation Performance in EU Member States and Associated Countries. Innovation Union Progress at Country Level, Directorate-General for Research and Innovation, European Commission, Brussels.

Garcia, A., Mohnen, P., (2010), Impact of government support on R&D and innovation, "Unu-Merit Working Paper," No. 2010–034.

Grant, R.M., (1991), The resource-based theory of competitive advantage: implications for strategy formulation, "California Management Review," No. 33, pp. 114–135.

Greene, W., (2003), Econometric Analysis, London, Prentice-Hall.

Guijarro-Madrid, A., Garcia, D., Van Auken, H., (2009), Barriers to innovation among Spanish manufacturing SMEs, "Journal of Small Business Management," Vol. 47, No. 4, pp. 465–488.

GUS, (2012), Działalność innowacyjna przedsiębiorstw w latach 2008–2010, Urząd Statystyczny w Szczecinie, Warsaw.

GUS, (2013), Nauka i technika w 2012 r., Główny Urząd Statystyczny, Warsaw.

GUS, (2013), Działalność innowacyjna przedsiębiorstw w latach 2010–2012, (2013), Urząd Statystyczny w Szczecinie, Warsaw.

Halpern, L., (2010), R&D subsidies and firm performance in Hungary, "Micro-Dyn Working Paper," No. 38/10.

Hayes, A.F., (2009), Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium, "Communication Monographs," Vol. 76(4), pp. 408–420.

Henseler, J., (2011), Why generalized structured component analysis is not universally preferable to structural equation modeling, "Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science," Vol. 40(3), pp. 402–413.

Hussinger, K., (2003), Crowding out or Stimulus: The Effect of Public R&D Subsidies on Firm's R&D Expenditure, Centre for European Economic Research (ZEW), draft version July 2003.

Kang, K.N., Park, H., (2012), Influence of government R&D support and inter-firm collaborations on innovation in Korean biotechnology SMEs, "Technovation," Vol. 32, No. 1, pp. 68–78.

Kim, Y., Lui, S. S., (2010), Networks and firm innovation in emerging markets: The case of Korean manufacturing firms, paper presented at the 36th European International Business Academy Annual Conference, Porto, Portugal.

Kogut, B., Zander, U., (2003), *Knowledge of the firm and the evolutionary theory of the multinational corporation*, "Journal of International Business Studies," Vol. 34, pp. 516–529.

Lewandowska, M.S., (2012), Bariery finansowe a sprawność innowacyjna polskich przedsiębiorstw, in: Znaczenie innowacji dla konkurencyjności międzynarodowej gospodarki, T. Rynarzewski, E. Mińska-Struzik (eds.), "Zeszyty Naukowe. Uniwersytet Ekonomiczny w Poznaniu," No. 246, Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego w Poznaniu, Poznań, pp. 350–362.

Lokshin, B., Hagedoorn, J., Letterie, W., (2011), *The bumpy road of technology partnerships: Understanding causes and consequences of partnership mal-functioning*, "Research Policy," Vol. 40, No. 2, pp. 297–308.

Luukkonen, T., (1998), The difficulties in assessing the impact of EU framework programmes, "Research Policy," Vol. 27, No. 6, pp. 599–610.

Monjon, S., Waelbroeck, P., (2003), Assessing spillovers from universities to firms: evidence from French firmlevel data, "International Journal of Industrial Organization," No. 21 (9), pp. 1255–1270. Mothe, C., Uyen Nguyen Thi, T., (2010), *The link between non-technological innovations and technological innovation*, "European Journal of Innovation Management," Vol. 13, No. 3, pp. 313–332.

Nieto, M. J.; Santamaría, L., (2007), The importance of diverse collaborative networks for the novelty of product innovation, "Technovation," Vol. 27 No. 6–7, pp. 367–377.

Norman, C., Klofsten, M., (2010), Financing new ventures: attitudes towards public innovation support, "New Technology-Based Firms in the New Millennium," Vol. VIII, pp. 89–110.

OECD, (2012), Tax Incentives for Research and Development, in: OECD Science Technology and Industry Outlook 2012, OECD Publishing.

Perek-Białas, J., Pleśniak, A., (2013), *Wprowadzenie do modelowania równań strukturalnych z* AMOS-*em*, materials for Winter Analytical Workshop SWPS, Predictive Solutions, Warsaw, Feb. 5–6, 2013.

PNT-02. Sprawozdanie o innowacjach w przemyśle za lata 2008–2010, www.stat.gov.pl/formularze

Robin, S., Schubert, T., (2013), Cooperation with public research institutions and success in innovation: Evidence from France and Germany, "Research Policy," 2013, Vol. 42, pp. 149–166.

Serrano-Velarde, N., (2008), Crowding-out at the Top: The Heterogeneous Impact of R&D Subsidies on Firm Investment, European University Institute, Nov. 24, 2008.

Teirlinck, P., Spothoven, A., (2010), Fostering industry-science cooperation through public funding: Differences between universities and public research centres, "Journal of Technology Transfer," No. 37, pp. 676–695.

Tether, B.S., Tajar, A., (2008), The organizational-cooperation mode of innovation and its prominence amongst European service firms, "Research Policy," Vol. 37, pp. 720–739.

Veugelers, R., (1997), Internal R&D expenditures and external technology sourcing, "Research Policy," Vol. 26, No. 3, pp. 303–315.

Veugelers, R., Cassiman, B., (2004), Foreign subsidiaries as a channel of international technology diffusion: Some direct firm level evidence from Belgium, "European Economic Review," Vol. 48 (2), pp. 455–476.

Wanzenböck, I., Scherngell, T., Fischer, M.M., (2013), How do firm characteristics affect behavioural additionalities of public R&D subsidies? Evidence for the Austrian transport sector, "Technovation," Vol. 33(2), pp. 66–77.

Watkins, T., Paff, L.A., (2009), Absorptive Capacity and R&D Tax Policy: Are In-House and External Contract R&D Substitutes or Complements?, "Small Business Economics," Vol. 33 (2), pp. 207–227.

Weresa, M.A., (2004), Can foreign direct investment help Poland catch up with the EU?, "Communist and Post-Communist Studies," No. 37, pp. 413–427.

Weresa, M.A., (2013), Innovation System Restructuring in New EU Member States in Competition with Asia, "Collection of i4g Policy Briefs," European Commission, Brussels 2013, pp. 93–100.

Zahra, S.A., Hayton, J.C., (2008), The effect of international venturing on firm performance: The moderating influence of absorptive capacity, "Journal of Business Venturing," Vol. 23, No. 2, pp. 195–220.

3.4. Changes in Total Factor Productivity in 2004–2013 and the Competitiveness of the Polish Economy

Mariusz Próchniak

The analysis of total factor productivity (TFP) is conducted using the growth accounting framework. Growth accounting is an empirical exercise aimed at calculating how much economic growth is caused by changes in measurable factor inputs and in the level of technology. The level of technology, which cannot be directly observed, is measured as a residual. This means that we define technical progress as that part of economic growth which cannot be explained by changes in measurable factor inputs. This residual technical progress is interpreted as the increase in the total productivity of the inputs, denoted as TFP.

The basic model of growth accounting, used in an earlier edition of this report,¹⁶ includes two measurable factor inputs: labor and physical capital. To calculate the TFP growth rate, the following equation is used:

TFP growth
$$\equiv \frac{\dot{A}}{A} = \frac{\dot{Y}}{Y} - \left[s_K \frac{\dot{K}}{K} + (1 - s_K) \frac{\dot{L}}{L} \right],$$
 (1)

where Y – output (GDP), A – level of technology, K – physical capital, L – labor, s_K – physical capital share in income.

Since this edition of the report focuses on how Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries, including Poland, have benefited from their first 10 years in the European Union, this study has been expanded to include the human-capital augmented model of growth accounting. Such an approach enables a more detailed assessment of changes in total factor productivity in the studied countries.

In addition to the standard model of growth accounting, we also analyze its extended version with three factors: labor, physical capital, and human capital. The inclusion of human capital supplements the analysis presented in the 2012 edition

¹⁶ This paper is a follow-up study to the author's previous analyses on the subject (see for instance: Próchniak, 2013). The methodology of the analysis is described in detail in the 2008 edition of the report (Próchniak, 2008). Rapacki and Próchniak (2006) carry out the growth accounting framework for the whole group of post-socialist countries.

of the report.¹⁷ To calculate the TFP growth rate in the human capital-augmented model, we use the following equation:

TFP growth
$$\equiv \frac{\dot{A}}{A} = \frac{\dot{Y}}{Y} - \left[s_K \frac{\dot{K}}{K} + s_H \frac{\dot{H}}{H} + \left(1 - s_K - s_H \right) \frac{\dot{L}}{L} \right],$$
 (1)

where *H* represents the level of human capital, while s_H stands for the human capital share in income. According to the extended model, the growth of TFP is calculated as the difference between the GDP growth rate and the weighted average growth rate of three inputs: physical capital, human capital, and labor. Thus, in both the basic and extended models, TFP is measured as a residual.

The analysis covers 11 CEE countries, referred to as the EU11 (Poland, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Romania, Slovakia, and Slovenia), and the 2004–2013 period. A new element in this edition of the report is that the analysis also covers Croatia, which is the youngest EU member. Moreover, taking into account the aims of this edition of the report, the study also provides growth accounting for the EU15, or the 15 "old" EU members in Western Europe. Data for the EU15 constitute a reference point. We do not show the detailed estimates for individual EU15 countries but only aggregated figures for the entire group. All the calculations for the EU15 are weighted averages to make the results comparable. The time period of 2004–2013 covers the years of membership of most of the CEE countries in the EU. In this round of research, we updated all the time series of the analyzed variables. All the steps of the analysis were recalculated. Moreover, some time series have new coverage. Thus, all the results are fully documented in the study and the analysis does not use information from previous editions of the report.

The following time series were collected for the purposes of our analysis: (a) the growth rate of GDP, (b) the growth rate of labor, (c) the growth rate of physical capital, and (d) the growth rate of human capital. The data are derived from the following sources: the World Bank (World Bank, 2014), the International Monetary Fund (IMF, 2014), and the International Labor Organization (ILO, 2014a, 2014b).

The economic growth rate is the real annual GDP growth rate. The growth rate for labor is the change in total employment according to the International Labor Organization data (ILO (2014a) for the 2004–2012 period and ILO (2014b) for 2013). The figures for 2013 cover only three quarters; therefore, when calculating the 2013 employment dynamics, we compare these figures with those for the first three quarters of 2012 in order to compare with the corresponding period of the previous year.

¹⁷ See: Próchniak (2012).

The amount of physical capital is calculated using the perpetual inventory method with gross fixed capital formation measuring investment outlays. Moreover, we assume a 5% depreciation rate and an initial capital/output ratio of 3.¹⁸ (In the perpetual inventory method, the initial year should be earlier than the first year for which TFP is calculated; in our analysis the perpetual inventory method starts in 2000; this is the year for which we assume the capital-output ratio of 3).

The most difficult issue in selecting variables is the proper choice of the variable that measures the stock of human capital in the economy. The difficulty arises from the fact that there is no unique method for measuring human capital, and there are many variables used in the literature; each of them has its advantages and disadvantages, and the choice of a specific variable to a large extent depends on the availability of data. School enrollment ratios (secondary or tertiary) are often used to account for human capital. In our analysis, which is based on yearly data, the inclusion of school enrollment rates would not be proper from the economic point of view because their impact on economic growth is delayed (the number of children attending school or the number of students do not influence the current rate of economic growth). A better variable would involve the education level of those currently employed. The International Labor Organization provides data on the structure of education of those employed (grouped into various educational levels). When comparing a homogenous group of countries, as in the case of the EU11, the best human capital variable would be the number of people with a tertiary education. Therefore, in our research we measure the human capital stock by the number of employed persons aged 15-74 years (15-64 and 15-66 years in the case of two countries) and with a tertiary education. As in the case of labor inputs, the figures for 2013 cover only three quarters; thus, when calculating the 2013 dynamics, we compare these figures with those for the first three quarters of 2012 in order to compare with the corresponding period of the previous year.

We also assume that all the factor shares in income are the same. This means that, in the extended model, labor, physical capital, and human capital shares are all equal to one-third while, in the standard model, labor and physical capital shares are equal to one-half.¹⁹

¹⁸ According to estimates by King and Levine (1994), the capital/output ratio for the 24 OECD countries was around 2.5. Our assumption of 3 does not differ much from these estimates.

¹⁹ Arbitrary values of factor shares are widely assumed in empirical studies (King and Levine, 1994, Wang and Yao, 2003, Caselli and Tenreyro, 2005). Wang and Yao (2003) show that different assumptions about factor shares do not yield different outcomes. Caselli and Tenreyro (2005) obtain similar conclusions from models based on arbitrary and real factor shares. In most empirical studies, a physical capital share of 0.3 is assumed. However, for some countries (especially Poland), the physical capital share of 0.3 significantly overestimates the TFP growth rate. Thus, in line with a suggestion by Welfe (2001), this share in the standard model has been increased to 0.5 in order to better fit the real values.

Significantly, the adopted measure of human capital and the assumption that the human capital share in income is equal to one-third are both substantial simplifications of reality. As a result, when interpreting these TFP estimates, it is necessary to take into account our assumptions about human capital.

Table 11 shows the detailed breakdown of economic growth in the model with human capital. The values in the respective cells of the table show: (a) the growth rate of labor (*L*), physical capital (*K*), human capital (*H*), TFP, and GDP, (b) the contribution of labor, physical capital, human capital, and TFP to economic growth in percentage points, (c) the contribution of labor, physical capital, human capital, and TFP to economic growth in percentage terms. Table 12 illustrates the economic growth decomposition in the model without human capital. Its structure is analogous to that in Table 11, with some exceptions. The row concerning human capital is not related with the model presented in Table 12 and is consequently excluded. The column "growth (%)" and the row "GDP" are not shown in Table 12 to avoid redundant data (these data are the same as in Table 11).

Tables 13–15 sum up the data given in Tables 11 and 12. Tables 13 and 14 show the average values of the TFP growth rates in the EU11 throughout the 2004–2013 period as well as in three different subperiods: (a) in the first years of these countries' EU membership (2004–2007), (b) during the crisis or economic slowdown (2008–2009), (c) in the 2010–2013 period, which, for some countries, marked a time of recovery while for others was a period of continued poor macroeconomic performance. Table 13 concerns the human capital-augmented model, while Table 14 describes the model without human capital. Table 15 shows the percentage values of TFP contribution to economic growth for the 2004–2013 period in both models. Moreover, all three tables provide the minimum and maximum values of a given variable for the entire period.

We have divided the analyzed period into various subperiods for two reasons. First, we are interested in showing the changes in total factor productivity during various stages of EU membership; second, the global financial crisis and economic recession could disrupt the mechanisms driving the economy and lead to new trends and relationships between some macroeconomic variables. For example, in the years with negative GDP growth, the changes in TFP influence economic growth in a different way than in the years with positive GDP growth.²⁰

²⁰ For example, an increase in TFP has a positive impact on economic growth during an expansionary period but a negative impact during a recession.

Table 11 Labor, physical capital, human capital, and TFP contribution to economic growth, 2004–2013

			2004			2005			2006			2007			2008	
		growth	contr.	contr	growth	contr.	contr	growth	contr.	contr	growth	contr.	contr	growth	contr.	contr
		(%)	(%	(%)	(%)	(%	(%)	(%)	(%	(%)	(%)	(%	(%)	(%)	(%	(%)
	T	2.2	points)	16	0.2	points)	2	47	points)	24	4.5	points)	12	22	points)	17
ia.	K	2.2	0.8	10	3.1	1.0	16	<u>4.7</u> 5.3	1.0	24	6.1	2.0	31	6.7	2.2	36
gar	H	3.6	1.2	18	1.4	0.5	7	3.7	1.0	19	4.6	1.5	24	3.3	1.1	18
Bul	TFP	3.7	3.7	55	4.7	4.7	75	2.0	2.0	30	1.4	1.4	21	1.8	1.8	29
	ODP	6.7	6.7	100	6.4	6.4	100	6.5	6.5	100	6.4	6.4	100	6.2	6.2	100
в	L K	2.6	0.9	31	0.8	0.3	<u>6</u> 31	4.0	0.2	4	<u>2.1</u> 4.7	0.7	31	1.1	0.4	17
oati	H	1.8	0.6	14	-0.7	-0.2	-5	2.3	0.8	15	1.7	0.6	11	3.0	1.0	48
Ū	TFP	1.4	1.4	34	2.9	2.9	68	2.7	2.7	54	2.2	2.2	44	-0.9	-0.9	-43
	ODP	4.1	4.1	100	4.3	4.3	100	4.9	4.9	100	5.1	5.1	100	2.1	2.1	100
ep.		-0.7	-0.2	-5	1.2	0.4	6 19	1.4	0.5	6	2.1	0.7	12	1.3	0.4	14
h R	H	4.8	1.2	34	5.5	1.2	29	3.5	1.5	10	2.5	0.8	15	7.0	2.3	76
zec	TFP	2.2	2.2	46	3.2	3.2	48	4.1	4.1	59	2.9	2.9	50	-1.2	-1.2	-40
0	ODP	4.7	4.7	100	6.8	6.8	100	7.0	7.0	100	5.7	5.7	100	3.1	3.1	100
-	L	1.1	0.4	6	1.7	0.6	6	5.4	1.8	18	1.3	0.4	6	-0.2	0.1	1
Sinc	K H	0.1 5.4	2.0	28	0.1	2.0	25	(.l 43	2.4	14	8.9	3.0	39	8.9	3.0	-12
Est	TFP	2.1	2.1	34	3.0	3.0	33	4.5	4.5	45	4.3	4.3	58	-7.3	-7.3	176
	ODP	6.3	6.3	100	8.9	8.9	100	10.1	10.1	100	7.5	7.5	100	-4.2	-4.2	100
~	L	-0.3	-0.1	-2	-0.1	0.0	-1	0.5	0.2	5	-0.1	0.0	-39	-1.2	-0.4	-43
gar	K	2.7	0.9	19	3.0	1.0	26	3.2	1.1	27	2.7	0.9	817	2.8	0.9	104
Iun	TFP	9.5	0.8	17	2.0	2.0	<u> </u>	1.8	2.1	53	-1.0	-1.0	977	-1.5	-1.5	-169
1	ODP	4.8	4.8	100	4.0	4.0	100	3.9	3.9	100	0.1	0.1	100	0.9	0.9	100
	L	0.5	0.2	2	0.3	0.1	1	4.0	1.3	12	1.9	0.6	7	-0.6	-0.2	7
via	K	4.1	1.4	16	5.9	2.0	19	7.7	2.6	23	8.7	2.9	30	8.6	2.9	-87
Lat	H TED	14.6	4.9	25	5.0	6.2	18	5.1	1.9	17	0.2	2.1	42	13.1	4.4	-134
	ODP	8.9	8.9	100	10.1	10.1	100	11.2	11.2	100	9.6	9.6	100	-3.3	-3.3	100
~	L	-3.5	-1.2	-16	1.0	0.3	4	1.0	0.3	4	1.3	0.4	4	-1.8	-0.6	-21
anis	K	3.2	1.1	14	4.2	1.4	18	4.8	1.6	20	6.1	2.0	21	7.9	2.6	90
thu	H TED	3.8	1.3	17	11.3	3.8	48	3.2	1.1	14	8.4	2.8	29	4.8	1.6	54
E	ODP	7.4	7.4	100	2.3	2.3	100	7.8	7.8	100	9.8	9.8	100	2.9	2.9	100
	L	1.2	0.4	8	2.3	0.8	21	4.1	1.4	22	5.1	1.7	25	4.2	1.4	28
р	K	0.9	0.3	6	1.3	0.4	12	1.6	0.5	9	2.5	0.8	12	3.6	1.2	23
ola	H	9.6	3.2	60	12.8	4.3	118	8.0	2.7	43	6.3	2.1	31	6.8	2.3	44
	ODP	1.4	1.4	100	-1.8	$\frac{-1.8}{3.6}$	-51	6.2	6.2	100	6.8	6.8	100	0.5	5.1	100
	L	-1.3	-0.4	-5	-1.9	-0.6	-15	1.8	0.6	8	0.9	0.3	5	0.2	0.1	1
nia	K	3.4	1.1	13	3.9	1.3	31	3.8	1.3	16	4.3	1.4	23	6.6	2.2	30
euic	H	12.6	4.2	50	4.4	1.5	36	8.9	3.0	38	3.0	1.0	16	7.4	2.5	34
R		3.0	3.0	42	2.0	2.0	49	3.1	3.1	39	5.0	5.0	100	2.0	2.0	35
	L	-0.5	-0.2	-3	1.9	0.6	100	3.3	1.1	13	2.7	0.9	9	3.3	1.1	100
kia	K	3.2	1.1	21	3.3	1.1	17	4.5	1.5	18	4.9	1.6	16	5.3	1.8	31
ova	Н	6.3	2.1	42	12.5	4.2	63	6.6	2.2	26	-1.0	-0.3	-3	5.4	1.8	31
SI	TFP	2.0	2.0	40	0.7	0.7	11	3.6	3.6	43	8.3	8.3	79	1.1	1.1	19
	I	5.1	<u> </u>	40	0.7	0.7	4	8.5	0.5	8	2.7	10.5	13	5.8	0.2	6
iia	K	3.5	1.2	26	3.6	1.2	30	3.5	1.2	20	4.1	1.4	20	4.9	1.6	48
ver	Н	9.9	3.3	75	7.4	2.5	61	8.2	2.7	47	4.1	1.4	20	2.9	1.0	29
SIc	TFP	-1.8	-1.8	41	0.2	0.2	4	1.5	1.5	25	3.3	3.3	48	0.6	0.6	17
		4.4	4.4	100	4.0	4.0	20	5.9	5.9	100	7.0	7.0	100	3.4	3.4	823
10	K	1.1	0.5	21	1.2	0.4	25	1.7	0.6	17	1.9	0.6	21	2.2	0.7	1.971
E1	Ĥ	5.3	1.8	76	4.6	1.5	74	3.1	1.0	32	3.5	1.2	39	3.7	1.2	3,388
	TFP	-0.3	-0.3	-13	-0.4	-0.4	-20	1.1	1.1	33	0.6	0.6	21	-2.2	-2.2	-6,081
	ODP	2.3	2.3	100	2.1	2.1	100	3.2	3.2	100	3.0	3.0	100	0.0	0.0	100

			2009			2010			2011			2012			2013	
		mounth	contr.		anouth	contr.		mounth	contr.	contr	amounth	contr.	contr	anouth	contr.	
		(%)	(%	(%)	(%)	(%	(%)	(%)	(%	(%)	(%)	(%	(%)	(%)	(%	(%)
	L	-3.4	-1.1	21	-6.1	-2.0	-520	-3.4	-1.1	-62	-1.0	-0.3	-41	0.3	0.1	18
aria	K	8.3	2.8	-51	5.1	1.7	437	3.1	1.0	55	2.6	0.9	111	2.0	0.7	135
ulga	H	0.3	0.1	-2	-3.2	-1.1	-272	-0.2	-0.1	4	1.0	0.3	43	7.2	2.4	482
P P	ODP	-1.2	-1.2	100	1.8	1.8	400	2.0	1.8	100	0.1	0.1	100	-2.7	-2.7	100
	L	-1.4	-0.5	7	-4.1	-1.4	61	-3.0	-1.0	2,119	-3.5	-1.2	59	-4.7	-1.6	265
tia	K	5.2	1.7	-25	3.4	1.1	-49	1.9	0.6	-1,329	1.3	0.4	-22	0.9	0.3	-53
Croa	H	5.6	1.9	-27	1.3	0.4	-19	_4.5	-1.5	3,218	2.7	0.9	-46	1.6	0.5	-90
	ODP	-10.1	-10.1	145	-2.5	-2.5	108	1.8	1.8	-3,908	-2.2	-2.2	100	_0.1	-0.6	100
ċ	L	-1.4	-0.5	10	-0.5	-0.2	-7	0.8	0.3	16	0.8	0.3	-20	1.0	0.3	-92
Rep	K	4.7	1.6	-35	3.2	1.1	43	3.0	1.0	56	2.8	0.9	-76	2.3	0.8	-207
ch	H	7.0	2.3	-52	6.4	2.1	86	7.5	2.5	137	6.3	2.1	-171	8.8	2.9	-808
CZ		-7.9	-1.9	1/0	-0.6	-0.6	-23	-2.0	-2.0	100	-4.5	-4.5	368	-4.4	-4.4	1207
	L	-9.4	-3.1	22	-4.4	-1.5	-57	6.4	2.1	22	1.3	0.4	11	1.9	0.6	42
jia.	K	6.1	2.0	-14	1.4	0.5	18	0.8	0.3	3	3.0	1.0	25	3.6	1.2	77
stor	H	1.3	0.4	-3	-4.7	-1.6	-61	5.1	1.7	18	5.1	1.7	43	3.2	1.1	68
Ш	ODP	-13.4	-13.4	95	5.1	5.1	200	5.4	5.4	57	0.8	0.8	21	-1.5	-1.5	-87
	L	-2.3	-0.8	11	-0.2	-0.1	-5	0.8	0.3	100	1.6	0.5	-31	1.5	0.4	2.38
ary	K	2.8	0.9	-14	1.7	0.6	44	1.0	0.3	20	0.6	0.2	-12	0.3	0.1	66
gun	Н	1.3	0.4	-6	1.3	0.4	32	6.4	2.1	129	4.3	1.4	-83	3.0	1.0	604
Ē	TFP	-7.4	-7.4	109	0.4	0.4	28	-1.1	-1.1	-66	-3.9	-3.9	226	-1.3	-1.3	-808
		-0.8	0.8	25	1.5	1.5	195	1.0	1.0	11	$\frac{-1.7}{2.9}$	$10^{-1.7}$	17	2.5	0.2	21
.е	K	5.8	1.9	-11	1.4	0.5	_49	0.1	0.0	0	1.6	0.5	9	2.3	0.8	19
atvi	Н	-4.5	-1.5	9	-0.5	-0.2	17	-2.8	-0.9	-17	6.9	2.3	41	6.2	2.1	52
	TFP	-13.6	-13.6	77	0.6	0.6	-62	5.8	5.8	106	1.8	1.8	32	0.3	0.3	8
		75	$\frac{-1/.1}{25}$	100	-0.9	-0.9	100	2.5	5.5	24	2.0	5.6	27	4.0	4.0	100
nia	K	6.3	2.1	-14	1.4	0.5	30	1.3	0.4	7	1.6	0.5	15	1.0	0.4	12
uai	H	-1.7	-0.6	4	-3.9	-1.3	-85	1.7	0.6	10	1.2	0.4	11	2.7	0.9	26
Lit	TFP	-13.9	-13.9	94	3.9	3.9	259	3.4	3.4	58	1.7	1.7	47	1.8	1.8	52
		-14.8	-14.8	8	1.5	1.5	100	5.9	5.9	100	3.6	3.6	100	3.4	3.4	100
р	K	4.1	1.4	83	3.6	1.2	31	3.3	1.1	24	3.0	1.0	54	2.5	0.8	62
lan	Н	9.5	3.2	194	4.0	1.3	34	4.0	1.3	29	5.4	1.8	97	5.0	1.7	124
P	TFP	-3.0	-3.0	-185	1.4	1.4	36	1.9	1.9	43	-1.0	-1.0	-54	-1.0	-1.0	-78
		1.0	1.6	100	3.9	3.9	100	4.5	4.5	100	1.9	1.9	58	1.3	1.3	100
jia	K	8.0	2.7	-40	3.6	1.2	-105	3.0	1.0	47	3.5	1.2	168	3.6	1.2	60
mai	Н	3.0	1.0	-15	3.6	1.2	-105	8.5	2.8	131	3.4	1.1	164	2.8	0.9	47
Ro	TFP	-9.7	-9.7	148	-3.5	-3.5	307	-1.3	-1.3	-62	-2.0	-2.0	-290	-0.1	-0.1	-5
		-6.6	-6.6	100	-1.1	-1.1	100	2.2	2.2	100	0.7	0.7	100	2.0	2.0	100
ia.	K	49	16		$\frac{-2.1}{2.6}$	0.0	19	33	11	34	33	11	54	21	0.7	83
vak	Ĥ	5.1	1.7	-34	8.9	3.0	68	6.0	2.0	62	1.3	0.4	21	2.1	0.7	84
SIC	TFP	-7.3	-7.3	147	1.3	1.3	29	-0.3	-0.3	_9	0.4	0.4	18	-0.5	-0.5	-60
	UDP	-4.9	-4.9	100	4.4	4.4	100	3.2	3.2	100	2.0	2.0	100	0.8	0.8	100
ia	K	$\frac{-1.1}{57}$	17		2.4	0.0	$\frac{-31}{64}$	-2.0	0.5	77	0.6	0.4	7	0.7	0.1	7
ven	Ĥ	3.7	1.2	-16	2.5	0.8	66	4.7	1.6	221	4.0	1.3	53	3.9	1.3	50
Slo	TFP	-10.6	-10.6	133	0.1	0.1	7	-0.5	-0.5	-78	-3.7	-3.7	147	-3.2	-3.2	125
	ODP	-7.9	-7.9	100	1.3	1.3	100	0.7	0.7	100	-2.5	-2.5	100	-2.6	-2.6	100
		10	-0.0	13	0.5	0.1	<u>-)</u> 14	0.4	0.1	17	0.4	0.1	<u> </u>	0.5	0.2	295
E15	H	2.4	0.8	-19	2.3	0.9	37	3.2	1.1	68	3.2	1.1	-276	2.7	0.2	-1,735
D	TFP	-5.4	-5.4	118	1.1	1.1	54	0.1	0.1	8	-1.6	-1.6	409	-1.0	-1.0	1,925
	ODP	-4.6	-4.6	100	2.0	2.0	100	1.6	1.6	100	-0.4	-0.4	100	-0.1	-0.1	100

Source: Author's calculations.

Table 12

Labor, physical capital, and TFP contribution to economic growth in the model without human capital, 2004–2013

		2004		2005		2006		20	07	20	08
		contr. (% points)	contr. (%)								
	L	1.6	23	0.2	2	2.3	36	2.2	35	1.6	26
Bulgaria	Κ	1.2	17	1.6	25	2.7	41	3.0	47	3.3	54
	TFP	4.0	59	4.6	73	1.5	23	1.2	18	1.2	20
	L	1.3	31	0.4	10	0.3	5	1.1	21	0.5	26
Croatia	K	1.9	47	2.0	46	2.0	41	2.3	46	2.4	117
	TFP	0.9	22	1.9	44	2.6	54	1.7	33	-0.9	-43
	L	-0.4	-7	0.6	9	0.7	10	1.1	18	0.6	21
Czech R.	K	1.8	38	1.8	26	1.9	27	2.0	34	2.4	76
	TFP	3.3	69	4.4	65	4.5	64	2.7	47	0.1	3
	L	0.5	9	0.8	9	2.7	27	0.6	8	-0.1	2
Estonia	K	3.1	48	3.1	34	3.5	35	4.4	59	4.5	-107
	TFP	2.7	43	5.0	56	3.9	38	2.4	33	-8.5	205
	L	-0.2	_4	-0.1	-1	0.3	7	-0.1	-58	-0.6	-65
Hungary	K	1.4	28	1.5	38	1.6	40	1.3	1,225	1.4	156
	TFP	3.6	75	2.5	63	2.0	52	-1.2	-1,066	0.1	9
	L	0.2	3	0.1	1	2.0	18	1.0	10	-0.3	10
Latvia	K	2.1	23	2.9	29	3.8	34	4.4	45	4.3	-131
	TFP	6.6	74	7.1	70	5.3	48	4.3	45	-7.2	221
	L	-1.7	-23	0.5	6	0.5	6	0.6	6	-0.9	-31
Lithuania	K	1.6	21	2.1	27	2.4	31	3.1	31	3.9	136
	TFP	7.5	102	5.2	67	4.9	63	6.1	62	-0.1	-5
	L	0.6	11	1.2	32	2.1	33	2.5	37	2.1	41
Poland	K	0.5	9	0.6	18	0.8	13	1.2	18	1.8	35
	TFP	4.3	80	1.8	50	3.4	54	3.0	45	1.2	24
	L	-0.6	-7	-1.0	-23	0.9	12	0.4	7	0.1	1
Romania	K	1.7	20	1.9	47	1.9	24	2.1	34	3.3	45
	TFP	7.4	88	3.2	76	5.1	64	3.8	59	4.0	54
	L	-0.2	-5	1.0	15	1.7	20	1.4	13	1.6	29
Slovakia	K	1.6	31	1.7	25	2.2	27	2.4	23	2.6	46
	TFP	3.7	73	4.0	61	4.4	53	6.7	64	1.5	25
	L	2.7	60	0.3	7	0.7	12	1.4	19	0.3	10
Slovenia	Κ	1.7	39	1.8	45	1.8	30	2.1	30	2.5	73
	TFP	0.0	0	1.9	49	3.4	58	3.5	51	0.6	18
	L	0.5	23	0.6	30	0.8	26	0.8	28	0.5	1,234
EU15	K	0.7	31	0.8	38	0.8	26	1.0	32	1.1	2,956
	TFP	1.1	45	0.7	32	1.5	48	1.2	40	-1.5	-4,090

		2009		2010		20	11	20	12	20	13
		contr. (% points)	contr. (%)								
	L	-1.7	31	-3.1	-781	-1.7	-92	-0.5	-62	0.1	27
Bulgaria	K	4.2	-76	2.6	655	1.5	83	1.3	167	1.0	203
	TFP	-7.9	145	0.9	225	2.0	109	0.0	-5	-0.7	-130
	L	-0.7	10	-2.1	91	-1.5	3,179	-1.7	88	-2.4	397
Croatia	K	2.6	-38	1.7	-74	0.9	-1,994	0.7	-33	0.5	-79
	TFP	-8.9	128	-1.9	83	0.5	-1,085	-0.9	45	1.3	-218
	L	-0.7	16	-0.3	-11	0.4	23	0.4	-31	0.5	-138
Czech R.	K	2.3	-52	1.6	65	1.5	84	1.4	-115	1.1	-311
	TFP	-6.1	136	1.1	46	-0.1	-7	-3.0	245	-2.0	549
	L	-4.7	33	-2.2	-86	3.2	33	0.7	17	1.0	63
Estonia	K	3.0	-22	0.7	27	0.4	4	1.5	37	1.8	116
	TFP	-12.4	88	4.1	159	6.0	62	1.8	45	-1.2	-79
	L	-1.2	17	-0.1	-7	0.4	25	0.8	-47	0.6	356
Hungary	K	1.4	-21	0.9	66	0.5	30	0.3	-18	0.2	99
	TFP	-7.0	103	0.5	41	0.7	45	-2.8	164	-0.6	-355
	L	-6.8	38	-2.7	292	0.9	16	1.4	26	1.3	31
Latvia	K	2.9	-16	0.7	-74	0.0	1	0.8	14	1.1	29
	TFP	-13.9	78	1.1	-118	4.6	83	3.4	60	1.6	40
	L	-3.7	25	-2.4	-157	2.1	37	1.5	41	0.5	15
Lithuania	K	3.2	-21	0.7	46	0.7	11	0.8	22	0.6	17
	TFP	-14.3	96	3.2	211	3.1	52	1.4	37	2.3	68
	L	0.2	12	-0.1	-2	0.2	5	0.1	5	-0.2	-13
Poland	K	2.0	124	1.8	46	1.6	36	1.5	81	1.2	94
	TFP	-0.6	-37	2.2	56	2.6	58	0.3	14	0.3	20
	L	-0.8	12	-0.1	5	-0.5	-24	0.6	87	-0.1	-4
Romania	K	4.0	-61	1.8	-158	1.5	70	1.7	252	1.8	91
	TFP	-9.8	149	-2.9	253	1.2	54	-1.6	-239	0.3	13
	L	-1.5	30	-1.0	-24	0.6	19	0.2	10	-0.1	-10
Slovakia	K	2.4	-49	1.3	29	1.6	51	1.6	81	1.1	125
	TFP	-5.9	119	4.2	95	1.0	30	0.2	8	-0.1	-14
	L	-0.6	7	-0.7	-55	-1.3	-182	-0.5	21	-1.1	41
Slovenia	K	2.6	-33	1.2	96	0.8	116	0.3	-11	0.1	-3
	TFP	-10.0	126	0.7	59	1.2	166	-2.3	90	-1.6	62
	L	-0.9	20	-0.2	-8	0.2	11	-0.2	58	-0.2	442
EU15	K	0.9	-21	0.4	21	0.4	26	0.4	-106	0.3	-577
	TFP	-4.6	101	1.8	87	1.0	63	-0.6	149	-0.1	236

3.4. Changes in Total Factor Productivity in 2004–2013 and the Competitiveness of the Polish... 199

Source: Author's calculations.

The data in Tables 11–15 yield a number of findings. Over the entire period, the highest TFP growth rate in the model without human capital was recorded in Slovakia, Lithuania, and Poland. In 2004–2013, total factor productivity grew at an average rate of 2.0% per annum in Slovakia, 1.9% in Lithuania, and 1.8% in Poland. In the model without human capital, the average TFP growth rate of at least 1% was also noted by

Latvia (1.3%) and Romania (1.0%). In the remaining EU11 countries, the growth of productivity was much slower, not exceeding 0.5%, and sometimes it was even negative. Bulgaria, the Czech Republic and Estonia recorded TFP growth rates of 0.7%, 0.5% and 0.4% per annum respectively in 2004–2013, while Croatia, Slovenia and Hungary noted a fall in TFP on average by 0.4%, 0.2% and 0.2% respectively.

	1		-			
Country	The w	hole 2004–2013	period	2004-2007	2008-2009	2010-2013
Country	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Mean	Mean
Bulgaria	0.7	-7.2	4.7	2.9	-2.7	0.3
Croatia	-0.4	-10.1	2.9	2.3	-5.5	-0.7
Czech Republic	-0.8	-7.9	4.1	3.1	-4.6	-2.9
Estonia	0.3	-13.4	5.4	3.5	-10.3	2.5
Hungary	-1.1	-7.4	2.1	1.0	-4.4	-1.5
Latvia	0.3	-13.6	6.2	4.5	-12.0	2.1
Lithuania	1.4	-13.9	6.2	4.5	-7.3	2.7
Poland	0.2	-3.0	2.2	0.9	-1.4	0.3
Romania	-0.2	-9.7	3.6	3.1	-3.6	-1.7
Slovakia	0.9	-7.3	8.3	3.6	-3.1	0.2
Slovenia	-1.4	-10.6	3.3	0.8	-5.0	-1.9
EU15	-0.8	-5.4	1.1	0.3	-3.8	-0.3

Table 13TFP growth rates in the model with human capital (%)

Source: Author's calculations.

Table 14 TFP growth rates in the model without human capital (%)

Country	The w	hole 2004–2013	period	2004–2007	2008–2009	2010-2013
Country	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Mean	Mean
Bulgaria	0.7	-7.9	4.6	2.8	-3.3	0.6
Croatia	-0.4	-8.9	2.6	1.8	-4.9	-0.2
Czech Republic	0.5	-6.1	4.5	3.7	-3.0	-1.0
Estonia	0.4	-12.4	6.0	3.5	-10.5	2.7
Hungary	-0.2	-7.0	3.6	1.7	-3.5	-0.5
Latvia	1.3	-13.9	7.1	5.8	-10.5	2.7
Lithuania	1.9	-14.3	7.5	5.9	-7.2	2.5
Poland	1.8	-0.6	4.3	3.1	0.3	1.3
Romania	1.0	-9.8	7.4	4.9	-2.9	-0.8
Slovakia	2.0	-5.9	6.7	4.7	-2.2	1.3
Slovenia	-0.2	-10.0	3.5	2.2	-4.7	-0.5
EU15	0.0	-4.6	1.8	1.1	-3.1	0.5

Source: Author's calculations.

			The whole 200	04–2013 period				
Country	Mode	el with human c	apital	Model without human capital				
	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max		
Bulgaria	36	-536	456	54	-130	225		
Croatia	-341	-3,908	145	-94	-1,085	128		
Czech Republic	178	-108	1,207	122	-7	549		
Estonia	63	-87	200	65	-79	205		
Hungary	-148	-922	226	-87	-1,066	164		
Latvia	66	-62	314	60	-118	221		
Lithuania	71	-24	259	75	-5	211		
Poland	-20	-185	43	36	-37	80		
Romania	32	-290	307	57	-239	253		
Slovakia	32	-60	147	51	-14	119		
Slovenia	39	-78	147	68	0	166		
EU15	-354	-6,081	1,925	-329	-4,090	236		

Table 15TFP contribution to economic growth (%)

Source: Author's calculations.

Comparing the results achieved by the CEE countries with average outcomes for the EU15 group (in the model without human capital), it turns out that the CEE countries displayed more rapid TFP growth on average. In the EU15, total factor productivity did not change over the 2004–2013 period (the growth rate was 0.0%). This last figure means that the economic growth of the EU15 area as a whole can be explained by both physical capital and employment dynamics. Eight of the 11 CEE countries recorded a positive TFP growth rate in 2004–2013. Consequently, the competitive position of most EU11 countries—as measured by changes in total factor productivity—improved, compared with the Western European economies. This especially applies to Poland, which displayed rapid TFP growth in the analyzed period.

The human capital-augmented model shows that the inclusion of three factors leads to lower TFP growth estimates for most countries in the 2004–2013 period. This reflects the nature of these countries' economic growth path. Economic growth in these countries chiefly resulted from an increased accumulation of human capital. The detailed data in Table 11 confirm this. The applied methodology shows that among the three measurable factors of production—the biggest role in explaining GDP growth should be attributed to human capital. The role of labor and physical capital was less important (although there are major differences between individual countries and years). As a result, in the human capital-augmented model, almost all economic growth can be explained by the accumulation of both labor and two types of capital; thus, the TFP growth rates were estimated at a very low level. Only six CEE countries recorded a positive average TFP growth rate in 2004–2013: Lithuania at 1.4% per annum, Slovakia at 0.9%, Bulgaria at 0.7%, Estonia and Latvia each at 0.3%, and Poland at 0.2%. In the remaining five EU11 countries, TFP dynamics was negative throughout the analyzed period. The EU15 group as a whole also saw a drop in TFP. As in the model without human capital, the human capital-augmented model also shows that the new EU member states achieved better results in total factor productivity growth than Western Europe on average. This means that the level of competitiveness in the CEE countries improved in relative terms compared with the EU15.

Regardless of the model, the highest variance of TFP growth rates in the analyzed period was noted in the Baltic states. The strong differences in how productivity grew in these countries to a large extent result from high fluctuations in GDP growth rates. The Baltic states recorded rapid economic growth in the first few years of their EU membership, at times exceeding 10% per annum. These countries were also hardest hit by the implications of the global crisis because, in 2009, they noted a double-digit fall in GDP. As a result, TFP changes in the Baltics were the most differentiated among EU11 countries. The difference between the highest and the lowest TFP growth rates in the human capital-augmented model was 20.1 percentage points in Lithuania (ranging between 13.9% and 6.2%), 19.8 p.p. in Latvia, and 18.8 p.p. in Estonia. In the model without human capital, these differences were 21–22 p.p. in Lithuania and Latvia, and 18.4 p.p. in Estonia. Poland, which exhibited relatively regular growth in output throughout the 2004–2013 period and was the only EU country to avoid recession, recorded exceptionally small variations in TFP in both models, at 5.2 percentage points in the human capital-augmented model and at 4.9 p.p. in the model without human capital.

In the model without human capital, the percentage TFP contributions in most countries (except Croatia, the Czech Republic, Hungary, and Poland) ranged between 50% and 80% in 2004–2013. This confirms the important role of TFP in the economic growth of the studied countries after their EU entry. In Poland, the TFP contribution to economic growth was 36% on average in 2004–2013.

In the human capital-augmented model, TFP contributions to economic growth are much lower due to an important role of human capital in explaining GDP dynamics. As a result, negative percentage contributions were often noted for TFP. This, however, should be treated as a spurious result reflecting the residual method of calculating TFP, and is no way indicative of technological regression in some EU countries or regions.

Given the large differentiation of the results in the studied period, the calculations for individual subperiods yield a better assessment of the nature of the total factor productivity changes. The EU11 countries recorded very high TFP growth rates in the first few years of membership. The highest growth rates for productivity were noted by two Baltic states, Latvia and Lithuania. In the 2004–2007 period, Poland had an average TFP growth rate of 3.1% in the model without human capital and 0.9% in the

human capital-augmented model.²¹ The period of crisis and economic slowdown has considerably changed the growth accounting results, which were quite stable earlier. The global crisis has negatively affected TFP growth in the EU11 group. All the analyzed CEE countries noted negative TFP growth rates during the recession. The three Baltic states experienced the greatest deceleration in total factor productivity in the 2008–2009 period, compared with the 2004–2007 period. The fall of TFP in these countries was in the double digits in 2008–2009. In that two-year period, the best results in terms of productivity changes were achieved by Poland, where TFP growth was slightly positive in the model without human capital (with the average growth rate at 0.3%), while in the human capital-augmented model TFP dropped by 1.4% on average per annum. In the 2010–2013 period, average TFP growth was positive for most CEE countries with a few exceptions. During this period, the fastest TFP growth prevailed in the three Baltic states. Poland, with a GDP growth rate of 1.3%-4.5% in the 2010–2013 period, recorded 1.3% TFP growth per annum in the model without human capital and 0.3% in the human capital-augmented model.

The detailed results for the EU11 countries in 2013 show, however, that treating the averaged data for the 2010–2013 period as an optimistic forecast for the future may be misleading. In 2013, most of the countries in the analyzed group recorded negative TFP growth in both models, in part due to a return of the recession or continued slowdown. In the human capital-augmented model, an expansion in TFP in 2013 was only noted by Lithuania (1.8%), Latvia (0.3%), and Croatia (0.1%). In the model without human capital, the growth of TFP in 2013 also occurred in Poland and Romania. The results achieved by these CEE countries were relatively good compared with the EU15 group because in 2013, Western Europe as a whole revealed a drop in total factor productivity (measured in a residual manner) in both growth accounting models.

As we can see, in 2013 the EU11 countries, with a few exceptions, did not return to their TFP growth rates from their first few years of EU membership. Moreover, these countries' economic growth paths have not yet stabilized, as reflected by the large fluctuations in TFP growth rates in the last several years. The direction of further changes is uncertain and will depend on a number of factors determining economic growth in the EU11 countries in the years ahead.

Summing up, our results show that changes in productivity played an important role in the economic growth of Poland and other EU11 countries in the analyzed period. The TFP growth rates of the EU11 countries were higher than in Western Europe as a whole. This means that the new EU member states, including Poland, improved their relative competitive position measured by changes in total factor productivity after EU enlargement. This is a positive outcome of the Central and Eastern European countries' first 10 years in the European Union.

²¹ For the TFP growth rates for Poland in previous years, see e.g.: Rapacki (2002).

References

Caselli, F., Tenreyro S., (2005), Is Poland the Next Spain?, NBER Working Paper 11045.

ILO, (2014a), Key Indicators of the Labour Market (KILM) Database (kilm.ilo.org/kilmnet).

ILO, (2014b), Ilostat Database (www.ilo.org/ilostat).

IMF, (2014), World Economic Outlook Database (www.imf.org).

King, R.G., Levine R., (1994), Capital Fundamentalism, Economic Development, and Economic Growth, "Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy" No. 40, pp. 259–292.

Próchniak, M., (2008), *Methodology of Total Factor Productivity Analysis*, in: Weresa M.A. (ed.), *Poland. Competitiveness Report 2008*, World Economy Research Institute, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw, pp. 339–340.

Próchniak, M., (2012), Total Factor Productivity, in: Weresa M.A. (ed.), Poland. Competitiveness Report 2012. Focus on Education, World Economy Research Institute, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw, pp. 189–203.

Próchniak, M., (2013), Changes in Total Factor Productivity, in: Weresa M.A. (ed.), Poland. Competitiveness Report 2013. National and Regional Dimensions, World Economy Research Institute, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw, pp. 175–201.

Rapacki, R., (2002), Możliwości przyspieszenia wzrostu gospodarczego w Polsce, "Ekonomista" No. 4, pp. 469–493.

Rapacki, R., Próchniak M., (2006), Charakterystyka wzrostu gospodarczego w krajach postsocjalistycznych w latach 1990–2003, "Ekonomista" No. 6, pp. 715–744.

Wang, Y., Yao Y., (2003), Sources of China's Economic Growth 1952–1999: Incorporating Human Capital Accumulation, "China Economic Review" No. 14, pp. 32–52.

Welfe, W., (2001), Czynniki wzrostu potencjału gospodarczego Polski, "Ekonomista" No. 2, pp. 177-200.

World Bank, (2014), World Development Indicators Database (databank.worldbank.org).

Chapter 4 Policies and Institutions

This chapter evaluates selected intangible factors that determine changes in the competitiveness of the Polish economy. We analyze changes in economic policy from 2004 to 2013 and adjustments in the financial system, whose efficiency is of key importance to the competitiveness of the economy.

4.1. The Influence of EU Membership on Poland's Economic Policies in 2004–2013

Jan W. Bossak

EU membership has substantially changed Poland's economic policies. The adjustment of the country's legal system to European law has meant an increased role for market processes, entrepreneurship and competition. Poland can extensively take part in Community projects, programs and economic policies. It has access to European funds for the modernization and development of infrastructure, and benefits from funds earmarked for a reduction in regional and social disparities. The liberalization of external economic relations, demonopolization, deregulation, privatization, and a substantial reduction in state aid to enterprises have reduced the role of industrial policy. These reforms have contributed to increased economic cooperation with foreign countries, boosted entrepreneurship and spurred the development of small and medium-sized enterprises in Poland. Institutional changes have reduced the scope and changed the nature of economic policy.

Market-oriented reforms have improved the functioning of goods, services, and financial and labor markets. They have led to the introduction of new standards to improve the efficiency of market processes. Moreover, the reforms have facilitated entrepreneurship and innovation and opened up new opportunities for society and the economy, with reduced risk and transaction costs (Bossak, 2008).

EU membership has brought the Polish economy in line with international standards. It has promoted a more efficient use of the achievements of the information and communication (ICT) revolution and led to the liberalization of economic ties with foreign countries. It has contributed to a more active role of regions and local communities as well as local and regional governments. The country's EU entry has helped increase the role of international factors in shaping Poland's economic policies. This does not mean a reduction of sovereignty, but broader development opportunities related to internationalization and globalization. Membership has reduced the role of domestic political factors, while increasing the role of society and its impact on the shape of economic processes.¹

EU membership has had both a direct and an indirect impact on Poland's economic policies. The direct impact is associated with changes in Polish law, including the institutional adaptation of national legal regulations to European standards. The indirect impact is the contribution to an improvement in Poland's investment attractiveness.

As a result of signing the accession treaty in Athens, Poland gained access to substantial funding. It has become the largest recipient of EU structural funds. Nevertheless, these funds in relation to GDP were clearly less than those allocated to Ireland, for example.² As regulated by the accession treaty, Poland also has a relatively lower level of funding for farmers under the bloc's Common Agricultural Policy than old member states. This difference originally reached 40% and was justified by Poland's lower level of development and GDP per capita as well as differences in the purchasing power of currencies. Access to funding from the European Investment Bank also had a direct, tangible impact on the Polish economy.

In the initial period, Poland experienced difficulties with the efficient absorption of EU funds. A serious problem was posed by highly formalized procedures that impeded the process of accepting applications. Another stumbling block was that a significant portion of the applications had to be approved in Brussels.

Despite all these factors, which reduced the potential benefits of EU entry, Poland has substantially increased spending on development and modernization.

Access to the common labor market, initially limited by transition periods imposed by Germany, France, Spain, and Italy, has contributed to significant labor migration. The United Kingdom, Ireland, Sweden, and the Netherlands opened their labor markets to Polish workers immediately after the EU's eastward enlargement. At the height of the migration, 1.5 million Poles worked in EU countries. Labor migration

¹ The constitution defines the nature of Poland's social and economic system as a social market economy.

 $^{^2}$ In the case of Ireland, European financing reached 4% of that country's GDP, while in the case of Poland it was 2.5% of the GDP.

has thus helped reduce the unemployment rate in Poland and the related financial burden on the government. Significantly, Poles taking up work throughout the EU are able to repatriate some of their incomes to their families back home. In 2004–2013, the amount of private transfers, apart from direct transport of cash and goods, reached €4-6 billion a year. These transfers not only boosted consumption in the country, but significantly increased the level of savings and the investment rate.

The improved investment attractiveness of the Polish economy due to the country's EU membership led to an increased inflow of foreign funds. Nominal and real interest rates in Poland were higher than in the EU15. This, accompanied by progress in reducing inflation and the appreciation of the zloty, encouraged an inflow of short-, medium- and long-term capital. Particularly attractive were financial investments in Polish Treasury bonds. The process of privatization, combined with the country's economic growth and the rapid development of the capital market before the outbreak of the financial crisis in September 2008, encouraged foreign investors to invest in debt securities and shares of companies listed on the stock exchange. The contribution of foreign investors to the capitalization of the Warsaw Stock Exchange ranged from 35% to 50%. The overwhelming majority of investors came from other EU countries.

According to the Ministry of Finance, in 2004–2013 total EU funding amounted to \notin 92.4 billion, while the value of foreign direct investment increased from \notin 63.6 billion to \notin 178.2 billion. Portfolio investments and investments in Treasury bonds increased from \notin 41.5 billion to \notin 128 billion. Investment in shares rose from \notin 10 billion to \notin 28.3 billion. Investment in Treasury debt more than tripled, from \notin 31.4 billion to \notin 100.5 billion. Trade credit and loans rose from \notin 47 billion to \notin 114 billion.

The impact of liberalization on the market for goods, services, capital, and labor

The liberalization and creation of a common market for goods, services, capital, and labor have been of fundamental importance to Polish economic policy after EU accession. A set of new policies increased the scope of economic freedom. Privatization, deregulation, and demonopolization stimulated competition and innovation (Bossak, 2013). Faster economic growth and structural change ensured a better use of resources and opened up new development opportunities, especially for small and medium-sized enterprises.

EU membership and the adoption of an EU directive restricting state aid to enterprises contributed to more market-oriented policies in public undertakings and dramatically reduced the government's involvement in industry. They also accelerated the process of privatization in the economy.

The Maastricht criteria and Polish financial and monetary policy

As with all member states, Poland must comply with the financial and monetary criteria defined in the Maastricht Treaty and the Stability and Growth Pact. These criteria are designed to maintain a relatively low level of inflation, budget deficit, public debt and low interest rates for long-term bond debt and to stabilize fluctuations in the exchange rate of the zloty. Adherence to these criteria, as well as the objectives adopted in the Lisbon Strategy in March 2000 and subsequently upheld in the Europe 2020 strategy, are of fundamental importance to those seeking access to structural funds.

In 1997, Poland adopted a new democratic constitution that guarantees financial stability and a market economy system. The constitution also guarantees autonomy for the National Bank of Poland in monetary policy making. This means that regardless of changes in the political situation, the NBP's key goal is to ensure monetary stability and combat inflation.

Under the constitution, public debt must be kept below 60% of the country's GDP, thus leading to an increased level of confidence in Poland among foreign business partners. Confirming the irreversibility of market-based economic reforms, the constitution creates a good basis for the development of entrepreneurship, competition and innovation. This significant reduction in the level of systemic risk has helped increase Poland's investment attractiveness.

The excessive deficit procedure and Polish financial policy

In the event of a significant and persistent budget deficit, EU member states are obligated to take action to improve the sustainability of their public finances. This is in compliance with the Polish constitution. In recent years, the problem of imbalances in public finances has grown in Poland, as has the country's budget deficit. To a large extent this is due to slower economic growth combined with increased government spending on growing unemployment. Slower economic activity and difficulties experienced by various EU economies have reduced employment opportunities for Poles working abroad. As a result, their incomes, savings and private transfers to Poland have decreased.

An important negative impact on public finances is the growing indebtedness of the state pension system. This is due to demographic changes and the implications of a pension system reform carried out in 1999. Contrary to expectations, the reform has deepened the country's public debt and prompted the government to reduce it by resorting to controversial changes in the open pension fund system (OFE) in 2013.

Under the excessive budget debt procedure, Poland must reduce its budget deficit below 3% of GDP by 2015. To meet this target, in 2012 the government came up with legislation to raise the retirement age to 67 years for men and to 65 years for women. The reform limited access to early retirement and pension benefits. It also enabled

citizens to choose between a pension fund (OFE) and the pay-as-you-go (ZUS) system.

The Lisbon and Europe 2020 strategies and their impact on Polish economic policy and strategy

The Lisbon strategy adopted by the European Union in March 2000 has had a significant impact on Poland's economic policies. The strategy was intended to improve the international competitiveness of EU countries in 2000–2010. It identified 10 key objectives related to both new regulatory measures and the use of structural funds and Operational Programmes. Substantial EU funds were earmarked for improving the competitiveness of member economies, including the modernization and expansion of road, telecommunications, and energy infrastructure. The strategy also urged governments to mobilize national savings to help finance these projects

Procedures related to the implementation of the strategy's objectives required member states to come up with their National Strategic Reference Frameworks (NSRF) under the EU's Financial Perspective for the 2007–2013 period. Member states, including Poland, were also expected to prepare the National Reform Programmes (NRPs) and reports on the implementation of the strategy's objectives. These documents were the basis for the evaluation and preparation of the European Commission's recommendations for individual countries and consequently had an influence on access to structural funds.

In 2005, the Lisbon strategy changed fundamentally after a summit in Stockholm and a critical report by former Dutch prime minister Wim Kok. The report proposed measures to increase labor force activity and employment, while reducing the unemployment rate. It stressed the need for the development of human capital, a knowledgebased economy and the need to enhance entrepreneurship. It also recommended support for the development of small and medium-sized enterprises. Further changes in the Lisbon strategy in 2007–2008 led to what was in fact a retreat from the policy of increasing the competitiveness of the EU economy. Instead, the European Union focused on energy policy and climate change. The result was the adoption of ambitious CO2 emission reduction targets and a call for an increased use of renewable energy sources. In the new Europe 2020 strategy, smart, sustainable, and inclusive economic growth is seen as the main goal for the European Union.

The impact of the financial crisis and EU policies on Poland's economic policy

The financial crisis has had a significant impact on Poland's economic situation and its economic policies. In its early stages, the crisis was linked with the expansion of mortgage loans and their securitization in the United States. The negative impact of the crisis on the banking sector in EU countries called for state intervention, which led to a significant increase in the budget deficit and public debt, in particular in Mediterranean countries such as Greece, Portugal, Spain, and Italy as well as in Ireland. This was accompanied by a radical increase in the risk and cost of credit insurance and foreign loans needed to finance growing budget deficits. As a consequence, these countries lost their financial liquidity and worsened their credit standing. They also recorded a rapid increase in their sovereign debt.

As the financial condition of banks deteriorated, in order to prevent bankruptcies, the European Central Bank (ECB) and the European System of Central Banks (ESCB)—composed of the European Central Bank and the national central banks of all EU member states—implemented a series of measures to improve liquidity, in particular in those EU countries that are members of the Economic and Monetary Union, or the eurozone.

Countries from outside the euro area, including Poland, were in a different economic and financial situation and thus maintained high interest rates in both nominal and real terms until 2013. The relatively high rate of the Polish central bank, the NBP. encouraged households to increase savings. The relatively good financial situation of the banking sector enabled a high level of credit growth. Unlike its counterparts in most other EU countries, the Polish government did not become engaged in lifesaving operations to benefit private banks. The Polish Financial Supervision Authority (KNF) and the Financial Stability Committee (KSF) implemented measures to stabilize finances by increasing guarantees on deposits in private banks. They recommended that banks increase equity and improve their capital adequacy ratios. Poland also introduced the so-called Basel III regulatory standards on bank capital adequacy and market liquidity risk. Moreover, the Polish financial system was brought in line with the EU's Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MIFID), which provides harmonized regulation for investment services across the eurozone, and with the CRD III directive, which reduces the salaries of bank executives and bonuses for risk managers at banks.

Common energy policy and the EU's climate policy and its impact on Poland

Poland attaches great importance to the common energy policy. The EU's dependence on external sources of energy exceeds 50% of its energy balance sheet in the case of oil and gas. The supply of these fuels is highly dependent on supplies from the Middle East and Russia. This increases the level of risk, in particular for EU members in Central and Eastern Europe.

The smooth functioning of the EU energy market requires regulation and infrastructure. This is being accomplished through liberalization and the creation of a common energy market, in addition to the development of cross-border links, which are expected to ensure smooth flows of gas, oil and electricity. The European Commission's *Energy Infrastructure Priorities for 2020 and Beyond* report determines the EU's regulatory and infrastructure priorities. In the report, the Commission identified 12 priority corridors and areas covering electricity, gas, oil and carbon dioxide transport networks. A special Priority Interconnection Plan (PIP) was drawn up to supplement Trans-European energy networks (TEN-E).

According to the Polish government, external interconnections require particular attention because they are responsible for more than 50% of the EU's energy supplies. The problem is that energy supplies are increasingly becoming a political issue. This has been confirmed by events in Ukraine, Georgia, Syria, and Libya.

The European Union pays special attention to four projects: a power link between Germany, Poland, and Lithuania; interconnections between wind farms on the North Sea and the continent; energy links between France and Spain; and a southern corridor linking the Caspian and Baltic Sea basins with the European Union—including the Nabucco gas pipeline running to Austria and Germany via Turkey, Bulgaria, Romania, and Hungary.

Energy-efficient infrastructure networks are essential not only for the internal energy market, but also for sustainable development, competitiveness and secure energy supplies. This requires considerable investment in the existing gas and electricity networks, along with rapid development of interconnections. These are vital to the development of healthy competition and an effective internal energy market. They would also help prevent the risk of insufficient supplies by diversifying the sources of supply.

On Jan. 22, 2014, the European Commission presented the objectives of the EU's energy and climate policies until 2030. Poland is critical about the Commission's proposal to reduce CO2 emissions by 40% by 2030 and to increase the share of renewable energy to 27%.

In November 2013, the European Union continued to debate energy policy at a Climate Summit in Warsaw. Poland underlined the need for a global agreement in this area. At the same time, the Polish government called for the need to promote energy efficiency in EU policy to help build the bloc's international competitiveness.

Under Poland's energy policy, which is a key component of the country's development and economic security strategy, domestic coal and lignite deposits are seen as a major item in the country's energy mix. According to the Polish government, coal should remain the basis for the Polish energy sector due to its competitive cost and strategic importance to the country's energy security.

Despite a number of positive effects, the EU's climate and energy policy could have a negative impact on the Polish economy. It could lead to a significant reduction of production in energy-intensive sectors such as steel, metallurgy, cement, and nitrogen fertilizers.

The costs of this policy for the Polish economy could be much higher than for the EU as a whole. Polish deputies at the European Parliament are warning that Brussels' drive to tighten the EU's climate policy could harm the European economy, in particular

Poland. The Polish government is pushing for a departure from the policy of identical emission reduction targets for all member states and calling for the introduction of per capita CO2 emissions targets instead. Such a change would reduce the costs of the emission reduction policy for Poland because the country has lower levels of CO2 emissions per capita than most developed EU countries.

Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP) and its potential impact on Poland

The ICT revolution and progress in the internationalization of economies has resulted in increased competition and innovation worldwide. The United States and EU countries have entered a postindustrial stage of development based on innovation. Their competitive advantage has moved from the trade of goods to exports of services, technology, know-how, financial income, and intellectual property rights. The EU's Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP) negotiations with the United States, which started in June 2013, come after the bloc's Economic Partnership Agreements (EPA) with South Korea and Canada as well as negotiations with Japan. In Asia, a series of Free Trade Agreements (FTA) have been reached by countries around the Pacific—known as Transpacific Trade Partnerships (TTP). The importance of the TTIP is related to the role of the United States and the European Union in the global economy. The TTIP is also a reaction to potentially dangerous plans by China, Japan and South Korea to establish a special partnership comprising a FTA and a currency union. Such a partnership could reduce the role of the U.S. dollar and the euro in world finance and exchanges.

In the last five years, the EU has lost some of its dynamism and widened the gap with the more competitive U.S. economy. The European Union faces problems related to its relatively high unemployment rate in addition to fiscal problems, public debt, and high energy costs. The TTIP is expected to encourage entrepreneurship through liberalization, demonopolization, stronger competition, and innovation. Given the role of the United States and the EU in global GDP, trade, services, technology and know-how turnover, research, innovation and increased incomes and employment. Liberalization is expected to stimulate competition and provide a greater choice and new market alternatives. Increased competition is expected to upgrade adjustment and innovation processes, promote better allocation of resources, improve efficiency, help increase incomes and the purchasing power of the population, and offer a wider choice for buyers.

Besides barriers to trade, there are important problems related to public procurement, finance and investment. Also of strategic importance is liberalization of energy trade. Lifting the ban on American shale gas exports to Europe could have serious repercussions for the energy and climate policy and offer far-reaching benefits for both partners. The importance of the EU's CO2 emission targets would be reduced and the bloc would be less dependent on Russian gas imports. The question is if shale gas imports to the EU would lead to reduced subsidies to renewable energy sources such as wind and solar power. Another question is how potentially cheaper and more secure energy would influence the plan to build nuclear power plants in Poland; and how it would influence projects related to the extraction of shale gas in Europe. One final question is how shale gas exports from the United States to the EU would influence the price of Russian gas and oil as well as that country's export revenue and imperial ambitions. Depending on the answers to these questions, the TTIP could have a fundamental impact on Poland's energy and climate policies as well as on the structure of the Polish economy.

An important issue related to the TTIP is agricultural trade and GMOs. Another vital issue is the agreement's potential impact on employment and structural changes following price and income adjustments.

The London-based Centre for Economic Policy Research has published an analysis of the potential benefits of the TTIP. The annual gains for the EU are estimated at €119 billion and those for the United States at €95 billion. The TTIP would bring an extra €545 in disposable income for households in the EU and €655 euro per family in the United States. And the benefits for the parties to the TTIP would not be at the expense of the rest of the world; global benefits would amount to almost €100 billion.

The TTIP agreement would contribute to an increase in EU goods and service exports to the United States by 28% to €187 trillion. Eighty percent of the total potential gains are expected to come from lower costs of bureaucracy and trade, services, and public procurement regulations.

It is not clear when the TTIP negotiations will end. After three rounds of negotiations it is expected that an agreement will be reached by the beginning of 2015.

EU membership, internationalization and benefits

Poland made significant economic progress during its first 10 years in the European Union, despite a stagnation in many EU economies in the second half of the decade. In the difficult years of the international financial crisis, Poland was the only European country to record GDP growth. Poland reduced its development gap by undertaking projects involving the modernization and expansion of its road, energy and railway infrastructure. At the time of the international financial crisis, Poland strengthened its net investment position. As a result, the country's credit rating remained stable, while the ratings of many other European countries deteriorated. Poland's stable financial position was confirmed by lower costs at which Treasury bonds were issued on the international financial market in 2013. In the spring of 2013, the cost of interest on Polish bonds decreased from about 7% to 3.5%.

Poland has taken many measures to improve its public finances in the short, medium and long terms. These have included decisions to extend the retirement age and reform the social security system in order to reduce the budget deficit, in addition to the deregulation of a number of professions, changes in construction law and funding for developers, energy market liberalization, and the introduction of new regulations on the extraction of shale gas.

The internationalization of the Polish economy increased significantly in 2004–2013. Poland's foreign trade-to-GDP ratio is above 84% and comparable to those in other

countries of similar size. It is similar to that in Germany and markedly better than those in Spain and France, but far below Hungary's (Łapiński, 2013).

Poland exports 76% of its goods and services to other EU countries, while non-EU countries account for the remaining 24% of Poland's exports. In the case of imports, the EU as a whole accounts for 67.7% of Poland's total imports, while non-EU countries provide the remaining 32.3%. However, in the last five years, the role of EU countries in both Poland's exports and imports has dropped in favor of BRICS markets—Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa. The participation of non-EU countries in Polish imports increased from 27% in 2007 to 32.3% in 2012, and in exports the rise was from 21.1% to 24%.

An important contribution to Polish exports comes from foreign-owned companies. The European Union has agreed to extend the life span of Poland's special economic zones, which create favorable conditions for foreign investors. The EU accepts the use of differentiated CIT tax rates. This contributes to an increase in Poland's investment attractiveness and an increased inflow of foreign savings, which expedites the implementation of projects enhancing Poland's economic potential. Enterprises with foreign capital provide more than a half of the value of all Polish exports. In imports, the role of foreign-owned companies is relatively smaller. According to the Polish Information and Foreign Investment Agency (PAIIZ), multinational corporations registered in various EU countries account for about 80% of all foreign investors in Poland. Some of these are American, Japanese, South Korean, and Indian corporations (UNCTAD, 2013). This means that a substantial part of the trade in goods and services throughout the European Union is generated by big non-European transnational corporations. All this confirms that EU membership does not restrict Poland's international relations and cooperation with partners worldwide, but substantially helps the country benefit from the internationalization of economic activity.

References

Bossak, J., (2008), Instytucje, rynek i globalna konkurencja we współczesnym świecie, SGH, Warsaw. Bossak, J., (2013), Konkurencja i współpraca międzynarodowa, Difin, Warsaw. Łapiński, J., (2013), Umiędzynarodowienie działalności polskich przedsiębiorstw, PARP, Warsaw. UNCTAD, (2013), World Investment Report 2013, United Nations, New York, Geneva.
4.2. Financial System Development

Oskar Kowalewski

This subchapter focuses on the key aspects of the development of Poland's financial system since the country joined the European Union in 2004. We look at how Poland's financial system evolved compared with its counterparts in other EU countries from 2004 to 2013. The study excludes Croatia because that country did not join the EU until July 2013.

Using financial measures, we look at substantial differences in the development of the key components of the financial systems in Poland and other EU member states after the bloc's 2004 enlargement. Based on this analysis, conclusions are drawn about the progress of other former post-communist countries that are now EU members (EU10) as well as old EU member states (EU15). The aim of the comparison is to provide empirical evidence to support the claim that the stability and—paradoxically underdevelopment of Poland's financial system was one of the factors that helped the country emerge relatively unscathed from the latest global economic turbulence.

In comparison with the EU27 as a whole, Poland has a relatively shallow financial system and a limited financial services industry whose total assets represented 175% of GDP in 2012, far below the EU average of about 910% of GDP (Table 1).

Table 1

Assets of financial intermediaries in the EU27 and Poland as a percentage of GDP in 2012

	EU27	Poland
Banking system assets	377.73	93.04
Stock market capitalization	42.91	36.29
Insurance assets	59.34	10.67
Pension fund assets	18.22	19.79
Mutual fund assets	412.68	15.10
Total financial sector assets	910.88	174.89

Source: European Central Bank, World Federation of Stock Exchanges, Swissre.

The total assets of the financial services industry in the EU27 increased from 558% of GDP in 2002 to 911% of GDP in 2012. This growth can mainly be attributed to the liberalization of international capital movements in order to create a common regulatory framework for providing financial services as part of the European Internal Market. Moreover, increased innovation in the financial industry led to a further increase in its total assets, a development that was widely seen as a key cause of the global financial crisis of 2008.

In response to the crisis, new pan-European supervisory institutions were founded in the last several years, such as the European Systemic Risk Board (ESRB) and the European System of Financial Supervisors (ESFS). The ESRB aims to monitor and assess risks to the stability of the EU financial system, while the ESFS brings together national supervisors and three new European Supervisory Authorities for the banking sector, the stock market, the trading of securities, insurance, and the pension system.

In the EU as a whole and in Poland, credit institutions dominate the financial system, accounting for 41% and 53% of total assets respectively. The EU27 financial system remains mainly bank-based, though in some member states, such as the United Kingdom and the Netherlands, capital markets are also relatively important.

Over the past decade, other financial intermediaries have also gained importance in Poland, yet their position is still relatively weak in terms of assets to GDP, compared with credit institutions. Although the domination of credit institutions has declined in Poland in the last decade, the role of insurance companies, investment funds and pension funds is still underdeveloped in comparison with EU15 countries. Credit institutions, followed by capital markets, are the main components of the financial system in both Poland and throughout the EU.

Banking sector

Poland's banking sector is the largest in Central and Eastern Europe (CEE) and comprised 612 credit institutions and 28 branches of foreign banks as of December 2013. Forty-one of the 612 credit institutions were commercial banks, while the remaining institutions were cooperative banks. The ownership structure of Poland's banking sector remains dominated by multinational bank holding companies, most of them of European origin.

Credit institutions in both Poland and other EU countries responded to the financial crisis and declining revenues by consolidating their activities in order to increase in size and scope. This applied to all types of credit institutions, including cooperative banks and mutual savings banks. The number of credit institutions in the EU fell from 8,915 in 2004 to 7,861 in 2012, a decrease of 12% over the eight-year period. In Poland, the number of credit institutions declined from 774 in 2004 to 695 in 2012, working out to a decrease of 7%. In the EU, the biggest drop in the number of institutions was recorded in Italy, followed by Germany and Spain.

Even though the number of credit institutions declined as a result of mergers throughout the EU, banking sector assets grew rapidly. In 2012, bank assets in the EU27 represented 378% of GDP, an increase of more than 26% over 2004. In the EU15 area, bank assets represented 501% of GDP at the end of 2012.

In the EU10, the level of financial intermediation was considerably lower. In Poland, total bank assets increased from 68% of GDP in 2004 to 93% in 2012 (Figure 1).



Figure 1 Total assets of credit institutions as a percentage of GDP, 2004–2012

Member states from Central and Eastern Europe are still far behind the EU15 in terms of the bank assets-to-GDP ratio. Luxembourg stands out among all EU members in this respect, producing ratios that are more than 20 times the EU average. However, Luxembourg has witnessed a slow decline in its banking sector in the last decade, in part due to EU financial regulation, which has removed some of the tax advantages that come from investing money in Luxembourg. Among the new member states, only Cyprus and Malta, the two non-transition economies, have relatively high bank assets. These two countries' banking systems have developed significantly in the last decade and display a ratio that is even higher than those in most EU15 countries.

In EU countries from Central and Eastern Europe, despite more than a decade of bank restructuring, this ratio ranges from 90% to 110% of GDP and is considerably lower than in EU15 countries. At the same time, credit institutions in these countries remain the most important intermediaries in the financial system. In this context, Latvia and the Czech Republic stand out as the two economies with the strongest banking systems, with bank assets amounting to 147% and 121% of GDP in 2012 respectively. At the other end of the spectrum is Romania, with bank assets of only around 67% of GDP in 2012, and countries such as Poland and Hungary, with levels between 70% and 80% of GDP that same year.

Figure 2 shows the importance of banks in the economy, providing data on domestic credit granted by credit institutions as a percentage of GDP. Credit is a broad measure

Source: European Banking Federation.

of the financing of non-monetary financial institutions provided by credit institutions. Thus, the ratio is a good proxy for overall credit activity in the banking sector.



Total private credit of credit institutions as a percentage of GDP, 2004–2012

Source: European Banking Federation.

The lending volume in the EU27 as a whole increased by more than 84%, from 109% of GDP in 2004 to 201% of GDP in 2012. Among EU15 countries, the highest level of bank lending was observed in Luxembourg and Ireland in 2012. In the new member states, the total credit granted by credit institutions was one-third the EU15 average. Again, only Cyprus and Malta saw a significant increase in bank lending in the last decade. In these two countries, bank lending is even higher than in some EU15 countries.

In Poland, bank activity remains relatively low. As Table 2 shows, the biggest contribution to loan growth was from bank lending to households for home purchases in Poland, at 19.40% of GDP. Bank loans to nonfinancial corporations in Poland represented 15% of GDP and were at the lowest level among EU member countries. In the EU as a whole, the average ratio of enterprise credit and household credit was 52% of GDP and 56% of GDP respectively.

Figure 2

Table 2	
Bank loans to nonfinancial corporations and households as a percentage in 2012	e of GDP

Leanste	Communities	Households			
Loans to	Corporations	Total	Mortgage	Consumer	
Cyprus	145.61	134.48	71.27	18.98	
Luxembourg	124.81	78.19	47.31	4.30	
Malta	84.51	61.91	45.34	5.97	
Spain	80.28	80.18	61.27	6.57	
Portugal	68.36	82.28	66.66	8.79	
Ireland	64.52	72.03	51.44	10.63	
Netherlands	60.73	69.76	62.13	4.63	
Denmark	58.19	132.16	115.58	6.33	
Italy	57.27	39.15	23.28	4.04	
Slovenia	56.85	26.56	14.51	7.64	
Austria	55.09	47.98	27.93	7.94	
Greece	53.16	59.31	36.06	15.33	
Sweden	52.80	76.84	61.33	4.86	
Bulgaria	44.51	25.11	11.70	11.96	
France	43.95	53.60	41.27	7.88	
Latvia	41.13	37.79	30.03	4.36	
Estonia	37.58	43.95	36.74	3.69	
Germany	35.27	55.85	38.12	7.25	
Finland	33.55	57.43	42.69	6.70	
UK	31.31	81.26	70.01	8.26	
Belgium	31.09	29.65	22.73	2.47	
Lithuania	25.45	24.62	19.33	2.25	
Hungary	24.43	27.00	13.42	12.55	
Slovakia	23.45	24.89	17.84	4.66	
Czech Republic	20.80	27.97	19.69	5.00	
Romania	19.57	17.68	5.66	10.51	
Poland	15.36	32.80	19.40	7.71	
EU27	51.47	55.57	39.73	7.45	

Source: European Banking Federation.

The data in Table 2 confirm that the level of debt for both nonfinancial corporations and households in Poland is significantly lower than in other EU member states. The low level of debt may be one reason Poland was able to avoid an economic recession during the financial crisis of 2008. In addition, in recent years Poland has reported the strongest growth in the deposit base among EU27 countries. In 2013, deposits in Poland increased by 17%, a growth that was mainly fueled by deposits from the real economy. The increase in deposits resulted in a lower leverage and thus greater stability of the banking sector.

Since 2007 the ratio of loans to deposits in the EU banking sector has gradually fallen, reaching 113% in 2012. Since the financial crisis, the nonfinancial sector has consequently reduced its balance-sheet leverage. On the one hand, the reduction was caused by limited access to credit by the nonfinancial sector. On the other, it reflects lower consumption and higher saving rates in most EU countries.

To conclude, the European financial system is mainly bank-based, yet there are significant cross-country differences. The banking sectors in the post-transition countries have grown significantly in the last decade, but remain less developed than in the EU15. However, the lower level of development and especially the relatively low debt level may be among the reasons Poland was able to avoid a financial crisis in 2008.

Capital markets

In 2013, a total of 450 companies, including 47 foreign-owned, were listed on the Warsaw Stock Exchange (WSE). At the end of 2013, the WSE listed the largest number of companies among all exchanges in the CEE region. The WSE also had the greatest capitalization and the highest turnover in shares in 2013 among the CEE exchanges. The Polish stock market competes with other regulated and alternative markets in Europe in attracting foreign issuers. Most of the foreign-owned companies listed on the WSE are from neighboring countries. In 2013, of the 47 foreign companies listed on the WSE's markets, 15 were from Ukraine.

As Figure 3 shows, the WSE remains relatively small in comparison with stock exchanges in EU15 member states. However, the ratio of market capitalization to GDP in post-transition countries has increased markedly during the last decade. In 2012, Europe's largest stock exchange markets were still in Luxembourg and the United Kingdom. The London Stock Exchange (LSE) is the largest in Europe in absolute terms. Among the new member states, only Malta and Poland have markets comparable in size to those in other EU members. Moreover, in some member countries, such as Cyprus and Estonia, a significant decline in market capitalization has taken place during the last decade.

Size alone is not the only criterion to judge the role of a stock market in an economy. It is important to analyze the activity of the stock exchange, which is usually measured as the ratio between the value of shares traded and GDP, as shown in Figure 5. On average the most active stock markets in the last decade have been those in Britain, Spain and Sweden. Despite its large size, Luxembourg is an idle market, less active than the WSE. The markets in EU countries from CEE have small trading volumes; Poland is the only exception. However, even though the trading volume on the WSE has increased in the last decade, it remains relatively small.





Source: WDI World Bank.



Figure 4 Stocks traded as a percentage of GDP

Source: WDI World Bank.

There has been a growing trend toward consolidation among stock exchanges on European capital markets during the last decade. The consolidation process has resulted in the emergence of large stock exchanges such as Euronext, which comprises the stock exchanges in Amsterdam, Paris, Brussels and Lisbon. Another large network is the NASDAQ OMX Nordic Exchange, which combines the markets of Sweden, Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Denmark. Stock exchange networks satisfy the needs of companies seeking to broaden their shareholders' base and raise capital beyond local markets. Other than the need to set up a new or renewed stock exchange, this is probably what has encouraged the small countries of Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania to join the Nordic and Baltic alliance. Table 3 presents the number of listed companies and bonds on stock exchanges in EU countries.

Table 3

	Li	sted compa	mies	Listed bonds		
	2004	2013	Δ in %	2004	2013	Δ in %
Athens Exchange	321	251	-22	126	28	-78
BME Spanish Exchanges	3,015	3,245	8	3,285	3,824	16
Borsa Italiana	278	295	6	443	861	94
Bratislava Stock Exchange	8	90	1,025	-	-	-
Bucharest Stock Exchange	55	74	35	_	_	-
Budapest Stock Exchange	48	50	4	84	201	139
Bulgarian Stock Exchange	332	n.a.	-100	_	_	-
Cyprus Stock Exchange	130	95	-27	74	56	-24
Deutsche Börse	819	720	-12	8,240	22,785	177
Irish Stock Exchange	65	50	-23	6,206	21,700	250
Ljubljana Stock Exchange	140	55	-61	101	49	-51
London Stock Exchange	2,837	2,736	-4	10,243	21,486	110
Luxembourg Stock Exchange	234	274	17	24,292	26,684	10
Malta Stock Exchange	13	24	85	72	113	57
NASDAQ OMX Nordic Exchange	678	755	11	4,318	7,086	64
NYSE Euronext	1,333	1,062	-20	3,503	4,417	26
Warsaw Stock Exchange	216	895	314	81	442	446
Wiener Börse	121	102	-16	2,846	3,418	20

Number of listed companies and bonds

Source: World Federation of Exchanges; n.a. – data not available.

Among new member states, Poland and Slovakia displayed a significant increase in the number of new listed companies. In fact, the number of listed companies in Poland is now comparable to that in many EU15 countries. The WSE's growth is the result of a large number of new listings on its New Connect alternative market. That market opened in 2007 to offer an alternative trading system. The New Connect market allows early-stage, growing companies, especially those in the high-tech sector, to tap the capital markets. Additionally, in 2009 the Catalyst bond market was launched, which now operates on the transaction platforms of the WSE and BondSpot. As a consequence, three different segments of the capital market have been created for companies wanting to go public in Poland.

The opening of the Catalyst market has led to a significant increase in the debt securities market, which amounted to some 41% of GDP in 2013. The bond market, however, is 90% made up of government bonds, while corporate bonds account for only about 4%. Nevertheless, the Catalyst debt instrument trading system is an important driver of growth for the market of non-Treasury debt instruments in Poland. The nominal value of non-Treasury debt instruments listed on Catalyst at the end of 2013 was 25% higher than at the end of 2012.

One weakness of the WSE is that it has not yet joined the stock market consolidation process in Europe. The WSE attempted to take over some exchanges in the region, so far unsuccessfully. In order to remain independent and competitive with other stock exchanges in Central Europe, especially Austria's Wiener Stock Exchange, the WSE needs to acquire another stock exchange in the region or enter into a strategic alliance. Consequently, the coming years may bring some important moves on the CEE stock market.

Insurance sector

At the end of 2013, 27 life insurance companies and 31 non-life companies were operating in Poland. Most are owned by universal insurance companies that offer products in both market segments. As in the case of the banking sector, the country's economic growth and large market potential encouraged many foreign insurers to enter the Polish market. As a result, 21 life insurers and 20 non-life insurers are foreign-owned, mainly by companies from other European countries.

Table 4 shows that the total investment by insurance companies in the EU represented 48% of the bloc's GDP in 2012. This marked an increase of more than 90% over 2004. In Poland, insurance company assets have increased by more than 50% during the last decade. However, they remain significantly lower as a percentage of GDP than in the EU on average. The EU27 average in 2012 was 59%, while the indicator for Poland was a mere 11%.

The existing differences among EU countries and the potential of the insurance market in the post-transformation countries are presented in Table 5, which shows the value of insurance premiums as a percentage of GDP. The premiums-to-GDP ratio reflects the penetration of the insurance market and testifies to the significance of the insurance sector in the economy. Although there are significant variations in insurance spending among member states, the insurance market has grown and strengthened in most EU10 countries, including Poland, in the last decade. By contrast, in EU15 countries insurance premiums as a percentage of GDP have declined.

Iotal assets under management by				
	2004	2012		
Austria	28.8	39.9		
Belgium	57.7	79.8		
Bulgaria	1.6	9.5		
Cyprus	27.9	81.8		
Czech Republic	9.3	14.4		
Denmark	63.3	115.9		
Estonia	3.4	6.7		
Finland	25.5	33.5		
France	59.9	114.6		
Germany	49.3	48.0		
Greece	7.2	9.2		
Hungary	4.4	8.8		
Ireland	58.2	138.2		
Italy	29.4	38.5		

	2004	2012
Latvia	2.0	3.8
Lithuania	2.3	3.9
Luxembourg	130.3	419.0
Malta	13.9	34.9
Netherlands	65.8	85.5
Poland	7.1	10.7
Portugal	24.6	34.9
Romania	1.0	4.0
Slovakia	7.2	13.5
Slovenia	8.9	20.9
Spain	24.3	31.4
Sweden	31.3	105.8
United Kingdom	95.0	94.6

Source: European Central Bank.

Table 5

Insurance premiums as a percentage of GDP

	Total		Life		Non-life	
Countries	2004	2012	2004	2012	2004	2012
Austria	5.95	5.33	2.63	2.12	3.21	3.32
Belgium	9.62	8.33	6.73	5.57	2.76	2.89
Bulgaria	1.92	2.00	0.26	0.31	1.69	1.65
Cyprus	4.39	4.51	2.31	1.90	2.61	2.08
Czech Republic	4.15	3.73	1.63	1.75	1.98	2.53
Denmark	8.07	9.67	5.15	6.80	2.87	2.92
Estonia	2.29	n.a.	0.58	n.a.	n.a.	1.71
Finland	8.77	10.42	6.89	8.39	2.03	1.88
France	9.52	8.78	6.38	5.56	3.21	3.14
Germany	6.97	6.68	3.11	3.10	3.58	3.86
Greece	2.1	2.36	0.93	1.00	1.36	1.17
Hungary	2.83	2.51	1.15	1.34	1.17	1.67
Ireland	8.97	7.98	5.74	5.96	2.03	3.23
Italy	7.6	6.71	4.86	4.45	2.26	2.74

Table 4

Total assets under management by insurance corporations as a percentage of GDP

0	Total		Life		Non-life	
Countries	2004	2012	2004	2012	2004	2012
Latvia	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Lithuania	1.48	n.a.	0.38	n.a.	n.a.	1.1
Luxembourg	3.64	4.66	1.43	2.74	1.92	2.21
Malta	5.61	4.06	2.84	2.46	1.60	2.78
Netherlands	10.1	12.38	5.43	3.16	9.22	4.67
Poland	3.07	3.80	1.17	1.94	1.86	1.90
Portugal	7.85	6.60	4.66	4.19	2.41	3.19
Romania	1.51	1.48	0.35	0.31	1.17	1.15
Slovakia	3.61	2.73	1.46	1.29	1.44	2.15
Slovenia	5.61	5.60	1.65	1.62	3.98	3.96
Spain	5.63	5.46	2.38	2.55	2.91	3.25
Sweden	6.96	7.05	4.56	5.18	1.86	2.39
United Kingdom	12.6	11.89	8.92	9.02	9.22	3.68
EU27	8.32	7.76	5.04	4.64	3.12	3.28

Source: SwissRe, (2005, 2014). n.a. - data not available.

Poland's insurance sector, however, remains underdeveloped compared with its counterparts in EU15 member states. In 2012, insurance penetration, in the form of premiums as a percentage of GDP, was still considerably lower than the EU27 average. In Poland, insurance penetration was at 3.80%, while the EU27 average was 7.76%. Non-life business penetration in Poland was at 1.94%, while the European average was 4.64%. Penetration in the life business was at 1.90%, while the European average was 3.28% in 2012 (SwissRe, 2014).

The low insurance market penetration rate means that the Polish insurance sector has high growth potential. New health and medical insurance as well as pension products are still underdeveloped in Poland, which means there is still plenty of room for further growth on the insurance market in the near future.

Investment funds

At the end of 2013, assets managed by Poland's mutual fund firms (TFIs) reached an all-time high of ZL188.9 billion (€45.6 billion). The industry's assets increased by ZL42.7 billion in 2013, or 29.2% compared with 2012. This increase was driven by low bank deposit yields and favorable changes in the prices of financial instruments. High net inflows were recorded by domestic debt and equity securities funds. Non-public asset funds again accounted for the biggest chunk of the market in 2013 (Analizy Online, 2014) Table 6 presents the development of investment funds in Poland in comparison with other EU countries over the last decade. Again, the data show that the Polish investment fund sector is small in comparison with EU15 member states. In 2004–2013, total investment fund assets in the EU as a whole increased by more than 110%, while in Poland they grew by 219%. However, in absolute terms, Poland's investment fund assets are still far below the EU27 average. In Poland, total investment fund assets amounted to 15% of GDP, while the EU27 average was 413% of GDP at the end of 2013.

Table 6

	2004	2013
Austria	51.7	55.3
Belgium	33.4	31.6
Bulgaria	n.a.	n.a.
Cyprus	n.a.	20.6
Czech Republic	4.3	7.5
Denmark	39.2	n.a.
Estonia	3.5	4.7
Finland	14.4	45.8
France	48.5	61.7
Germany	38.9	58.9
Greece	9.5	3.6
Hungary	5.3	12.8
Ireland	292.5	698.7
Italy	20.8	17.3

Total investment fund	assets as a percenta	ge of GDP
-----------------------	----------------------	-----------

	2004	2013
Latvia	0.5	2.2
Lithuania	n.a.	1.0
Luxembourg	3,797.9	8,120.7
Malta	23.5	149.8
Netherlands	20.1	118.6
Poland	4.7	15.1
Portugal	21.9	18.2
Romania	n.a.	8.9
Slovakia	5.0	15.1
Slovenia	8.0	3.6
Spain	24.8	20.0
Sweden	42.1	n.a.
United Kingdom	24.8	n.a.

Source: European Central Bank. n.a. - data not available.

Pension funds

The increase in pension fund assets during the last decade was mainly the result of capital inflows to mandatory, privately managed open pension funds (OFE). These funds are a component of the country's part-private- and part-government-managed social security system, which has been in place since 1999. Apart from OFEs, the system comprises government-managed virtual accounts and is supplemented by voluntary employee pension plans. However, voluntary employee pension plans still play a minor role in the economy.

Moreover, during the recent financial crisis, the Polish government started to blame the private pension system for being inefficient and responsible for an increase in public debt. In 2011, the government reduced transfers to private pension funds from 7.3% to 2.3% of gross salary. In 2013, the government decided to introduce new regulations to force pension funds to transfer all government debt securities in their possession to the public system. Debt securities accounted for 60% of total pension fund assets. As a result, the role of pension funds in the Polish economy declined significantly. As pension funds were significant institutional investors lately, the pension reform is likely to have a negative long-term impact on the Polish capital market.

In the EU27 as a whole, total assets under management by private pension funds declined by more than 7% over the past decade. The decline was largely due to reforms similar to those in Poland. In Hungary, for example, the government in 2010 decided that citizens could either remit their individual private retirement savings to the state or lose the right to the basic state pension.

In 2012, Poland's pension funds managed assets that represented 19% of the country's GDP, 150% more than in 2004. That level was higher than in EU27 countries, where pension fund assets amounted to 18% of GDP in 2012. However, as a result of the reform, pension fund assets will decline significantly and fall below the EU27 average in the future.

	2004	2012
Austria	4.3	6.0
Belgium	4.1	4.9
Bulgaria	n.a.	10.7
Cyprus	3.2	0.0
Czech Republic	3.7	9.0
Denmark	192.8	39.5
Estonia	1.9	12.4
Finland	0.0	3.7
France	0.0	0.0
Germany	11.7	0.1
Greece	0.0	0.0
Hungary	6.6	4.8
Ireland	42.0	39.6
Italy	0.9	2.5

Table 7

Total assets under management by pension funds as a percentage of GDP

	2004	2012
Latvia	0.4	1.5
Lithuania	0.1	5.7
Luxembourg	n.a.	3.2
Malta	0.0	0.0
Netherlands	106.9	183.9
Poland	7.9	19.8
Portugal	10.7	9.7
Romania	n.a.	2.5
Slovakia	0.6	13.4
Slovenia	2.0	5.2
Spain	7.7	9.5
Sweden	0.0	11.5
United Kingdom	64.5	92.8

Source: European Central Bank. n.a. - data not available.

Conclusion

The key characteristics of the financial system in both Poland and other EU countries have remained unchanged since the bloc's enlargement in 2004. This analysis also shows that differences in financial structures across EU countries have not disappeared in the last decade. Financial systems in individual EU countries continue to differ considerably. Especially visible are disparities between EU15 countries and new member states from Central and Eastern Europe.

As with most other EU countries, Poland's financial system continues to be bankbased. Financial systems in all member states have reported major increases in banking assets and capital market capitalization since 2004. In fact, this rapid growth of bank assets was among the key causes of the global financial crisis that began in 2008. Poland weathered the crisis with the best-performing economy in Europe. One explanation for Poland's resilience to the crisis is its underdeveloped financial system. All financial indicators show that the Polish financial system and its individual components have improved considerably during the last decade, but are still underdeveloped by EU standards. The level of financial intermediation, measured by the total assets of credit institutions as a percentage of GDP, as well as market capitalization are significantly lower in Poland than in the EU15. Furthermore, Poland lags behind countries such as the Czech Republic and Estonia in financial system development. As a result, much remains to be done because the imperfections of financial system development may constrain future economic growth and Poland's competitive position, even though there is still plenty of room for further growth.

References

Analizy Online, (2014), Assets of investment funds, January.

European Banking Federation, (2013), European Banking Sector. Facts & Figures 2013, Brussels.

European Central Bank, (2013), Financial Stability Review, December.

Kowalewski, O., Rybiński K., (2011), The hidden transformation. Changing role of the state after the collapse of communism in Central and Easter Europe, "Oxford Review of Economic Policy", Vol. 27(4), 634–657.

Polish Financial Supervision Authority, (2014), Banking Sector Key Data 12/2013, February.

Polish Financial Supervision Authority (2014), Quarterly Bulletin. Insurance market 4/2013, March.

Polish Financial Supervision Authority, (2014), Quarterly Bulletin. Pension funds 4/2013, February.

Swiss Re, (2014), World insurance in 2012. Progressing on the long and winding road to recovery, Sigma No. 3, Zurich.

Swiss Re, (2005), World insurance in 2004: growing premiums and stronger balance sheets. Progressing on the long and winding road to recovery, Sigma No. 2, Zurich.

PART III

POLAND IN THE EUROPEAN UNION: SELECTED ISSUES

Chapter 5 The Impact of EU Membership on Poland's Competitiveness

This chapter evaluates the impact of Poland's EU membership on changes in the competitiveness of the Polish economy. We focus on several selected areas where the EU's influence on the Polish economy is especially visible. Individual sections discuss issues such as changes in Poland's position in European value chains, the evolution of innovation policy, the importance of EU funds to Poland's competitiveness, and adjustments on the Polish energy market resulting from EU policies.

5.1. Poland in European Value Chains

Mariusz-Jan Radło

This chapter examines the role of the Polish economy in European value chains. In this analysis we will use input-output data to present connections between economies and sectors, and we will analyze trade in intermediate goods between Poland and the EU. We will also show forward and backward vertical integration between the Polish economy and other EU economies. Finally, we will focus on the structure of Poland's exports to certain EU countries as well as in different sectors, broken down into categories of value added. These include direct domestic industry value added by exporting companies, indirect domestic value added originating from domestic intermediates supplying exporting entities, re-imported domestic value added, and foreign value added originating from foreign suppliers.

The development of global value chains

The development of global value chains is a major trend in the globalizing economy, and is strictly connected to the growing fragmentation of international production. This trend, as shown by Feenstra (1998) and Krugman *et al.* (1995), has led to a significant

deepening of integration in the global economy. But it has also resulted in a disintegration of global production processes related to a diversification and expansion of international production chains. This last process, as shown by De Backer and Yamano (2007), has been connected with a tremendous increase in the global stocks of foreign direct investment and an increase in global trade flows. In both cases the increase was much faster than global GDP growth.

These processes also involved changes in enterprises and were reflected by a growing tendency to outsource or offshore the production of goods and services. As a result, firm boundaries expanded and became blurred. This has contributed to the development of cross-sector links and has expanded the size and scope of the market as well as the range of goods and services traded through market transactions. In this perspective, international economic relations and the positions of individual countries in the global economy cannot be explained without examining the nature of international production chains and the position of the Polish economy in these chains. This would include an analysis of international trade in value added.

All these processes have influenced the Polish economy's links with other EU economies, and they have also had an impact on European economic integration. To a large extent, this integration means that Poland has become part of European production chains.

Trade in intermediate goods and value chains

Trade in intermediate goods is an important and relatively accurate measure describing the functioning of international production chains. The importance of this trade was first described by Grubel and Lloyd (1975) in the context of growing intraindustry trade in the 1970s. They highlighted the increasing role of intra-industry trade in the global economy, including the so-called vertical intra-industry trade related to trade in goods produced by the same industries, but at different stages of the production chain. Initially, however, intra-industry trade theories focused on trade in final goods, which is predominantly horizontal. The existence of this trade was explained by the existence of economies of scale and differences in consumer tastes (Krugman, 1981) or differences in comparative advantages (Davis, 1995), resulting in a diversification of products. In recent decades, the role of intra-industry trade in intermediate goods related to vertical linkages between firms increased substantially, both forward (or downstream) and backward (or upstream) of the value chain (Hummels, Ishii and Yi, 2001, Koopman et al., 2010; Yoshida, 2013). This increase, as indicated by Ando (2006), was a result of fragmentation of international production and the development international production chains.

As shown in Figure 1A, trade in intermediate goods between Poland and other European Union countries, both before and after Poland's EU accession, accounted for more than half of Poland's total exports, including exports to the European Union as a whole. The share of intermediate goods in imports to Poland was even higher, at more than 60%, in both total imports and imports from the EU. This means that

vertical backward linkages were stronger in the Polish economy than forward linkages. In both cases, however, these linkages were responsible for more than half of Poland's foreign trade. Moreover, while before accession the share of intermediate goods in total imports was higher than their share in imports from the EU, after 2004 the share of intermediate goods in imports from the EU was higher than their share in total imports. In the case of exports, both before and after accession the share of intermediate goods in trade with the EU was higher than their share in total exports.

Such a situation means that vertical links in international value chains substantially influence the development of Poland's foreign trade. In addition, as shown in Figure 1B, these links are stronger in the case of trade with EU countries than with non-EU countries. As a result, the EU as a whole is now Poland's main export market, accounting for about three-quarters of the country's trade in both intermediate and all goods. In the case of imports, including intermediate goods imports, the position of EU markets is less important, and it decreased after Poland's accession to the EU. This was reflected by a declining share of the EU in Poland's imports. The share of the EU in Poland's total imports as well as in intermediate goods imports declined from about 70% before 2004 to less than 60% in 2011. This also means that forward vertical links between Poland and other EU economies are stronger than backward linkages with these economies. The backward vertical linkages of the Polish economy extend beyond the EU and include larger shares of intermediate goods imports from other countries including Russia (imports of energy resources) and China (imports of other intermediate goods). Moreover, while the EU's position in the forward vertical linkages of the Polish economy is relatively stable, backward vertical linkages between Poland and the EU are systematically weakening.

An analysis of the evolution of trade in intermediate goods—presented in Figures 1A and 1C-shows that both the value of trade in intermediate goods and their share in Poland's total trade decreased significantly during the crisis after 2007, especially in 2009, when global trade collapsed. This, as indicated by Drauz (2013) and Sturgeon and Memedovic (2011), is a consequence of the fact that, during a crisis, companies are more likely to reduce inventory levels and their procurement of raw materials and components in order to cut costs and production. Moreover, many multinationals try to ensure the survival of the parent company at the expense of foreign subsidiaries. This causes a fall in imports from foreign affiliates and independent foreign suppliers. However, in periods of economic recovery, trade in intermediate goods generally grows faster than trade in final goods. This is due to growing demand for intermediate goods needed to increase production and the fact that the crisis may strengthen risk aversion and reduce investment in fixed capital. Therefore, in the medium term, the crisis may result in greater propensity to outsource. This strategy makes economies specializing in producing and exporting intermediate goods more vulnerable to a transmission of shocks in the global economy. These economies can also mitigate these shocks by a simultaneous reduction of intermediate goods imports from other countries, but this leads to a transmission of shocks to other economies.



Poland's trade in intermediate goods with the EU and the world

While the European Union is crucial for Poland's participation in international value chains, the role of individual member states varies widely. As shown in Figure 2, the strongest vertical links, in terms of trade in intermediate goods, are between Poland

Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012).

Figure 1

and Germany. In 2011, trade in intermediate goods with Germany accounted for 40.5% of Poland's intermediate goods imports from the EU and for 36.3% of Poland's exports of intermediate goods to the EU. Other important Polish trade partners, in terms of trade in intermediate goods, were Italy, the Czech Republic, France, the United Kingdom, and the Netherlands. Moreover, relatively important trade connections were also in place between Poland and Belgium (including Luxembourg), Slovakia, Sweden, Hungary, Spain, and Finland.

Figure 2

Poland's trade in intermediate goods with key trading partners in the EU (% of total imports or exports from or to the EU)



Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012).



Changes in the intensity of Poland's trade of intermediate goods with other EU member countries (% of total imports or exports by country)



Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012).

As shown in Figure 3A and 3B, in 2004–2011 there were significant changes in the intensity of trade in intermediate goods as measured by the share of intermediate goods in Poland's total imports and exports from/to EU member states. The vertical axis in the figures indicates the share of intermediate goods in imports from a specific country, while the horizontal axis reflects the share of intermediate goods in exports to

that country. The points above the diagonal line correspond to a situation in which the share of intermediate goods in imports is higher than the share of intermediate goods in imports. In addition, the dotted lines denote a 50% share of intermediate goods in imports and exports respectively. A comparison of data for 2004 and 2011 shows that most EU economies moved above the diagonal line during this period, which means that the intensity of Poland's backward vertical linkages with these economies was strengthened. At the same time, the number of member states in which the share of intermediate goods in imports exceeded 50% increased from 18 in 2011 to 20 in 2004, while the number of countries with a share of intermediate goods in exports exceeding 50% decreased from 14 in 2004 to 13 in 2011. Significantly, the differences between member states in terms of the intensity of trade in intermediate goods decreased in 2011 compared with 2004. This was confirmed by a decline in the standard deviation of intermediate goods' share in exports (from 17.3 in 2004 to 15.5 in 2011) and imports (from 20.3 in 2004 to 17.3 in 2011).

Decomposition of Polish trade on value added with the EU

The development of international value chains and the increasing share of foreign value added in gross exports result in a situation in which the role and position of various economies in the world economy can only be explained by analyzing the structure of value added in their exports. Such an analysis can be based on international input-output tables, and the disaggregation of the value added in exports into items such as direct domestic industry value added content of gross exports (DDVA), indirect domestic content of gross exports originating from domestic intermediates (IDVA), re-imported domestic value added content of gross exports (RDVA), and foreign value added content of gross exports (FVA).

Figure 4 presents changes in the structure of value added in Poland's exports to the EU. It indicates that from 2005 to 2008 there were slight changes in the share of domestic direct and indirect value added in exports. In 2009, the share of domestic value added increased by 2 percentage points. This was probably related to a general reduction in trade in intermediate goods in 2009, as described earlier, which accompanied the collapse in world trade and the crisis. Regardless of these changes in the period after EU accession, the share of domestic value added in Poland's exports was 70%. Domestic value added accounted for more than half of direct value added generated by Polish exporters, while domestic suppliers were responsible for the remaining part. Moreover, the share of domestic re-imported value added in Polish exports was marginal and did not exceed 0.2%. At the same time, the share of foreign value added in Poland's exports was over 30%. This proportion, however, decreased slightly in 2009 because of the rapid decline in the trade of intermediate goods. Unfortunately, there is no input-output data for the period after 2009, but, given the revival of trade in intermediate goods after 2009, it is expected that the share of foreign value added in Poland's exports has increased in recent years.

Figure 4

The breakdown of value added in Poland's exports to the EU and in the country's overall exports (1995, 2000, 2005 and 2009, % of export value)





Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012).

While in the period after accession there were no major changes in the structure of value added in Poland's exports, such changes were recorded in the longer term, since 1995. These changes involved a significant decline in the share of domestic value added in Polish exports: from about 85% in 1995, to 75% in 2000, and to around 70% after 2004. At the same time, the share of domestic re-imported value added increased slightly from 0.02% in 1995, to 0.09% in 2000 and less than 0.2% after accession. During the same period, the share of foreign value added in Poland's exports to the EU increased from around 15% in 1995, to about 24% in 2000, more than 30% in 2005 and 2008, and about 28% in 2009. Despite the decline in the share of domestic value added in exports, domestic value added exported by Poland increased significantly thanks to a huge increase in total exports. These trends confirm a deepening of the international ties of the Polish economy, including in particular the development of backward vertical linkages.

Value added in Poland's exports to the EU by sector

After analyzing changes in the structure of value added in Poland's exports, we shall now analyze the structure of exported value added by sector. This analysis will show how various sectors of the Polish economy contribute to the export of domestic and foreign value added.

The analysis of the direct and indirect domestic value added in gross exports (Table 1) shows that after EU accession, there have been only minor changes in the structure of value added in Poland's exports. In 2011, the share of direct domestic value added in exports was the highest in transport equipment (13.8%), chemical products and other mineral products (13.6%), electrical and optical equipment (9.9%), metals and metal products (7.7%), food products, beverages, and tobacco (6.8%), and machinery and equipment (6.2%), as well as in service sectors such as financial services, business and other services (6.9%), and transport, postal services, and telecommunications (6.8%). Moreover, since 1995 and 2000, the direct domestic value added share of manufacturing sectors producing more processed goods increased. At the same time, the share of sectors producing less-processed goods (textiles, textile products, leather and footwear, wood, paper, paper products, printing and publishing, and base metals and fabricated metal products) decreased.

Changes in the share of domestic value added in total exports to the EU were similar to those described above. They consisted of an increasing share of sectors producing more processed goods and services in total exports and a decreasing share of sectors producing less-processed goods. At the same time, the highest share in the export of value added in this category was noted by domestic suppliers of transport equipment (17.9%), chemical products and other mineral products (13.9%), food products, beverages and tobacco (12.6%), electrical and optical equipment (9.3%), metals and metal products (8.7%), wood, paper, paper products, printing and publishing (5.8%), and machinery and equipment (5.5%). The share of service sectors'

suppliers in exported domestic intermediate value added was relatively small. The above data also indicate that the mentioned manufacturing sectors with a high share of indirect value added in total exports create additional domestic backward vertical linkages contributing to the development of their suppliers in related industries.

Table 1

Share of various sectors in different categories of value added exported from Pola	nd
to the EU (1995, 2000, 2005, 2008 and 2009, % of total value added exported	
to the EU, by category of value added)	

Year	DDVA	IDVA	RDVA	FVA	DDVA	IDVA	RDVA	FVA	
	Agricu	lture, hunting	g, forestry and	fishing		Mining and	d quarrying		
1995	5.4	6.1	4.2	4.3	13.7	8.0	8.3	10.2	
2000	2.8	3.7	1.0	1.2	7.5	3.7	2.4	2.4	
2005	2.6	1.8	0.5	0.6	8.0	2.7	1.9	1.9	
2008	1.7	1.5	0.6	0.8	5.3	1.8	1.4	1.6	
2009	2.1	1.8	0.8	1.0	3.8	1.5	1.2	1.3	
	Food	products, bev	erages and to	bacco	Textiles, t	extile produc	ts, leather and	l footwear	
1995	4.1	9.7	4.2	5.9	10.5	8.8	8.3	9.1	
2000	3.2	8.2	2.1	3.1	9.0	7.4	9.0	10.5	
2005	4.9	11.4	3.2	4.6	4.2	3.1	3.2	4.0	
2008	5.5	10.8	3.5	4.4	4.8	3.4	3.1	4.2	
2009	6.8	12.6	4.4	5.7	4.8	3.1	2.9	4.3	
	Wood	l, paper, paper	r products, pr	inting	Chemicals and non-metallic mineral prod				
1995	6.5	7.6	6.3	6.2	9.5	10.8	12.5	14.0	
2000	7.2	8.3	6.9	7.5	11.0	11.2	11.8	15.4	
2005	6.0	7.5	4.9	5.6	13.6	13.7	12.1	17.2	
2008	4.2	5.5	3.1	3.4	13.6	13.6	11.1	17.6	
2009	4.9	5.8	3.5	4.0	13.6	13.9	10.9	16.5	
	Basic m	etals and fabr	icated metal	products	Ma	chinery and e	quipment, n.	e.c.	
1995	10.8	12.5	16.7	15.4	2.7	2.4	4.2	2.9	
2000	8.7	10.8	14.9	11.6	3.8	3.5	4.5	3.6	
2005	9.0	11.8	13.8	12.0	5.3	5.5	6.2	5.3	
2008	8.8	9.4	14.6	12.4	6.6	6.3	7.4	6.7	
2009	7.7	8.7	12.2	10.0	6.2	5.5	6.5	6.1	
	Ele	ectrical and op	otical equipm	ent		Transport	equipment		
1995	3.8	4.2	4.2	3.7	7.9	9.5	12.5	11.4	
2000	6.2	8.6	10.1	11.8	12.7	11.7	25.0	19.0	
2005	7.2	7.5	9.9	12.3	10.6	14.3	33.3	24.0	
2008	10.1	10.1	10.9	12.6	13.2	17.6	32.6	23.3	
2009	9.9	9.3	10.3	12.5	13.8	17.9	35.6	25.3	
	М	anufacturing	n.e.c.; recycli	ng		Constr	uction		
1995	5.8	5.0	6.3	4.7	1.6	1.6	2.1	1.5	

240

Year	DDVA	IDVA	RDVA	FVA	DDVA	IDVA	RDVA	FVA
2000	5.0	6.7	6.3	6.0	0.8	0.9	0.7	0.6
2005	4.9	6.4	5.7	5.4	0.6	0.6	0.3	0.4
2008	5.4	6.8	5.5	5.3	1.2	1.2	0.7	0.8
2009	5.4	6.5	5.4	5.3	1.6	1.6	1.0	1.1
	Tr	ansport and s telecomm	torage, post a unications	Ele	ectricity, gas a	nd water sup	ply	
1995	3.1	2.3	2.1	1.8	1.3	1.2	0.0	1.1
2000	5.3	3.6	1.7	2.1	0.9	1.0	0.4	0.7
2005	5.4	3.5	1.6	1.9	1.9	1.7	0.5	0.9
2008	7.0	5.1	2.9	3.5	0.8	0.6	0.2	0.5
2009	6.7	4.9	2.8	3.4	1.2	1.0	0.4	0.7
	Wholesale a	and retail trad	le; Hotels and	l restaurants	Financial intermediation, business and otl services			
1995	9.9	6.2	4.2	4.6	3.3	4.2	4.2	3.4
2000	13.6	9.7	3.1	4.1	2.1	1.1	0.4	0.5
2005	13.6	6.8	2.3	3.3	2.4	1.5	0.4	0.6
2008	4.8	2.4	0.9	1.1	7.3	3.9	1.4	1.8
2009	4.6	2.2	0.9	1.1	6.9	3.7	1.3	1.9

Note: n.e.c. - not classified elsewhere.

Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012).

Re-imported domestic value added is the least significant category of exported value added. Nonetheless, some sectors contributed to the export of this category of value added more than others, i.e. transport equipment (35.6%), metals and metal products (12.2%), chemical products and other mineral products (10.9%), and electrical and optical equipment (10.3%). Although the category is relatively insignificant, the data indicate that the intensity of international value chains in these sectors is higher than in others.

Foreign value added was the last of the analyzed categories of exported value added. It is related to the intermediate goods and services imported by Polish exporters, that is, to their backward vertical international linkages. The following sectors had the highest shares in total foreign value added exported from Poland: transport equipment (25.3%), chemical products and other mineral products (16.5%), electrical and optical equipment (12.5%), and metals and metal products (10%). These sectors are most strongly associated with their foreign suppliers of raw materials or intermediates.

After analyzing the structure of total value added exported from Poland to the EU by sector, we should take a look at the structure of exported value added in each sector separately. This will make it possible to more precisely identify sectors with more intensive backward national and international vertical linkages. Table 2 shows that service sectors have much higher shares of domestic value added, both direct and indirect, in total exports than manufacturing sectors. On the other hand,

manufacturing sectors have higher shares of foreign value added in exports. In 2011, the highest shares of foreign value added in exports were in the sectors of transport equipment (38.9%), electrical and optical equipment (34.1%), metals and metal products (32.7%), chemical products and other mineral products (32.3%), products not elsewhere classified (26.1%), and wood and paper (23.1%). Since Poland's EU entry, there have been few changes in the structure of exported value added in any of these sectors. However, compared with 1995 and 2000, there was a substantial increase in the share of foreign value added in total value exported by the analyzed sectors.

Significantly, the share of service sectors in total exports in traditional international trade statistics, including those presented in Table 1, is underestimated. Considering that service companies are subcontractors of companies from other sectors, including manufacturing, it turns out that the share of services in value added exports is much higher than could be expected. Figure 5 shows that the share of service value added (both domestic and foreign) in total value added exported from Poland reached 42.4% in 2009. The share of services in exports from other EU economies, especially better developed ones, is even higher. This means that catching up with better developed EU economies may result in a further increase in the role of service sectors in value added exports from Poland.

The relatively high share of services in value added exported by various sectors is largely due to the growing fragmentation of service production that is taking place in many companies. This trend was explained by researchers including Dietrich (1999), who studied the restructuring of European manufacturing sectors from 1970 to 1991. On the basis of input-output tables, he pointed out that a key trend in the European manufacturing industry was restructuring based on vertical externalization and out-sourcing of back-office services to independent vendors or affiliated companies, both domestic and foreign. This production fragmentation resulted in a decline of manufacturing industries in the economy, in terms of value added and employment. McCarthy and Anagnostou (2004) observed a similar effect in the UK economy.

Table 2

	DDVA	IDVA	RDVA	FVA	DDVA	IDVA	RDVA	FVA	
Year	Agricu	lture, hunting	g, forestry and	fishing		Mining and	d quarrying		
1995	42.8	45.0	0.02	12.2	55.3	29.9	0.02	14.8	
2000	41.1	47.6	0.04	11.3	61.5	26.6	0.05	11.8	
2005	53.6	35.1	0.05	11.3	65.6	21.0	0.08	13.4	
2008	45.6	36.7	0.08	17.6	63.5	20.2	0.08	16.2	
2009	47.5	35.8	0.08	16.6	62.0	22.1	0.08	15.9	
	Food	products, bev	rerages and to	Textiles, textile products, leather and footwear					
1995	27.0	59.2	0.02	13.8	47.7	37.5	0.02	14.8	

Structure of value added exported from Poland to the EU by sector (1995, 2000, 2005, 2008 and 2009, % of total value added exported to the EU by each sector)

2000	26.1	58.2	0.04	15.6	41.0	29.5	0.09	29.5		
2005	25.0	54.3	0.08	20.6	39.5	27.6	0.16	32.8		
2008	28.3	51.7	0.09	19.8	41.2	27.5	0.13	31.1		
2009	30.3	50.5	0.09	19.2	44.0	26.0	0.12	29.8		
	Wood	l, paper, papeı	r products, pr	inting	Chemical	s and non-me	etallic mineral	products		
1995	41.3	44.7	0.02	14.0	38.7	40.9	0.03	20.4		
2000	37.6	38.3	0.08	24.0	36.4	32.4	0.09	31.1		
2005	33.3	38.9	0.14	27.6	32.8	30.7	0.15	36.3		
2008	34.4	41.4	0.13	24.1	32.8	30.4	0.13	36.7		
2009	37.3	39.6	0.12	23.1	35.3	32.4	0.13	32.3		
	Base me	etals and fabri	cated metal p	products	Ма	chinery and e	quipment, n.	e.c.		
1995	38.7	41.6	0.04	19.7	45.3	37.4	0.04	17.2		
2000	34.5	37.4	0.13	28.0	42.1	33.6	0.11	24.1		
2005	29.4	36.0	0.23	34.4	35.0	34.0	0.21	30.8		
2008	31.2	30.6	0.26	37.9	36.3	31.8	0.20	31.6		
2009	33.2	33.9	0.24	32.7	39.2	31.2	0.19	29.4		
	Ele	ctrical and op	otical equipm	ent		Transport	quipment			
1995	42.0	43.4	0.03	14.6	37.9	42.4	0.04	19.7		
2000	29.7	35.6	0.11	34.6	36.6	29.5	0.17	33.7		
2005	28.9	27.9	0.20	43.0	23.5	29.5	0.38	46.6		
2008	33.2	30.7	0.18	35.9	26.5	32.6	0.33	40.5		
2009	35.6	30.1	0.17	34.1	28.1	32.7	0.33	38.9		
	М	anufacturing	n.e.c.; recycli	ng	Construction					
1995	48.1	38.1	0.03	13.8	44.1	41.1	0.04	14.7		
2000	34.6	40.1	0.10	25.1	40.1	40.7	0.08	19.1		
2005	31.2	38.5	0.19	30.1	39.7	38.7	0.12	21.5		
2008	33.2	38.5	0.17	28.2	39.7	36.5	0.12	23.7		
2009	35.4	38.3	0.16	26.1	41.1	37.3	0.11	21.5		
	Tra	ansport and st telecomm	torage, post a unications	nd	Ele	ectricity, gas a	nd water supp	ply		
1995	52.9	36.3	0.02	10.8	46.2	39.6	0.00	14.2		
2000	54.8	32.0	0.04	13.2	40.9	39.6	0.04	19.5		
2005	52.3	31.4	0.08	16.2	43.7	37.5	0.06	18.7		
2008	47.7	32.0	0.10	20.2	43.1	33.7	0.07	23.1		
2009	49.2	32.1	0.09	18.7	46.2	34.4	0.06	19.3		
	Wholesale a	und retail trad	e; Hotels and	restaurants	Financial	intermediati serv	on, business a ices	ind other		
1995	57.2	33.2	0.01	9.5	39.0	46.5	0.03	14.5		
2000	55.3	34.4	0.03	10.3	63.2	28.4	0.02	8.4		
2005	59.4	27.8	0.05	12.7	55.9	31.7	0.05	12.4		
2008	60.0	27.6	0.06	12.3	58.4	28.9	0.06	12.6		
2009	61.9	26.5	0.06	11.5	59.2	28.3	0.05	12.5		

Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012)





Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012).

The share of services in value added exported by various sectors of the Polish economy, as shown in Table 3, is very diverse. The highest share of services in value added occurred in service sectors, including trade, hotels and restaurants, transport, post, telecommunications, financial intermediation, business services, other services, and construction. Moreover, the share of service sectors in the exported value added exceeded 30% in manufacturing sectors in 2009. The highest shares of services in value added exported by manufacturing industries was observed in transport equipment (38.8%). In other manufacturing sectors, these shares were also significant: electrical and optical equipment (34.7%), manufacturing not elsewhere classified (34.2%), wood, paper, paper products and printing (33.4%), food products, beverages and tobacco (33.3%), chemicals and non-metallic mineral products (32.3%), machinery and equipment not elsewhere classified (32.1%), metals and metal products (31.4%) and tannins, textiles, leather and footwear (31.3%). After EU accession the shares of services in exported value added increased slightly in seven of nine manufacturing industries. A much larger increase in the share of services in exported value added was observed in the long-term perspective. In 1995, the share of services in exported value added was well below 30% in all manufacturing industries (excluding manufacturers of chemicals and non-metallic mineral products), whereas in 2009 this share exceeded 30% in all of these sectors.

Table 3

Service value added share in total exports, by sector (1995, 2000, 2005 and 2009,	
% of total exports by sector)	

NACE	1995	2000	2005	2008	2009
Total	40.8	42.7	40.0	42.1	42.4
Agriculture, hunting, forestry and fishing	21.4	23.5	18.2	24.2	24.0
Mining and quarrying	17.3	19.4	17.7	19.4	20.6
Food products, beverages and tobacco	27.2	32.4	33.8	33.1	33.3
Textiles, textile products, leather and footwear	24.2	29.9	30.6	32.6	31.3
Wood, paper, paper products, printing and publishing	22.7	30.1	34.7	33.4	33.4
Chemicals and non-metallic mineral products	30.3	30.5	29.7	32.6	32.3
Base metals and fabricated metal products	23.4	27.3	30.3	31.4	31.4
Machinery and equipment, nec	22.2	27.5	31.9	32.5	32.1
Electrical and optical equipment	26.4	34.0	34.0	34.7	34.7
Transport equipment	26.3	30.8	36.4	37.8	38.8
Manufacturing n.e.c.; recycling	22.4	30.9	33.9	34.2	34.2
Electricity, gas and water supply	19.8	26.6	28.4	29.1	29.1
Construction	68.0	73.7	74.4	74.4	76.4
Wholesale and retail trade; Hotels and restaurants	81.1	85.8	88.0	86.6	88.0
Transport and storage, post and telecommunications	79.6	86.7	84.2	82.3	83.5
Financial intermediation	83.5	91.7	94.2	91.6	90.6
Business services	77.5	89.0	88.3	87.8	89.3
Other services	88.1	87.0	88.4	84.0	85.1

Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012).

Additional information on key trends in Poland's gross exports to the European Union and in the export of domestic value added to the EU is given in Table 4. The data show that the greatest increases in the value of gross exports in 1995–2005 and 2005–2009 were recorded in the industries of transport equipment and electrical and optical equipment; transport and storage, postal services and telecommunications; machinery and equipment; and food products, beverages and tobacco. The increased role of all these industries in Poland's overall exports was accompanied by their increased shares in the export of domestic value added, both direct and indirect. As a result, the total contribution of these five industries to Poland's overall exports increased from 24.8% in 1995 to 40.9% in 2005 and 48.4% in 2009. In turn, their share in the export of domestic value added increased from 21.6% in 1995 to 33.4% in 2005 and 43.4% in 2009, while their share in the export of indirect domestic value added increased from 28% in 1995 to 42.2% in 2005 and 50.1% in 2009.

Table 4

Share of various sectors in gross exports from Poland to the EU, and in the export of domestic direct and indirect value added in 1995, 2005 and 2009 (%)

NACE		Export		DDVA			IDVA		
	1995	2005	2009	1995	2005	2009	1995	2005	2009
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Agriculture, hunting, forestry and fishing	5.6	1.7	1.7	5.4	2.6	2.1	6.1	1.8	1.8
Mining and quarrying	10.8	4.3	2.3	13.7	8.0	3.8	8.0	2.7	1.5
Food products, beverages and tobacco	6.6	7.0	8.4	4.1	4.9	6.8	9.7	11.4	12.6
Textiles, textile products, leather and footwear	9.6	3.8	4.1	10.5	4.2	4.8	8.8	3.1	3.1
Wood, paper, paper products, printing and publishing	6.9	6.4	4.9	6.5	6.0	4.9	7.6	7.5	5.8
Chemicals and non-metallic mineral products	10.7	14.8	14.6	9.5	13.6	13.6	10.8	13.7	13.9
Basic metals and fabricated metal products	12.2	10.9	8.7	10.8	9.0	7.7	12.5	11.8	8.7
Machinery and equipment, n.e.c.	2.6	5.4	5.9	2.7	5.3	6.2	2.4	5.5	5.5
Electrical and optical equipment	3.9	8.9	10.5	3.8	7.2	9.9	4.2	7.5	9.3
Transport equipment	9.1	16.0	18.5	7.9	10.6	13.8	9.5	14.3	17.9
Manufacturing n.e.c.; recycling	5.3	5.5	5.8	5.8	4.9	5.4	5.0	6.4	6.5
Electricity, gas and water supply	1.2	1.5	1.0	1.3	1.9	1.2	1.2	1.7	1.0
Construction	1.6	0.5	1.4	1.6	0.6	1.6	1.6	0.6	1.6
Wholesale and retail trade; Hotels and restaurants	7.5	8.1	2.8	9.9	13.6	4.6	6.1	6.8	2.2
Transport and storage, post and telecommunications	2.6	3.6	5.1	3.1	5.4	6.7	2.3	3.5	4.9
Financial intermediation	1.2	0.0	0.3	0.8	0.1	0.4	1.4	0.0	0.3
Business services	2.2	1.3	3.1	2.0	2.0	5.0	2.6	1.3	2.5
Other services	0.3	0.2	1.0	0.4	0.3	1.5	0.2	0.1	0.9

Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012)

Value added in Polish exports to the EU by country

As shown in Table 5, the share of various EU member states in domestic and foreign value added exported from Poland to the EU is uneven. Logically, the distribution of value added exports from Poland mirrors the geographical structure of intermediate goods exports to these countries, as shown in Figure 2. The five most important export markets in the EU for Polish domestic value added were Germany (25.9%), Italy (7.5%), the United Kingdom (7.1%), France (6.9%), and the Czech Republic (5.1%). The largest recipients of foreign value added exported from Poland to the EU were Germany (7.7%), Italy (2.8%), France (1.98%), the UK (1.47%), and the Netherlands (1.1%).

246

Table 5

The share of domestic (indirect, direct and	re-impor	rted) value	added expo	rts in gross
exports to the European Union by country	(1995, 20	000, 2005,	2008, 2009	9, % of gross
exports)				

Country		Forei	gn value a	added			Dome	stic value	added	
Country	1995	2000	2005	2008	2011	1995	2000	2005	2008	2011
Germany	5.30	6.18	8.46	7.69	7.26	43.7	37.1	26.9	23.9	25.9
Italy	1.78	2.40	2.88	2.84	2.83	6.1	7.0	7.2	7.2	7.5
France	1.30	1.85	2.38	1.98	1.89	5.3	5.1	6.3	6.8	6.9
UK	1.58	1.77	1.71	1.47	1.35	5.5	5.0	5.8	6.2	7.1
Netherlands	0.78	0.90	1.09	1.09	1.09	4.5	3.7	2.0	2.1	2.4
Czech Republic	0.55	0.73	1.09	1.10	1.05	2.7	3.3	4.7	4.7	5.1
Spain	0.38	0.66	0.84	0.79	0.82	1.3	1.5	2.1	2.8	2.9
Belgium	0.53	0.63	0.75	0.69	0.76	1.8	1.8	1.5	1.8	1.8
Austria	0.71	0.67	0.75	0.76	0.72	2.1	2.3	2.3	2.1	1.8
Sweden	0.68	0.88	0.95	0.80	0.70	2.7	3.3	3.8	4.0	3.2
Slovakia	0.22	0.38	0.64	0.65	0.57	0.8	1.0	1.9	1.8	1.9
Denmark	0.38	0.48	0.49	0.45	0.43	3.3	2.7	1.8	2.2	1.8
Hungary	0.18	0.23	0.41	0.48	0.42	0.9	1.8	3.2	3.0	2.7
Finland	0.37	0.50	0.49	0.47	0.41	1.3	0.6	0.6	0.8	0.8
Ireland	0.08	0.15	0.23	0.27	0.29	0.5	0.7	0.4	0.6	0.4
Romania	0.02	0.09	0.18	0.20	0.20	0.2	0.6	1.5	1.9	1.6
Lithuania	0.01	0.10	0.15	0.19	0.14	0.4	0.6	1.6	1.9	1.4
Greece	0.04	0.14	0.14	0.19	0.14	0.5	1.1	0.3	0.6	0.8
Portugal	0.04	0.10	0.09	0.13	0.13	0.1	0.6	0.4	0.3	0.3
Slovenia	0.06	0.09	0.11	0.12	0.12	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4
Luxembourg	0.13	0.09	0.07	0.10	0.09	0.6	0.0	0.1	0.4	0.2
Latvia	0.01	0.02	0.08	0.06	0.05	0.1	0.3	0.6	0.7	0.6
Bulgaria	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.07	0.05	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.5
Estonia	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.04	0.0	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.3
Cyprus	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Malta	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012).

The export of domestic value added substantially exceeded the amount of foreign value added exported to all EU countries. Nonetheless, there were some important differences in domestic value added patterns between various EU members. As shown in Table 6, the share of domestic value in 2009 exceeded 85% in exports to less well-developed EU member states, including Latvia, Lithuania, Bulgaria, Estonia, Romania,

and Hungary. This share was lower than 70% in exports to better developed EU members such as Belgium, Netherlands, Cyprus, Finland, Luxembourg, Malta, and Ireland. In addition, the direction of changes in the structure of value added (domestic versus foreign) exported from Poland to various EU members varied considerably. The 1995–2005 period was dominated by a growing share of foreign value added in exports and a declining share of domestic value added, while in the period after 2005, these trends were somewhat reversed and there was an increase in domestic value added in exports. However, the increase was not high enough to bring the shares of domestic value added to levels characteristic of the mid-1990s.

Table 6

c 1

01

2005, 2008	s, 2009,	, %)	eign	value auue	a in gros	s expor	rts, Dy	/ cou	IIII	y (199.	5, 200	л,
							D					

11005 2000

1.

		Foreig	gn value	added		Domestic value added							
Country	1995	2000	2005	2008	2009	1995	2000	2005	2008	2009	Change in p.p.		
											1995– 2005	2005- 2009	
Latvia	8.0	5.5	12.2	7.5	7.9	92.0	94.5	87.8	92.5	92.1	-4.2	4.3	
Lithuania	3.0	14.8	8.7	8.7	9.0	97.0	85.2	91.3	91.3	91.0	-5.7	-0.3	
Bulgaria	5.9	4.4	10.9	11.1	10.0	94.1	95.6	89.1	88.9	90.0	-5.0	0.9	
Estonia	20.4	7.7	8.1	11.0	11.3	79.6	92.3	91.9	89.0	88.7	12.3	-3.2	
Romania	9.1	13.3	10.5	9.6	11.4	90.9	86.7	89.5	90.4	88.6	-1.4	-0.9	
Hungary	16.2	11.2	11.4	14.0	13.5	83.8	88.8	88.6	86.0	86.5	4.8	-2.1	
Greece	6.8	11.0	34.7	22.8	14.7	93.2	89.0	65.3	77.2	85.3	-27.9	20.0	
UK	22.3	26.1	22.9	19.1	15.9	77.7	73.9	77.1	80.9	84.1	-0.6	7.0	
Czech Rep.	17.3	18.2	18.8	18.8	17.0	82.7	81.8	81.2	81.2	83.0	-1.5	1.8	
Sweden	19.8	21.2	19.9	16.7	17.7	80.2	78.8	80.1	83.3	82.3	-0.1	2.2	
Denmark	10.2	15.1	21.9	17.1	19.0	89.8	84.9	78.1	82.9	81.0	-11.7	2.9	
France	19.8	26.6	27.4	22.6	21.5	80.2	73.4	72.6	77.4	78.5	-7.6	5.9	
Germany	10.8	14.3	24.0	24.3	21.9	89.2	85.7	76.0	75.7	78.1	-13.2	2.1	
Spain	22.3	30.6	28.4	22.2	21.9	77.7	69.4	71.6	77.8	78.1	-6.1	6.5	
Slovenia	33.7	20.1	23.1	22.2	22.6	66.3	79.9	76.9	77.8	77.4	10.6	0.5	
Slovakia	22.0	28.6	25.7	26.3	23.2	78.0	71.4	74.3	73.7	76.8	-3.7	2.5	
Italy	22.5	25.5	28.5	28.2	27.4	77.5	74.5	71.5	71.8	72.6	-6.0	1.1	
Austria	25.7	22.8	24.7	26.2	29.0	74.3	77.2	75.3	73.8	71.0	1.0	-4.3	
Portugal	23.3	14.5	16.5	33.4	29.0	76.7	85.5	83.5	66.6	71.0	6.8	-12.5	
Belgium	22.9	26.1	33.9	27.2	29.3	77.1	73.9	66.1	72.8	70.7	-11.0	4.6	
Netherlands	14.7	19.8	35.8	34.3	31.1	85.3	80.2	64.2	65.7	68.9	-21.1	4.7	
Cyprus	30.0	65.6	44.4	26.5	33.0	70.0	34.4	55.6	73.5	67.0	-14.4	11.4	

Country	Foreign value added					Domestic value added							
	1995	2000	2005	2008	2009	1995	2000	2005	2008	2009	Change in p.p.		
											1995– 2005	2005- 2009	
Finland	22.5	44.0	43.5	38.5	33.2	77.5	56.0	56.5	61.5	66.8	-21.0	10.3	
Luxembourg	18.7	76.7	41.9	20.8	33.7	81.3	23.3	58.1	79.2	66.3	-23.2	8.2	
Malta	22.2	20.0	70.9	42.4	39.4	77.8	80.0	29.1	57.6	60.6	-48.7	31.5	
Ireland	14.1	18.7	36.5	29.7	39.8	85.9	81.3	63.5	70.3	60.2	-22.4	-3.3	

Source: Author's elaboration based on: OECD (2012).

Conclusion

To summarize, it should be noted that the actual integration of the Polish economy with European value chains took place before the country's entry into the EU. Major structural changes related to the integration of the Polish economy into European value chains took place in the 1990s and from 2000 to 2004.

Vertical integration or the development of global value chains is a key factor influencing the development of Poland's foreign trade. Moreover, trade relations between Poland and other EU member states are more strongly associated with value chain development than trade with countries outside the EU. The European Union is a major export market for Poland, accounting for about three–quarters of Poland's exports, both in the case of total exports and intermediate goods exports. In the case of imports, including the import of intermediate goods, the position of EU countries is less significant, and it decreased in the period after accession to the EU.

While the European Union is crucial for Poland's participation in international value chains, the role of individual member states varies widely. The strongest vertical links, in terms of trade in intermediate goods, are between Poland and Germany, followed by Italy, the Czech Republic, France, the United Kingdom, and the Netherlands.

References

Ando, M., (2006), Fragmentation and vertical intra-industry trade in East Asia, "North American Journal of Economics and Finance", Volume 17, Issue 3, December 2006, pp. 257–281.

De Backer, K., Yamano, N., (2007), The Measurement Of Globalisation Using International Input-Output Tables, STI Working Paper, No. 2007/8, OECD, Paris.

Dietrich, M., (1999), Explaining Economic Restructuring: An input-output analysis of organisational change in the European Union, International Review of Applied Economics, Vol. 13, Issue 2, pp. 219–240.

Drauz, R., (2013), Re-insourcing as a manufacturing-strategic option during a crisis—Cases from the automobile industry, "Journal of Business Research", http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0148296313000052.

Feenstra, R.C., (1998), Integration of Trade and Disintegration of Production in the Global Economy, "Journal of Economic Perspectives", Vol. 12, No. 4 (Autumn, 1998), pp. 31–50.

Grubel, H.G., Lloyd, P., (1975), Intra-Industry Trade: The Theory and Measurement of International Trade in Differentiated Products, Macmillan, London.

Hummels, D., Ishii, J., Yi, K-M., (2001), *The nature and growth and vertical specialization in world trade*, "Journal of International Economics", Vol. 54, No. 1, pp. 75–96.

Koopman, R., Powers, W., Wang, Z., Wei, S-J., (2010), *Give Credit Where Credit Is Due: Tracing Value Added in Global Production Chains*, NBER Working Paper No. 16426, National Bureau for Economic Research, Cambridge Mass.

Krugman P., Cooper, R.N., Srinivasan, T.N., (1995), Growing World Trade: Causes and Consequences, "Brookings Papers on Economic Activity", Vol. 1995, No. 1, 25th Anniversary Issue (1995), pp. 327–377.

Krugman, P.R., (1981), Intra-industry Specialization and the Gains from Trade, "Journal of Political Economy", Vol. 89, No. 5, October, pp. 959–973.

McCarthy, I., Anagnostou, A., (2004), *The impact of outsourcing on the transaction costs and boundaries of manufacturing*, International Journal of Production Economics, Volume 88, Issue 1, March, pp. 61–71.

Miroudot, S., De Backer, K., (2012), Mapping Global Value Chains, TAD/TC/WP/RD(2012)9, OECD, Paris.

OECD (2012), OECD.Stat, (database). doi: 10.1787/data-00285-en.

Radło, M-J., (2013), Offshoring i outsourcing. Implikacje dla gospodarki i przedsiębiorstw, Oficyna Wydawnicza Szkoły Głównej Handlowej w Warszawie, Warsaw.

Sturgeon, T.J., Memedovic, O., (2011), Mapping Global Value Chains: Intermediate Goods Trade and Structural Change in the World Economy, Development Policy and Strategic Research Branch Working Paper 05/2010, UNIDO, Vienna.

Yoshida, Y., (2013), Intra-industry trade, fragmentation and export margins: An empirical examination of sub-regional international trade, "North American Journal of Economics and Finance", Vol. 24, January, pp. 125–138.

5.2. A New Approach to Innovation Policy in Poland as a Result of EU Entry

Arkadiusz Michał Kowalski

This chapter aims to discuss the impact of European integration on innovation policy in Poland, with an additional focus on the level of innovation in the Polish economy. Although accession to the European Union initiated changes in Polish innovation policy, it did not translate into a significant improvement in the level of innovation in the country compared with other member states.

This chapter discusses the key changes in innovation policy in Poland that have taken place since 2004. These include a more comprehensive approach to innovation policy; an expansion in Polish programs to include EU research, development and innovation policy tools; greater attention to regional issues; support for the development of business clusters; and the promotion of new forms of innovation, including user-driven innovation (UDI). Most of these have been launched as a result of
imitating the experience of highly developed countries acting as innovation leaders. Institutional delays in innovation policy making and other weaknesses of Poland's national innovation system—such as a low level of collaboration among businesses and between the business and science sectors, and insufficient access to funding, including seed capital and venture capital—are the chief causes of the low innovativeness of the Polish economy and the country's weak position in international league tables (European Commission, 2014).

A comprehensive approach to innovation policy as a result of EU entry

The country's EU entry had a huge impact on Polish innovation policy, as well as on the country's overall economic policy, because it led to a more comprehensive approach to development management. Since the Delors reform of 1988, the European Union has programmed its policies and budget in the long term, for a period no shorter than five years. After the programming periods 1989–1993 (five years), 1994–1999 (six years), 2000–2006 (seven years) and 2007–2013 (seven years), the EU's fifth seven-year Financial Perspective is in operation, covering the 2014–2020 period. After joining the European Union, Poland began working on a comprehensive approach to programming its own strategic development, and innovation policy is an important part of this approach. Individual Operational Programmes and financial resources are planned and allocated in the long-term time frame to guarantee a successful development strategy.

In 2007–2013, the National Strategic Reference Framework (NSRF) was the key document that outlined the country's development priorities and defined the amount of financial support available for Poland as part of EU structural funds (i.e. the European Regional Development Fund and the European Social Fund). The National Strategic Reference Framework was implemented through five National and 16 Regional Operational Programmes (ROP) as well as the European Territorial Cooperation Programme. In the structural funds system, innovation policy was pursued primarily through the national Innovative Economy Operational Programme, 2007–2013 (IE OP) as well as ROP, in which individual instruments for supporting innovation were tied to the priorities set out in Regional Innovation Strategies (RIS).

The system of Polish strategic documents refers to the development priorities set out in the Europe 2020 strategy, the single most important long-term program of the EU's socioeconomic development, which replaced the Lisbon Strategy. The Europe 2020 strategy has three basic, mutually reinforcing priorities: smart growth, which means growth based on knowledge and innovation; sustainable growth; and inclusive growth. At the national level, this European strategy inspired Poland's "Innovativeness and Efficiency of the Economy – Strategy for 2012–2020. Dynamic Poland" (Ministry of Economy, 2013), a key document in the context of programming innovation policy in Poland in the EU's new programming period. The main objective of the Polish strategy is to bring about a highly competitive economy based on knowledge and cooperation. It places an emphasis on supporting cooperation between local community partners (which is an important factor in modern innovation processes) and on indentifying and strengthening smart specializations in individual regions.

The above analysis shows that the strategic programming of Poland's development policy in the wake of the country's EU entry—including measures designed to foster innovation in the economy—means that individual measures are not being implemented at random, but as a result of the adoption of well-thought-out mediumand long-term concepts at the Community, national and regional levels. Increased effectiveness of structural funds and other innovation policy tools is ensured by the comprehensive nature of the planning documents, with appropriately identified development priorities and strategic objectives, as well as tasks for their implementation.

European cooperation in the promotion and development of innovation

Poland's accession to the European Union has significantly increased the possibilities for financially supporting the Polish research, development and innovation system from external sources. Of note here—in addition to structural funds spent at the national and regional levels—are EU programs contributing to the emergence of the European Research Area (ERA), with the free movement of researchers, scientific knowledge and technology. ERA is a platform that makes it possible to regroup and intensify research activities at the European level and coordinate these with national and international initiatives. ERA is a central part of the Europe 2020 strategy and its flagship initiative is Innovation Union, which aims to ensure that innovative ideas are translated into new products and services and that Europe's creative potential is put to use.

The broad range of instruments for supporting measures aimed at improving innovation at the EU level primarily includes the European Framework Programme for Research, Technological Development and Demonstration Activities. To an extent, Polish companies could take part in the Fourth Framework Programme (1994–1998), and then, on equal footing, in the Fifth Framework Programme (FP5) for 1999–2002, aimed at the economic development of the Community and associated countries. When Poland joined the EU in 2004, the European Union's Sixth Framework Programme for research and technological development for 2002–2006 was under way. Its aim was to define the research and scientific activities and technological development of European regions, work toward wider implementation of R&D results in the innovative activities of businesses, and work to develop a more coherent and innovation-friendly Community policy.

The Seventh Framework Programme for Research and Technological Development (FP7) for 2007–2013 was designed to meet the needs of the European economy in fields such as information technology, health, biotechnology, advanced materials, energy, environmental protection, transport, and socioeconomic issues by consolidating the European Research Area. The greatest activity of Polish research teams in FP7 was observed in information and communication technology (ICT) as well as in nanoscience, nanotechnology, new materials, and production technology (under the Cooperation program). Moreover, Polish scientists actively participate in a FP7 initiative called REGPOT, which aims to strengthen research potential in convergence and peripheral regions, and in the Ideas and People programs, in which scholarship projects are carried out (National Contact Point for Research Programmes of the European Union, 2013, p. 21). Other measures designed to support research as part of FP7 include the Competitiveness and Innovation Framework Programme (CIP), which aims to support innovation (including eco-innovation), improve access to financing, and upgrade business services in regions, with a special focus on the needs of small and medium-sized businesses.

The 10th year of Poland's EU membership coincides with the launch of the EU's Horizon 2020 program for research and innovation (2014–2020). The program is intended to finance activities through which the guidelines of Innovation Union, one of the flagship initiatives of the Europe 2020 strategy, are implemented. The basic premise of Horizon 2020 is to adopt a strategic approach to research and innovation, based on three key priorities: excellence in science, industrial leadership, and societal challenges. The program also focuses on strengthening cooperation between the best universities, research centers, and businesses in areas such as training businesspeople. In addition, the program provides increased support for the European Institute of Innovation and Technology (EIT). One of the institute's knowledge and innovation nodes in the area of sustainable energy—CC Poland Plus—is located in the southern Polish city of Cracow.

Focus on the regional dimension of innovation policy after EU accession

In recent decades, there has been a growing link between innovation policy and regional policy in the European Union. This is a response to the modern paradigm in economics, according to which activities designed to support innovation are the most effective not at the central level, but primarily at the regional level. Innovation policy regionalization makes it possible to achieve synergy effects contributing to an adequate level of developing, using, and commercializing innovations. Of special importance in the analysis of the role of space in the innovation activity of businesses is the paradigm of proximity, which attempts to explain how and in which dimension proximity is involved in shaping the relationships between different actors. Proximity cannot be reduced only to the geographical factor because it also includes other dimensions such as cognitive, organizational, geographic, social, and institutional (Boschma, 2005) as well as epistemic (Bahlmann, Elfring, Groenewegen, Huysman, 2010), defined as a similarity between the worldviews of cooperating actors.

Regional Innovation Strategies (RIS) adopted in individual regions are the key tool used in the implementation of the regional dimension of innovation policy in Poland. The emergence of these strategies is closely related to EU accession, because even those strategies that were developed earlier, i.e. in 2002–2003, were financed from funds available under the European Union's Fifth Framework Programme. Regional innovation strategies are aimed at developing an effective system for supporting innovation in

regions and are the basis for spending EU funds for supporting innovation, particularly as part of Regional Operational Programmes. These strategies are based on an analysis of the technological needs and of the potential and needs of the research sector and businesses. They define the directions of innovation policy in provinces and the ways of optimizing regional infrastructure designed to support innovation. The efficiency of regional innovation strategies assumes that local authorities can best identify the opportunities and needs of their region, and, when EU structural funds are available, they can best develop an environment conducive to innovation. In addition, due to closer interactions between individual actors at the regional level than at the central level, it is possible to pursue the principle of user-driven innovation, which is described in detail later in this chapter.

Supporting the development of clusters in Poland

One of the results of Poland's EU entry is an increased interest in clusters, both as a business model and for the development of economic policy tools. Cluster policy is a horizontal principle whose individual elements can be classed among different types of policies, in particular innovation, industrial and regional policy, as well as labor market, social, educational and science policies. Due to the significant impact of clusters on innovation in the economy, support for clusters is usually treated as an element of innovation policy. Prior to 2004, the concept of clusters was not used in Poland, but during the past decade there has been a rapid increase in the number of various cluster initiatives and public programs designed to support them, at both the central and regional levels. This is in response to the successful establishment of clusters in many developed countries—such as Nordic countries—as well as the cluster-oriented approach of the European Commission, which in its Communication of 2008 (European Commission, 2008) laid down a policy framework for supporting clusters in the European Union, in order to ensure complementarity and synergy between cluster efforts undertaken at the local, regional, national and Community levels. Cluster policy is a very good tool for carrying out the concept of smart specialization in regions, which is an important part of the Europe 2020 strategy (European Commission, 2010a).

Programs and efforts designed to support clusters are part of a territorial-based policy, a very important policy in the European Union (European Commission, 1999), under which all development actions, both sectoral and horizontal, should have a tangible impact at the local and regional levels. The concentration of public activities on clusters is also important in the context of the evolution of the paradigm of a common regional policy, which has been in the center of Poland's interests since the country's EU entry. Regional policy formerly served as a tool for the redistribution of funds from better developed to weaker regions and for reducing development disparities among regions. The primary goal of regional policy is to ensure the use of the endogenous potential of individual regions and the development of their strengths. In many cases, these include clusters and the relationships they build between the most competitive businesses and research centers in a given area. In the context of innovation policy, clusters are an effective tool for stimulating cooperation between universities and industry, and they are also more directly oriented toward innovation, technology transfer and the commercial use of knowledge.

Since Poland joined the EU in 2004, many cluster initiatives have emerged across the country, but their origin, objectives and structure vary considerably. A study conducted in 2013 identified 179 measures and projects that in terms of their morphology are the closest to the general understanding of the cluster concept (Kowalski, 2013). Due to the continuous increase in the number of cluster initiatives in various industries, regardless of their technological level, this list is still open and subject to dynamic modifications. At the same time, many of the cluster initiatives that have emerged do not meet the theoretical assumptions of the cluster model, in particular those involving geographic and sector concentration. However, survey findings (Kowalski, 2013) show that, if a cluster initiative emerges in a given location, it tends to stimulate cooperation and have a positive impact on trust and the intensity of communication between partners; it thus helps build social capital. In this context, clusters are an effective mechanism that influences the development of the innovation environment in Poland in the broad sense. At the same time, studies show that efforts to encourage the emergence of clusters in Poland are an effective method for overcoming one of the biggest barriers to innovation in the economy—a low level of collaboration and linkages between different components of the innovation system, in particular between businesses and research centers.

Cluster policy in Poland is inextricably linked with the country's accession to the European Union in 2004. Strategies, programs and public activities involving support for clusters are part of the Community's economic policy, and most of the funds spent in this area come from the EU budget. In the initial stage of membership, from 2004 to 2006, cluster initiatives were not yet widespread, but even then these initiatives could benefit from structural funds. The most important role in this context he was played by the Sectoral Operational Programme: Improvement of the Competitiveness of Enterprises, 2004–2006 (SOP ICE), primarily Priority 1: "Enhancement of a knowledge-based economy business environment," specifically Measure 1.1 "Strengthening of institutions supporting operations of enterprises," and Measure 1.4 "Strengthening of cooperation between the R&D sphere and the economy." In the discussed programming period, clusters were also supported from the Sectoral Operational Programme: Human Resources Development, 2004–2006 (SOP HRD). This was primarily served by Measure 2.3 "Development of personnel of modern economy," in particular Scheme B "Promotion of system solutions in the field of development of adaptability and knowledge-based economy;" this last was the source of funding for projects including a training program carried out by the Polish Agency for Enterprise Development (PARP) to promote clustering.

As the cluster concept grew popular in Poland, the 2007–2013 programming period saw a more all-around approach to cluster policy. Strategic-level cluster support was included among the priorities listed in a government document called "Strategy for

Increasing the Innovativeness of the Economy in 2007–2013." The document recommends five basic ways of shaping government innovation policy. One of these is "infrastructure for innovation," including support for joint business activities aimed at implementing innovative projects (Ministry of Economy, 2006). At the operational level, cluster policy is pursued at two levels:

- central level, mainly as part of the Innovative Economy Operational Programme, 2007–2013 (IE OP) through Measure 5.1 "Support for development of supraregional cooperative relations";
- regional level, through Regional Operational Programmes (ROP) carried out by local authorities.

Of special importance to the new programming period is the "Innovativeness and Efficiency of the Economy – Strategy for 2012–2020. Dynamic Poland," which contains some key assumptions of Polish cluster policy, in particular: the adoption of a bottom-up approach to the development of clusters as proposed by the European Commission; strengthening of cooperation between clusters and science and technology parks, in order to make sure that research results better translate into the development of an innovative and cost-effective industry; the establishment of technology centers, business incubators; the development of technical infrastructure for clusters; and inclusion of regional authorities in efforts to adapt the education system to the needs of clusters, while taking into account the need for cooperation among several regions in the case of cross-regional clusters.

Another important document that ties Polish cluster policy to the EU's Europe 2020 strategy is the National Reform Programme for the implementation of the Europe 2020 strategy (Republic of Poland, 2011). This document recommends that a mechanism is developed for selecting the strongest cluster initiatives—including technology clusters with the greatest innovation potential—and concentrating public funds, including EU structural funds, in these clusters. Also important to innovation in the economy are programs designed to promote cross-border cooperation of cluster initiatives (for example those undertaken as part of the European Cluster Alliance) operating in different EU member states and regions. This helps open the national innovation system to global technological achievements.

Promotion of new forms of innovation

One of the innovation policy priorities in the European Union is an increasingly stronger focus on user-driven innovation (UDI), based on maintaining constant contact with the end user at each stage of developing and implementing new solutions. The idea of user-driven innovation effectively meets the assumptions of the modern model of innovation processes, under which innovation is treated as a product of interaction between people and organizations on the one hand, and their environment on the other. Under this approach, the key driver of innovation should be not R&D, which is a source of the so-called technological push, but mainly the market,

which determines research, development and innovation trends and is a source of innovation pull, or innovation driven by demand. This concept fits into an open innovation strategy based on looking for inspiration for new products and services outside a given enterprise. These approaches can include finding and combining ideas that are complementary to existing R&D projects, and establishing collaboration with other market players. The effectiveness of this approach is determined by the dispersion of knowledge and capital observed now, as a result of which the most important aspect of innovation is to combine the intellectual resources and activities of various organizations.

According to the European Commission, clusters play an important role in taking advantage of the knowledge of users in order to develop new products, services and concepts (European Commission, 2009) because they act as a neutral intermediary between cluster-based companies, consumers and supporting institutions. By ensuring a better-coordinated approach, clusters can bring about a greater degree of collaboration between different communities, thus contributing to the development of new products and services. Clusters also play an important supporting role in innovation by facilitating contacts with companies specialized in areas such as intellectual property rights, innovation financing, international networking and design (Kowalski, 2010, p. 254). The end user potential in innovation was also highlighted by the TACTICS Reflection Group, which operated from 2009 to 2011, and particularly by the Fostering User-Driven Innovation Through Clusters task force, which saw user-driven innovation as a process and promoted various kinds of activities involving clusters (European Commission, 2012).

The concept of user-driven innovation is widespread in Nordic countries, which have been a source of good practices in this area for Poland since its EU entry. One source of interesting experience was the Proposed Joint Programme in Support of User Driven Innovation, a product of work by the Northern Dimension Learning Forum on User Driven Innovation (NDLF-UDI) working group formed under the auspices of the Nordic Council of Ministers. Poland, as a country of the Baltic Sea Region, took part in this program, which consisted of two pillars:

- 1. efforts to raise awareness of user-driven innovation among businesses through holding conferences, preparing materials, case studies, textbooks, training courses, and establishing a platform for the exchange of experience and knowledge,
- activities in the area of research and education, including mapping out institutions dealing with user-driven innovation, supporting research projects, adapting educational programs and the establishment of an interdisciplinary network of research institutes, universities and educational institutions in the field of userdriven innovation.

Nordic experience shows that user-driven innovation significantly triggers the activity of young people, who are familiar with modern information and communication technologies, as well as of older users, who have extensive knowledge, experience and social contacts. User-driven innovation can be useful in solving many problems affecting contemporary society, such as population aging, healthcare, security and the search for alternative energy sources. Poland still needs to pay more attention to user-driven innovation, but, significantly, the "Innovativeness and Efficiency of the Economy – Strategy for 2012–2020. Dynamic Poland" uses a broad definition of innovation, with the aim of using public funds to finance projects in various sectors and industries and involving all kinds of innovation: product, process, organizational, marketing, technological and non-technological innovation, eco-innovation, social innovation, and user-driven innovation (Ministry of Economy, 2013, p. 42).

The public sector is a major buyer of goods and services, because one of the instruments of user-driven innovation is the use of public orders to boost demand for innovative solutions. This concept is being promoted by the European Commission, according to which the public sector, acting as a smart customer, plays a key role in promoting the idea of public procurement supporting innovation. Public procurement accounts for 17% of the EU's GDP and represents a significant market, especially in areas such as health, transport and energy. Europe has vast, untapped opportunities for supporting innovation through public procurement (European Commission, 2010b, p. 16). The Polish government embraced the European Commission's guidelines in a publication produced by the Economy Ministry together with the Public Procurement Office (2008). The publication states that demand for innovative solutions can be increased, for example, by formulating tender requirements in such a way that they give companies as much room for maneuver as possible in coming up with innovative solutions. In addition, price should not be the only criterion when awarding tenders, but other selection criteria should also be used, such as the total cost at which a product or service is purchased combined with the maintenance costs. This is designed to promote the selection of innovative and modern products and services offered by companies.

The innovativeness of the Polish economy in international comparative terms

One of the most important sources of information about the innovativeness of EU economies is the Innovation Union Scoreboard (IUS) compiled annually for the European Commission. The scoreboard uses a Summary Innovation Index (SII) that consists of 24 indicators. The SII methodology covers all three stages of the innovation process by classifying the indicators into three groups: enablers, firm activities, and outputs. The scoreboard is an important tool used in shaping innovation policy. On its basis, the European Commission evaluates the level of innovation in individual member states and the effectiveness of their actions and monitors how the objectives of the Europe 2020 strategy are carried out in terms of innovation.

Depending on the level of innovation in the economy, individual countries are classified into four groups: innovation leaders, innovation followers, moderate innovators, and modest innovators, as shown in Table 7.

Increase of Summary Sumary Innovation Group Country Innovation Index – SII) in Index (SII) 2013 2006-2013 Sweden 0.750 0.35% Denmark 0.728 0.89% Innovation leaders Germany 0.709 1.34% Finland 0.684 1.17% Luxembourg 0.646 1.81% Netherlands 0.629 1.64% Belgium 0.627 0.92% Innovation followers United Kingdom 0.613 0.54% Ireland 0.606 0.96% Austria 0.599 2.17% France 0.571 1.43% Slovenia 0.513 2.66% Estonia 0.502 3.74% Cyprus 0.501 2.74% Italy 0.443 2.22% 0.422 Czech Republic 1.72% 0.414 1.43% Spain Portugal 0.410 3.86% Moderate innovators Greece 0.384 1.24%

Table 7Classification of EU economies in terms of innovation

Source: European Commission (2014), p. 92.

Modest innovators

Hungary

Slovakia

Malta

Croatia

Poland

Romania

Latvia

Bulgaria

Lithuania

In the 2014 scoreboard, Poland, with an SII of 0.279 (compared with the EU average of 0.554), was ranked last among moderate innovators. This means a small improvement in the country's position because in 2013 the Polish economy, with an SII of 0.27 (compared with the EU average of 0.544), was classed among modest

0.306

0.328

0.319

0.306

0.289

0.279

0.237

0.221

0.188

0.77%

1.49%

1.97% 0.77%

2.58%

0.88%

1.90%

3.51%

2.49%

innovators. However, the SII index is a summary index that includes various indicators of different aspects of the innovation process. A more detailed analysis of the various dimensions of the SII in the Polish economy is therefore needed to identify the strengths and weaknesses of innovation in the country. Some important conclusions are yielded by a summary of SII indicators in the eight IUS dimensions for Poland against the EU average, as shown in Table 8.

Table 8

Values of individual dimensions of the 2012 Summary Innovation Index (SII) for Poland and the European Union

Groups of SII	Dimensions of SII	Poland	EU27	Relationship between the values for Poland and the EU in %
Enablers	Human resources	0.567	0.583	97%
	Research systems	0.128	0.539	24%
	Finance and support	0.418	0.558	75%
Firm activities	Firm investments	0.343	0.417	82%
	Linkages and entrepreneurship	0.126	0.550	23%
	Intellectual assets	0.274	0.564	49%
Outputs	Innovators	0.127	0.549	23%
	Economic effects	0.305	0.595	51%

Source: European Commission (2014).

As shown in Table 8, the values of all the dimensions of the SII for Poland are lower than the EU average. The smallest difference is in the case of human resources, where the Polish index (0.567) is only slightly different from the EU average (0.583). According to T. Baczko and E. Krzywina (2008), more intense education and efforts to release social capital are crucial for innovation in Poland. Other dimensions in which Poland has the smallest delay with regard to other countries are: firm investments (0.343 for Poland, compared with the EU average of 0.417), finance and support (0.418 and 0.558 respectively), and economic effects (0.305 and 0.595 respectively). The dimensions in which Poland differs the most from the EU average are: innovators, among them innovating small and medium-sized enterprises (0.127 for Poland, with the EU average at 0.549) and linkages and entrepreneurship (0.126 and 0.549 respectively). A more detailed assessment of Poland's innovativeness against the background of the EU average can be made by analyzing individual SII indicators (Figure 6). The values of individual indicators making up the 2013 Summary Innovation Index (SII) for the Polish economy in relation to the EU27=100



The data in Figure 6 show that Poland has a relative advantage in relation to the EU average in terms of the percentage of people with higher education in the 30–34 age group (109% of the EU average), and the percentage of those in the 20–24 age

group who have at least a secondary-level education (112% of the EU average). The high values of these two indicators meant that Poland achieved the best results for the human resources dimension (as shown in Table 8). However, Poland has the biggest advantage over the EU average in non-R&D innovation expenditure as a percentage of sales (182% of the EU average), as part of the "firm investments" dimension. Non-R&D innovation expenditure includes investment in equipment and machinery and the acquisition of patents and licenses, which means this indicator is a measure of the diffusion of new production technologies and ideas (Hollanders, Tarantola, 2011, p. 9). The high level of this measure reflects the nature of Poland's National Innovation System (NIS), which is classified among so-called catching-up NISs, which, in turn, are part of the bigger group of developing innovation systems (Weresa, 2012). This system is largely based on technological imitation, and the absorption of knowledge and innovation from external sources—rather than reliance on the results of domestic R&D—is still the basis of innovation.

Conclusion

This chapter has traced the evolution of innovation policy in Poland after the country's entry to the European Union. It has also offered the most recent statistics to assess the level of innovation in the economy. The analysis has made it possible to confirm the hypothesis adopted at the beginning of this chapter, that EU accession led to positive changes in Polish innovation policy. However, this has not translated into a significant improvement in the level of innovation in this country compared with other member states. European integration has had an impact on various aspects of Poland's innovation policy, including:

- an all-round approach to innovation policy, which has become an integral part of a new approach to development management, based on Operational Programmes and long-term financial support;
- entry into the European Research Area (ERA) of the future and financial support for the Polish research, development and innovation (RDI) system from external sources, in particular from the budget of Framework Programmes;
- inclusion of the regional dimension of innovation policy, chiefly on the basis on regional innovation strategies and efforts to identify and reinforce smart specializations of regional economies;
- initiation and dynamic development of activities aimed at launching and developing clusters. These are an important part of innovation systems and help foster interactions among enterprises and collaboration between universities and industry. Clusters also make this collaboration more oriented toward innovation, technology transfer and the commercial use of knowledge – designing programs promoting cross-border cooperation among cluster initiatives. This facilitates an opening of the national innovation system and encourages the use of global technological achievements;

promoting new forms of innovation, including user-driven innovation, making it
possible to adapt innovative activities to the needs of consumers, and thus increasing
the chances of success in putting knowledge to commercial use; boosting demand
for innovation through the use of a public procurement system giving preference to
innovative and modern products and services through an appropriate formulation
of tender requirements and criteria for the selection of contractors.

All these changes in Polish innovation policy have not led to a significant improvement in the country's innovativeness compared with the EU average. This is shown by the 2014 Innovation Union Scoreboard, in which Poland was ranked last among moderate innovators. However, the classification of countries based on the Summary Innovation Index (SII) is a relative measure that depends on the performance of other economies. Moreover, the above new elements have become part of Polish innovation policy as a result of implementing solutions originally designed in countries with welldeveloped national innovation systems, including institutional arrangements in the public sector. These countries have a comparative advantage over Poland because they have more experience in various legal and political instruments and solutions as well as in the quality of the innovation environment, and available financial resources. Poland is trying to implement best international practices in many areas, and cooperation as part of EU programs is a good opportunity to improve its track record. One example is a program aimed at supporting user-driven innovation and being carried out together with Nordic partners. There are also programs designed to promote cross-border cooperation as part of cluster initiatives. Imitation and absorption of technology from the outside play a significant role in both Polish innovation policy and the national innovation system. The country's EU membership is therefore an important factor for upgrading innovation policy and reducing the innovation gap between Poland and countries with well-developed innovation systems. Yet the convergence process in this area has been very slow.

References

Baczko, T., Krzywina, E., (2008), Application of knowledge-based economy as means to decrease Poland's development distance, "Studia Ekonomiczne", No. 1–2, 2008, pp. 81–89.

Bahlmann, M., Elfring, T., Groenewegen, P., Huysman, M., (2010), *Does distance matter? An ego-network approach towards the knowledge-based theory of clusters*, "Serie Research Memoranda 4", VU University of Amsterdam, Business Administration and Econometrics, Amsterdam.

Boschma, R.A., (2005), Proximity and innovation: a critical assessment, "Regional Studies", Vol. 39, Iss. 1, pp. 61–74.

Economy Ministry & Public Procurement Office (2008), Nowe podejście do zamówień publicznych. Zamówienia publiczne a małe i średnie przedsiębiorstwa, innowacje i zrównoważony rozwój, Warsaw.

European Commission, (1999), Committee on Spatial Development, European Spatial Development Perspective. Towards Balanced and Sustainable Development of the Territory of the European Union, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg 1999. European Commission, (2006), Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, "Putting knowledge into practice: A broad-based innovation strategy for the EU", Brussels, COM(2006) 502.

European Commission, (2008), Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, *Towards world-class clusters in the European Union*, *Implementing the broad-based innovation strategy*, Brussels, COM(2008) 652.

European Commission, (2009), Directorate-General for Enterprise & Industry, Fostering user-driven innovation through clusters, Draft discussion paper prepared by DG ENTR-Unit D2 "Support for innovation", Brussels.

European Commission, (2010a), Communication from the Commission, Europe 2020. A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth, COM(2010) 2020, Brussels, 3.3.2010.

European Commission, (2010b), Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, *Europe 2020*. *Flagship Initiative. Innovation Union*, COM(2010) 546 final, SEC(2010) 1161, Brussels, 6.10.2010.

European Commission, (2012), Enterprise and Industry, PRO INNO Europe Initiative, Fostering User-Driven Innovation through clusters, Tactics 2012.

European Commission, (2013), Innovation Union Scoreboard 2013, European Union, Publications Office, Belgium.

European Commission, (2014), Innovation Union Scoreboard 2014, European Union, Publications Office, Belgium.

Hollanders, H., Tarantola, S., (2011), Innovation Union Scoreboard 2010 – Methodology report, INNO Metrics 2011–2012 report, European Commission, DG Enterprise, Brussels.

Kowalski, A.M., (2010), Znaczenie klastrów w tworzeniu nowych form innowacji, "Optimum. Studia Ekonomiczne", Vol. 47, No. 3, pp. 246–262.

Kowalski, A.M., (2013), Znaczenie klastrów dla innowacyjności gospodarki w Polsce, Szkoła Główna Handlowa w Warszawie, Warsaw.

Ministry of Economy, (2006), Kierunki zwiększania innowacyjności gospodarki na lata 2007–2013, Warsaw.

Ministry of Economy, (2013), Strategia Innowacyjności i Efektywności Gospodarki "Dynamiczna Polska", Warsaw.

National Contact Point for Research Programmes of the European Union, (2013), Udział Polski w 7 Programie Ramowym – statystyki po 337 zakończonych konkursach, Warsaw.

Republic of Poland, (2011), Krajowy Program Reform na rzecz realizacji strategii "Europa 2020", Warsaw.

Weresa, M.A., (2012), Systemy innowacyjne we współczesnej gospodarce światowej, Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, Warsaw.

5.3. The Role of European Funds in Improving the Innovativeness and Competitiveness of the Polish Economy

Iwona Grabowska

After joining the European Union, Poland became one of the biggest beneficiaries of financial support under the EU's Cohesion Policy. Poland's National Development Plan for 2004–2006 became the country's development strategy and the basis for spending nearly €20 billion during this period (MRR, 2010, p. 9). Poland drew up a special document called the National Strategic Reference Framework that defined the priorities and objectives on which EU funds were to be spent under the bloc's 2007–2013 budget. EU funds are a major opportunity for Poland: the country claimed an overwhelming €67 billion of a total €347 billion earmarked for Cohesion Policy under the 2007–2013 budget (19.3% of the total).¹

One of the main objectives of these national plans has been "to develop a competitive economy based on knowledge and entrepreneurship, capable of sustained and balanced development in order to ensure employment growth and improved social, economic and territorial cohesion with the European Union at the regional and national levels." (MGiP, 2009, p. 66).

The main aim of this section is to analyze the level of absorption of structural funds in the initial period of Poland's EU membership (2004–2006), which was covered by the 2000–2006 Financial Perspective, as well as to assess the use of EU funds spent under regulations in force as part of the 2007–2013 Financial Perspective. This section will also seek to evaluate the significance of the expenditure on improving the competitiveness and innovativeness of the economy. Support in the form of funds is based on non-refundable financial assistance for beneficiaries by reimbursing some of the costs incurred. Part of the costs must be covered by the beneficiaries themselves, according to the so-called co-financing principle.² This study analyzes two Operational Programmes: the Innovative Economy Operational Programme and the Human Capital Operational Programme, which had the greatest impact on improving the competitiveness and innovativeness of the Polish economy in the 2007–2013 Financial Perspective.³

¹ The following countries received allocations exceeding 2%: Spain 10%, Italy 8%, the Czech Republic 7.7%, Germany 7.3%, Hungary 7.2%, Portugal 6.2%, Greece 5.8%, Romania 5.5%, France 3.9%, Slovakia 3.3%, and the United Kingdom 2.8%.

 $^{^2}$ In the 2007–2013 Financial Perspective, advance payments were permitted for projects financed from EU funds.

³ The National Strategic Reference Framework provides funds available under Operational Programmes for improving regional infrastructure. This indirectly contributes to an increase in the competitiveness of regions and countries. In this situation, the analysis should also cover the Cohesion Fund. But the Cohesion Fund is not a structural fund, and this study exclusively focuses on the use of structural funds with a view to improving the competitiveness and innovativeness of the economy.

These two Operational Programmes were allocated 12.4% and 14.6% respectively of the total amount of funds available for Cohesion Policy for the 2007–2013 period.

An important component of the competitiveness of any economy is the competitiveness of its enterprise sector. Previous studies indicate there is a general agreement that innovation, research and development (R&D) and the development of advanced technology are the determinants of the competitive advantages of companies and countries. The ability to create new solutions and put them into business practice makes it possible to increase total factor productivity, which contributes to increased economic growth, which, in turn, results in an improved competitive position of the country. According to M. Porter, economic growth is directly dependent on innovation. A high level of innovation among enterprises, and consequently a high level of competitiveness of the country, directly contributes to a high quality of life for citizens. Likewise, Porter says, achieving and maintaining a country's competitive advantage internationally is strictly dependent on the ability of the economy to innovate (Porter, 2001, p. 191). In any case, one of the most important factors determining the innovativeness of an economy is human capital (Balcerowicz, Wziątek-Kubiak, pp. 2–3).

Improving innovation is a goal enshrined in EU strategic documents such as Europe 2020, a strategy now being implemented for development of the European Union.

Research methodology and basic definitions

According to M. Porter, countries (as well as regions, industries, and companies) are able to secure competitive advantages via innovations that are primarily reflected in an increase in total factor productivity. The result is a higher level of socioeconomic development. M. Porter distinguishes four basic factors that determine competitive advantages. They form a system known as the diamond of competitive advantage. Securing an advantage requires the interaction of the four main groups of factors presented in the form of the vertices of the diamond. These are (Porter, 2001, pp. 191–207):

- factor conditions (human resources, research facilities, technology, the rate at which factors of production are created and the efficiency with which they emerge);
- demand conditions (size and structure of demand, which spurs innovation);
- related and supporting sectors (promoting the exchange of ideas and innovation);
- firm strategy, structure and rivalry.

In this study, two concepts are crucial: competitiveness and innovation. Previous research provides many definitions of these concepts. In this study, the following definitions apply:

• Competitiveness is the ability of a company or a larger business organization to compete. In the long term, increased competition leads to greater productivity,

which allows for better use of competitive advantages and enables an increased scale of business activity, a greater market share etc.⁴

• Innovation is the ability and motivation of enterprises to continually seek and use in practice the results of research and development work, new concepts, ideas and inventions. Innovation also means the improvement and development of existing production, maintenance and service technology; the introduction of new organizational and management solutions; and the improvement and development of infrastructure, especially that related to the collection, processing and sharing of information (MRR, 2007, pp. 68–75).

Table 9 lists measures of innovation. Only some of these measures were used in this study, due to the unavailability of data on specific gauges or due to the lack of statistical data needed to calculate them. However, those measures which we show later, when discussing the implementation of several Operational Programmes, refer to the overall expenditure on innovation rather than exclusively to the impact of structural funds. Based on the available data, it is impossible to isolate this impact. Some measures will only be available after the funds in question are spent, which means after 2015.⁵ This means that the measures cited below only indirectly illustrate the impact of structural funds on innovation in the Polish economy.

Table 9

Measures of company innovation

An innovative enterprise is an enterprise that in a specific studied period (usually three years) brings to market at least one technological innovation (new or significantly improved product or a new or significantly improved technological process). Three basic categories of indicators are distinguished among measures of innovation expenditure:

- financial resources (including public R&D expenditure and business R&D expenditure);
- human resources (engineering graduates, the percentage of the population with university degrees);
- innovation support environment.

The following categories of innovation performance measures are distinguished:

- · research and innovation results (patents, designs, trademarks),
- employment (percentage of those employed in the production of high-tech goods and services),
- commercialization of knowledge (proportion of new and modernized products in total sales, the percentage of high-tech products in total exports).

Source: Motyka (2011), p. 162, http://www.ptzp.org.pl/files/konferencje/kzz/artyk_pdf_2011/075.pdf.

⁴ The competitiveness of an enterprise is also reflected by increased exports of its products compared with the competition. See: IBS, (2010), *Ocena wpływu polityki spójności na wzrost konkurencyjności i innowacyjności polskich przedsiębiorstw i gospodarki*, Instytut Badań Strukturalnych, Warsaw, pp. 14–17, http://www.ptzp.org.pl/files/konferencje/kzz/artyk_pdf_2011/075.pdf.

⁵ Under the so-called n+2 rule, the European Commission "automatically decommits any part of a commitment (with regard to a beneficiary of structural funds) which has not been settled by the payment on account or for which it has not received an acceptable payment application by the end of the second year following the year of commitment." This means that a member state that by the end of year n+2 submitted payment applications, for an amount lower than the annual tranche of funds allocated in year n, irretrievably loses the difference.

The spending of structural funds and their impact on innovation in the economy was assessed by analyzing statistical data and a number of literature sources such as:

- reports published by ministries on the spending of EU funds,
- articles and scientific studies on innovation and the competitiveness of enterprises,
- studies and reports by international organizations,
- publications by statistical offices and ministries, including EU and Polish government documents.

The general objectives of the National Strategic Reference Framework

The National Development Plan for 2004–2006 was the main document regulating the distribution of European Union funds resulting from Poland being an EU member. In this document, support from structural funds was divided into six Operational Programmes, including two involving support for agriculture (Table 10). Under the 2000–2006 Financial Perspective, of a total ≤ 213 billion earmarked for Cohesion Policy, Poland was allocated ≤ 12.8 billion (or 6% of total Cohesion Policy funds. Structural funds accounted for ≤ 8.27 billion of the total allocation (with the rest coming from the Polish budget and private sources). This means that, during its first three years of membership, Poland received about ≤ 2.7 billion euros from the EU budget annually on average. During this period, Polish beneficiaries learned the rules of using EU funding.

Table 10

Operational Programme	Share in total allocation (in %)	Allocation of funds (in billions of euros)	Source of financing
Improvement of the Competitiveness of Enterprises	15.1	1.25	European Regional Development Fund, Cohesion Fund
Human Resources Development	17.8	1.47	European Social Fund
Integrated Regional Operational Programme	35.9	2.97	European Regional Development Fund, European Social Fund
Transport	14.1	1.16	European Regional Development Fund
Restructuring and Modernisation of the Food Sector and Rural Development	14.4	1.19	European Agricultural Guidance and Guarantee Fund
Fishing and Fish Processing	2.4	0.20	Financial Instrument for Fisheries Guidance
Technical Assistance	0.3	0.03	European Regional Development Fund
Total	100.0	8.27	_

Allocation of funds broken down by Operational Programmes under the National Development Plan for 2004–2006 (in % and in billions of euros)

Source: MGiP, (2004), p. 150.

268

Support from the EU budget in the form of structural funds increased significantly during the 2007–2013 Financial Perspective period, reaching an annual average of 1%. The National Strategic Reference Framework for 2007–2013 divided support into five Horizontal Operational Programmes and 16 Regional Operational Programmes (corresponding to the number of regions). The system of Operational Programmes for 2007–2013 and how these were implemented was the result of the experience gained in the 2004–2006 programming period as well as of new EU regulations.

The largest allocation was earmarked for the Infrastructure and Environment Operational Programme, which accounted for 42% of total funds. Funds intended for the 16 Regional Operational Programmes accounted for 25% of the total. Nearly 15% of the funds were allocated for the Human Capital Operational Programme, and just over 12% for the Innovative Economy Operational Programme.

Table 11

Allocation of funds broken down by Operational Programmes under the National Strategic Reference Framework for 2007–2013 (in % and in billions of euros)

Operational Programme	Percentage of total allocation	Allocation of funds (in billions of euros)	Source of financing
Infrastructure and Environment	41.9	27.9	European Regional Development Fund, Cohesion Fund
Regional Programmes	24.9	16.6	European Regional Development Fund
Human capital Programme	14.6	9.7	European Social Fund
Innovative Economy	12.4	8.3	European Regional Development Fund
Development of Eastern Poland	3.4	2.3	European Regional Development Fund) + 992 million euros granted by the European Council
Technical Assistance	0.8	0.5	European Regional Development Fund
National performance reserve	2.0	1.3	European Regional Development Fund, European Social Fund, Cohesion Fund
Total	100.0	66.6	-

Source: MRR, (2007), p. 117.

The implementation of all the programs was subordinated to six strategic objectives (Table 12). Under the NSRF, three objectives (Objectives 2, 3 and 4) concern an improvement in the competitiveness of the Polish economy. They account for about 74% of the total financing under the National Strategic Reference Framework.

Table 12

Estimated allocation of funds earmarked for spending under the NSRF for 2007–2013 on individual horizontal objectives

Horizontal objectives of the National Strategic Reference Framework		Weight (estimated share in total financing under the National Strategic Reference Framework, in %)
Objective 1	Improving the quality of public institutions	4.0
Objective 2	Improving the quality of human capital and increasing social cohesion	10.0
Objective 3	Construction and modernization of technical and social infrastructure crucial for increasing Poland's competitiveness	42.0
Objective 4	Improving the competitiveness and innovativeness of enterprises, especially those in the manufacturing sector with high value added and the development of the service sector	22.0
Objective 5	Increasing the competitiveness of Polish regions and preventing their social, economic and territorial marginalization	22.0
Objective 6	Equalizing development opportunities and supporting structural changes in rural areas	
Total		100.0

Source: MRR, (2007), p. 117.

Improved innovativeness of enterprises, and consequently a more innovative economy, is primarily served by the implementation of Objectives 2 and 4. Objective 4: "Improving the competitiveness and innovativeness of enterprises" is more prominent in terms of funds. Funds earmarked for implementing this objective account for 22% of total financing, while Objective 2: "Improving the quality of human capital and increasing social cohesion" accounts for 10% of total financing.

Objective 2 covers investment in the development of academic centers educating specialists in the area of new technologies as well as investment in improving the quality of education through the use of information and communication technologies.

Funds as part of Objective 4 were earmarked for strengthening innovative enterprises by creating institutional conditions for their development. Support for the development of human resources for an innovative economy comes under the Human Capital Operational Programme, through measures such as lifelong learning, increasing the adaptability of workers to changes in the economy, and efforts to foster entrepreneurship (MRR, 2007, pp. 98–99).

Improvement of the Competitiveness of Enterprises and Innovative Economy Operational Programmes

The 2004–2006 Financial Perspective ushered in the Improvement of the Competitiveness of Enterprises Operational Programme, whose main objective was to improve the competitive position of companies. The program featured three priorities: development of entrepreneurship and an increase in innovativeness; direct support for enterprises; and technical assistance, each of which were divided into measures. Around $\notin 1.25$ billion was set aside for this Operational Programme for 2004–2006. Funds for different thematic priorities were divided proportionately. Funds for carrying out the program were limited in comparison to the Innovative Economy program for 2007–2013, but this was in preparation for the absorption of more funds for increasing the competitiveness and innovativeness of enterprises under the subsequent budget (MGiP, 2004, pp. 97–101).

The National Strategic Reference Framework for 2007–2013 included a separate Operational Programme called Innovative Economy and intended for the financing of innovative projects. As part of this program, nine priorities were identified, which were divided into individual measures and submeasures. More than $\notin 10$ billion euros was allocated for this program, as a result of which this was the third-largest program in terms of the amount of funds under the National Strategic Reference Framework. The division of funds for individual priority axes of the program was not proportional. The most funds were earmarked for Priority Axis 4: Investments in innovative undertakings—accounting for 36% of the total allocation for the program (Figure 7). About half the funds are intended for new investment projects with high innovative potential (Table 13). The main reason for such a division of funds was the low innovativeness of the Polish economy (MGiP, 2004, pp. 68–75). The second-biggest priority is Priority Axis 1: Research and development of modern technologies, i.e. expenditure that is expected to contribute to the development of new products and technologies. This priority accounted for around 15% of the total allocation under the Innovative Economy Operational Programme. Under the Europe 2020 strategy, Poland is expected to increase its R&D spending relative to GDP because these funds are the basis for the creation and implementation of innovations; without this support, the country would not be able to compete with other countries.

Closely related to Priority Axis 1 is Priority Axis 2: R&D infrastructure. This accounts for a further 15% of the allocation under the Innovative Economy Operational Programme. Support for the production sector is primarily targeted at SMEs, which claimed about 75% of the total allocation (MGiP, 2004, p. 68). Such a large proportion of funds for small and medium-sized enterprises is due to the fact that they are unable to conduct costly research and development on their own, while innovation requires the creation of a network of linkages between businesses and research centers.

Figure 7

The allocation of funds under the Innovative Economy Operational Programme for 2007–2013 by Priority Axis (in %)



Source: http://www.dotacjeue.org.pl/default.aspx?docId=1734.

Table 13

The allocation of funds under the Innovative Economy Operational Programme for 2007–2013, broken down into priorities, and measures (in millions of \in and ZL) and the value of co-financing agreements signed (% of public funds spent)

Priority/measure	Name	€	ZL	Agreements signed (% of public funds spent)
Total		10,186. 0	42,307.4	99.9
Priority axis 1	Research and development of new technologies	1,522. 6	6,319. 7	107.9
Measure 1.1	Support for scientific research	485.3	2,009. 4	100.5
Measure 1.2	Support for the development of human resources	100. 7	418.5	100.7
Measure 1.3	Support for R&D	384.4	1,587.2	101.1
Measure 1.4	Support for specific targeted projects	447.0	1,868. 1	119.3
Measure 1.5	Support for the National Center for Research and Development	105. 2	436. 5	125.4
Priority axis 2	R&D infrastructure	1,442. 2	5,977. 9	101.8
Measure 2.1	Development of research centers	786. 7	3,266. 6	101.0
Measure 2.2	Support for research infrastructure	314.1	1,298.3	101.6
Measure 2.3	Support for IT infrastructure in the science sector	341.4	1,413. 0	103.7
Priority axis 3	Capital for innovation	309. 3	1,311. 0	103.2
Measure 3.1	Initiating innovative activities	193.6	806.1	101.4
Measure 3.2	Support for venture capital	70. 7	316.1	99.9

Priority/measure	Name	€	ZL	Agreements signed (% of public funds spent)
Measure 3.3	Support for SMEs	29.4	121. 7	98.6
Measure 3.4	Innovation Support Loan Fund	15.6	67.1	149.1
Priority axis 4	Investments in innovative undertakings	3,710. 5	15,393. 9	98.4
Measure 4.1	Support for implementation of R&D results	321.5	1,338. 8	100.5
Measure 4.2	Support of R&D and industrial design	186. 1	769. 4	101.3
Measure 4.3	Technology credit	432.6	1,808. 4	99.7
Measure 4.4	New investments with high innovative potential	1,653. 7	6,830. 7	98.2
Measure 4.5	Support for investments with considerable importance to the economy	888. 3	3,694. 2	96.0
Pilot programs		228.3	952.4	100.5
Priority axis 5	Diffusion of innovation	444. 9	1,848. 0	107.8
Measure 5.1	Support for cooperative ties	105.4	438.4	101.9
Measure 5.2	Support of business environment institutions	65.7	273. 2	98.8
Measure 5.3	Support for innovation centers	248.6	1,032.3	117.5
Measure 5.4	Intellectual property management	25. 2	104. 1	60.5
Priority axis 6	Polish economy on the international market	410.6	1,709. 3	87.3
Measure 6.1	Passport to export	81. 9	341.2	66.7
Measure 6.2	Development of a network of investor services	45.6	189. 2	96.1
Measure 6.3	Promotion of tourism	58.2	241. 5	100.1
Measure 6.4	Investments in tourism	138.0	575.6	100.1
Measure 6.5	Promotion of the Polish economy	86. 9	361.8	73.3
Priority axis 7	Information society – establishment of electronic administration	940.8	3,902. 3	101.4
Priority axis 8	Information society – increasing innovation in the economy	1,197. 9	4,981.9	96.1
Measure 8.1	Support for e-business	334.3	1,383.9	97.4
Measure 8.2	Support for B2B e-business	359.2	1,495.6	96.2
Measure 8.3	Counteracting digital divide	292.6	1,218.5	96.5
Measure 8.4	Internet access	211.8	883.9	93.2

Priority/measure	Name	€	ZL	Agreements signed (% of public funds spent)
Priority axis 9	Technical assistance	207. 2	863.4	79.1
Measure 9.1	Management support	167.4	697.2	76.6
Measure 9.2	Equipment for institutions	17.7	74. 0	91.6
Measure 9.3	Information and promotion	19. 7	82. 2	86.7
Measure 9.4	Evaluation	2. 4	10.0	96.9

Source: Own elaboration based on: MRR, (2013), p. 9, and http://www.poig.gov.pl/AnalizyRaportyPodsumow-ania/Strony/default.aspx?zakladka=3&strona=1#zakladka=1&strona=1.

Evaluation of the Innovative Economy Operational Programme

The allocation for the Innovative Economy Operational Programme was $\notin 10.2$ billion, including $\notin 8.7$ billion from the European Regional Development Fund (according to Polish Finance Ministry data, $\notin 8.7$ billion is equivalent to ZL36 billion). As of Jan. 17, 2014, a total of 15,533 co-financing agreements were signed for a combined ZL42.3 billion, or 99.9% of the total allocation for this program.

At the end of 2013, the highest level of spending was for Priority 1 "Research and development of new technologies" and Priority 5 "Diffusion of innovation," at more than 100.0%.⁶ Spending exceeding 100% was also noted in the case of Priority Axis 2 "R&D infrastructure," Priority Axis 3 "Capital for innovation," and Priority Axis 7 "Information society." In the case of Priorities 4 and 8, spending has reached almost 100% of the funds made available on the basis of concluded co-financing agreements. The lowest percentage of agreements signed was recorded for Priority 9, at 79%, and slightly higher for Priority 6, at about 87%. The average indicator of agreements signed for the entire program was 99.9%. These generally high figures offer hope that the funds will be fully spent on the intended purposes.

Let us start this evaluation of the Innovative Economy Operational Programme by comparing the program's priorities against the theoretical assumptions of M. Porter's concept of competitive advantages. The program's priorities directly relate to factor conditions—one of the groups of factors of competitive advantages mentioned by M. Porter in his theory. A key factor that determines competitiveness is capital

⁶ Spending of funds allocated for each measure as part of Priority Axis 2 has exceeded 100%, which in practice means that the contracting process has been completed. The value of all submitted and formally correct applications for co-financing accounted for nearly 350% of the available funds, testifying to strong demand among Polish scientific institutions for funds designed to support the development of their research infrastructure. Measures implemented under this priority axis have contributed to a distinct improvement in Polish research infrastructure (particularly in centers with the highest research potential), thus enabling Polish scientists to conduct research meeting the highest international standards.

because insufficient financial resources are a barrier for most innovating enterprises. The Innovative Economy program supplements the internal resources of companies. Enterprises obtain funds for innovation under Priority 1 "Research and development of new technologies," Priority 3 "Capital for innovation," and Priority 4 "Investments in innovative undertakings." The increased opportunities for financing innovation thus create an opportunity to improve the competitiveness of companies. Another competitive advantage factor contributing to factor conditions is infrastructure, understood by M. Porter as infrastructure necessary to compete in an industry. This includes traditional technical infrastructure, specialized infrastructure needed for innovation in a specific industry, such as fiber optic cables or specialized research laboratories, and so-called innovation infrastructure supporting the development of innovation, including institutions that create knowledge and act as intermediaries in its transfer to enterprises, in addition to helping finance innovative projects. Funds spent on such infrastructure are available under Priority 2 "R&D infrastructure."

Such financing from structural funds is designed to make it easier for enterprises to move from a model based on the imitation of solutions used by other businesses to one based on the creation of innovation in the form of new products and processes. However, the use of these funds is not necessarily reflected in indicators of innovative-ness in the Polish economy. In recent years there has been little progress in innovation; the Polish economy is stagnant, as reflected by the country's low rank in the annual Innovation Union Scoreboard (IUS) compiled for the European Commission (European Commission, 2013). The 2012 scoreboard ranked Poland a distant 24th among EU countries in terms of innovation.⁷

An analysis of the innovation potential indicator shows that Poland is among countries at the bottom of the list in all but three dimensions. These dimensions are the quality of human capital (education), research funding and firm investments. In the remaining dimensions: quality of the research system, entrepreneurship and linkages, intellectual resources, economic effects, Poland is among countries at the bottom of the list. It fares the worst in the "innovators" category, where it is next to the last among EU countries.⁸ Poland's low position in Europe in the innovation rankings is due to factors including a very low level of R&D spending, even though in the long term R&D spending determines the ability of an economy to create innovations with the highest market value. Under the Europe 2020 strategy, all EU countries are

⁷ In October 2010, the European Commission adopted a Communication on Innovation in the European Union. In this document, the European Innovation Scoreboard (EIS), a well-known and recognized tool for assessing innovation in member states, was replaced with the Innovation Union Scoreboard (IUS) approach. The new approach is used to assess progress in the implementation of the Europe 2020 strategy and aims to compare the level of innovation throughout the European Union.

⁸ In terms of SII dimensions, Poland was ranked 16th for the quality of human capital (education), research funding and firm investments; 21st for intellectual resources; 24th for economic effects; 25th for the quality of the research system and entrepreneurship and linkages, and 26th in the innovators category.

expected to boost R&D expenditure to 3% of GDP.⁹ Poland sought to achieve a level of 2.2–3% by 2010 (OECD, 2010, p. 89). However, data by Eurostat, the European Union's statistics office, show that in 2012, total R&D expenditure in Poland was 0.90% of GDP (Figure 8), ranking the country sixth among those with the lowest spending in the EU. From 2004 to 2012 Poland increased its R&D spending by 0.34 percentage points. To compare, Hungary increased its R&D spending by about 0.42 p.p. during this period, the Czech Republic by 0.68 p.p., and Slovenia by1.41 p.p. This means that all these countries failed to meet the requirements of the Europe 2020 strategy, but the data also show that Poland's competitors in the region were more committed to meeting these requirements.



Figure 8 R&D expenditure as a percentage of GDP in 2004–2012

Source: Own elaboration based on Eurostat. The data for Luxembourg are for 2004 and 2010.

It should be noted, however, that the progress made was largely the result of the Cohesion Policy. It is estimated that EU funds accounted for 35% of expenditure on R&D and innovation in the 2008–2010 period (MRR, 2012, p. 33). This means that without support from EU funds, the GDP share of R&D expenditure would stagnate.

⁹ http://kbn.icm.edu.pl/analizy/20040518_tezy.html

In 2012, Deloitte examined companies in the EU in terms of the share of funds earmarked for R&D. The list of 1,500 companies that spent the most funds on R&D did not include a single Polish company. In addition, the percentage of firms investing in innovation is decreasing. According to data by Poland's Central Statistical Office (GUS), in 2009–2011 such companies accounted for 16.9% of all businesses, while in 2008–2010 the figure was 18.1%. Moreover, instead of developing their own technologies, companies tend to use money for innovation to buy equipment and technology, often abroad. In 2011, companies spent ZL21 billion on innovation and capital investment. The purchase of machines and equipment represented 59% of this amount. R&D represented only about 13% of total spending.¹⁰

The structure of R&D expenditure in Poland differs from that in the EU as a whole on average. R&D spending in Poland is financed mainly by the government sector (51.3% in 2012) rather than the corporate sector (32.3%). The third-largest source of R&D funding is foreign funds (13.3%). The higher education sector and private non-profit institutions play a minor role. The country's strong dependence on the inflow of EU funds may in the future make it difficult to finance research and development from private funds. Businesses will not be ready to spend their own funds on innovation, but will expect public subsidies instead. According to data from Eurostat, in the 2004–2012 period, the share of enterprises in financing R&D increased by 0.12 p.p. (from 0.17% to 0.29%), while the share of public funds in financing of R&D grew by 0.13 p.p. (from 0.35% to 0.48%). This data indicates that there is a crowding-out effect in the case of private funding for R&D. On the other hand, most enterprises would probably be hesitant to conduct research without the support of EU funds in a time of crisis. However, funds are primarily channeled to the end link of the innovation process, which leads to meager innovation results.

Figure 9



Internal expenditure on R&D by financing entity (in %)

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat.

¹⁰ http://wyborcza.biz/biznes/1,100896,13510309,Ulga_podatkowa_na_ratunek_innowacjom. html#BoxBizTxt#ixz2bNl2FwlR.

Survey findings and research commissioned by the government clearly show that a significant barrier to development is the low level of innovation awareness among businesses, the science sector, and public authorities. This leads to a low level of innovation among enterprises (MRR, 2012, p. 33).

The Human Resources Development and Human Capital Operational Programmes

Under the 2004–2006 Financial Perspective, the Human Resources Development Operational Programme was launched, with the aim of building an open, knowledgebased society by ensuring conditions for the development of human resources through education, training, and work. The program featured three priorities: active labor market and professional and social inclusion policy; development of knowledgebased society; and technical assistance. These were divided into measures. Around €1.47 billion was set aside for the Operational Programme for 2004–2006. The division of funds among individual priorities was proportionate. Funds set aside for the program were limited compared with the Human Capital Operational Programme for the 2007–2013 period, but this was a prelude to greater absorption of funds for an improvement in the quality of human capital under the next Financial Perspective (MGiP, 2004, pp. 102–106).

The Human Capital Operational Programme is financed from the European Social Fund. As part of this program, nongovernmental organizations, businesses, labor market institutions, local governments, and the central government administration carry out projects that contribute to enhanced labor force skills and greater professional activity of the unemployed, increase the level of education, support people in difficult situations (for example, disabled, immigrants), and provide assistance to those planning to start their own business.

The Human Capital Operational Programme consists of 10 priorities, divided into measures and submeasures to be implemented simultaneously at the central and regional levels. About 60% of the funds were allocated for the support of regions (priorities VI to IX), while the remaining 40% was earmarked for spending by selected ministries (priorities I through V). Funds available as part of the regional component were set aside for support to individuals and social groups, while funds as part of the central component were primarily intended for the support of structures and systems.¹¹

In 2007–2013, more than €11.8 billion was allocated for this program, making it the second-largest program in terms of financing under the National Strategic Reference Framework. The allocation of funds to individual priority axes is not proportional. The largest amount (23% of the total allocation for the program) was allocated to Priority Axis 6: "A labor market open to all" (Figure 10). At the time of drafting the National

278

¹¹ http://www.efs.gov.pl/WstepDoFunduszyEuropejskich/Strony/Oprogramie.aspx.

Strategic Reference Framework for 2007–2013, the employment rate in Poland was one of the lowest in the EU, at 62.7% in 2007, compared with the EU27 average of 69.9% (MRR, 2007, pp. 56–61).

The most money as part of this priority axis was set aside for Measure 6.1: "Improvement of access to employment and supporting economic activity in the region," representing more than 77% of the total allocation for this priority (Table 14). This distribution of funds resulted from a high unemployment rate in regions, especially those less industrialized. The unemployment rate in Poland in 2007 was 9.6%, ranking the country second, behind Slovakia, in terms of unemployment in the EU; the EU27 average was 7.2%.¹² In addition, under this priority, funds were allocated for Measure 6.2: "Support and promotion of entrepreneurship and self-employment." The purpose of this measure was to fight unemployment by supporting the creation of new jobs, in line with the European Employment Strategy.

Priority 9: "Development of skills and competences in regions" came second in terms of the amount of funds allocated; it accounted for 17% of the total allocation as part of the program. R&D spending is the commonly used measure of innovation in an economy, because this expenditure determines the ability of an economy to create innovations with the highest market value in the long term. Advanced scientific research cannot be conducted without a qualified work force (MRR, 2007, p. 57).

Figure 10

The allocation of funds for the Human Capital Operational Programme for 2007–2013 by priority (in %)



Source: Own elaboration based on: http://www.efs.gov.pl/AnalizyRaportyPodsumowania/Strony/default.aspx.

¹² http://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=une_rt_a&lang=en.

Table 14

Co-financing agreements concluded under the Human Capital Operational Programme (as of Dec. 31, 2013; in millions of \in and ZL)

Priority/ measure	Name	Allocation in €	Allocation in ZL	Agreements signed (% of public funds spent)
Total Human Capital Operational Programme		11,773.3	49,379.9	95.2
Priority I	Employment and social integration	466.2	1,955.3	96.4
Measure 1.1	Support for labor market institutions	81.0	339.8	100.1
Measure 1.2	Support of social inclusion	136.9	574.2	91.9
Measure 1.3	Integration and professional activation	190.8	800.1	97.3
Measure 1.4	Support for social economy	7.5	31.4	95.3
Measure 1.5	Supporting for solutions for reconciling work and family life	50.0	209.8	98.8
Priority II	Development of human resources and adaptation potential of enterprises and improving the health condition of working persons	752.0	3,154.1	87.7
Measure 2.1	Development of human resources	527.4	2,212.0	85.9
Measure 2.2	Work force adaptability	106.4	446.3	86.2
Measure 2.3	Improving the health state of working persons	118.2	495.8	97.2
Priority III	High quality of the education system	743.7	3,119.3	93.3
Measure 3.1	Modernization of the education management system	111.5	467.8	95.4
Measure 3.2	Development of the external examination systems	67.6	283.6	99.8
Measure 3.3	Improving the quality of education	383.9	1,609.9	94.8
Measure 3.4	Lifelong learning	130.0	545.3	87.3
Measure 3.5	Comprehensive support for the development of schools	50.7	212.7	83.2
Priority IV	Tertiary education and science	985.4	4,132.8	97.9
Measure 4.1	Commissioned fields of study	887.4	3,721.8	96.8
Measure 4.2	Development of R&D staff	51.0	213.9	102.1
Measure 4.3	Strengthening teaching potential	47.0	197.1	114.4
Priority V	Good governance	489.2	2,051.9	85.2
Measure 5.1	Strengthen central government administration potential	56.1	235.2	89.7

Priority/ measure	Name	Allocation in €	Allocation in ZL	Agreements signed (% of public funds spent)
Measure 5.2	Strengthen local government potential	213.1	893.8	82.9
Measure 5.3	Support for the implementation of the Lisbon Strategy	97.9	410.5	93.3
Measure 5.4	Developing the potential of the third sector	100.2	420.4	77.4
Measure 5.5	Development of social dialogue	21.9	92.0	94.6
Priority VI	Labor market open to all	2,641.9	11,080.5	101.3
Measure 6.1	Support for employment	2,048.3	8,590.8	102.2
Measure 6.2	Support for self-employment	578.6	2,426.8	98.2
Measure 6.3	Support for rural employment	15.0	62.9	99.7
Priority VII	Promotion of social integration	1,621.8	6,802.0	93.2
Measure 7.1	Development and dissemination of active inclusion	943.0	3,954.7	93.2
Measure 7.2	Counteracting social exclusion	573.7	2,406.4	94.4
Measure 7.3	Local initiatives for active inclusion	38.3	160.7	99.9
Measure 7.4	Disabled on the labor market – competition projects	66.8	280.2	78.4
Priority VIII	Regional human resources for the economy	1,621.5	6,801.0	96.1
Measure 8.1	Development of staff and enterprises in the region	1,350.5	5,664.4	96.4
Measure 8.2	Transfer of knowledge	271.0	1,136.6	94.9
Priority IX	Development of education and competences in the regions	1,996.4	8,373.6	90.9
Measure 9.1	Equalization of opportunities in education	1,148.6	4,817.6	89.8
Measure 9.2	Improving the attractiveness and quality of vocational education	476.2	1,997.1	94.1
Measure 9.3	Promotion of lifelong learning in school	88.3	370.5	98.2
Measure 9.4	Highly qualified staff for the education system	124.7	523.2	93.2
Measure 9.5	Bottom-up education initiatives in rural areas	72.1	302.4	94.4
Measure 9.6	Dissemination of adult learning	86.5	362.8	74.3
Priority X	Technical assistance	455.2	1,909.4	101.5
Measure 10.1	Technical assistance	455.2	1,909.4	101.5

Source: Own elaboration based on: MRR, (2013), pp. 2–5, and http://www.efs.gov.pl/AnalizyRaportyPod-sumowania/Strony/default.aspx.

Implementation of the Human Capital Operational Programme

The Human Capital Operational Programme claimed €11.8 billion (equivalent to ZL49.4 billion, according to Polish Finance Ministry data) from the European Social Fund. By Dec. 31, 2013, just over 43,000 agreements to the tune of ZL47.0 billion had been signed, accounting for 95.2% of the total allocation for the program.

As of the end of 2013, spending was at the highest level in the case of Priority 6 "Labor market open to all," at 101.3%, and Priority 10 "Technical assistance," at 101.5%. An equally high level of spending was noted for Priority 4 "Tertiary education and science," at 97.9%. In the case of five other priorities (1, 3, 7, 8, and 9) spending exceeded 90%. The lowest percentage of co-financing agreements signed was noted for Priority 5, at 85.2%. These generally high figures offer hope that the funds will be fully spent on the intended purposes.

Comparing the priorities of the Human Capital Operational Programme with M. Porter's theoretical concept of competitive advantages, it is possible to see that these priorities directly apply to factors of production. According to M. Porter's concept, enterprises need an educated work force—understood as human capital with skills needed in the process of innovation—in order to be competitive. The development of human capital in businesses can be enhanced by funds allocated under Priority 2 "Development of human resources and adaptation potential of enterprises and improving the health state of working persons," Priority 3 "High quality of the education system," Priority 8 "Regional human resources for the economy," and Priority 9 "Development of education and competences in the regions."

Funds set aside for the Human Resources Operational Programme are primarily intended to increase employment, reduce social exclusion and improve the quality of human capital. The largest pool of funds set aside for regions was earmarked for increasing employment. This allocation of funds seemed to be justified at a time of crisis. The question arises whether the new jobs will prove to be permanent, or whether they will only exist as long as there is financing from the European Social Fund. Data from a 2010 survey show that those benefiting from financial support from the European Social Fund tended to hire new workers and keep jobs. However, it is impossible to say to what extent these jobs are permanent and whether they will continue to exist after the projects are completed. Participation in projects co-financed by the European Social Fund in 2010 significantly influenced the financial performance of companies benefiting from EU funds, yet this influence was chiefly based on an increased revenue from public sources (thanks to financing from the European Social Fund) rather than an expected increase in the ability to use market and business skills (GUS, 2011).

The level of innovation in the economy is also influenced by the quality of human capital. Research and development requires not only an adequate allocation of funds, but also well-educated staff. Figure 11 shows the proportion of researchers and engineers in the total labor force between 2004 and 2012. The data indicate that Poland saw

an increase in the percentage of research and development staff in the total labor force in the 25–64 age group (by 3.5 p.p.). In 2012, the R&D sector accounted for 7.1% of Poland's total labor force, which was the highest figure among EU member countries in Central and Eastern Europe. However, this was accompanied by a relatively low level of R&D spending in Poland (0.90% of GDP in 2012). To compare, in Slovenia, the R&D sector accounted for 7.0% of the total labor force, while the country's R&D expenditure was 2.80% of GDP. In the Czech Republic the figures were 5.4% and 1.88% of GDP respectively. Among EU15 countries, France had 7.7% and 2.26% of GDP respectively, the UK reported 11.3% and 1.72% of GDP, and Finland had 10.8% and 3.55% of GDP. The question is whether Poland's relatively large number of R&D employees is enough to ensure the development of modern technology in a situation where R&D spending in the country is so low (Weresa, ed., 2012, p. 178).

Figure 11 Researchers and engineers as a percentage of the total labor force (25–64 age groups) in 2004 and 2012



The data for Romania come from 2005 and 2012 respectively, because no data is available for 2004. Source: Own elaboration based on Eurostat data.

One measure of a country's innovativeness is the number of patents per head of population. In 2012, the number of patent applications in Poland totaled 4,657, but in per 1,000 population terms, the figure was lower than in 2004. Twelve EU countries had higher per 1,000 population statistics in 2012, including Germany (0.76), the UK (0.37), Finland (0.34), Slovenia (0.32), Luxembourg (0.31), Austria (0.30), Denmark (0.29), Sweden (0.26), and France (0.25). The difference in terms of patents between Poland and the top four EU27 countries is significant (Figure 12).



Number of patent applications in EU27 countries per 1,000 population in 2004 and 2011

Poland's human capital indicators are positive in comparison with other countries. This is reflected in the Innovation Union Scoreboard and the Global Competitiveness Report.¹³ The number of residents with university degrees in Poland has been growing every year. According to GUS,¹⁴ in 2002 the number of those with higher education in Poland accounted for 9.9% of the total population; by 2011 the figure had grown to 16.8%.¹⁵ Quantitative changes, however, have not been accompanied by qualitative changes. In many cases, mass-scale education leads to superficial skills and poor adjustment to the needs of the economy (Geodecki *et al.*, 2012, p. 33). A key component of human capital is competence, and not the formal level of education. According to some experts, certain skills cannot be taught in the course of university studies. This in particular applies to general competence, such as teamwork, creativity, problem-solving skills, diligence and self-organization, fact-finding and synthesis skills (Geodecki *et al.*, p. 34).

Conclusion

Boosting innovation in the economy is one of Poland's strategic goals. The country benefits from an array of EU structural funds designed to help increase the number of innovative products and processes introduced by businesses. Under the EU's 2004–2006 budget, this objective was served by the Improvement of the Competitiveness of

Figure 12

Source: Own elaboration based on data from the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) and Eurostat.

¹³ http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_GlobalCompetitivenessReport_2010-11.pdf.

¹⁴ http://www.stat.gov.pl/cps/rde/xbcr/gus/lu_nps2011_wyniki_nsp2011_22032012.pdf.

¹⁵ Polish people became more educated from 2002 to 2011; the proportion of the population with an at least secondary education increased from 41.4% in 2002 to 48.2% in 2011, i.e. by 6.8 percentage points.

Enterprises Operational Programme and the Human Resources Development Operational Programme. Funds set aside for these two programs were relatively small, mainly due to the short time frame. The EU's 2007–2013 budget earmarked more funds for improving the competitiveness of the economy. A set of new tools was launched, including the Innovative Economy, Human Capital, and Infrastructure and Environment Operational Programmes. Funds available under these Operational Programmes were chiefly intended for innovative projects, support for research and development, increased collaboration between science and business, professional activation of the unemployed, and improved human resource skills. Not all the cash was directly intended for the creation of innovation in the form of new market products and processes. Some measures enabled Polish companies to make better use of modern solutions from abroad, for example, through modernizing their production facilities. It seems that, in a situation where companies had poorly developed research facilities and government spending on R&D was modest, the decision to spend less on innovation as such and more on financing innovation infrastructure was the right move.

References

Balcerowicz, E., Wziątek-Kubiak, A., (2009), Determinanty rozwoju innowacyjności firmy w kontekście poziomu wykształcenia pracowników, CASE, Warsaw.

European Commission, (2013), Innovation Union Scoreboard 2013, http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/ innovation/files/ius-2013_en.pdf).

Geodecki, T., Gorzelak G., Górniak, J., Hausner, J., Mazur, S., Szlachta J., Zaleski, J., (2012), Kurs na innowacje. Jak wyprowadzić Polskę z rozwojowego dryfu?, Fundacja Gospodarki i Administracji publicznej, Kraków.

GUS, (2011), Raport końcowy z pomiaru wpływu EFS na poziom zatrudnienia i ekonomizację podmiotów ekonomii społecznej w ramach badania SOF-1 za rok 2010. Raport przygotowany dla Ministerstwa Rozwoju Regionalnego w ramach Porozumienia między GUS a MRR z dnia 28.03.2011, Główny Urząd Statystyczny, Warsaw.

GUS, (2012), Wyniki Narodowego Spisu powszechnego Ludności i Mieszkań 2011. Podstawowe informacje o sytuacji demograficzno-społecznej ludności Polski oraz zasobach mieszkaniowych, GUS, Warsaw, http://www.stat.gov.pl/cps/rde/xbcr/gus/lu_nps2011_wyniki_nsp2011_22032012.pdf.

http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu.

http://kbn.icm.edu.pl/analizy/20040518_tezy.html.

http://www.efs.gov.pl.

http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_GlobalCompetitivenessReport_2010-11.pdf.

IBS, (2010), Ocena wpływu polityki spójności na wzrost konkurencyjności i innowacyjności polskich przedsiębiorstw i gospodarki, Instytut Badań Strukturalnych, Warsaw.

IBS, (2010), Ocena wpływu polityki spójności na wzrost konkurencyjności i innowacyjności polskich przedsiębiorstw i gospodarki, Instytut Badań Strukturalnych, Warsaw.

MGiP, (2004), Narodowy Plan Rozwoju 2004–2006, Ministerstwo Gospodarki i Pracy, Warsaw.

Motyka, S., (2011), *Pomiar innowacyjności przedsiębiorstwa*, Zakopane, http://www.ptzp.org.pl/files/kon-ferencje/kzz/artyk_pdf_2011/075.pdf.

MRR, (2007), Narodowe Strategiczne Ramy Odniesienia 2007–2013, Ministerstwo Rozwoju Regionalnego, Warsaw.

MRR, (2010), *Ewaluacja ex post Narodowego Planu Rozwoju 2004–2006*, Ministerstwo Rozwoju Regionalnego, Warsaw.

MRR, (2012), Raport Strategiczny 2012, Ministerstwo Rozwoju Regionalnego, Warsaw.

OECD, (2010), OECD Science, Technology and Industry Outlook, OECD Publishing, Paris.

Porter, M.E., (2001), Porter o konkurencji, PWE, Warsaw.

Weresa, M.A., (ed.) (2012), Polska Raport o konkurencyjności 2012. Edukacja jako czynnik konkurencyjności, Instytut Gospodarki Światowej SGH, Warsaw.

5.4. Support for Polish Agriculture and Rural Areas from the EU Budget

Elżbieta Kawecka-Wyrzykowska

As a member of the European Union, Poland benefits from support under the bloc's Common Agricultural Policy (CAP). This primarily includes income support in the form of (a) direct payments and (b) market support, which covers export subsidies, intervention purchases, and the costs of inventory maintenance.¹⁶ Income support is far greater than market support and both are financed through the first pillar of the Common Agricultural Policy, from the European Agricultural Guarantee Fund (EAGF). In addition, farmers can apply for support for purposes such as farm modernization and development, changes in the production profile, the launch of environmentally friendly production, and joint actions by producer groups. These measures are co-financed through the second pillar of the CAP, from the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD). The EAFRD also finances projects aimed at the development of rural areas (countryside renewal) and those designed to promote the agri-food industry and crafts as well as agricultural trade and entrepreneurship not related to agricultural production, in addition to projects aiming to improve farmer skills (training programs).

The most funds are absorbed by direct payments, which in 2010 represented 71.6% of the total pool of funds available under the CAP. Funds for market instruments accounted for 7.7% of the CAP budget, and funds for rural development constituted the remaining 20.7% of the EU's agricultural budget.

¹⁶ Due to the lack of comparable data, this study excludes market intervention funds. These represent only a few percent of total support under the Common Agricultural Policy. Just over €1 billion was allocated for subsidies to exports of selected agri-food products (the main market intervention item) during the 2007–2013 period.
Direct payments

Direct payments are the most important instrument of support to agriculture in both Poland and the EU as a whole. Polish farmers have been receiving direct payments ever since Poland joined the EU in 2004. Direct payments are granted each year to individuals and institutions that conduct farming activity on at least one hectare of farmland, keep their farms in good repair, and run them in accordance with the principles of cross-compliance of environmental protection, animal identification and registration, public health, animal and plant health, and animal welfare laws.

Under the accession treaty, Polish farmers—much as their counterparts in other new EU member states—had to wait 10 years to receive full 100% funding from the EU budget in terms of basic payments due to them. However, the government secured an option whereby these payments could be increased from the national budget.¹⁷ In 2004–2012, the Polish government co-financed direct payments from the national budget in the maximum allowable amount: 30% of the full payments due in 2004–2010, followed by 20% in 2011 and 10% in 2012 (Figure 13). The year 2013 was the first since Poland's EU entry in which the total amount of direct payments received by Polish farmers was financed from the EU budget.

Figure 13

The level of direct payments for Polish farmers under the EU accession treaty in 2004–2013 (% of the full amount of payments)



Source: http://www.minrol.gov.pl/pol/Wsparcie-rolnictwa-i-rybolowstwa/Platnosci-bezposrednie

¹⁷ As a result, Polish farmers received 100% of the payments available to them beginning in 2010.

From the beginning of the country's EU membership, the government has covered national supplementary payments in the following areas: basic crops (such as cereals, oilseeds, and high-protein plants), hops, potato starch, tobacco products, and plants intended for animal feed grown on permanent grassland (animal payments have been available since 2007);¹⁸ see Table 16.

In 2004–2006, around 1.48 million Polish farmers received payments; in 2004 they received ZL6.3 billion, and in 2006 the amount grew to ZL7.8 billion.¹⁹ The increase resulted from a slightly larger number of applications submitted (in the first year of membership, not all eligible farmers managed to submit applications on time), combined with the fact that the level of payments per unit of farmland area grew each year.

In 2007–2013, the number of farmers receiving payments was more or less constant (with applications submitted by almost all those eligible), at 1.4 million, and the total area of farmland held by them was 14 million hectares.²⁰

The total amount of direct payments for Polish farmers in 2007–2013 exceeded €15.2 billion, or around ZL61.2 billion. Table 15 shows how these funds were distributed in individual years.

Table 15

Direct payment ceilings, 2007–2013 (in millions of euros)

Year	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
National ceiling	1,268.0	1,572.6	1,877.1	2,192.3	2,477.3	2,788.3	3,044.5

Source: Council Regulation (EC) No. 552 of 2007 and No. 73 of 2009.

Under the accession treaty, Poland agreed to use a simplified system of direct payments in 2007–2013, based on the so-called Single Area Payment Scheme (SAPS)²¹ and complementary payments, most of them granted depending on the structure of production (see Table 16).²² This means that the actual amount of payments for many farmers was higher than the basic single area payment rate multiplied by the area of farmland.

¹⁸ In addition, special sugar payments have been offered from the EU budget since 2006, following a sugar market reform; and there are also separate tomato payments and soft fruit payments available since 2008—both introduced as a result of a CAP reform on the fruit and vegetable market in 2007 (see http://www.minrol.gov.pl/pol/Wsparcie-rolnictwa-i-rybolowstwa/Platnosci-bezposrednie).

¹⁹ Data by the Agency for the Restructuring and Modernization of Agriculture (ARiMR).

²⁰ http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/platnosci-bezposrednie.html

²¹ The amount of EU support for individual countries was determined on the basis of the area of farmland maintained in good condition and the so-called reference yield level. Because Poland's reference yield level was lower than in most EU15 countries, Polish farmers received payments lower than the EU15 average.

²² Details are specified in the direct payments law of Dec. 18, 2003.

Table 16Direct payment rates in 2013

Type of payment	Planned amounts of different types of direct payments in 2013 (in millions of zlotys)	% of total amount	Payment rates in 2013 (in zlotys)
Single Area Payment	11,530.6	81.0	830.30 ZL/hectare
Complementary Area Payment—other plants	972.2	6.8	139.39 ZL/hectare
Complementary Area Payment—animals	346.3	2.4	238.93 ZL/hectare
Complementary Area Payment for hops growers	2.5	0.0	1,263.50 ZL/hectare
De-coupled payments—Virginia tobacco	115.8	0.8	5.75 ZL/kg
De-coupled payments—other tobacco	55.6	0.4	4.02 ZL/kg
Starch payments	36.6	0.3	449.44 ZL/metric ton
Special area payments for growers of leguminous and pea-type plants	148.5	1.0	719.43 ZL/hectare
Cow payments	164.9	1.2	602.60 ZL/head of cattle
Sheep meat and goat meat payments	9.7	0.1	126.86 ZL/head of flock
Separate sugar payments	655.5	4.6	54.10 ZL/metric ton
Fruit and vegetable payments (tomato payments)	27.6	0.2	167.44 ZL/metric ton
Virginia tobacco payments	77.7	0.5	n.a.
Burley tobacco payments	35.0	0.3	n.a.
Dark tobacco payments	8.4	0.1	n.a.
Soft fruit payments	46.1	0.3	1,579.54 ZL/hectare
Total direct payments	14,232.8	100.0	×

Source: http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/platnosci-bezposrednie/stawkiplatnoscibezposrednichobowia-zujacewroku2013.html.

Most of the funds reached farmers in the form of the Single Area Payment (SAP) financed from the EU budget and complementary payments financed from the national budget. Together they accounted recently for slightly more than 90% of the total amount that farmers received in the form of direct payments. Figure 14 shows the proportion of each payment in total farmer income support in 2012.

Figure 14

The proportion of individual types of payments in total direct support for Polish farmers in 2012 (%)



Source: http://www.minrol.gov.pl/pol/Wsparcie-rolnictwa-i-rybolowstwa/Platnosci-bezposrednie.

Evaluation of support for Polish agriculture in the form of direct payments

Direct payments are among the most controversial instruments for supporting agriculture. The obvious benefit for farmers is that these payments increase their incomes. It is estimated that 60% of the income of farmers in EU countries comes from direct payments. In Poland, it is estimated that direct payments account for more than half of farmer incomes (Poślednik, 2009). A no-less-important benefit of the payments is that they stabilize farmer incomes, and their amount (in euros) is known well in advance—because it is guaranteed at a certain level in each subsequent Multiannual Financial Framework, which is the basis of the EU's annual budgets.²³ Because of uncertain production conditions (droughts, floods etc.) as well as uncertain sales (economic slowdowns, changing trends on international markets), the stabilizing function of direct payments is of special importance to agricultural producers.

The amount of support that individual farmers get varies considerably and depends primarily on the size of the farm (a fixed payment rate in a given year multiplied by the area of the farmland), as well as the structure of production (basic payments are

²³ In order to reduce the risk related to fluctuations in the exchange rates of national currencies against the euro, member states convert into the national currencies the funds for direct payments expressed in euro at the latest exchange rate set by the European Central Bank prior to Oct. 1 of the year for which the payments were granted. Therefore, since 2005 the Single Area Payment rate has been calculated by dividing the financial envelope for a given year by the reference area, with the exchange rate of the euro as at Sept. 30 of a given year. Beginning in 2005, the disbursement of direct payments takes place in the period from Dec. 1 of each year to June 30 of the following calendar year. This period is the same for all EU countries. (Poślednik, 2009). Of course, such a system does not eliminate the exchange rate risk completely, because the rates on the last day prior to Oct. 1 are different each year. Only eurozone countries have a full guarantee of exchange rate stability.

supplemented by several types of additional payments, if the farm's production profile includes specific plant or animal products). In this situation, calculating any average per farm could be very confusing. It is worth noting, however, that in Poland about 70% of the payments go to 20% of the largest farms in terms of area (Poślednik, 2009). This means that this type of support mainly benefits farms that are already competitive and can effectively use the payments to further improve their position on the single European market.

Notably, many farmers, in addition to the aforementioned payments, receive compensatory allowances under the so-called less favored areas (LFA) scheme, which aims to support agricultural producers in areas with unfavorable farming conditions. In addition, the incomes of some farmers (those who have transferred their farm to a successor) are supported by the early retirement scheme. Both of these measures are financed from the Rural Development Programme (discussed in the next part of this chapter), which finances measures designed to promote changes in the structure of agricultural production. In fact, both measures also support farmer incomes. As with direct payments, funds obtained under the LFA and early retirement systems can be used for any purpose, not necessarily only those related to farm development or modernization.

Inasmuch as they are spent on investment projects or day-to-day production expenses, direct payments influence the development of farms. It is difficult to determine how these funds are actually spent. An Agribus survey conducted in 2010 by the Martin & Jacob company revealed that owners of farms of more than 15 hectares tended to spend most direct payments on fertilizers, plant protection products (e.g., pesticides), and materials and equipment for sowing.²⁴ In small subsistence farms, on the other hand, payments are mainly spent on improving day-to-day consumption. In such farms they also play a social function.

Supporters of direct payments argue that these payments have a moderating effect on food prices, keeping them from growing too fast, despite increasingly expensive fertilizers and other production inputs for farmers. In this way direct payments benefit consumers. In addition, they make Polish agri-food products competitive on foreign markets in terms of price.

Payments, through their income effects, enable some farmers to support themselves and thus rein in unemployment. As a result, payments reduce government spending on social welfare support for the poorest farmers.

Despite all these benefits, direct payments also have disadvantages for the effectiveness of agriculture. The key drawbacks are the following:

a) Payments are offered to farmers (subject to meeting certain requirements, including maintaining farms in good condition), regardless of the condition of the farm. Consequently, in small subsistence farms payments have a social character and can

²⁴ http://wyborcza.biz/biznes/1,101562,8752053,Polscy_rolnicy_doplaty_z_UE_wydaja_na_nawozy. html (accessed Dec. 1, 2010).

in no way be used to improve the competitiveness of the farm or to improve the agrarian structure of agriculture. In fact, payments have slowed down the process of enlarging farms in Poland, because beneficiaries do not want to lose their right to what is largely automatic financial support (on account of ownership or lease of farmland).

b) Direct payments can be used to finance any expenditure. So there is no guarantee that they help improve the competitiveness of farms.

Rural Development Programme 2007–2013 (RDP)

Another key mechanism for financing agriculture, food processing and rural development is funds for the development of rural areas (the second pillar of the CAP). In 2004–2006,²⁵ a rural development program endowed with €3.6 billion in public funds, including €2.9 billion in EU funds, was in operation. During this period, the agri-food sector also received support from the Sectoral Operational Programme: Restructuring and Modernisation of the Food Sector and Rural Development, which was pursued as part of Cohesion Policy. Support from this program totaled €1.2 billion.

From 2007 to 2013—in fact, until the end of 2015^{26} —the Rural Development Programme (RDP) was at work, with a budget of around ZL70 billion (€17.4 billion).²⁷ The program's budget is almost six times as large as in the first few years of Poland's EU membership. The RDP is financed from the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD)—totaling €13.2 billion, with the contribution of Polish public funds adding €4.2 billion.²⁸ Some of the measures are co-financed by beneficiaries receiving support. Financial assistance from the RDP 2007–2013 is granted to farmers, businesspeople, local governments and forest owners. It is intended for the implementation of specific measures (there are 23 of these objectives) as part of

²⁵ In the pre-accession period, Polish agriculture benefited from funds available under the SAPARD program (which was in operation until mid-2006). The program's budget of €1.1 billion (about ZL4.8 billion) consisted of €708.2 million in EU funds and €235.8 million in national co-financing, as well as €40 million transferred with the consent of the European Commission from the Rural Development Programme budget. See: http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna-i-krajowa/inne-formy-pomocy/sapard. html.

 $^{^{26}}$ In the case of most actions financed from the RDP, agreements are concluded until the end of the programming period (i.e. until the end of 2013, and funds are spent over two more years, in line with the so-called n+2 principle). Early retirement is financed along different lines. Farmers receive early retirement benefits until they reach an age making them eligible for a pension along the general rules (later they are moved to the general pension system). If they reach the retirement age in the next budget period, "fixed liabilities" are incurred that must compulsorily be covered from funds under the next program (similar rules are followed in the case of afforestation, producer groups and some agrienvironmental programs).

²⁷ http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/efekty-unijnej-pomocy-udzielanej-przez-arimr.html. Rural development is also served by some EU funds under the Cohesion Policy.

²⁸ http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna.html or: http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/prow-2007-2013-podstawowe-informacje.html

four "axes" (tasks).²⁹ A detailed list of all the measures is given in Table 17, which shows how much money (in millions of euros) is earmarked for specific purposes, with a breakdown into public funds (financed from the EU budget and the national budget) and private funds.

The largest amount, 43% of the total, was set aside for financing Axis 1, which aimed to improve the competitiveness of the agricultural and forestry sector. Next in terms of importance came Axis 2, in which funds were spent to improve the environment and rural areas—30.6% of the total pool. Slightly less, 20.0%, was set aside for improving the quality of life in rural areas and diversifying the rural economy (Axis 3). The remaining 6% was earmarked for the implementation of local development strategies (Axis 4) and technical assistance (Axis 5).

Table 17

Implementation of the Rural Development Programme for 2007–2013 (in millions of euros)

Code	Name of instrument	Public fundsª	Private funds	Total allocation	Absorption rate ^b (%)		
Axis 1: Improving the competitiveness of the agricultural and forestry sector							
111	Vocational training for persons employed in agriculture and forestry	30.0	0	30.0	68.8		
112	Schemes promoting the establishment of young farmers	420.0	0	420.0	92.8		
113	Early retirement	2,550.0	0	2,550.0	100.0		
114	Advisory services	118.0	30.0	148.0	76.2		
121	Modernization of agricultural holdings	1,920.1	2,878.8	4,797.9	87.1		
123	Adding value to primary agricultural and forestry production	932.0	2,796.0	3,728.0	75.9		
125	Development of agricultural and forestry infrastructure	638.1	0.0	638.1	75.4		
126	Restoring agricultural production potential damaged by natural disasters	100.0	11.0	111.0	72.3		
132	Participation of farmers in food quality schemes	40.0	0.0	40.0	67.8		
133	Information and promotion activities	10.0	4. 7	14.7	17.1		
141	Aid for semi-subsistence holdings—RDP 2004–2006 liabilities	560.0	0.0	560.0	99.8		
142	Agricultural producer groups	140.0	0.0	140.0	100.0		
	Total: Axis 1	7,456.2	5,719.6	13,175.9	×		

²⁹ These goals are enshrined in the Strategy for Sustainable Rural Development, Agriculture and Fisheries adopted by the Polish government on April 25, 2012, Resolution No. 163, *Monitor Polski*, Nov. 9, 2012, item 839.

Code	Name of instrument	Public fundsª	Private funds	Total allocation	Absorption rate ^b (%)			
Axis 2: Improving the environment and the countryside								
211, 212	Support for farming in mountainous areas and other less favored areas (LFA)	2,449.0	0.0	2,449.0	85.8			
214	Agri-environmental program	2,315.1	0.0	2,315.1	94.5			
221, 223	Afforestation of farmland	474.5	0.0	474.5	88.8			
226	Restoring forestry production potential damaged by natural disasters	100.0	0.0	100.0	80.1			
	Total: Axis 2	5,337.6	0.0	5,337.6	×			
Axis 3	Quality of life in rural areas and diversifica	ation of the ru	ral economy					
311	Diversification towards non-agricultural activities	345.0	346.0	691.0	92.5			
312	Establishment of micro-businesses	1,024.6	1,024.6	2,047.2	50.3			
321	Basic services for the rural economy and population	1,614.2	0.0	1,614.2	100.0			
313, 322, 323	Renovation and development of villages	590.0	0.0	590.0	100.0			
	Total: Axis 3	3,573.8	1,369.6	4,942.4	×			
Axis 4	: LEADER—Implementation of local develo	opment strateg	țies					
413	Implementation of local development strategies	621.0	403.4	1,024.4	69.6			
421	Implementation of cooperation projects	15.0	0.0	15.0	35.6			
431	Functioning of local action groups	152.0	0.0	152.0	83.6			
	Total: Axis 4	788.0	403.4	1,191.4	×			
Axis 5	: Technical assistance	267.0	0.0	267.0	54.9			
RDP Total		17,420.7	7,491.6	24,911.3	×			

^aEU funds and national public funds combined.

^b absorption rate based on contracts signed with beneficiaries or decisions on financing projects as of Sept. 20, 2013.

Source: Agency for the Restructuring and Modernization of Agriculture.

Funds were distributed relatively evenly among the first three axes, but a closer look at the distribution of funds reveals that evaluating their purpose may be misleading. For example, the "support for farming in mountainous areas and other less favored areas (LFA)"³⁰ measure was hardly conducive to an improvement in the environment

294

³⁰ While drafting its Rural Development Programme 2004–2006, Poland tried to secure permission to cover the largest possible area of farmland with support for farming in "less favored areas." Under this program, early retirement covered 53,400 farmers for a period of 10 years. In 2007–2013, the amount of

and rural areas, even though it was part of the "Improving the environment and the countryside" Axis. Another example: "early retirement" was classified into Axis 1, "Improving the competitiveness of the agricultural and forestry sector." Nor could it be claimed that "aid for semi-subsistence holdings" served as an improvement in competitiveness. Axis 1 also included the "restoring agricultural production potential damaged by natural disasters" instrument, which could have meant restoring agricultural production potential regardless of whether it was competitive or not.

In the case of the "LFA" measure, the key criterion for allocating funds was not a good business plan—unlike in the case of most other Rural Development Programme measures-but possession (or lease) of land classified as located "in less favored areas" (56.5% of the land in Poland fits this definition). The same was true of the "early retirement" measure, where the main criterion was whether or not a farmer has reached the age of 55—though not the retirement age (65 years for men, and 60 years for women)³¹—and transferred the farm to a successor or sold it. In the case of both these measures, farmers were free to spend the funds in any way they chose, be it investment or day-to-day consumption. Early retirement was intended to improve the agrarian structure and expedite the process of generational replacement among farmers. While this measure could help improve the profitability and competitiveness of farms, this did not have to be the case, especially as only farmers who transferred a small farm to a successor were eligible for early retirement. As a result, slightly larger farms lost their competitive edge. Overall, the "LFA" and "early retirement" measures provided social support and income support respectively, while not necessarily serving "rural development," despite the name of the program.

Income and social support accounted for a combined €5.5 billion³² slated for spending in the 2007–2013 period, or almost 32% of the total pool of funds available under the Rural Development Programme. This means that the actual amounts of money for improving the competitiveness of the agri-food sector and for rural development were smaller than the amount allocated from the EU budget. Notably, both of these objectives can be considered fixed liabilities, i.e. liabilities that must be compulsorily covered in the next programming period.³³ The decision to grant funds for these purposes was made for the first time when the structure of expenditure was

pension under the early retirement system was reduced, the criteria for granting early retirement were tightened and a decision was made that pensions would be granted only to 20,400 more farmers. After that ceiling was reached, no new applications were reviewed, regardless of how well-founded they were (MRiRW, 2007, p. 191).

³¹ In 2013, the base monthly pension for farmers covered by early retirement was ZL1,013, with an option for a certain rise.

³² This amount includes ZL500 million to "support semi-subsistence farms—RDP 2004–2006 liabilities."

³³ Theoretically, fixed liabilities can also include other measures in the sense that most of them follow up on programs in operation in the previous planning period. The nature of the problems addressed by these programs requires long-term efforts. The rationale for the existence of these measures is therefore a desire to improve the structure of agricultural production and increase its productivity. In contrast,

being determined just after accession (as part of the RDP 2004–2006, under the EU's 2004–2006 Multiannual Financial Perspective). Both measures were maintained when the decision on the distribution of funds for the 2007–2013 period was being made, because a government could hardly refuse to follow up on measures designed to provide income and social support. Leaving out such measures would cause the opposition of a large section of the rural population that would undoubtedly influence the outcome of the subsequent parliamentary elections (Rowiński, 2008, pp. 509–572). It should be expected that these measures will also absorb significant funds under the RDP 2014–2020—largely at the expense of funds for the modernization of farms, as is the case now (Rowiński, 2008). According to the Polish Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (MRiRW), projects started in 2007–2013 and continued in the 2014–2020 period should claim almost €1.4 billion.

Among the remaining measures, the largest amount, $\notin 2.3$ billion, was set aside for the "agri-environmental program" followed by the "modernization of agricultural holdings," with $\notin 1.9$ billion. This means that modernization claimed less than each of the two measures designed to support farmer incomes: $\notin 2.5$ billion for early retirement and $\notin 2.45$ billion to support "less favored areas."

The outcomes of RDP 2007–2013³⁴

When assessing how EU funds are spent, it is only possible to determine whether or not their objectives have been achieved. Undoubtedly, in the case of most of the discussed measures, this is precisely what happened. The use of EU funds in keeping with the objectives set, however, says nothing about the effectiveness of these funds. To assess the effectiveness of spending, we should compare the obtained results (benefits) with the costs incurred, which means determine whether the best possible results have been achieved. Such an assessment is difficult, and even impossible, due to a lack of appropriate measurement tools. This produces many divergent opinions about the effects of EU support. For the same reason, below we focus on discussing the absorption of EU funds and their outcomes and not on their effectiveness.

Until the beginning of 2014, the Polish Agency for the Restructuring and Modernization of Agriculture (ARiMR), which disburses funds under the RDP and manages most measures, paid out or set aside for its long-term liabilities about 90% of the Rural Development Programme's total budget for 2007–2013 (see Table 17).³⁵ Such a high level of fund disbursement offers hope that the whole amount will be spent as

early retirement and the LFA arrangement do not serve such purposes; just the reverse, they contribute to the preservation of an uncompetitive structure of agricultural production in Poland.

³⁴ http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/efekty-unijnej-pomocy-udzielanej-przez-arimr.html.

³⁵ Some of the money is destined for purposes such as the payment of early retirement benefits granted in previous years or annual afforestation payments, http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/prow-2007-2013/ponad-247-miliarda-zlotych-wyplacila-arimr-z-prow-2007-13-polska-jest-liderem-realizacji-programu-w-unii-europejskiej.html.

planned by the end of the programming period. Most funds have been distributed in accordance with the planned objectives, so the absorption of funds under the RDP 2007–2013 is at a high level.

The program has had many beneficiaries. Farmers, businesspeople from the agrifood sector and other beneficiaries, including Local Action Groups, submitted more than 439,000 applications for support to the Agency for the Restructuring and Modernization of Agriculture by the beginning of 2014. Moreover, every year more than 700,000 farmers submit applications for LFA payments, and about100,000 applicants annually seek agri-environmental payments.³⁶

The results vary, of course, depending on the measure. According to the Polish Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (MRiRW), funds for the modernization of farms have made it possible to modernize about 60,000 farms and hundreds of food processing companies. About 36,000 new jobs unrelated to agriculture have been created in rural areas. Subsidies from the RDP 2007–2013 have helped keep the profitability of economic activity in mountainous and less favored areas (LFA). According to the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, if these payments were not available, 7.3 million hectares, or roughly half of all farmland area in Poland, would no longer be used for food production purposes. Support from the RDP 2007–2013 also makes it possible to conduct traditional crop cultivation and livestock breeding, and ensures the highest environmental standards in an area of 2.3 million hectares. These funds have also enabled afforestation of about 70,000 hectares of poor-quality land. Without the support from the RDP 2007–2013, farmers would not so actively be producing high-quality food.³⁷

Money from the RDP 2007–2013 has also helped revive production in hundreds of farms involved in various disasters such as floods, subzero temperatures, and severe storms. Funds set aside for the "renovation and development of villages" have helped create hundreds of play areas for children and have built or renovated many rural clubs and bought equipment for them. Under other measures, water supply systems, sewerage systems, and waste segregation systems have been built in many rural areas. The living conditions of the rural population have improved substantially. Another important outcome of the implementation of certain measures is an improvement in the incomes of farmers and other people living in the countryside but not supporting themselves from agriculture (Rowiński, 2008).

This positive evaluation of the RDP 2007–2013 by the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development indicates that almost all the funds allocated for this period have already been distributed. This assessment, of course, does not say anything about the effectiveness of the completed projects—for example, whether or not they have

³⁶ http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/prow-2007-2013/ponad-247-miliarda-zlotych-wyplacila-arimr-z-prow-2007-13-polska-jest-liderem-realizacji-programu-w-unii-europejskiej.html.

³⁷ http://www.zielonysztandar.com.pl/2013/03/efekty-wsparcia-udzielanego-przez-arimr-z-unijnych-programow-pomocowych/.

helped increase productivity in agriculture. The question of whether the available EU funds (and national public funds supplementing these) have been divided in the right way also remains open. A partial answer to this question was offered above, describing the controversial distribution of funds between objectives such as farm modernization and early retirement for farmers. Generally, however, there is no good answer. Basic indicators of the development of Polish agriculture and rural areas continue to trail those in countries with the most productive agriculture sectors. The needs in this area are consequently enormous and diverse, while the available resources are limited.

Critics argue that the number of beneficiaries of EU funds relative to the total number of Polish farmers is very low. This argument can be countered by pointing out that, first, there were not enough funds for a larger scale of support, and second, the number of beneficiaries should be compared with the number of commercial farms, which is much smaller, while excluding a large number of farmers who own only small plots, have no contact with the market, and have not applied for any structural support.

Support for the fisheries and fish processing sector

In 2004–2006, Sectoral Operational Programme: Fisheries and Fish Processing 2004–2006 was in operation, based on the National Development Plan 2004–2006. A total of €282 million was earmarked for this program, with the EU contribution at €202 million and the national budget contribution at €80 million (MRIRW, 2004).³⁸ The most funds have been allocated under this program for either scrapping fishing vessels or transferring these to third countries (after Poland was covered by fishing quotas once it joined the EU), as well as for the protection and development of aquatic resources. For most measures, the level of using the allocation was high, and there was not enough money to carry out all complex projects. Some measures, however, were not popular among fishermen, due to the inadequacy of the support and its poor adaptation to the needs of beneficiaries (Agrotec, 2010).

In subsequent years, the Operational Programme: Sustainable Development of the Fisheries Sector and Coastal Fishing Areas 2007–2013 was at work, which was financed from the European Fisheries Fund (EFF)³⁹ and was a component of the EU's Common Fisheries Policy. Poland, along with Spain, was the largest beneficiary of the Fund.⁴⁰ A total of €734 million was allocated for Poland, with national co-financing at €244.7 million (i.e. 25% of the program's total budget). This adds up to a total of €979 million, or nearly three times as much as in the previous period. The 2007–2013

³⁸ An additional €2 million came from applicants' own private funds.

³⁹ A total of €4.3 billion was allocated for the implementation of the Fund across Europe..

⁴⁰ The biggest beneficiaries of the EFF are: Spain with €1.13 billion, followed by Poland with €734.1 million, Italy with 424.3 million, Portugal with €246.5 million, Romania with €230.7 million, and Greece with €207.8 million.

program included five priority axes: see Table 18.⁴¹ Each axis had different objectives, but their common feature was they all focused on promoting sustainable development of the fisheries sector and fisheries areas. Individual measures concerned the development and modernization of the fisheries sector, ensuring its profitability and competitiveness, and stepping up fishing infrastructure, with a view to improving the quality of life of communities in fishing areas. The measures were expected to produce areas that were more attractive not only for residents, but also as tourism destinations. Most of the funds, 32%, were spent on the sustainable development of fisheries areas, and the remaining funds were distributed evenly among the other axes.

Table 18

Budget of the Operational Programme: Sustainable Development of the Fisheries Sector and Coastal Fishing Areas 2007–2013, by priority axis (in millions of euros)

Operational Programme financing by priority axis	Total public contribu- tion	EFF con- tribution	Structure of EFF contri- bution (%)	National contribu- tion	EFF co-financ- ing
Axis 1. Measures for the adaptation of the Community fishing fleet	225.1	168.8	23.0	56.3	75%
Axis 2. Measures for investments in aquaculture and processing and marketing of fishery and aquaculture products	195.8	146.8	20.0	48.9	75%
Axis 3. Measures of common interest	195.8	146.8	20.0	48.9	75%
Axis 4. Measures of the sustainable development of fisheries areas	313.2	234.9	32.0	78.3	75%
Axis 5. Technical assistance	48.9	36.7	5.0	12.2	75%
TOTAL	978.8	734.1	100.0	244.7	75%

Source: Operational Programme: Sustainable Development of the Fisheries Sector and Coastal Fishing Areas 2007–2013, http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/po-ryby-2007-2013/realizacja-po-zrownowazony-rozwoj-sektora-rybolowstwa-i-nadbrzeznych-obszarow-rybackich-2007-2013.html.

The contracting of funds under the program was slow in the beginning, but gained momentum in 2013. By the autumn of 2013, the rate of fund utilization (in terms of paid invoices and accepted applications for financing) reached 98% under Axis 2 and Axis 3, and 86% under Axis 1. Only slightly lower was the absorption of funds under Axis 4, which accounted for the biggest portion (32%) of the money for the fisheries sector (Table 18).⁴²

⁴¹ http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna.html.

⁴² http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/po-ryby-2007-2013/18-miliarda-zlotych-zostalo-zakontraktowane-przez-arimr-w-ramach-po-ryby-2007-2013.html.

Conclusions

This analysis shows that Poland is an efficient spender of EU funds set aside for its agriculture sector and rural areas. Most of the funds allocated to Poland so far have already been spent or agreements have been signed detailing how this money will be spent.

In terms of purpose, the most EU funds were spent in 2007–2013 to support farmer incomes (direct payments, early retirement, LFA, and support for semi-subsistence farms)—about €20.9 billion, or ZL84 billion, in total. This represents 69% of the total pool of funds from the EU budget earmarked for the development of agriculture, rural areas and fisheries.⁴³

These funds have significantly increased farmer incomes and enabled some farmers to improve the competitiveness of their farms. Owners of small farms that do not produce for the market have been able to improve their living conditions. Practically speaking, all the support, regardless of what specific purpose these funds have been spent on, has contributed to an increase in market demand and, through multiplier effects, increased production and GDP.⁴⁴ Naturally, these effects are likely to disappear with time.

From the point of view of the economy's development, more important are supplyside effects that have a permanent impact on the development potential of Polish agriculture and rural areas. Some of the funds analyzed above have reinforced this potential by improving infrastructure, modernizing farms, strengthening local enterprise, and improving the quality of agri-food products. This does not necessarily mean that the funds could not have been spent more effectively. Nevertheless, Polish agriculture and rural areas would be much worse off without this money.

References

MRiRW, (2007), Program Rozwoju Obszarów Wiejskich na lata 2007–2013, Warsaw.

Niklewicz, K., (2012), Ile tej spójności?, DemosEuropa, Warsaw, March.

Poślednik, A., (2009), Wpływ kursu euro na wysokość platności bezpośrednich, FAPA, March.

Rowiński, J., (2008), Program Rozwoju Obszarów Wiejskich na lata 2007–2013. Ekonomiczne i społeczne uwarunkowania rozwoju polskiej gospodarki żywnościowej po wstąpieniu Polski do Unii Europejskiej, Instytut Rolnictwa i Gospodarki Żywnościowej Państwowy Instytut Badawczy, No. 118, Warsaw.

⁴³ EU funds also financed market support, which was not discussed above.

⁴⁴ The Ministry of Regional Development says that, thanks to accelerated spending of EU funds, Poland's economy expanded by 1.7 percent in 2009, even though the EU as a whole was hit by the global economic crisis that year. The ministry said EU funds as a whole added from 0.8 to 1.2 percentage points to Poland's GDP growth in 2009, which means the funds were responsible for at least half of the country's GDP growth rate that year, cf. K. Niklewicz, *Ile tej spójności*?, DemosEuropa, Warsaw, March 2012.

Sektorowy Program Operacyjny "Rybołówstwo i przetwórstwo ryb 2004–2006", Załącznik do rozporządzenia Ministra Rolnictwa i Rozwoju Wsi z dnia 11.08.2004 r. (poz. 2027). Uchwała nr 163 Rady Ministrów z dnia 25 kwietnia 2012 r., Monitor Polski, Nov. 9, 2012, item 839. Wykonanie oceny ex-post Sektorowego Programu Operacyjnego "Rybołówstwo i przetwórstwo ryb 2004–2006" (2010), Raport końcowy Agrotec Polska sp. z o.o. & Morski Instytut Rybacki & Agrotec S.p.A, March 18. http://www.minrol.gov.pl/pol/Wsparcie-rolnictwa-i-rybolowstwa/Platnosci-bezposrednie). http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/platnosci-bezposrednie.html. http://wyborcza.biz/biznes/1,101562,8752053,Polscy rolnicy doplaty z UE wydaja na nawozy.html. http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna-i-krajowa/inne-formy-pomocy/sapard.html. http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/efekty-unijnej-pomocy-udzielanej-przez-arimr.html http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna.html. http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/prow-2007-2013-podstawowe-informacje.html http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/prow-2007-2013/ponad-247-miliarda-zlotych-wyplacila-arimr-zprow-2007-13-polska-jest-liderem-realizacji-programu-w-unii-europejskiej.html. http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna/prow-2007-2013/ponad-247-miliarda-zlotych-wyplacila-arimr-zprow-2007-13-polska-jest-liderem-realizacji-programu-w-unii-europejskiej.html.

http://www.arimr.gov.pl/pomoc-unijna.html.

5.5. The Impact of EU Membership on Poland's Energy Market

Grażyna Wojtkowska-Łodej

This chapter tracks the changes that took place in Poland's energy sector during the country's first 10 years in the European Union (EU). We attempt to determine what EU accession has meant for the Polish energy sector and how Poland's energy mix has changed in the first decade of membership: whether there has been a growing convergence between Poland and other EU countries on the energy market and what energy management challenges Poland faces in the near future.

Poland's EU accession and what it meant for the energy sector

After its transition from central planning to a market economy in the early 1990s, Poland embarked on intense cooperation with Western European countries, which eventually resulted in an association agreement and a formal application for membership in the European Union. As a result, political and economic reforms in the country were accompanied by a parallel process of adjustment and preparations for the launch of a free trade zone for manufactured goods, followed by preparations to join the EU as a full member (Wojtkowska-Łodej, 2012). Efforts to bring Polish regulations in line with the EU's *acquis communautaire* system covered the entire economy, including the energy sector. Under Art. 78 of the Europe Agreement establishing an association between the European Communities and Poland, energy cooperation covered areas such as modernization of infrastructure, improvement and diversification of energy supply, energy policy making, promotion of energy conservation, increased energy efficiency, a greater focus on the impact of manufacturing processes and energy consumption on the environment, a wider opening of the energy market by improving the transmission of electricity and gas, and know-how transfer (Wojtkowska-Łodej, 2002). The agreement also mapped out the rules of cooperation in the nuclear power sector. These were in particular related to adapting Poland's nuclear safety and radiation protection regulations as well as regulations on radioactive waste disposal and storage.

During this period, Poland also joined energy cooperation initiatives inspired and undertaken by the European Community at the regional and international levels. This was reflected by the European Energy Charter, which Poland signed on Dec. 17, 1994. This important energy market agreement sought to provide an international platform for cooperation in the field of fuel and energy, designed to promote competition, foreign investment and the creation of stable conditions for energy sector projects beneficial to participating countries. Poland thus expressed its readiness to make efforts to transform its energy sector along market rules.

In subsequent years, the transformation of Poland's energy sector was based on documents addressed to the Polish government and resulting directly from Poland's formal application for EU membership. These included a White Paper on the Preparation of the Associated Countries of Central and Eastern Europe for Integration into the Internal Market of the Union; a White Paper on the internal market; a White Paper on EU energy policy; an opinion of the European Commission; the so-called Avis report on Poland's ability to join the EU, followed by a decision and the process of EU membership negotiations. These documents were accompanied by financing for the applicant countries, including Poland, as part of pre-accession funds.

In response to these initiatives by the European Community, Poland undertook programming and restructuring activities with regard to its energy sector from 1994 to 2004. These efforts coincided with a package of austere economic measures known as the Balcerowicz program. These included demonopolization, restructuring, privatization, and liberalization, combined with legal and institutional adjustments in the energy sector ahead of EU membership. The adjustments covered market segments such as coal and lignite mining, oil, power generation, gas, and heat.

As a result of these processes, a new energy policy was developed in the 1990s, restructuring programs were drawn up for each market segment, and there was a move away from an enterprise financing model that disregarded business efficiency, accom-

panied by a new government role in sectors traditionally monopolized by the state.⁴⁵ The main objectives of the government's energy policy were enshrined in an energy law passed in December 1997. These included creating conditions for sustainable development of the country, ensuring energy security, economical and rational use of fuels and energy, developing consumption, counteracting the negative effects of natural monopolies, and meeting environmental requirements and obligations resulting from international agreements. The new energy law brought Polish regulations in line with EU standards in terms of competition law, state aid to the coal industry, maintenance of crude oil and petroleum product inventories, and licenses for drilling for and extracting hydrocarbons. The energy law also embraced EU regulations on the establishment of an internal market for electricity and gas (Wojtkowska-Łodej, 2002, pp. 173–182). The process of drafting and adapting regulations governing the sector's operations was accompanied by restructuring and ownership and organizational changes in the power and oil industries as well as in coal mining. However, the reforms and adjustments in the energy sector as a whole and in individual market segments varied in terms of dynamics. While restructuring programs were often based on properly formulated objectives and priorities, they failed to ensure financing for individual projects, or some funds were earmarked for dubious purposes such as maintenance of unprofitable mines. In addition, there was often a lack of determination and consistency in carrying out these projects, nor was there public acceptance of them. These processes were particularly difficult to carry out because the coal, energy, gas, and oil industries enjoyed special treatment and privileges in Poland at the time. In the early stage of bringing democratic and market economy rules to the sector, top-down pressure often slowed down the reform process. On the other hand, there was a significant level of awareness among energy sector companies of the need for change, and mushrooming entrepreneurship and economic reforms spurred adjustments in the energy sector (Wojtkowska-Łodej, 1998). The changes made in the Polish energy sector and national legal regulations—with the required level of compliance with Community law in the field of energy-enabled Poland to embark on EU accession negotiations in the late 1990s. The government secured transition periods for further adjustments in the energy sector, in particular in terms of hazardous emissions. As a result, after closing the accession negotiations in other economic areas and after meeting successive formal requirements, Poland eventually got the green light to join the EU in May 2004.

The EU's eastward enlargement, to include countries from the CEE region, was a challenge for Europe; it required a new dimension of cooperation in the energy sector. The enlargement took place at a turbulent time, when oil prices were fluctuating on international markets amid concerns over the supply of energy to member states. The EU was also intensely working at the time to increase the competitiveness of the European economy without harming the environment and to guarantee the security

⁴⁵ Specified in *Poland's Energy Policy Guidelines Until 2010*, drawn up in the mid-1990s, followed by *Poland's Energy Policy Guidelines Until 2020*, drawn up at the end of the 20th century.

of energy supplies in the bloc. Under the circumstances, Brussels' energy management priorities included electricity and gas market liberalization, the security of energy supplies to the internal market, changes in the energy mix taking into account the environmental impact of individual energy sources, and research and development of new energy technology. These objectives coincided with Poland's ambition to transform its energy sector, though some goals such as environmental targets were difficult to meet in the short term because they posed an excessive financial burden. About 50 years after the European Coal and Steel Community (Euratom) treaty was signed, energy management again became an important issue in the process of European integration. Under the new external conditions, this reinforced the need for a common energy policy.⁴⁶

Processes of change in the Polish energy sector. The impact of EU membership

The processes of change in the Polish energy sector after accession have been based on EU programming documents and legal regulations transposed to Polish law and energy policy, while taking into account local conditions. In particular, these documents and regulations have been associated with EU action in the area of energy and climate change designed to reduce the level of greenhouse gas emissions, increase the EU's competitiveness and step up the security of energy supplies as part of the so-called climate and energy package (European Commission, 2007). The EU's energy policy was for the first time specified in detail in Chapter XXI, Art. 194 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU). Under this article: "In the context of the establishment and functioning of the internal market and with regard for the need to preserve and improve the environment, Union policy on energy shall aim, in a spirit of solidarity between Member States, to: ensure the functioning of the energy market; ensure security of energy supply in the Union; promote energy efficiency and energy saving and the development of new and renewable forms of energy; and promote the interconnection of energy networks." (European Union, 2010). These objectives are an important part of efforts to enhance the development of the EU economy and increase its competitiveness under the bloc's flagship Europe 2020 program (European Commission, 2010) and a strategy for a transition to a low-carbon economy by 2050 (European Commission, 2011).

⁴⁶ In the mid-1990s, the European Commission released two important documents, the *Green Paper*: *Towards a European Union Energy Policy*, followed by the *White Paper*: *Energy Policy of the European Union*, which hand, confirmed the Commission's determination to create an internal market for electricity and, for the first time, detailed specific objectives of common EU action in the area of energy. Activities undertaken at the Community level, with a view to increasing the competitiveness of the EU economy and enhancing the security of energy supply, were accompanied by efforts to meet the third objective related to environmental protection.

All these documents set the direction of the goals within the EU, including green growth and sustainable development priorities, for the next 30 years. Energy and its price as well as the development of innovative energy technologies (including low-carbon technology) are likely to constitute an important factor in the growth of the EU economy and its competitiveness (Binswanger, 2011, p. 199).

Energy plays an important role in the development and competitiveness of the EU economy. In the context of Poland's EU membership and its integration with the European Union, it is worth assessing changes in the demand for energy during Poland's first 10 years in the EU—and looking at changes in the structure of demand and the extent to which this demand is met. Also worth study is the role of the market in shaping energy prices as well as the energy intensity of the economy and trends in the country's dependence on imported energy. Other aspects that bear examination include hazardous emissions and the security of energy supplies, along with assessing whether the trends in the Polish energy sector are consistent with those observed throughout the EU.

The country's economic growth was the key driver of the demand for energy, in terms of fuel and final energy consumption, from 2003 to 2013. Slight fluctuations were recorded in energy use in Poland in the analyzed period, with an increase in consumption from 91.6 million tons of oil equivalents (Mtoe) in 2003 to 95.0 Mtoe in 2012, accompanied by a slight decrease in domestic supply from 80.1 Mtoe to 70.3 Mtoe during 2003–2011 (Table 19). This trend was consistent with changes in the supply of energy sources and growing energy consumption throughout the EU.

On the one hand, this is due to dwindling oil and gas resources, combined with significant coal and lignite deposits, which—because of the significant emissions they generate and the EU's climate and energy policy—are becoming less important in member state energy mixes. On the other hand, GDP growth has boosted the demand for energy. While the trends in energy production and consumption were closely correlated until 1997, since then the supply of domestic energy sources has clearly declined. This has been accompanied by growing demand and consumption. After a short-lived decline in both of these indicators, from 2009 onward both domestic energy production and consumption began to grow again.

The decreased supply of domestic energy was also the result of restructuring combined with the closure of unprofitable mines and industrial plants. Growing demand was in part met with oil and natural gas as well as coal imports. Poland's dependence on primary energy imports increased in the 2003–2010 period. The proportion of imports in energy consumption increased from 13.1% to 31.5%. In the studied period, oil accounted for the largest percentage of imported energy resources (at 55% in 2003 and 49% in 2010), followed by natural gas (23% in 2003 and 19% in 2010). Because of developments in the Polish mining sector and coal extraction costs as well as growing competition on the electricity market, imported coal became more competitive for many businesses and as a result coal imports grew from 1.6 Mtoe in 2003 to 8.2 Mtoe in 2010.

Tabl	le	1	9
Lau	u	т	,

Year Item	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
Energy production (Mtoe)	80.1	79.0	78.9	77.9	72.8	71.7	67.9	67.8
Primary energy consumption (Mtoe) ^a	91.6	91.9	93.1	97.9	97.4	99.0	95.3	101.7
Price growth index for electricity, gas and other fuels 1995=100	192.4	197.6	205.8	213.6	220.8	242.2	263.8	275.8
Final energy consumption (Mtoe)	61.5	62.1	63.3	67.1	66.8	69.2	67.0	71.5
CO ₂ emissions (MtCO ₂)	314.7	318.3	319.8	333.6	334.4	329.1	314.4	334.4
CO2 emissions per capita (kgCO ₂ /cal)	7.9	8.2	8.3	8.4	8.8	8.6	8.2	8.8
Energy intensity (toe/M€'05)	409.3	389.6	380.8	377.0	351.4	339.7	321.8	330.5
Energy per capita (kgoe/cap)	2,399.4	2,406.8	2,439.0	2,567.3	2,556.3	2,597.5	2,498.4	2,663.3
Electric power per capita (KWh per capita)	2,649.3	2,741.4	2,762.4	2,912.9	3,004.8	3,086.2	2,954.3	3,102.9
Import intensity index (%)	13.1%	14.6%	17.6%	20.0%	25.6%	30.6%	31.7%	31.5%

Source: Own study based on: *Poland Energy Report*, www.enerdata.net, (accessed Sept. 25, 2013); http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/postal/page/postal/statistics/search_database (accessed Sept. 20, 2013); Euromonitor International (Passport); accessed Sept. 24, 2013 and Nov. 12, 2013; EC, Energy-Country Factsheets, (2012) V. 1.3, DG ENER-A1, pp. 1–7.

With regard to electricity generation in Poland, there was a small rise in domestic production in the studied period, especially in the initial period after accession and in 2010–2012 (Figure 15).

Coal and lignite are the basic raw materials for the production of electricity in Poland. The steadily growing role of renewable energy sources (RES), including energy resulting from the combustion of biomass, wind power, and hydroelectric power, is the result of Poland implementing the EU development programs, regulations and directives calling for a growing role of RES in member state energy mixes.



Gross electricity generation in Poland in 2003–2012 by fuel (in GWh)

Figure 15

The structure of electricity generation in Poland differs considerably from that in the EU27 as a whole. In 2011, electricity production in the EU27 was 27.7% based on nuclear power, while coal accounted for 25%, gas for 22.2%, and renewable energy sources for 20.4%. The role of coal in electricity generation has decreased over the past decade, a trend that has been accompanied by a slightly lower share of nuclear power in favor of a growing share of renewable energy sources (European Commission, p.164).

Electricity production in Poland is 82% based on coal. This is due to the country's considerable coal deposits and extensive coal-based infrastructure, which is the basis for the entire economy. The dominant role of coal in Poland's electricity generation mix contributes to significant pollution.

As a rule, economic growth in developed countries entails increased energy consumption per capita, which is an indicator of a country's economic development. In Poland, energy consumption per capita increased by 11% in 2003–2010, from 2,399.4 kgoe to 2,663.3 kgoe. A similar increase was noted in the consumption of electricity per capita, which rose by 17%, from 2,649.3 kWh per capita in 2003 to 3,102.9 kWh per capita in 2010. Poland's electricity consumption per capita indicator is lower than the EU average. Other member states have higher levels of electricity consumption per capita, reflecting these countries' higher level of development. The average indicator of electric power per capita in the EU dropped by 5% in 2003–2010

Source: Based on Euromonitor International (GMT), accessed Sept. 23, 2013.

but remains about one-third higher than in Poland, while electricity consumption per capita in the EU rose by about 3% in the studied period and is about 50% higher than in Poland (Table 20). This means that energy consumption in Poland has grown faster than the EU average in recent years. These changes have been accompanied by faster real GDP growth in Poland than in the EU as a whole—invariably positive, though with changing growth rates and at 3.8% on average in the 2000–2012 period (*Euromonitor International*, 2013).

The observed changes in energy indicators, supplemented by the changes in GDP growth and energy intensity indicators for Poland (down by 20%) and the EU27 (down by 11%) (Tables 19 and 20), show that positive structural changes have taken place in the Polish economy in this area.

Table 20

Year	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
Energy production (Mtoe)	934.1	932.4	899.6	880.9	860.4	855.5	819.4	837.2
Primary energy consumption (Mtoe)	1,731.6	1,753.1	1,750.8	1,753.6	1,718.4	1,708.9	1,600.1	1,650.7
Energy intensity (toe/M€'05)	170.2	167.9	164.8	159.6	153.2	151.9	150.2	151.9
Energy per capita (kgoe/cap)	3,690.2	3,716.8	3,707.9	3,695.5	3,644.5	3,610.7	3,405.2	3,506.6
Electricity (KWh per capita)	5,481.2	5,579.1	5,630.0	5,726.8	5,738.7	5,738.9	5,421.9	5,654.9
Electricity (KWh per capita) CO ₂ emissions (kgCO ₂ / per capita)	9.1	9.2	9.2	9.2	9.1	8.9	8.1	8.3

Energy in the EU27-selected indicators, 2003-2010

Source: As in Table 19.

Poland's energy mix shows relatively high emissions of pollutants into the atmosphere. CO2 emissions per capita in Poland in 2010 were 8.8 kg CO2/capita, up from 7.91 kg CO2/capita in 2003 (Table 19). Although this does not differ significantly from the EU average of 8.3 kg CO2/per capita and 9.1 kg CO2/per capita respectively (Table 20), due to the domination of coal in the structure of electricity generation in Poland, a further increase in consumption is bound to lead to increased emissions of harmful substances into the air, unless significant investment is made and expensive projects are carried out. It should also be emphasized that in the long term, i.e. since 1990, there has been a significant decline in emissions by about 1.99 kg CO2/per capita, while emissions in the EU as a whole declined by 1.4 kg CO2/per capita on average from 1990 to 2010.

No significant investment was made in new production facilities in the Polish energy sector in the analyzed period. Due to the advanced age of the installed power units and growing demand for electricity, new projects are planned by 2025, mainly in nuclear power and in coal and gas technology as well as wind power projects on land and at sea.

Of special note is the liberalization of Poland's electricity and gas markets. The transposition of further packages of EU directives and regulations into national law has changed the conditions in which Polish energy companies and consumers function. A number of new market institutions have been introduced, such as the power exchange for the wholesale trade of electricity and, increasingly, gas. Issues related to the functioning of the energy market are a vital research topic today and have been the subject of many interesting analyses and studies (Szablewski, 2012; Motowidlak, 2010).

In the aftermath of the economic crisis and its impact on resource markets, particularly important for Polish companies are new EU regulations on the wholesale trade of energy (Wojtkowska-Łodej *et.al.*, 2013).

The conditions underlying the functioning of enterprises in the Polish energy sector have changed since Poland became a member of the EU. Moreover, a new institutional framework has been created for energy policy, taking into account national conditions compatible with EU solutions. This is reflected by Poland's energy policy objectives until 2030, which include improving energy efficiency; enhancing the security of fuel and energy supply; diversifying the electricity generation structure through the inclusion of nuclear power; increasing the use of renewable energy sources, including biofuels; developing competitive fuel and energy markets; and reducing the environmental impact of the energy sector (Ministry of Economy, 2009).

Challenges ahead

Poland ranks 47th among 93 countries evaluated by the World Energy Council in terms of energy sustainability.⁴⁷ In the individual dimensions of the index, Poland ranks 50th for energy security, 38th for energy equity, and 65th for environmental sustainability (WEC, 2012). These broader international comparisons—not only against other EU countries, but also compared with non-EU nations—permit a more objective assessment of Poland's track record so far and suggest what further action is needed, at least in the three evaluated areas.

⁴⁷ The World Energy Council's energy sustainability index ranks countries in terms of their likely ability to provide sustainable energy policies through the three dimensions of the so-called energy trilemma: energy security (i.e. effective management of primary energy supply from domestic and external sources, the reliability of energy infrastructure, and the ability of participating energy companies to meet current and future demand); energy equity, understood as the accessibility and affordability of energy supply across the population; and environmental sustainability, or the achievement of supply- and demand-side efficiencies and the development of energy supply from renewable and other low-carbon sources.

Challenges facing Poland's energy sector are directly related to the country's macroeconomic performance, public finance problems and difficulties encountered by enterprises in obtaining funds for investment. This also applies to funds for modernization in the energy sector, including investment in new generation, transmission and distribution capacity. Another challenge is posed by new EU regulations on climate and energy and changes taking place on energy markets in the EU and beyond, including those related to renewable energy, unconventional sources of oil and gas, and nuclear power. Further challenges include the bloc's growing dependence on energy imports and the need to look for new supply routes at a time of accelerated technological progress and a growing number of new energy producers in Africa and Latin America. All this will have an impact on the costs of energy and the security of its supplies in the EU.

Poland has made some major restructuring efforts in its energy sector in recent years, resulting in tangible structural changes. The country is in the final phase of building an internal market for electricity and gas. The necessary regulations are being introduced via amendments to the energy law as well as through new gas regulations and new legislation on the use of renewable energy sources. This is accompanied by work to develop a new energy policy until 2035 to embrace the new, long-term challenges facing the Polish energy sector and the economy as a whole.

One of the continued fundamental objectives of EU energy policy is to ensure that the energy system contributes to an increased competitiveness of the EU economy through more competitive national and international energy markets. However, the planned and desired development of the economy and the use of energy resources entail environmental costs that threaten to disrupt the desired balance. The ozone layer is being depleted, the air and water are being polluted by hazardous emissions, forests are being degraded by acid rain, and the climate is changing under the influence of greenhouse gases (Binswanger, 2011). The European Union has taken action to protect the environment. Its climate and energy policy is considered to be a driver of demand, job creation and prosperous growth in a low-carbon economy. The desired course of action with a view to protecting the environment, however, should not be an obstacle to a further increase in energy production and should not limit economic growth and the creation of competitive market advantages. The 2009 climate and energy package is a case in point. Considering the significant differences in the energy mixes of individual EU27 countries—accompanied by the different intensity of carbon dioxide emissions and energy consumption, unequal access to renewable energy sources and different social structures—the climate and energy package could have an inhibitory effect on the economic growth, development and competitiveness of some member states, especially those in Central and Eastern Europe, among them Poland. Apart from the different conditions in individual member states, the climate and energy package fails to mention the necessary transmission and distribution infrastructure. Despite the focus on renewable energy sources, EU policy makers have also failed to evaluate the impact of RES support systems on the integration of markets. These systems vary

among countries. Nor did the market offer the necessary incentives for investment in new generation, distribution, transmission, and storage capacity in a system based on a larger role for RES. These problems are reflected in a Green Paper on a 2030 framework for climate and energy policies, which was submitted to interested parties for consultations (World Energy Council, 2013).⁴⁸

However, despite the planned substantial support for climate change and renewable energy policies—in particular as part of the Cohesion Policy, EU research programs, and the Connecting Europe Facility⁴⁹ in the future—it seems that as long as renewable energy sources are not competitive in terms of costs, a more sustainable energy system can only be built through the creation of a fully liberalized and integrated energy market capable of effectively allocating capital in modern, environmentally friendly energy technologies. For this reason, while recognizing that the internal energy market is a key tool for stimulating economic growth and employment, and striving to provide affordable and secure energy supplies for businesses and households, the European Commission has vowed to accelerate efforts to create an internal energy market (European Commission, 2012).

In recent years, as a result of electricity and gas market liberalization, there have been price fluctuations on the internal energy market, including even a short-term drop in prices. However, long-term wholesale electricity prices in the EU have increased moderately, and this trend is expected to continue. Meanwhile, developments on international markets and the extraction of hydrocarbons from unconventional deposits may bring about increased price differences in the EU compared with other major industrial economies such as the United States, which makes an increasing use of shale gas. In 2012, the prices of gas for industry in the United States were about one-fourth the prices in Europe. According to the International Energy Agency, electricity prices for industry in OECD countries in Europe increased by 38% on average in real terms from 2005 to 2012, while in the United States they decreased by 4%. In the case of households, prices increased by 21.8% in real terms in European OECD countries in 2005–2012, while in the United States they rose by 8.41% (IEA, 2012). This means that changes in the prices of energy sources, given the currently available, innovative energy technologies, are an important challenge for the European Union and its member states. In the near future energy prices will determine the competitive advantages of individual economies and sectors and will thus influence the structure and further development of the global economy.

⁴⁸ Research shows that most countries favor reducing the package's targets from the current three to one, or possibly two, including a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions and energy efficiency. The development of renewable energy sources tends to be listed as a less preferred target.

⁴⁹ Climate targets are expected to claim around 20% of the EU's spending from 2014 to 2020 (following a decision by the European Council at its Feb. 7–8, 2013 meeting focusing on the multiannual financial framework).

Conclusion

The first 10 years of Poland's EU membership is not a long enough period to discern any far-reaching changes in the structure of the Polish energy sector or in the country's energy mix. This is due to factors including the sector's complexity and high market entry costs. However, as a result of legal, institutional and policy adjustments, the structure of energy production has changed, resulting in increased energy efficiency, ever since Poland became an associate member of the EU. Poland's subsequent accession to the EU lent a further impetus to efforts to reduce emissions. It also prompted changes in the functioning of the electricity market, followed by recent significant institutional changes in favor of natural gas.

Energy sector enterprises and other market players operate in a new environment where domestic coal deposits used for electricity production are supplemented by cheaper coal imports, combined with an increased use of renewable energy sources. All this is taking place in a new institutional framework adapted to EU internal market standards. This process is consistent with the overall course of action and measures taken at the EU level.

In the near future, energy prices are bound to be a key factor behind the further development and competitiveness of the Polish economy as well as the EU as a whole. As energy consumption in the Polish economy increases—accompanied by the growing diversity of energy sources, changing resource mobility, and a move away from solid fuels in favor of oil and gas in the 1970s, followed by an increased focus on renewable energy sources today—ways of energy management and the regulatory environment in which the energy sector operates are changing. Today we are dealing with a further move away from coal in the energy mixes of member states in a process known as decarbonization. This is due to factors including the high cost of labor in the mining industry, technological change, liberalization, globalization (high CO2 emissions and, consequently, the greenhouse effect), and a search for new growth opportunities in the modern economy. The energy sector is an important component of the modern economy, and the price of energy will continue to determine competitiveness in the near future.

Poland plays an active role in EU energy policy making, as reflected by the introduction of the principle of "solidarity" between countries in energy management. As it learns the ropes of membership and finds out about the rules governing the functioning of EU institutions, Poland can be expected to take a constructive position with regard to the challenges ahead. If taken up, these challenges will offer an opportunity to bring innovation into the Polish economy.

References

Binswanger, H.Ch., (2011), Spirala wzrostu. Pieniądz, energia i klimatyczność w dynamice produktów rynkowych, Wydawnictwo ZYSK i S-KA, Poznań.

Euromonitor International, (2013), accessed September 26, 2013.

European Commission, (2011), Communication from the Commission to the Parliament, The Council, The European Economic and Social Committee of the Regions, (2011), *a Roadmap for moving to a competitive low carbon economy in 2050*, COM(2011) 112 final, Brussels.

European Commission, (2007), Communication from the Commission to the European Council and the European Parliament (2007), *An Energy Policy for Europe*, Brussels, 10.01.2007 (COM(20074) 1 final, {SEC(2007)12}.

European Commission, (2010), Europe 2020: a Strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth, Communication form the Commission, Brussels, 2010, COM(2010 2120 final.

European Commission, (2012), Communication form the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European and Social Committee and the Committee of Regions. Making the internal energy market work, SWD(2012) 367 final.

European Union, (2010), Consolidated Treaties. Charter of Fundamental Rights, Luxembourg, http://europa.eu/pol/pdf/qc3209190enc_002.pdf.

IEA, (2012), Energy Prices & Taxes, 4th Quarter 2012, International Energy Agency, http://www.cne.es/cgi-bin/BRSCGI.exe?CMD=VEROBJ&MLKOB=696373432929

Ministry of Economy, (2009), *Polityka energetyczna Polski do 2030 r.*, Warsaw, www.mg.gov.pl, accessed September 5, 2013.

Motowidlak, T., (2010), Efekty wdrożenia polityki energetycznej Unii Europejskiej w zakresie rynku energii elektrycznej, Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Łódzkiego, Łódź.

Szablewski, A.T., (2012), Liberalizacja a bezpieczeństwo dostaw energii elektrycznej, Instytut Nauk Ekonomicznych PAN, Wydawnictwo Key Text, Warsaw.

WEC, (2012), World Energy Trilemma 2012: Time to Get Real – the case for sustainable energy policy, www. worldenergy.org/data/sustainability-in/, accessed June 19, 2013.

WEC, (2013), WEC Questionnaire on EU 2030 policy, World Energy Council.

Wojtkowska-Łodej, G., (1998), Integracja Polski z Unią Europejską w ocenie przedsiębiorstw sektora energetycznego, "Wspólnoty Europejskie", No. 12, pp. 27–32.

Wojtkowska-Łodej, G., (2002), Polityka energetyczna Polski w aspekcie integracji z Unią Europejską, SGH, Monografie i Opracowania 503, Warszawa.

Wojtkowska-Łodej, G., (2007), Rozszerzenie Unii Europejskiej a sytuacja na rynku energii, in: Bąk, H., Wojtkowska-Łodej, G., (eds.), Gospodarka Polski w Unii Europejskiej w latach 2004–2006, Oficyna Wydawnicza SGH, Warsaw.

Wojtkowska-Łodej, G., (2012), Beziehungen Polens zur Europäischen Union, in: Kunze, C., Olszyński, J., (Hrsg.) (2012), Die Erfahrungen der polnischen Wirtschaft mit Transformation Und Weltwirtschaftskrise, Polens Wirtschaft. Transformation, EU-Integration, Aufholprozess, Krisenbewältigung, Transformation. Leipziger Beiträge zu Wirtschaft und Gesellschaft Bd. 29, Leipziger Universitätsverlag, Leipzig, pp. 43–56.

Wojtkowska-Łodej, G., Michalski, D., Hawranek, P., (2013), Zmiany uwarunkowań funkcjonowania przedsiębiorstw na rynku energii elektrycznej w Unii Europejskiej, Oficyna Wydawnicza SGH, Warsaw.

Chapter 6 Poland's Contribution to European Integration

This chapter focuses on the impact that Poland has on the rules governing the functioning of the EU and on EU policies. The analysis covers two sets of issues: the track record of economic achievements during Poland's turn in the rotating presidency of the EU and Poland's role in shaping the European Union's economic cooperation with its eastern neighbors.

6.1. The Track Record of the Polish Presidency of the Council of the European Union (Selected Economic and Financial Issues)

Adam A. Ambroziak

This section of the report aims to examine how Poland's turn at the rotating presidency of the Council of the European Union in the second half of 2011 impacted the ongoing debate on selected economic and financial issues within the European Union. We will look at how the Polish presidency influenced the progress of work on some key EU legislation at different stages of the decision-making process. We will focus on how Poland helped launch and shape negotiations on the EU's Multiannual Financial Framework for the 2014–2020 period and how the Polish presidency contributed to the completion of work to draw up legislation regulating supervision over public finances in member states (the so-called "six pack" of governance measures).

Poland took over the six-month rotating presidency of the Council of the European Union on July 1, 2011 and held it throughout the latter half of the year. It was Poland's the first time at the helm of the EU. The country's main task in this role—as in the case of all other countries since the Treaty of Lisbon took effect—was to ensure a smooth functioning of the Council and its cooperation with the European Commission and the European Parliament (Ambroziak, 2012). Since the legislative process in EU institutions is time-consuming and often takes far longer than just six months (Ambroziak, 2011), the country holding the rotating presidency of the Council of the European Union is usually expected to focus primarily on managing the Council's work in the right way and on maintaining appropriate relations with other EU institutions and international organizations.

One of the options for those holding the rotating presidency of the Council is to start a pre-scheduled debate on a specific topic as part of the European debate format. Skillfully defining the positions of individual member states, determining the extent to which these positions are relevant to each country, and subsequently identifying potential problems and contentious issues as well as pinpointing advocacy and opposition groups for each proposed solution are key to further action. It needs to be emphasized that the country holding the presidency should not disclose and is not expected to push through its own interests. However, if it defines the problems and identifies those for and against in the right way, it will be able to advance its own position and effectively carry out its plans once its turn at the helm of the EU ends. It seems that is exactly what happened when the talks on the EU's Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014–2020 got under way under the Polish presidency.

A country holding the presidency is also expected to make sure that EU member states and institutions carry on with work on legislation already in the decisionmaking process. First, the efficiency of the presidency will determine when a piece of legislation is adopted. Member states that are not interested in the new legislation are known to have dramatically slowed down the work of the preparatory bodies of the Council and of the Council itself. Second, the skills of the country holding the presidency, its position in the EU and professionalism will determine the final shape of a piece of legislation. One example under the Polish presidency was the adoption of a set of regulations designed to strengthen supervision over member state public finances (the so-called "six pack").

Negotiations on the EU's Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014–2020

The Multiannual Financial Framework (MFF) for 2014–2020 was one of the priority areas of the Polish presidency. Since the EU's first full financial perspective after the 2004 round of enlargement was ending in 2013, Poland, in an effort to remain a major player in this area, teamed up with Denmark and Cyprus as part of the so-called Presidency Trio program to work together on the Multiannual Financial Framework a year and a half ahead of the planned deadline for regulations implementing the MFF. It was no accident then that the takeover of the Council's presidency by Poland coincided with the presentation by the Commission of legal regulations related to the Multiannual Financial Framework (COM(2011)500, SEC(2011)867, SEC(2011)868).

The Polish government's draft "Agenda of the Polish Presidency of the Council of the European Union, 1 July 2011–31 December 2011" stated that Poland would seek to hammer out the most favorable option for the EU budget (MSZ, 2011). The document also said that the EU budget should promote investment and significantly contribute to economic growth across the bloc in a time of crisis. Consequently, drawing up the new budget de facto meant defining the shape of the EU for the decade to come. In the process, Poland assumed that the new financial framework, combined with increased cooperation within the EU, was the right answer to the economic crisis and the challenges that European societies would take on in the years ahead. Poland's aim was ensure a thorough debate on the Commission's proposals as well as to identify the positions of all member states and thus pave the way for an agreement at a later stage. This task was all the more important as it determined the positions of individual EU players and offered them an opportunity to determine their tactics in the face of the problems identified.

Negotiation format

The European Commission unveiled its proposals on the Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014–2020 (COM(2011) 398, COM(2011) 500) during a meeting of the General Affairs Council on July 18, 2011 (Doc. No. 13019/11, 2011). On the basis of these documents, on July 28–29, 2011, an Informal Meeting of Ministers for European Affairs was held in Sopot in northern Poland. This format of the talks meant that member state representatives were free to speak their mind; there were no official minutes of the meeting drawn up, and no binding declarations were made. Issues related to the Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014–2020 were primarily dealt with by a Council working group known as the Friends of the Presidency, using the results of the informal meeting in Sopot. This approach should be evaluated very highly in terms of the effectiveness of the goals adopted. Unlike in the case of the 2007–2013 Multiannual Financial Framework negotiations, Poland started work with a debate at the political level to prevent a situation in which the proposal would be rejected by net contributors, as was the case when Ireland was holding the presidency in 2005.

A particularly important achievement of the Polish presidency was that the negotiations revolved around the European Commission's MFF proposals rather than those put forward by individual groups of countries (Dowgielewicz, 2012, p. 18). The course of action in this area was largely based on a report drawn up by Poland (Doc. No. 13127/11, 2011) on the basis of responses to a questionnaire reflecting the Commission's proposal. In this context, it can be considered a success of the Polish presidency that in the end most countries informally agreed that the budget proposal for 2014–2020 presented by the European Commission should be the basis for further negotiations; only the United Kingdom, Sweden and Hungary opposed. The UK pressed for a freeze on the level of payments from the EU budget. Sweden demanded a reduction in spending on traditional sectors such as agriculture and on the development of poorer regions, in addition to a reallocation of funds in favor of innovation. Hungary's opposition resulted from the fact that the Commission had underestimated that country's GDP growth forecast, which had a negative impact on the amount of funds available for Cohesion Policy in that country.

It should be emphasized that Poland, as the country holding the presidency, could not submit its own proposals, though it was free to formulate and present them at a later date (MSZ, 2012). This is precisely was happened immediately after Denmark took over the presidency. In its official position dated Jan. 2, 2012, Poland stated that the Commission's financial framework proposal was a good basis for further negotiations. Poland also said that it welcomed a move away from the *juste retour* logic and a decision to focus on implementing policies that address the EU's future challenges (MSZ, 2012).

The legal definition of the Multiannual Financial Framework has changed significantly during the last few years. The financial perspective for 2007–2013 was negotiated and adopted on the basis of an inter-institutional agreement from 2006, while the Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014–2020 was for the first time drafted on the basis of Art. 312 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU). The treaty states that, in a new arrangement, the Council, acting in line with a special legislative procedure, unanimously approves the regulation laying down the Multiannual Financial Framework after obtaining the consent of the European Parliament. This was the new approach adopted during the Polish presidency with regard to cooperation with other EU institutions, including closer cooperation with the European Parliament. From the procedural point of view, the Parliament is now included in work to formally approve (though not prepare) the Multiannual Financial Framework. During its presidency, in October 2011, Poland organized, together with the Commission as well as the European Parliament, a high-level conference focusing on the Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014–2020. The conference did not discuss the amount and distribution of EU funds, but only selected issues that promised to produce an agreement. These included:

- a clear link between the budget and the Europe 2020 strategy;
- priorities such as the single market, investment in infrastructure and scientific research;
- ways to simplify spending from the EU budget.

The negotiation concept

In its MFF proposal, the Commission proposed a seven-year budget with an overall ceiling for commitments at \notin 1,025 billion, or 1.05% of the EU's gross national income (compared with \notin 993.6 billion and 1.12% of the EU's GNI in 2007–2013), and

payments at €972.2 billion, or 1% of the EU's GNI, marking a 5.1% nominal increase over the 2007–2013 period (when the figures were €942.8 billion and 1.06% respectively) (COM(2011) 500, p. 7). The new budget was seven times the EU's 2013 budget increased by the rate of inflation, with the caveat that spending on Cohesion Policy and the Common Agricultural Policy would not be adjusted for inflation. In addition, the Commission proposed that spending on the European Development Fund (EDF), which was set up under the Convention of Cotonou to benefit African, Caribbean and Pacific (ACP) countries, be excluded from the budget (OJ L 317, 15.12.2000, p. 3, Ambroziak, 2000a, Ambroziak, 2000b). The Commission proposed the same with regard to the International Thermonuclear Experimental Reactor (ITER) project (OJ L 90, 30.3.2007, p. 58); the Global Monitoring for Environment and Security (GMES) system (OJ L 276, 20.10.2010, p. 1); and the European Globalisation Adjustment Fund (OJ L 406, 30.12.2006, p. 1, OJ C 139, 14.06.2006, p. 1). Including these instruments and funds in the budget would mean that it would have to increase by about 0.11 percentage points in relation to the EU's GNI (with commitments at $\notin 1,083$ billion, or 1.11% of the EU's GNI) (COM (2011) 500).

While assessing the track record of the Polish presidency, it is worth noting two important initiatives by countries opposing a bigger EU budget. First, in December 2010, on the basis of a proposal from the United Kingdom (The Guardian, 2010, Reuters, 2010a), five countries that are net contributors to the EU budget (Germany, France, Finland, the Netherlands, and the UK) signed a letter (Letter, 2010) demanding that the size of the budget be maintained and only adjusted for inflation (Euroinside, 2011, Reuters, 2010b). In response, ministers for European affairs from 13 net beneficiary countries (Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Greece, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Portugal, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, and Spain) signed their own letter in May 2011 (EurActive, 2011a, PAP, 2011b) in which they argued that the EU budget should continue to be a major tool for overcoming the economic crisis, increasing the EU's international competitiveness and strengthening its internal cohesion (Mendez C. et al., (2011), p. 16). Poland joined those voicing this view once its presidency ended. It strongly supported a call for excluding the Emergency Aid Reserve and the Solidarity Fund from the EU budget, and it also backed a proposal to exclude ITER and GMES from the limits of the financial perspective (MSZ, 2012, p. 16). In September 2011, still during the Polish presidency, at a meeting of the General Affairs Council, eight countries—Austria, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Sweden, and the United Kingdom—signed a declaration opposing the plan to increase the 2014–2020 budget (Gov.uk, 2011, EUBusiness, 2011, PAP, 2011c). The declaration said the financial framework should cover all available instruments to ensure transparency and monitor spending. Otherwise, these countries argued, a reduction in the size of the budget would be illusory in real terms, especially if several funds are excluded from it. Spain, the Czech Republic, and Denmark announced plans to join this group of countries (Wec, 2012, p. 9). Eventually, Spain decided against doing so, while the Czech Republic delivered on its promise, followed by Denmark once it completed its presidency.

It was unlikely that the detailed budget amounts would be agreed on at the beginning of the MFF negotiations. However, the debates held during the Polish presidency revealed the positions and arguments of both sides. Poland's clear-cut success was that, unlike during most previous negotiations, it managed to focus the talks on policy priorities and EU activities in the 2014–2020 period, instead of the actual size of expenditure.

Selected solutions

Poland's six months at the helm of the EU was too brief a period to get all the talks going, agree on all positions, work out all compromise solutions, and secure political acceptance for these. However, it is worth noting several selected issues that took their preliminary shape during the Polish presidency and were subsequently fine-tuned in February, November and December 2013 by the European Council, the European Parliament and the Council respectively, on the basis of the original, preliminary agreements.

In terms of the Multiannual Financial Framework, the Commission proposed a seven-year period to better articulate the objectives set in the Europe 2020 strategy. All EU member states approved this idea at a General Affairs Council meeting under the Polish presidency in September 2011 (Doc. No. 13587/11, 2011). This was in line with Poland's interests. Once its presidency ended, Poland clearly opted for a seven-year MFF. At the same time, it motioned for putting off the proposed review of the budget beyond 2016 (MSZ, 2012a, p. 14).

Another issue discussed during the Polish presidency was the structure of the MFF. The Commission proposed that the existing subheadings 1a—"Competitiveness for growth and employment"—and 1b—"Cohesion for growth and employment"—be combined into a single heading 1—"Smart and inclusive growth." During the discussion, several member states that are the largest beneficiaries of the Cohesion Policy supported maintaining separate spending on economic, social and territorial cohesion, because the Commission's proposal was seen as a threat to reducing funds available under this policy (Doc. No. 17448/1/11, 2011). Moreover, after Denmark took over the presidency, Poland opposed the plan to merge the existing subheadings 1a and 1b into a single heading, arguing that the unique nature of Cohesion Policy, based on a full reallocation of funds between the cohesion countries, justifies the continued need for a separate subheading (MSZ, 2012a, p. 14). This approach was reflected in the final decisions on the MFF.

With the Polish presidency still in progress, a debate began on the so-called macrofiscal conditionality, or support for efforts to maintain fiscal discipline and promote more efficient and result-oriented spending of EU funds at both the EU level and in individual member states. These proposals were challenged during meetings organized under the Polish presidency because they failed to take into account the principles of subsidiarity, fair treatment of all countries, and the effectiveness of Cohesion Policy. Many member states said that meeting the macro-fiscal conditions could lead to an economically unwarranted pro-cyclical effect as well as the imposition of double sanctions (in addition to those resulting from the "six pack"), and penalties on ben-eficiaries (17448/1/11 REV 1, p. 5). From Poland's perspective, *ax-ante* conditionality guarantees successful support for Cohesion Policy at the beginning of a programming period. As a result, Poland accepted the Commission's proposal that failure to fulfill requirements related to various preliminary conditions should lead to the suspension of some or all indirect payments under a given operational program (MSZ, 2012a, p. 8). Finally, in line with what Poland suggested—originally as the country holding the presidency and then as an ordinary member of the EU—it was agreed that failure to respect the stability of public finances could lead to the suspension of commitments, and subsequently payments, as part of the MFF.

Public finance supervision

Although it took an active part in work on legislation on public finance supervision, Poland was surprised when it turned out that negotiations on regulations related to the 1997 Stability and Growth Pact (SGP) (OJ C, 2.08.1997, p. 1) had to continue even though these regulations had not been cleared between EU institutions and member states. The SGP was ushered in by means of two Regulations: No. 1466/1997 of July 7, 1997 on the strengthening of the supervision of budgetary positions and on the supervision and coordination of economic policies (OJ L 209, 2.08.1997, p. 1)—setting the rules for the content, method of transmission, examination and monitoring of stability and convergence programs; and No. 1467/1997 on speeding up and clarifying the excessive deficit procedure (OJ L 209, 2.08.1997, p. 6)— defining procedures launched by the Commission in connection with an excessive deficit and sanctions imposed by the Council in the form of a non-interest-bearing deposit or penalty.

The first serious test for the SGP was in 2001–2003, when as a result of the crisis and the loosening of fiscal policy, an excessive deficit procedure was launched against Germany (OJ L 34, 11.2.2003, p. 16, OJ L 183, 13.7.2007, p. 23) and France (OJ L 165, 3.07.2003, p. 29, OJ L 68, 8.03.2007, p. 3). In both cases, the Commission found the activities of these countries to be either inappropriate or ineffective, and recommended that the Council go public with its recommendations and call on both countries to take action to reduce the deficit within a specified period. However, the Council (Doc. No. 14492/1/03 REV 1, 2003), instead of adopting the appropriate decisions

required under law,1 adopted proposals2 for each of these countries, on the basis of which the excessive deficit procedure was suspended.³ In subsequent years, instead of taking advantage of the Commission's suggestions for strengthening the impact of the SGP (COM(2002) 668, COM(2004) 581), the regulations were changed (OI L 174, 7.07.2005, p. 1, OJ L 174, 7.07.2005, p. 5), in line with the recommendations of the European Council of March 2005 (Doc. No. 7619/1/05 REV 1, 2005). All the requirements were relaxed. When checking for the existence of an excessive deficit, the Commission and the Council were obligated to not only look at the annual fall in a country's real GDP (by at least 2%), but also take into account various other frequently immeasurable factors, such as a severe deterioration in economic trends and the extent to which Lisbon Strategy policies have been implemented—in addition to any other developments that, according to the member state involved, are relevant to the correct assessment of the extent to which the reference value has been overstepped. The de facto introduction of these solutions meant dismantling the SGP and accepting unsustainable public finances. Three years later, it turned out that the EU did not have the legal and institutional arrangements needed to prevent a debt crisis.

The "six pack"

In the aftermath of the economic crisis, the Commission presented two Communications, in May (COM(2010) 250) and in June 2010 (COM(2010) 367), to highlight the need to strengthen economic policy coordination. When it turned out that the euro area was in dire straits economically, in June 2010 (EUCO 13/10), the European Council, acting on the basis of the Commission's recommendations, decided that the existing regulations on budgetary discipline should be fully implemented. It also decided to strengthen the preventive and corrective arms of the SGP and recommended that budgetary supervision take into account the debt levels and the overall level of public finance sustainability. In response, the Commission, on Sept. 29, 2010, submitted a set of policies: five regulations and one directive (the so-called "six pack") representing the new architecture of budgetary surveillance in the euro area (see Table 1).

¹ Belgium, Denmark, Greece, Spain, the Netherlands, Austria, Finland, and Sweden voted for making those decisions public (37 of 87 votes, with the required majority at 58), while Belgium, Greece, Spain, the Netherlands, Austria, and Finland voted in favor of adopting decisions concerning certain measures within the prescribed period (30 of 87 votes, with the required majority at 58).

² Motions adopted with the votes of Belgium, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Portugal, and alternately Germany and France—40 of 77 votes with the required majority at 49.

³ This decision was declared void by the Court of Justice, Judgment of the Court (Full Court) of July 13, 2004, Case C-27/04.
Table 1

The package of legislation designed to strengthen public finance supervision in EU member states (known as the "six pack")

- Regulation (EU) No. 1175/2011of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 November 2011 amending Council Regulation (EC) No. 1466/97 on the strengthening of the surveillance of budgetary positions and the surveillance and coordination of economic policies (OJ L 306, 23.11.2011, p. 12);
- Council Regulation (EU) No. 1177/2011 of 8 November 2011 amending Regulation (EC) No. 1467/97 on speeding up and clarifying the excessive deficit procedure (OJ L 306, 23.11.2011, p. 33);
- Regulation (EU) No. 1173 /2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 November 2011 on the effective enforcement of budgetary surveillance in the euro area (OJ L 306, 23.11.2011, p. 1);
- Regulation (EU) No. 1176/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 November 2011 on the prevention of macroeconomic imbalances and their correction (OJ L 306, 23.11.2011, p. 25);
- Regulation (EU) No. 1174/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 November 2011 on enforcement measures to correct excessive macroeconomic imbalances in the euro area (OJ L 306, 23.11.2011, p. 8);
- Council Directive 2011/85/EU of 8 November 2011 on requirements for budgetary frameworks of the Member States (OJ L 306, 23.11.2011, p. 41).

Work on the package was carried out under enormous political pressure. This included consultations with a special task force on economic governance headed by the President of the European Council, Herman Van Rompuy. In February 2011, the European Council (EUCO 2/11 REV 1) called on the EU Council to reach a general approach on the "six pack" within a month so that a final agreement could be reached with the European Parliament by the end of June. The Council, in accordance with the approved schedule, in February 2013 (Doc. No. 6514/11, 2011) discussed issues related to the "six pack" so that such a general position could be definitively adopted by March 2011 (Doc. No. 7960/11, (2011), eu2011.hu, 2011a).

In the European Parliament, the "six-pack" proposal was reviewed by the Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs with the support of the Committee on Budgets and the Committee on Employment and Social Affairs. After three consecutive debates, in April 2011, the Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs adopted a set of Parliament positions (A7-0178/2011, A7-0179/2011, A7-0180/2011, A7-0182/2011, A7-0183/2011, A7-0184/2011). As these were contrary to the documents approved by the Council of the European Union in March 2011, at a meeting of the Economic and Financial Affairs Council in May 2011 (Doc. No. 10191/11, 2011), Hungary, which was holding the rotating presidency of the Council of the European Union at the time, called on all the parties involved to maintain a constructive approach and show enough flexibility to reach an agreement in June 2011. It then turned out that the main problems in the talks with the European Parliament were reinforced financial sanctions, an expanded use of reverse qualified majority voting, the procedure for adopting a scoreboard of indicators on macroeconomic imbalances, inter-institutional dialogue, medium-term solutions for crisis management, and codification of the European Semester (Eu2011.hu, 2011b). However, the document previously approved as part of the so-called trilogue meetings (informal tripartite meetings attended by representatives from the European Parliament, the Council and the Commission) was revised at a meeting of the European Parliament's Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs. In response to the amendments made by the parliamentary committee, the Hungarian presidency resubmitted the "six-pack" proposal to the Council on June 20, 2011 (Doc. No. 10595/11, 2011). The draft took into account selected demands from the Parliament and member states, resulting in a unanimous agreement on the updated general approach. The Council made concessions on several counts: the European Parliament was included in the European Semester formula; economic dialogue between EU institutions was institutionalized; the Parliament was included in the process of approving the scoreboard of macroeconomic imbalance indicators; the independence of statistical authorities was strengthened; penalties were introduced for member states falsifying data; the use of reverse qualified voting majority was extended; tougher sanctions were imposed on countries failing to comply with the excessive deficit procedure, and the Commission was authorized to regularly review legislation in this area. It seems that the main problem still to be solved was to extend the reversed qualified majority voting system to include matters covered by the preventive arm of the SGP (Eu2011.hu, 2011c).

However, in the end, at a plenary session of the European Parliament on June 23, 2011, the draft modified by the parliamentary committee was submitted, instead of the version revised by the Council (Eu2011.hu, 2011d). This meant that, in order for the legislation to be passed in the first reading procedure, the Council would have to approve all of the Parliament's amendments, while withdrawing its own objections. Consequently, after a statement made by the Hungarian presidency, the chairwoman of the committee⁴ motioned for the postponement of the vote under Rule 57 clause 2 of the European Parliament Rules of Procedure. The article states that, if the Commission announces that it does not intend to adopt all of the Parliament's amendments, a committee rapporteur may address the President of the Parliament to suspend the debate. And this is exactly what happened, because if the Parliament had adopted its position, and if the Commission had taken a negative stance on at least one amendment, then the Council would have had to vote unanimously. Faced with uncertainty over the positions of some countries, the Parliament decided to make changes as suggested by the committee involved, yet it refrained from voting on the legislative resolution in order to be able to carry out further consultations—this time under the Polish presidency.

The outcome of efforts related to the "six pack" under the Polish presidency

As already mentioned, the problem of the "six pack" became a previously unplanned priority for the Polish presidency. In the Agenda of the Polish Presidency of the Council

⁴ CRE 23/06/2011 - 12.13.

of the European Union (MSZ, 2011), the Polish government had declared that during its turn at the helm of the EU, Poland would work to make sure that the Economic and Financial Affairs Council mandates consistent application of the Stability and Growth Pact, assuming the "six pack" is approved earlier under the Hungarian presidency. In early July 2011, it turned out that several issues remained to be resolved and agreed upon. These included:

- more effective and predictable quasi-automatic sanctions in the preventive part of the SGP with regard to countries whose deficits and debt are approaching certain ceilings;
- acceptance, in principle, by the Council of Commission recommendations under the preventive and corrective procedure of the pact (the issue of reverse qualified majority voting);
- making sure that member state assessment under the macroeconomic imbalance procedure covers these countries' current-account balances.

Taking advantage of the presidency transfer period, parliamentarians began to make additional demands with regard to the Council. They wanted to be able to summon to the European Parliament finance ministers from countries covered by the excessive deficit procedure. In the face of these problematic issues, Poland launched talks with the European Parliament as well as talks as part of the Council under its presidency. It is worth noting that, at the beginning of July 2011, many expected that the "six pack" would be the toughest challenge for both the Council and the Parliament. Experts quoted radical parliamentarians as saving that it was better not to have these regulations at all, than to have them without the "automaticity of sanctions" (EurActiv, 2011b). This reflected the strong position of those who supported restrictive regulations. Despite the many implications of the eurozone debt crisis, they were in favor of adopting such regulations-without rushing, even if this meant that the regulations would be adopted at a later date. No political deadlines were mentioned at the time. From a legal point of view, in the first reading procedure, there are no restrictions on when the European Parliament and the Council should adopt their positions. As a consequence, it was not at all certain when the "six-pack" regulations would be approved—if at all.

To break the deadlock, the Polish government decided to launch a discussion at an informal meeting of the Economic and Financial Affairs Council in the southwestern Polish city of Wrocław on Sept. 16, 2011. Such a form of the meeting meant there was no need to ensure transparency for the debate on draft legislation, while providing an opportunity for an open exchange of views and the possibility of seeking a solution satisfactory to all member states. It should also be noted that the atmosphere of the meeting was influenced by the presence of U.S. Treasury Secretary Timothy Geithner, an advocate of an expansionary fiscal policy who was invited by Poland as the country holding the presidency of the Council of the European Union. Geithner's views met with ostracism from EU finance ministers, making those gathered aware of the urgency of adopting a set of regulations to strengthen public finance supervision across the EU.

As regards the automatism of the Commission's decisions on sanctions, it is worth noting that, in the original versions of the draft legislation, the Commission proposed a new "reverse voting" procedure whereby decisions on sanctions would be binding on a member state unless the Council rejected these by a gualified majority of votes. In this case, the main goal was to reduce discretion in the process of enforcing sanctions and to limit the number of decisions made for purely political—rather than economic reasons. The lack of quasi-automaticity in imposing sanctions could lead to a situation in which sanctions would still be arbitrary in nature: large and influential member states would be able to push through their position despite the economic opinion of the Commission. The European Parliament even proposed that this procedure be expanded to cover decisions on non-interest-bearing deposits (in addition to decisions on interest-bearing deposits and fines) as part of the enforcement of budgetary surveillance in the euro area. The Parliament also proposed that the procedure be used with regard to member states failing to comply with Commission recommendations related to corrective action following a disruption of their macroeconomic balance. In turn, the Council sought to bring about a situation in which, before such decisions were to become valid, the Council would be able to adopt them by a qualified majority of votes, which meant that a blocking minority would be enough to reject these decisions. This, however, created the risk that, as in the case of France and Germany, politicians and finance ministers would refrain from making decisions inconvenient to them. In the course of work on the "six pack," France led a group of countries arguing that politicians (which essentially means governments) should have more say than experts (meaning the European Commission) when assessing an economic outlook. Finally, thanks to the involvement of the Polish government, the Council fully approved the reverse qualified majority model.

In the corrective part of the SGP, compromise amendments were introduced as an initiative by the Polish government. On the one hand, the European Parliament called for the introduction to Regulation (EC) No. 1466 /97—on the strengthening of the surveillance of budgetary positions and the surveillance and coordination of economic policies (OJ L 306, 23.11.2011, p. 12)—of quasi-automaticity of sanctions imposed by the Commission on member states failing to take effective action to improve their structural balance (the Council needs the so-called reversed qualified majority to reject a Commission proposal).⁵ This solution was designed to ensure that countries follow prudent budgetary policies when the economy is booming in order

⁵ Art. 6 clause 2—European Parliament amendments adopted on June 23, 2011 to the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Regulation (EC) No. 1466/97 on the strengthening of the surveillance of budgetary positions and the surveillance and coordination of economic policies (COM(2010)0526 – C7-0300/2010 – 2010/0280(COD)) (1), OJ C 390, 18.12.2012, p. E/121.

to have a sufficient budget surplus for a time of downturn. On the other hand, some member states (chiefly France) pressed for moving away from any sanctions at this stage, leaving EU institutions only with the power to send out recommendations. These countries argued that the concept of preventive sanctions was a case of excessive and revolutionary interference in the sovereignty of eurozone countries. Finally, thanks to Poland's efforts under the Polish presidency, a compromise solution was worked out, based on the introduction of sanctions (as proposed by the Parliament), yet these sanctions could be relatively easily rejected by the Council by a simple majority of votes (in line with the French proposal).

Another contentious issue was whether to include European institutions in the debate on member state public finances in the form of the so-called economic dialogue. The European Parliament demanded greater transparency in the decision-making process by enabling parliamentary committees to invite the President of the Council, President of the Commission, and, if necessary, also the President of the European Council or the President of the Eurogroup, to join the debate on the Council's decision. However, the Council argued that these officials should be allowed to make such appearances on a voluntary basis, because taking part in such a hearing before the Parliament would mean an additional burden on the finance ministers and, more importantly, require full disclosure of future decisions on a given country's public finances. Finally, in the course of work during the Polish presidency, the list of officials that a parliamentary committee may call on in connection with a Council decision or recommendation for a member state was supplemented to include the President of the European Council (in addition to the President of the Commission, President of the Council, and the President of the Eurogroup). Moreover, a (not very restrictive) requirement was added to the Regulation that the Council is in principle expected to comply with Commission recommendations and conclusions or otherwise explain its position to the public. This was designed to ensure greater freedom for finance ministers.

A separate issue was the scope of annual reporting under the macroeconomic imbalance warning mechanism. The Commission's original proposal focused on the issue of a rising public finance deficit, but—under pressure from the center-left in the European Parliament—the scope of these annual reports was expanded to include analysis of the situation in member states in terms of the current-account balance. The Commission sought the power to investigate the causes of the detected imbalances in the context of persistent deep mutual commercial and financial ties between member states and the external effects of economic policies pursued by individual countries. The plan was opposed by Germany and the Netherlands, which, in connection with their surpluses, could be officially seen within the EU as the countries responsible for the macroeconomic imbalances of other countries—especially as France argued from the very beginning of the crisis that stimulating internal demand in Germany through an increase in wages would contribute to recovery across the euro area (Gazeta.pl, 2011). Finally, as a result of Poland's efforts during the Polish presidency, both these countries withdrew their objections in the matter.

Completion of work on the "six pack" under the Polish presidency

The Economic and Financial Affairs Council approved solutions to all these problems on Sept. 19, 2011 (Europa.eu, 2011a). The next day, Sept. 20, 2011, the Polish presidency preliminarily cleared the wording of all pieces of legislation with the European Parliament during trilateral meetings. This enabled the Parliament to approve the wording of the five pieces of legislation in question along with legislative resolutions on Sept. 28, 2011. This meant that the Council, led by Poland, let the European Parliament have its way and eventually approved the versions of the legislation as adopted by the Parliament in June 2011, without any changes.

Moreover, compared with the situation on June 23, 2011, the Parliament adopted one revised position (after clearing its content with the Council) on an amendment to the Council Regulation on speeding up and clarifying the excessive deficit procedure (P7 TC1-CNS(2010)0276). The main change concerned the aforementioned expansion of the list of officials that parliamentary committees may summon in connection with a Council decision on an excessive deficit procedure with regard to a member state-to include the President of the European Council. Moreover, a stipulation was removed from the preamble to the effect that "the Commission should play a stronger role in the enhanced surveillance procedure as regards assessments that are specific to each Member State, monitoring, on-site missions, recommendations and warnings." These changes show that member states seek to weaken the Commission's position in the process. Finally, on Oct. 4, 2011, the Economic and Financial Affairs Council (Doc. No. 14890/11, 2011) at its formal meeting held after the debate (Europa.eu, 2011b), worked out a political agreement on the "six pack" (Doc. No. 14998/11, 2011), which it formally approved on Nov. 8, 2011 (Doc. No. 16443/11, 2011, Doc. No. 16446/11, 2011). The agreements between the European Parliament and the Council were formally confirmed on Nov. 16, 2011.

Conclusion

Based on the above discussion, it is possible to assess selected aspects of the Polish presidency of the Council of the European Union in the second half of 2011. Poland's turn at the helm of the EU marked the start of talks on Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014–2020. These talks eventually ended in success for Poland and the EU as a whole, in part because they began on a positive note under the Polish presidency.

In mid-November 2011, the General Affairs Council decided (Doc. No. 16836/11, 2011) that, following up on the discussions held during the Polish presidency, the main stage of the negotiations would get under way under the Danish presidency in January 2012. One of the clear successes of the Polish presidency was that it helped

identify the problems as well as the positions of individual member states—thus setting the stage for further work under the Danish presidency. It should also be noted that work done in the second half of 2011 was positively evaluated by the European Council (an institution separate from the Council of the European Union, which was presided over by Poland), who appealed to the country next in line for the rotating presidency of the Council of the European Union to speed up work and ensure that the Multiannual Financial Framework is approved by the end of 2012. It seems that Poland's main objective—to prepare all the partners for a scenario most suitable for Poland—was finally achieved (Dowgielewicz, 2012, p. 18).

From an operational standpoint, and from the perspective of negotiating the final version of the MFF, Poland sought an optimal solution based on getting the negotiations under way. First, during the preliminary analysis of the new legislation ushering in the Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014–2020, Poland made sure that the debate focused on the overall scope of support, while leaving out financial details and detailed amounts allocated for individual measures. As a result, it was possible to effectively and efficiently carry on with the negotiations during the next presidencies, without the imprint of the country managing the decision-making process.

Another success of the Polish presidency was that it managed to bring about the conclusion of negotiations on the so-called six pack, a set of legislative measures designed to reform the Stability and Growth Pact and introduce greater macroeconomic supervision. Although this issue was not listed among the priorities for action in the latter half of 2011, it was treated as one of the most important tasks of the Polish presidency. Poland could not prepare for this problem in any special way beforehand because it learned that the European Parliament had refused to accept a compromise Hungarian proposal the week preceding July 1, 2011. Political circumstances also played a role. First, the "six pack" refers for the most part to eurozone members, while Poland is not part of the euro area. Consequently, even though it presided over the Economic and Financial Affairs Council, Poland did not participate in the meetings of the Euro+ group. Second, the issue in question had been widely debated by experts and journalists, which further limited the room for maneuver during informal talks at a meeting of the Economic and Financial Affairs Council. As a result, in what proved to be an excellent solution, the main debate was held at an informal meeting of the Council in the southwestern Polish city of Wrocław, where a compromise was finally reached.

The agreement sent out a strong signal for investors and financial markets. It clearly showed that the EU and its institutions were capable of working together, and that Europe was able and determined to respond to emerging challenges. It also seems that Financial Programming and Budget Commissioner Janusz Lewandowski was right to say that the adoption of the package would be a "fuse" preventing the EU from being divided and becoming a Europe of "two speeds"—the euro area and the remaining member states. This is especially important as a meeting of German and French leaders in Paris in August 2011 ended with a proposal to establish a common economic government for the eurozone, headed by the President of the European Council, Herman Van Rompuy. Poland, which is not a member of the eurozone, has consistently opposed ideas to divide the EU into the eurozone and the remainder.

To sum up, Poland fulfilled its role as an efficient presidency of the EU Council. The Polish government launched and efficiently handled the discussion on the EU's Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014–2020; it managed to focus the debates in such a way that it eventually achieved most of its original goals and objectives in the last round of the talks. In another success, Poland resolved the conflict between European institutions and differences of opinion within the Council itself over the "six pack" issue. It can therefore be said that Poland has established itself as a fully valuable European partner, which should help strengthen its position in the European Union. Of course, it is possible to question how the Polish presidency directly contributed to the country's own economic and social development or how some specific problems were handled. However, it needs to be remembered that a country holding the rotating presidency of the EU Council is responsible for the overall course of affairs in the EU, while essentially being unable to pursue its own particular interests.

References

A7-0178/2011, Sprawozdanie w sprawie wniosku dotyczącego rozporządzenia Parlamentu Europejskiego i Rady zmieniającego rozporządzenie (WE) nr 1466/97 w sprawie wzmocnienia nadzoru pozycji budżetowych oraz nadzoru i koordynacji polityk gospodarczych, (COM(2010)0526 – C7-0300/2010 – 2010/0280(COD)).

A7-0179/2011, Sprawozdanie w sprawie wniosku dotyczącego rozporządzenia Rady zmieniającego rozporządzenie Rady (WE) nr 1467/97 w sprawie przyspieszenia i wyjaśnienia procedury nadmiernego deficytu, (COM(2010)0522 – C7-0396/2010 – 2010/0276(CNS)).

A7-0180/2011, Sprawozdanie w sprawie wniosku dotyczącego rozporządzenia Parlamentu Europejskiego i Rady w sprawie skutecznego egzekwowania nadzoru budżetowego w strefie euro, (COM(2010)0524 – C7-0298/2010 – 2010/0278(COD)).

A7-0182/2011, Sprawozdanie w sprawie wniosku dotyczącego rozporządzenia Parlamentu Europejskiego i Rady w sprawie środków egzekwowania korekty nadmiernych zaburzeń równowagi makroekonomicznej w strefie euro, (COM (2010) 0525 – C7-0299/2010 – 2010/0279(COD)).

A7-0183/2011, Sprawozdanie w sprawie wniosku dotyczącego rozporządzenia Parlamentu Europejskiego i Rady w sprawie zapobiegania zaburzeniom równowagi makroekonomicznej i ich korygowania, (COM(2010)0527 – C7-0301/2010 – 2010/0281(COD)).

A7-0184/2011, Sprawozdanie w sprawie wniosku dotyczącego dyrektywy Rady w sprawie wymogów dotyczących ram budżetowych w państwach członkowskich, (COM(2010)0523 – C7-0397/2010 – 2010/0277 (NLE)).

Ambroziak, A.A., (2000a), Stosunki Wspólnoty Europejskiej z państwami Afryki, Karaibów i Pacyfiku (I), Biuletyn Informacyjny – Wspólnoty Europejskiej, IKC HZ, Nr 9/2000.

Ambroziak, A.A., (2000b), Stosunki Wspólnoty Europejskiej z państwami Afryki, Karaibów i Pacyfiku (II), Biuletyn Informacyjny – Wspólnoty Europejskiej, IKC HZ, 10/2000.

Ambroziak, A.A., (2012), Presidency of the Council of the European Union – Institutional Governance or Political Process, Yearbook of Polish European Studies, Centre for Europe, University of Warsaw, No 15/2012.

Ambroziak, A.A., (eds.) (2011), Proces decyzyjny w Unii Europejskiej, Ministerstwo Spraw Zagranicznych, Warszawa.

COM (2002) 668, Commission of the European Communities, Communication form the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament. Strengthening the co-ordination of budgetary policies, Brussels, 27.11.2002.

Doc. No. 10191/11, (2011), 3088 posiedzenie Rady. Sprawy gospodarcze i finansowe, Bruksela, 17.05.2011, Komunikat prasowy.

Doc. No. 10595/11, (2011), 3100 posiedzenie Rady. Sprawy gospodarcze i finansowe, Bruksela, 20.06.2011, Komunikat prasowy.

Doc. No. 13019/11, (2011), 3107. Posiedzenie Rady. Sprawy Ogólne, Bruksela, 18.07.2011, Komunikat prasowy.

Doc. No. 13127/11, (2011), Wieloletnie ramy finansowe. Dokument dotyczący informacji technicznych dostarczonych w ramach grupy przyjaciół procedencji, Bruksela, 6.09.2011.

Doc. No. 13587/11, (2011), 3109. Posiedzenie Rady. Sprawy Ogólne, Bruksela 12.09.2011, Komunikat prasowy.

Doc. No. 14492/1/03 REV 1, (2003), 2546th Council meeting, Economic and Financial Affairs, Presse 320, Brussels, 25.11.2003.

Doc. No. 14890/11, (2011), 3115. Posiedzenie Rady. Sprawy gospodarcze i finansowe, Luksemburg, 4.10.2011, Komunikat prasowy.

Doc. No. 14998/11, (2011), Council of the European Union, Council confirms agreement on economic governance, Luxembourg, 4.10.2011.

Doc. No. 16443/11, (2011), 3122. Posiedzenie Rady. Sprawy gospodarcze i finansowe, Bruksela, 8.11.2011, Komunikat prasowy.

Doc. No. 16446/11, (2011), Council of the European Union, Economic Governance: Council adopt legal texts, Brussels, 8.11.2011.

Doc. No 16836/11, (2011), 3125. Posiedzenie Rady do Spraw Ogólnych, Bruksela, 15.11.2011, Komunikat prasowy.

Doc. No 17448/1//11, (2011), Wieloletnie ramy finansowe (2014–2020) – Sprawozdanie z postępu prac w Radzie w drugiej połowie 2011 r., Bruksela, 1.12.2011.

Doc. No 6514/11, (2011), 3067 posiedzenie Rady, Sprawy gospodarcze i finansowe, Bruksela, 15.02.2011, Komunikat prasowy.

Doc. No. 7619/1/05 REV 1, (2005), Rada Europejska, Konkluzje Prezydencji, 22–23 marca 2005 r.

Doc. No. 7960/11, (2011), 3076 posiedzenie Rady, Sprawy gospodarcze i finansowe, Bruksela, 15.03.2011, Komunikat prasowy.

Dowgielewicz, M., (2012), Działania polskiego przewodnictwa w obliczu kryzysu w strefie euro, Prezydencja w Radzie Unii Europejskiej. Bilans polskich doświadczeń, Materiały z Konferencji KSAP, 11.01.2012, Krajowa Szkoła Administracji Publicznej, Warszawa.

Eu2011.hu, (2011a), http://www.eu2011.hu/hir/council-agreement-economic-governance-package, (accessed: 2.08.2013).

Eu2011.hu (2011b), http://www.eu2011.hu/news/package-six-legislative-proposals-council-supports-presidency, (accessed: 2.08.2013).

Eu2011.hu, (2011c), http://www.eu2011.hu/news/package-six-proposals-council-offers-compromise-parliament, (accessed: 2.08.2011).

Eu2011.hu, (2011d), http://www.eu2011.hu/news/six-pack-presidency-hopes-first-reading-agreement, (accessed: 2.08.2013).

EUBusiness, (2011), Britain finds more friends against EU spending, 12.09.2011, http://www.eubusiness. com/news-eu/budget-politics.c4h (:accessed: 30.07.2013),

EUCO 2/11 REV 1, Konkluzje Rady Europejskiej, 4.02.2011, Bruksela, 8.03.2011.

EUCO 13/10, Konkluzje Rady Europejskiej, Bruksela, 17.06.2010.

EUCO 139/1/11, Konkluzje Rady Europejskiej, 9.12.2011, Bruksela, 25.01.2012.

EurActive, (2011a), List unijnych "biedaków" w obronie polityki spójności, 17.05.2011, http://www.euractiv.pl/gospodarka/artykul/list-unijnych-biedakow-w-obronie-polityki-spojnoci-002638 (accessed: 30.07.2013).

EurActive, (2011b), Rozmowa z Jackiem Saryusz-Wolskim europosłem PO/EPL, 14.07.2011, http://www. euractiv.pl/prezydencja/wywiad/jacek-saryusz-wolski-tzw-szeciopak-trudnym-zadaniem-prezydencji-002812 (accessed: 3.08.2013).

Euroinside, (2011), Less EU and more euro area after a German model with British ornament and a French facon, 3.01.2011, http://www.euinside.eu/en/analyses/less-eu-and-more-eurozone-after-the-german-model-with-british-ornament (accessed: 30.07.2013),

Europa.eu, (2010), Strengthening Economic Governance In the EU. Report of the Task Force to the European Council, Brussels, 21.12.2010, http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms_Data/docs/pressdata/en/ec/117236.pdf (:accessed 2.08.2013).

Europa.eu, (2011a), Presidency Statement, Communication on the agreement on economic governance package for the EU,

http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms_data/docs/pressdata/en/ecofin/124640.pdf (:accessed: 3.08.2011).

Europa.eu, (2011b), Background. Economic and Financial Affairs Council, 4.10.2011 in

Luxembourg, Brussels, 20.09.2011, http://www.consilium.europa.eu/ueDocs/cms_Data/docs/pressData/en/ecofin/124828.pdf (accessed: 3.08.2013).

Gazeta.pl, (2011), Minister Rostowski z sześciopakiem na Ecofin, 16.09.2011, http://pieniadze.gazeta. pl/Gospodarka/1,122003,10297206,Minister_Rostowski_z_szesciopakiem_na_Ecofin.html accessed (: 3.08.2013).

Gov.uk, (2010), Letter to President of European Commission, 18.12.2010, https://www.gov.uk/government/news/letter-to-president-of-european-commission (accessed: 30.07.2010).

Gov.uk, (2011), EU Budget: "We need to sped better not to spend more", 12.09.2011, https://www.gov.uk/government/news/eu-budget-we-need-to-spend-better-not-to-spend-more (accessed: 30.07.2013),

KOM (2004) 581, Komunikat Komisji do Rady i Parlamentu Europejskiego – Wzmocnienie zarządzania gospodarczego i wyjaśnienie wykonania Paktu na rzecz Stabilności i Wzrostu, Bruksela, 3.09.2004.

KOM (2010) 250, Komunikat Komisji do Parlamentu Europejskiego, Rady Europejskiej, Rady, Europejskiego Banku Centralnego, Europejskiego Komitetu Ekonomiczno-Społecznego i Komitetu Regionów – Zacieśnienie koordynacji polityki gospodarczej, Bruksela, 12.05.2010.

KOM(2010) 367, Komunikat Komisji do Parlamentu Europejskiego, Rady Europejskiej, Rady, Europejskiego Banku Centralnego, Europejskiego Komitetu Ekonomiczno-Spolecznego i Komitetu Regionów – Wzmocnienie koordynacji polityki gospodarczej w interesie stabilności, wzrostu gospodarczego i zatrudnienia – Narzędzia na rzecz silniejszego zarządzania gospodarczego w UE, Bruksela, 30.06.2010. KOM(2011) 398, Projekt rozporządzenia Rady określającego wieloletnie ramy finansowe na lata 2014–2020, Bruksela, 29.06.2011.

KOM(2011) 500, Komunikat Komisji do Parlamentu Europejskiego, Rady, Europejskiego Komitetu Ekonomiczno-Społecznego i Komitetu Regionów, Budżet z perspektywy "Europy 2020", Część I, Część II, Bruksela, 29.06.2011.

Mendez, C., Bachter J., Wishlade F., (2011), A Budget and Cohesion Policy for Europe 2020: Let the Negotiations Begin, EoRPA Paper 11/4, University of Strathclyde, European Policy Research Paper, No 81, November 2011.

MSZ, (2011), Program polskiej prezydencji w Radzie Unii Europejskiej, 1 lipca 2011 r. – 31 grudnia 2011 r., Ministerstwo Spraw Zagranicznych, Warszawa.

MSZ, (2012), Stanowisko Rzeczypospolitej Polskiej ws. Pakietu Wieloletnich ram finansowych na lata 2014–2020, przyjęte przez Komitet do Spraw Europejskich w dniu 2 stycznia 2012 r., Ministerstwo Spraw Zagranicznych, http://www.msz.gov.pl/resource/620888e6-006a-4fc8-b077-b36c1b0af7a7:JCR (accessed: 31.07.2013).

OJ L 165, 3.07.2003, p. 29., Council Decision of 3 June 2003 on the existence of an excessive deficit in France — application of Article 104(6) of the Treaty establishing the European Community, 2003/487/EC.

OJ L 174, 7.07.2005, p. 5., Rozporządzenie Rady (WE) nr 1056/2005 z dnia 27 czerwca 2005 r. zmieniające rozporządzenie Rady (WE) nr 1467/97 w sprawie przyspieszenia i wyjaśnienia procedury nadmiernego deficytu.

OJ L 183, 13.7.2007, p. 23., Decyzja Rady z dnia 5 czerwca 2007 r. uchylająca decyzję 2003/89/WE w sprawie istnienia nadmiernego deficytu w Niemczech, 2007/490/WE.

OJ L 209, 2.08.1997, p. 1, Rozporządzenie (WE) nr 1466/97 w sprawie wzmocnienia nadzoru pozycji budżetowych oraz nadzoru i koordynacji polityk gospodarczych.

OJ L 209, 2.08.1997, p. 6., Rozporządzenie (WE) nr 1467/1997 w sprawie przyspieszenia i wyjaśnienia procedury nadmiernego deficytu.

OJ L 276 z 20.10.2010, p. 1., Rozporządzenie Parlamentu Europejskiego i Rady (UE) nr 911/2010 z dnia 22 września 2010 r. w sprawie europejskiego programu monitorowania Ziemi (GMES) i początkowej fazy jego realizacji (lata 2011–2013).

OJ L 317, 15.12.2000, p. 3., Umowa o partnerstwie między członkami grupy państw Afryki, Karaibów i Pacyfiku z jednej strony a Wspólnotą Europejską i jej Państwami Członkowskimi z drugiej strony, podpisana w Kotonu 23 czerwca 2000 r.

OJ L 34, 11.2.2003, p.. 16., Council Decision of 21 January 2003 on the existence of an excessive deficit in Germany — Application of Article 104(6) of the Treaty establishing the European Community (2003/89/EC).

OJ L 406 z 30.12.2006, p. 1., Rozporządzenie (WE) nr 1927/2006 Parlamentu Europejskiego i Rady z dnia 20 grudnia 2006 r. ustanawiające Europejski Fundusz Dostosowania do Globalizacji.

OJ L 68, 8.03.2007, p. 3, Decyzja Rady z dnia 30 stycznia 2007 r. uchylająca decyzję 2003/487/WE w sprawie istnienia nadmiernego deficytu we Francji, 2007/154/WE.

OJ L 90, 30.3.2007, p. 58., Decyzja Rady z dnia 27 marca 2007 r. powołująca Europejskie Wspólne Przedsięwzięcie na rzecz Realizacji Projektu ITER i Rozwoju Energii Termojądrowej oraz przyznająca mu określone korzyści, 2007/198/Euratom.

OJ C 139, 14.06.2006, p. 1., Decyzja o ujęcia środków funduszu w budżecie ogólnym UE: pkt. 28: Porozumienie międzyinstytucjonalne pomiędzy Parlamentem Europejskim, Radą i Komisją w sprawie dyscypliny budżetowej i należytego zarządzania finansami.

OJ C, 2.08.1997, p. 1., Resolution of the European Council on the stability and Growth Pact, Amsterdam 17.06.1997.

OJ L 174, 7.07.2005, p. 1., Rozporządzenie Rady (WE) Nr 1055/2005 z dnia 27 czerwca 2005 r. zmieniające rozporządzenie (WE) nr 1466/97 w sprawie wzmocnienia nadzoru pozycji budżetowych oraz nadzoru i koordynacji polityk gospodarczych.

OJ L 209, 2.08.1997, p. 1., Rozporządzenie nr 1466/1997 z 7 lipca 1997 r. w sprawie wzmocnienia nadzoru pozycji budżetowej oraz nadzoru i koordynacji polityk gospodarczych.

OJ L 209, 2.08.1997, p. 6., Rozporządzenie nr 1467/1997 w sprawie przyspieszenia i wyjaśnienia procedury nadmiernego deficytu.

P7_TC1-CNS(2010)0276, Stanowisko Parlamentu Europejskiego przyjęte w dniu 28 września 2011 r. w celu przyjęcia rozporządzenia Rady (UE) zmieniającego rozporządzenie Rady (WE) nr 1467/97 w sprawie przyspieszenia i wyjaśnienia procedury nadmiernego deficytu.

PAP, (2011a), W Sopocie początek rozmów o budżecie UE na lata 2014–2020, 28.07.2011, http://wiadomosci.gazeta.pl/wiadomosci/1,114873,10025902,W_Sopocie_poczatek_rozmow_o_budzecie_UE_na_ lata_2014_2020.html (accessed: 30.07.2013).

PAP, (2011b), List 13 państw w obronie polityki spójności, 14.05.2011, http://www.money.pl/gospodarka/uniaeuropejska/wiadomosci/artykul/list;13;panstw;w;obronie;polityki;spojnosci,33,-1,829473.html (accessed: 30.07.2013).

PAP, (2011c), Platnicy netto przeciwko strukturze budżetu UE, 12.09.2011, http://wiadomosci.onet.pl/swiat/platnicy-netto-przeciwko-strukturze-budzetu-ue/xc55g (accessed: 30.07.2013).

Reuters, (2010a), Britain, France, Germany and other European Union countries will publish a letter on Saturday that calls for a freezing of the EU budget at least until 2020, British

Prime Minister David Cameron said on Friday, 17.12.2010, http://www.reuters.com/article/2010/12/17/us-eu-budget-idUSTRE6BG34Z20101217 (accessed: 30.07.2013).

Reuters, (2010b), France, Germany, UK, others urge EU budget freeze, 18.12.2010, http://www.reuters.com/article/2010/12/18/france-eu-budget-idUSLDE6BH02620101218 (accessed: 30.07.2013).

SEC(2011) 867, Commission Staff Working Paper, The addend value of the EU budget, Accompanying the document Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, A budget for Europe 2020, Brussels, 29.06.2011.

SEC(2011) 868, Commission Staff Working Paper, A Budget for Europe 2020: the current system of funding, the challenges ahead, the result of stakeholders consultation and different options on the main horizontal and sectoral issues. Accompanying the document Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, A budget for Europe 2020, Brussels, 29.06.2011.

The Guardian, (2010), *David Cameron in EU budget freeze pact with France and Germany*, 17 December 2010, http://www.theguardian.com/politics/2010/dec/17/david-cameron-eu-budget-freeze, accessed: 30.07.2013,

Węc, J.J., (2012), Bilans polskiej prezydencji w Radzie Unii Europejskiej, Przegląd Zachodni, No.r 2/2012.

6.2. Poland's Role in Shaping the Eastern Dimension of the European Union's Economic Cooperation as Part of the Eastern Partnership Initiative

Krzysztof Falkowski

Since it joined the European Union on May 1, 2004, Poland has actively lobbied for strengthening the so-called Eastern dimension of the European Neighborhood Policy. In this report, the Eastern dimension of economic cooperation should be understood as the EU's economic relations with the Eastern Partnership countries. These are Belarus, Ukraine, Moldova, Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia.

However, Russia also plays a major role in the context of the EU's economic cooperation with its eastern neighbors. Without a doubt, Russia is the EU's most important partner in the region, even though it has consistently refused to join the Eastern Partnership.

This section of the report aims to outline Poland's role in shaping the eastern dimension of the European Union's economic cooperation as part of the Eastern Partnership initiative originated by Poland, together with Sweden. Another goal is to evaluate this initiative from the perspective of economic cooperation. It can be argued that from the very beginning of its membership in the EU, and even prior to accession, Poland sought to find in its relations with EU institutions a platform of cooperation (including economic cooperation) with the countries beyond its eastern border. This became one of the priorities of Poland's foreign policy.

General characteristics of the European Union's economic cooperation with its eastern neighbors⁶

Formally and legally, the European Union's cooperation with its eastern neighbors (Russia and the Eastern Partnership countries) is based on the Partnership and Cooperation Agreements (PCA) that the EU has signed with most members of the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS).

The main objective of the PCAs is to strengthen democracy and economic development in the Commonwealth of Independent States by reinforcing these countries' cooperation with EU member states. In particular, this cooperation is designed to:

- intensify political dialogue.
- strengthen civil liberties and democracy in the CIS.

⁶ Based on: K. Falkowski, Dyferencjacja współpracy krajów WNP z Unią Europejską, in: Unia Europejska, pl, No. 2 (219), March/April 2013, pp. 28–34.

- assist in the transition of CIS countries toward a market economy model.
- support the development of mutual trade and investment.⁷

Ukraine was the first CIS country to sign a partnership and cooperation agreement with the European Union, but the agreement between Russia and the EU was the first to take effect (see Table 2).

Table 2

The European Union's Partnership a	nd Cooperation	Agreements	(PCAs)	with	Eastern
Partnership countries and Russia					

Country	Agreement signed on	In effect since
Armenia	22.04.1996	01.07.1999
Azerbaijan	22.04.1996	01.07.1999
Belarus	06.03.1995	not ratified by the EU, suspended in September 1997
Georgia	22.04.1996	01.07.1999
Moldova	28.11.1994	01.07.1998
Russia	24.06.1994	01.12.1997
Ukraine	14.06.1994	01.03.1998

Source: Zięba (2007, p. 158); Partnership and Cooperation Agreements (PCAs): Russia, Eastern Europe, the Southern Caucasus and Central Asia, http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/external_relations/relations_with_third_countries/eastern_europe_and_central_asia/r17002_en.htm (22.02.2013).

When it comes to the formal and legal foundations of the European Union's cooperation with Eastern Partnership countries and Russia, it is worth noting that the bloc's partnership and cooperation agreement with Belarus has yet to take effect. It was suspended in September 1997; the EU did not ratify it in response to the authoritarian policies of President Alexander Lukashenko. Belarus, for its part, has ratified the agreement.

The EU's agreement with Russia should have formally expired in 2007. The agreement came into force in 1997 (it did not take effect earlier due to the EU's opposition to a Russian military operation in Chechnya in 1994–1996) and was to be valid for 10 years. However, it is still valid to this day because of fine print providing for the possibility of renewing it every year for a period of one year by mutual agreement. The partners have yet to agree on a new bilateral agreement.⁸

⁷ Partnership and Cooperation Agreements (PCAs): Russia, Eastern Europe, the Southern Caucasus and Central Asia: http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/external_relations/relations_with_third_countries/eastern_europe_and_central_asia/r17002_en.htm (22.02.2013).

⁸ In this case, coming to an agreement is increasingly difficult because Russia is seeking to eliminate from the new agreement—or at least weaken—a conditionality clause under which a country's participation in the EU market is commensurate with the progress it has made in adapting to Western European political and economic standards. Russia is also against the principle of equivalence whereby companies from non-EU countries active on the EU market are subject to EU rules. The EU has refused to accept

In any case, for all of these countries, including Russia, the European Union is a far more important partner for trade and investment cooperation than Russia and the Eastern Partnership are for the EU.

This analysis of the EU's economic, trade and investment cooperation with Eastern Partnership countries and Russia covers the 2008–2012 period. It starts in 2008 when Poland and Sweden came up with the idea of establishing a new platform of cooperation with the EU's eastern neighbors as part of the so-called Eastern Partnership. The cut-off date is 2012 because more recent statistics were unavailable. The analysis covers the EU27, which means all EU members except Croatia, which joined on July 1, 2013.

Russia is by far—and in every respect—the most important partner for the EU in the east. This is reflected in the volume of trade for both EU imports and exports. In 2012, the EU's imports from Russia totaled \notin 213.1 billion, while exports were \notin 123.3 billion. Ukraine is the second-largest trade partner for the EU27 among the studied countries. The EU's 2012 imports from Ukraine totaled \notin 14.6 billion, while exports totaled \notin 23.8 billion. Azerbaijan has been the EU27's third-largest partner in imports for several years, while Belarus is the third-largest partner in exports. Trade with Armenia, Georgia and Moldova is marginal due to several factors, including the small size of these countries.

Despite the crisis in Europe and the global economic meltdown that began in 2008, the value of the EU's bilateral trade with all the Eastern Partnership countries plus Russia has increased every year since 2009.

in 2000–2012 (binons of curos)							
	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012		
Armenia	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3		
Azerbaijan	10.7	7.4	9.7	14.9	13.9		
Belarus	4.7	2.6	2.6	4.3	4.5		
Georgia	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6		
Moldova	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.8	0.9		
Russia	178.3	118.1	160.7	199.9	213.1		
Ukraine	14.6	7.9	11.5	15.1	14.6		

Table 3

The value of EU27 imports	from Eastern	Partnership	countries	and Russia
in 2008–2012 (billions of eu	.iros)	_		

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat data.

these suggestions. Moreover, Russia is insisting that all political and economic issues be put in separate sector agreements, with the main agreement limited to a brief declaration on the strategic objectives of cooperation with the European Union. See: B. Cichocki, *Perspektywy stosunków Unia Europejska–Rosja po szczycie w Chanty-Mansyjsku*, PISM, Biuletyn No. 28(496), Warszawa 2008, p. 1. More on this topic can also be found in: M. Kaczmarski, *Rosja – Unia Europejska: problemy współpracy a nowe porozumienie*, "Wspólnoty Europejskie" 2011, No. 5.

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
Armenia	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.7
Azerbaijan	2.1	1.6	2.3	2.9	2.9
Belarus	6.4	5	6.6	7.2	7.8
Georgia	1.3	0.9	1.2	1.6	2.1
Moldova	1.7	1.3	1.6	1.9	2
Russia	104.8	65.6	86.1	108.4	123.3
Ukraine	25.1	14	17.4	21.3	23.8

The value of EU27 exports to Eastern Partnership countries and Russia in 2008–2012 (billions of euros)

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat data.

The trade imbalance is clearly reflected by foreign trade statistics. The role of Eastern Partnership countries in the EU's foreign trade is marginal (see Table 5), with the exception of Russia (in exports and imports) and Ukraine (in exports). The EU's role in these countries' foreign trade is very strong though it varies considerably with each country (see Table 6).

Table 5

The role of Eastern Partnership countries and Russia in the EU27's for eign trade in 2008–2012 (% share)

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012		
	A country's share in total EU27 imports						
Armenia	0.0	0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0					
Azerbaijan	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.9	0.8		
Belarus	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3		
Georgia	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
Moldova	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1		
Russia	11.3	9.6	10.5	11.6	11.9		
Ukraine	0.9	0.6	0.8	0.9	0.8		
		A country'	s share in total E	U27 exports			
Armenia	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
Azerbaijan	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2		
Belarus	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5		
Georgia	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1		
Moldova	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1		
Russia	7.9	6.0	6.3	6.9	7.3		
Ukraine	1.9	1.3	1.3	1.4	1.4		

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat data.

Table 4

Among partnership members, Azerbaijan exports the most goods and services to the EU. In 2012, 53.8% of Azerbaijan's total exports went to EU markets. Moldova shipped 51.9% of its goods and services to the EU, the second-largest figure, while Georgia and Ukraine sent the smallest portion of their exports to the EU, at 23.5% and 21.8% respectively.

In terms of imports, the EU is the largest supplier of goods and services for Moldova (53.4% in 2012), Ukraine (39.9% in 2012), and Russia (35.5% in 2011). Belarus imports the smallest percentage of goods and services from the EU; in 2012, this figure was 20% of its total imports.

Table 6

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	
	EU27's share in a country's total imports					
Armenia	28.9	25.9	25.6	26.2	24.5	
Azerbaijan	27.4	26.1	24.6	31.4	28.5	
Belarus	21.9	22.9	21.6	18.9	20.0	
Georgia	26.3	28.6	26.7	27.8	27.4	
Moldova	42.8	43.4	44.2	55.5	53.4	
Russia	43.9	45.5	43.1	35.5	-	
Ukraine	33.0	33.4	30.7	30.8	39.9	
		EU27's sha	re in a country's t	otal exports		
Armenia	52.1	42.9	44.0	41.6	35.4	
Azerbaijan	55.8	44.3	46.7	58.0	53.8	
Belarus	42.9	42.7	29.3	37.3	37.8	
Georgia	22.1	20.0	17.5	18.8	23.5	
Moldova	51.0	54.4	46.5	50.6	51.9	
Russia	57.3	46.1	49.4	45.7	_	
Ukraine	23.9	20.5	22.1	23.4	21.8	

The role of EU27 countries in the foreign trade of Eastern Partnership countries and Russia in 2008–2012 (% share)

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat data.

The above data are reflected in the position occupied by individual countries in the geographical structure of trade. At the same time, the figures show a strong asymmetry in bilateral trade. In 2012, the EU27 was the absolute leader in the foreign trade of each of the studied countries in both exports and imports—except in the case of Belarus, where the EU27 ranked second for imports in 2012 behind Russia. On the other hand, the role of individual Eastern Partnership countries and Russia in the EU27's foreign trade varied considerably, though Russia was by far the most important trading partner for the European Union among the studied countries (fourth place in the EU's total exports and second in the EU's imports in 2012). Significantly, mineral fuels, lubricants and related materials accounted for a staggering 76.3% of the EU's imports from Russia in 2012 (these imports accounted for 29.9% of the EU27's total imports).

Table 7

The EU27's role in the foreign trade of Eastern Partnership countries and Russia and the role of Eastern Partnership countries and Russia in the EU27's foreign trade in 2012

	A given country's rank in the EU27's foreign trade		The EU27's rank in a given country's foreign trade		
	exports	imports	exports	imports	
Armenia	101	106	1	1	
Azerbaijan	58	27	1	1	
Belarus	35	49	1	2	
Georgia	64	86	1	1	
Moldova	65	77	1	1	
Russia	4	2	1	1	
Ukraine	19	25	1	1	

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat data.

A breakdown of the structure of commodity trade with the EU proves unfavorable to both Eastern Partnership countries and Russia. All these countries chiefly export to the EU goods with a low level of processing, from group 3 (mineral fuels, lubricants and related materials) and group 6 (manufactured goods classified by material) of the Standard International Trade Classification (SITC) (He must mean the UN measure; there is no SIC, while importing from the EU highly processed and high value-added goods from group 7 (machinery and transport equipment).

Table 8

Commodity structure of the EU27's imports from CIS countries in 2011 (by SITC group, in %)

SITC group ^a	Armenia	Azerbaijan	Belarus	Moldova	Russia	Ukraine
0	0.7	0.2	1.9	15.2	0.5	8.6
1	1.0	0.0	0.4	2.5	0.0	0.1
2	18.9	0.0	7.1	11.9	2.1	19.9
3	0.0	99.5	50.3	3.0	76.0	12.3
4	0.0	0.0	0.1	6.1	0.1	3.3
5	0.3	0.1	10.8	0.8	2.9	5.8
6	66.8	0.0	20.1	12.6	7.5	33.5
7	3.0	0.2	4.8	10.3	0.8	8.9
8	8.8	0.0	3.6	37.1	0.2	4.0
9	0.5	0.0	0.6	0.2	1.9	0.2

Note: ^aGroup: 0 – Food and animals; 1 – Beverages and tobacco; 2 – Crude materials, inedible, except fuels; 3 – Mineral fuels, lubricants and related materials; 4 – Oils, fats and waxes, animal and vegetable, 5 – Chemicals and related products, 6 – Manufactured goods classified by material; 7 – Machinery and transport equipment; 8 – Miscellaneous manufactured articles; 9 – Goods and transactions not classified elsewhere in the SITC.

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat data.

SITC group	Armenia	Azerbaijan	Belarus	Moldova	Russia	Ukraine
0	9.0	4.0	7.7	6.4	7.2	6.4
1	3.4	2.5	0.4	1.3	1.2	0.9
2	1.5	0.8	1.7	2.0	1.4	2.1
3	0.7	0.6	0.9	14.5	1.0	6.8
4	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.2
5	10.6	9.5	15.8	12.4	16.5	18.6
6	18.1	13.9	13.8	18.7	10.9	16.2
7	36.8	48.0	52.7	32.9	48.2	36.6
8	14.7	20.0	5.6	10.3	11.8	9.8
9	4.3	0.2	0.7	0.9	0.8	0.7

Commodity structure of the EU27's exports to CIS countries in 2011 (by SITC group, in %)

Note: as in Table 8.

Table 9

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat data.

Investment is an important area of economic cooperation. As in the case of trade, there is a clear imbalance in investment in favor of the European Union. The total cumulative value of the EU's foreign direct investment in both Eastern Partnership countries and Russia increased with each year (in 2008–2012), significantly exceeding the value of these countries' investment in EU27 member states.

Table 10

The cumulative value of the EU27's foreign direct investment (FDI) in selected CIS countries and Russia (as of Dec. 31, 2011)

	EU27	FDI in CIS	CIS FDI in EU27		
Country	Value (€ million)	Share in total FDI in EU27 (%)	Value (€ million)	Share in total FDI in the EU27 (%)	
Belarus	1,790	0.02	71	0.00	
Russia	166,837	1.40	53,135	0.53	
Ukraine	23,722	0.20	1,952	0.02	
Other CIS countries	19,088	0.16	3,353	0.03	
Total	211,437	1.61	58,511	0.55	

Source: Own calculations based on Eurostat data.

Eastern European countries, especially Russia and Ukraine, as well as Azerbaijan are the most attractive investment destinations for EU companies, particularly those based in Germany. This is largely because these countries have extensive energy resources. At the same time, Russia is by far the most active investor in the European Union among the analyzed countries. Russian companies primarily invest in the energy sector, especially in energy transmission infrastructure and the distribution of energy resources.

How the Eastern Partnership came to be: Poland's role

The countries of Eastern Europe have held a special place in Poland's foreign policy since 1989 for several reasons. First, Poland has never been indifferent to what happens beyond its eastern border. Poland is aware that only a politically and economically stable Eastern Europe will guarantee stabilization in the Central and Eastern Europe region as a whole. In addition, as a country that has successfully traveled the difficult road of political and economic transition, Poland was aware that without help from the outside, specifically the West, these countries would find it difficult to continue on the path of reform. Interestingly, the first time the term "Eastern dimension" was used in public was in a 1998 speech by Polish Foreign Minister Bronisław Geremek during a ceremony marking the start of Poland's EU membership negotiations.

The importance of Eastern European countries to the European Union increased after the bloc's enlargement to include a string of Central European countries in 2004, mainly because the EU's direct border with its current eastern neighbors was extended. From that time on, Poland, as a full-fledged EU member, was to have a tangible influence on the form of the EU's cooperation with its eastern neighbors. Poland took this opportunity to work toward intensifying the EU's cooperation with countries east of the Bug River.

At that time, the European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP) was the main platform for the EU's cooperation with Eastern European countries. The ENP's main objective was to prevent new lines of division between the enlarged EU and its neighbors by supporting the prosperity, stability and security of these countries. For the first time, the guidelines of the European Neighbourhood Policy were outlined in a Commission Communication of March 2003 entitled *Wider Europe*, and were subsequently developed in a strategic document entitled *The European Neighbourhood Policy*, published in May 2004 (Zięba, p. 159).

The European Neighbourhood Policy covered countries directly neighboring the European Union on land and by sea: Morocco, Algeria, Tunisia, Libya, Egypt, Israel, the Palestinian Authority, Jordan, Lebanon, Syria, Belarus, Ukraine, Moldova, Georgia, Armenia and Azerbaijan.⁹ The ENP does not include Russia, which by virtue of its special strategic partnership with the EU, has never expressed an interest in working with the EU as part of this initiative.

⁹ Communication from the Commission, *European Neighbourhood Policy*. Strategy Paper, 12.05.2004, http://ec.europa.eu/world/enp/pdf/strategy/strategy_paper_en.pdf (accessed Sept. 4, 2013).

Under this policy, the EU proposed closer political relations and economic integration to the ENP countries, while not extending any promises of future membership. However, the actual scope of cooperation was to depend on these countries' readiness to edge closer to the EU and comply with certain EU standards.

As it turned out, the European Neighbourhood Policy failed to meet the expectations of countries in Eastern Europe, if only for the simple reason that it targeted a large number of countries (16 in all) with different geography, economic potential, and political goals as well as diverse needs and aspirations in terms of the level and extent of cooperation with the European Union. Taking into account all these features of the ENP and seeking to strengthen the EU's Eastern policy, in early 2003 Poland came up with the so-called Eastern Dimension concept, modeled after the Northern Dimension and targeted at the EU's eastern neighbors. That initiative, however, met with little interest among member states and was shelved until May 2008 when Poland, together with Sweden, proposed to deepen the EU's relations with its eastern neighbors under a new initiative billed as the Eastern Partnership.

This time the initiative met with more understanding within the EU, evidently because of greater awareness of the challenges and threats lurking in Eastern Europe and the South Caucasus. Moreover, work on the Polish-Swedish project gained momentum after the outbreak of a Russian-Georgian conflict over Abkhazia and South Ossetia. Officially, the EU's Eastern Partnership initiative was launched at a summit in the Czech capital of Prague on May 7, 2009. The emergence and launch of the Eastern Partnership, despite widespread criticism as to the effectiveness of this initiative, undoubtedly marked a major success for Poland and its diplomats.

The key objectives of the Eastern Partnership and the extent to which these have been achieved¹⁰

The Eastern Partnership aims to gradually strengthen the European Union's political and economic cooperation with Eastern Partnership countries.

The key objectives of the Eastern Partnership include:¹¹

- a) in the EU's bilateral cooperation with individual partner countries:
 - working toward political association,
 - establishing deep and comprehensive free trade areas,
 - gradually liberalizing the visa regime, leading to the establishment of a visa-free regime
- b) in multilateral cooperation:
 - creating structures of multilateral cooperation with partner countries in the form of four platforms (democracy, good governance and stability; economic

¹⁰ as of the end of November 2013.

¹¹ Partnerstwo Wschodnie, Ministerstwo Spraw Zagranicznych RP, http://www.eastern-partnership.pl/pw_pl/MSZ%20PW%20PL.pdf (accessed Sept. 2, 2013).

integration and convergence with EU policies; energy security; and contacts between people).

One of the fundamental objectives of the Eastern Partnership is to develop mutual cooperation on the basis of Association Agreements, which will eventually replace the current Partnership and Cooperation Agreements (except in the case of Belarus). The Association Agreements will be strictly political pacts that, when signed, will mean that a partner country is ready for far-reaching cooperation with the EU, including a readiness to comply with EU standards in areas such as democracy, the rule of law and respect for human rights. These agreements will also serve as the starting point for closer economic cooperation as part of free trade areas.

The Eastern Partnership countries are at different stages on their road to association agreements. Belarus is doing the worst in this respect because it has yet to start negotiations on the subject. Azerbaijan is conducting such negotiations, and Georgia and Moldova have initialed their association agreements with the EU during the third Eastern Partnership summit in Vilnius, Lithuania, on Nov. 28–29, 2013. The EU's association agreements with Georgia and Moldova are due to be signed during the next year. Originally, Armenia was also expected to initial its association agreement at Vilnius, but officials in that country changed their minds a few weeks before the summit. They instead voiced their desire to join the Customs Union being established by Russia, Belarus and Kazakhstan. Ukraine, which completed its association agreement negotiations with the European Union in December 2011, and which was due to be sign that agreement at the Vilnius summit, unexpectedly backpedalled on this plan, and, despite expectations, the agreement was not signed, becoming a direct cause of escalated sociopolitical tensions in that country.

The second key objective of the Eastern Partnership, to create Deep and Comprehensive Free Trade Areas (DCFTAs), refers to economic cooperation. Thanks to such zones, partner countries will gain access to the EU market for goods and services, which is expected to stimulate their socioeconomic development in the long term. Significantly, the DCFTAs are expected to increase their international credibility as full-fledged market economies that meet all the requirements of close cooperation with the EU. This is hoped to have a positive impact on the inflow of EU investment and increased access to technology, which is critical as all Eastern Partnership economies are in need of modernization, for which EU financial support and technology is needed. In this context, closer ties with these economies, in the context of deep and comprehensive free trade areas, are seen as a major opportunity for significant development in these countries.

However, the EU does not immediately offer all partner countries the possibility of creating free trade areas. The process of economic integration, in which these areas are only the first step, comes with a series of caveats. The first and most important condition is that these countries must be functioning market economies. Another equally important requirement is that they must be members of the World Trade Organization (WTO). By the end of 2013, only Ukraine, Georgia, Moldova, and Armenia had completed their negotiations on deep and comprehensive free trade areas. Other partner countries (Azerbaijan and Belarus) had not yet started their negotiations on establishing a free trade area with the European Union. It should be emphasized at this point that a pre-condition for starting such talks, in addition to political will, is that a specific country must be a member of the World Trade Organization. Neither Azerbaijan nor Belarus are members of the WTO.

The third objective of the Eastern Partnership in the area of bilateral cooperation one that is also potentially significant for economic cooperation in the broad sense—is a gradual liberalization of the visa regime (including a reduction or complete abolition of visa fees), with a view to eventually establishing a visa-free regime. It seems that the Eastern Partnership countries should be especially interested in a rapid achievement of this particular objective. However, the prospect of introducing visa-free regimes in passenger traffic between the EU and partner countries is relatively distant due to the urgent need to ensure border security, create integrated border management systems, and crack down on illegal migration.

In assessing the extent to which the third objective of the Eastern Partnership has been achieved, Ukraine and Moldova were the most advanced in a two-phase process for visa liberalization as of November 2013. The EU was conducting official dialogue with these countries on a visa waiver program. In the case of Georgia, the agreement on visa facilitation and readmission entered into force on March 1, 2011. Similar agreements with Ukraine and Moldova have been in force since 2008. Armenia and Azerbaijan started negotiating their visa facilitation and readmission agreements in early 2012. Armenia has signed both agreements (the visa facilitation agreement in December 2012 and the readmission agreement in April 2013).¹² Azerbaijan signed its visa facilitation agreement with the EU at the Eastern Partnership Summit in Vilnius on Nov. 29, 2013.

In addition to the three main objectives of the Eastern Partnership as part of the EU's bilateral cooperation with the partner countries, energy security and support for social and economic development play an important role. In the case of energy cooperation, the partner countries are presented with the opportunity to integrate their energy markets with the EU market in order to reduce these countries' future dependence on energy imports from Russia. However, this goal will not be easy to achieve because Russia has strategic energy interests in both Belarus and Ukraine as well as in the South Caucasus countries.

It should be noted at this point that the European Union, as part of its support for reforms in partner countries and these countries' preparations for carrying out the Eastern Partnership objectives, has created a special support instrument in the form of so-called Comprehensive Institution Building Programmes (CIBs). Funds were set

¹² http://www.msz.gov.pl/pl/p/msz_pl/polityka_zagraniczna/europa/partnerstwo_wschodnie/wymiar_dwustronny/ (accessed Sept. 6, 2013).

aside for individual partner countries to implement these programs in the 2011–2013 period: €32.81 million for Armenia, €19.20 million for Azerbaijan, €30.86 million for Georgia, €41.16 million for Moldova, and €43.37 million for Ukraine. Belarus was allocated €5.88 million for the 2011–2013 period under a separate support instrument called Joint Interim Plan. The total budget of the CIBs for 2011–2013 was around €175 million.¹³

Economic ties in the broad sense also play an important role in multilateral cooperation as part of the Eastern Partnership initiative. This especially applies to economic cooperation as part of the so-called second multilateral platform—"economic integration and convergence with EU policies." The main long-term priorities in this area include (MSZ, 2012, p. 24):

- trade and trade-related regulatory approximation,
- financial and macroeconomic cooperation,
- boosting socioeconomic development,
- environmental protection.

Meetings as part of this and other platforms are held twice a year; the goal is to plan, arrange and coordinate projects designed to support the development of multilateral cooperation under a specific platform.

Moreover, special flagship initiatives are carried out as part of multilateral efforts. These include:

- the Integrated Border Management Programme,
- the SME Facility designed to support small and medium-sized enterprises,
- a civil protection and disaster prevention initiative,
- a program for exchanging information in the area of environmental protection,
- an initiative related to regional energy markets and energy efficiency.¹⁴

As part of the SME Facility, a special project called East-Invest has been launched; its main aim is to improve the investment climate in partner countries and create a network of business contacts between the EU and Eastern Partnership countries. In addition, a special financial instrument has been developed with the support of the European Investment Bank and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development to support the implementation of the program.

Overall, the European Union allocated €1.9 billion under its European Neighbourhood and Partnership Instrument (ENPI) for the achievement of all the Eastern Partnership objectives in the 2010–2013 period. In 2011, this amount was increased by a further €10 million.¹⁵

¹³ http://eastbook.eu/faq-o-partnerstwie-wschodnim/ (accessed Sept. 7, 2013).

¹⁴ http://www.msz.gov.pl/pl/p/msz_pl/polityka_zagraniczna/europa/partnerstwo_wschodnie/wymiar_wielostronny/ (accessed Sept. 6, 2013).

¹⁵ http://www.msz.gov.pl/pl/p/msz_pl/polityka_zagraniczna/europa/partnerstwo_wschodnie/finan-sowanie/ (accessed Sept. 6, 2013).

The Eastern Partnership and the Eastern dimension of economic cooperation during Poland's presidency of the EU Council

One of the main objectives of Poland's presidency of the Council of the European Union in the second half of 2011 was to lend a "new impetus" to the Eastern Partnership.¹⁶ Poland also sought to advance progress in association agreement negotiations. The key issue in this context was to bring about the signing of an agreement with Ukraine. Other priorities included agreements on deep and comprehensive free trade areas and work to accelerate the visa liberalization process as part of the Eastern Partnership, in addition to the broadest possible inclusion of partner countries in Community sector policies, particularly those related to education, science, culture, the economy, infrastructure, agriculture and customs services and statistics (Fundakowska, 2011, p. 11). Yet another important issue was the process of Russia's accession to the World Trade Organization. At the start of its presidency of the EU Council, Poland hoped it would welcome Russia as a WTO member on behalf of the European Union by the end of 2011. However, Russia did not join the WTO until late 2012.

Poland presided over the EU Council at a difficult time. The economic crises in Greece and other Southern European countries and the instability of the euro gave Poland little room for maneuver toward its goals with the Eastern Partnership, as the European Union was largely preoccupied with issues other than cooperation with its eastern neighbors. Nevertheless, to the extent the situation allowed, Poland tried to carry out its objectives on a step-by-step basis (Falkowski, 2012, pp. 119–142).

As part of these efforts, a project known as the Conference of Local and Regional Authorities for the Eastern Partnership was launched in Poznań in September 2011 under the auspices of the Committee of the Regions. The Conference is designed to be a platform for cooperation between local and regional governments in EU member states and Eastern Partnership countries. An especially important area of this cooperation is support for networking and the development of business contacts by small and medium-sized enterprises, and exchange of experiences between local and regional governments in EU member states and Eastern Partnership countries—when it comes to the conditions for doing business and the overall investment climate.

Moreover, the First Eastern Partnership Business Forum was held in Sopot, in northern Poland, in September 2011, attended by representatives from business organizations,

¹⁶ For details see: Program 6-miesieczny polskiej prezydencji w Radzie Unii Europejskiej w II polowie 2011 r., http://prezydencjaue.gov.pl/obszary-przygotowa/programowanie (accessed May 23, 2011). This issue is also discussed in the previous chapter of this book—see: A. Ambroziak, The Track Record of the Polish Presidency of the Council of the European Union.

businesspeople, and officials from governments and institutions in both the European Union and partner countries. The aim of the Forum was to exchange experiences, create opportunities to establish business contacts, and discuss investment opportunities and joint projects to be carried out as part of the Eastern Partnership.

Without a doubt the political highlight of the Polish presidency was the second Eastern Partnership Summit in Warsaw on Sept. 29–30, 2011. The summit, which was not attended by Belarus, adopted a document called the Warsaw Declaration. It states that Eastern Partnership countries are ready for full integration into the EU internal market and are also ready to create a common economic area covering the EU and the Eastern Partnership partner countries in the future.

Evaluation of the Eastern Partnership and of Poland's efforts to promote it over the past four years

The track record of the first four years of the Eastern Partnership, a joint Polish-Swedish initiative as part of the EU's European Neighbourhood Policy, deserves moderately positive ratings. Even though the period has been devoid of spectacular successes, the very fact that the initiative has gotten off the ground is a big success for Poland and Polish diplomats-by far the biggest at the EU level to date, especially as the main objectives of the Eastern Partnership are consistent with the vital interests of both Poland and most other EU countries. Poland and Sweden, the initiators of the Eastern Partnership, have managed to persuade other EU countries that the bloc cannot focus exclusively on its own problems, while turning a blind eye to what is happening in the world around, including in countries beyond the EU's eastern border. These countries are not only a huge market for EU goods and services, but also a potential scene of conflicts and international disputes. The EU's eastern neighbors include not only Russia, but also other smaller and less well developed countries that are in need of support and development aid. From this point of view, it is appropriate and desirable for the EU to pay more attention to the problems of Eastern Europe as a whole, and Poland has been working to make that happen for years.

Although the initiative itself should be rated positively, the extent to which it has been put into practice leaves much to be desired. Of course, an important determinant is the internal economic situation in the European Union. During the hard-hitting crisis in southern Europe, EU member states were hardly keen to focus on the objectives of the bloc's Eastern policy. But even if the EU economy recovers, it seems that some of the Eastern Partnership's objectives will be extremely difficult to achieve in the foreseeable future. The main reason is that Eastern Partnership countries are highly diversified geographically,¹⁷ economically,¹⁸ and politically. This results in a varied level of determination among these countries to become economically integrated with the European Union. Another important factor is Russia's policy vis-à-vis the post-Soviet area, including Eastern Partnership countries, oriented at maintaining and reinforcing Russia's influence. The best confirmation of this was a case of "economic blackmail" used by Russia with regard to Ukraine when the latter planned to sign an association agreement with the EU at the Eastern Partnership Summit in Vilnius at the end of November 2013. Another example was Russia's successful efforts to dissuade Armenia from initialing its association agreement with the EU.

Eastern Partnership countries are highly selective in how they treat the EU's proposals of closer cooperation. For example, Belarus, and to an extent Azerbaijan, are only ready for economic cooperation as part of the Eastern Partnership (in trade and investment), while turning a deaf ear to calls for system and institutional reforms. By agreeing to such exemptions, the EU weakens the efforts of the partner countries to meet its basic goals of promoting democracy, the rule of law, and human rights.

The economic crisis in the eurozone has also tarnished the credibility of the liberal economic model followed in the European Union and recommended as a target model for partner countries as they embark on economic reforms.

The efforts to achieve the goals of the Eastern Partnership are not helped by the fact that most partnership countries know little or nothing about either the initiative itself or its potential benefits. This is a major challenge for Poland as well as the European Union as a whole. Without these countries being aware of the benefits of edging closer to the EU rather than to the Customs Union of Russia, Belarus and Kazakhstan—which is due to be expanded—it will be difficult to achieve the objectives of the Eastern Partnership.

The EU's political weakness in managing regional conflicts casts a shadow on its efforts to deepen its economic integration with Eastern Partnership countries. The best proof is the Azeri-Armenian conflict over Nagorno-Karabakh. In practice, Azerbaijan is interested in closer cooperation with the European Union only because it can export oil to the EU market. Oil accounts for 99.5% of Azerbaijan's total exports. On the other hand, the EU is eager to work with Azerbaijan because it is interested in Azeri oil.

¹⁷ Some Eastern Partnership countries are in Eastern Europe (Belarus, Ukraine, Moldova) and others in the South Caucasus (Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia). In addition, these countries vary by a factor of 1 to 20 in terms of area and by a factor of 1 to 15 in terms of population (Ukraine has the largest population, while Armenia has the smallest). They also vary by a factor of 1 to 3 in terms of population density (Belarus has the largest population density, while Moldova is at the other extreme). Ukraine accounts for three-fifths of the six partner countries' total area and population.

¹⁸ The Eastern Partnership countries are heavily diversified economically. For example, Belarus' GDP per capita in PPP terms is only 41.5% of the EU27 average, while Moldova's GDP per capita in PPP terms is only 7.6% of the EU27 average. In terms of GDP per capita at PPP, Belarus is roughly at the same level as Romania, one of the poorest EU members.

In assessing the Eastern Partnership and Poland's role in it, it should be noted that there is no consensus on many issues of importance to this initiative. These include the issue of the EU's association agreement with Ukraine. When, after the imprisonment of Ukraine's former Prime Minister Yulia Tymoshenko, the EU decided to suspend the signing of its already initialed association agreement with that country—and to suspend the establishment of a deep and comprehensive free trade area due to the lack of any response from the authorities in Kiev—some EU countries insisted that the EU should scrap these agreements altogether. Moreover, there is no consensus among EU countries on liberalizing the visa policy because some states are concerned their labor markets could suffer if the rules of migration into the European Union are relaxed.

All this explains why the Eastern Partnership initiative, steadfastly and painstakingly advocated by Poland, does not have the full support of all EU members. On the other hand, Eastern Partnership countries show little determination to become economically integrated with the EU. The best example is Ukraine. All this puts a big question mark over the effectiveness of the Polish-Swedish initiative in the future.

Conclusion

Soon after joining the European Union, Poland began lobbying for the launch of a separate program as part of the EU's European Neighbourhood Policy to advance the bloc's cooperation with its eastern neighbors. An important element of these efforts was a plan to enhance economic relations as well as business, trade and investment ties based on free-market rules and increasingly liberalized forms of mutual cooperation. Poland was also concerned about stabilizing the socio-political situation in the countries of Eastern Europe. These efforts culminated when Poland, together with Sweden, pushed through their Eastern Partnership initiative. With all certainty, it can be said that the Eastern Partnership would not have emerged had it not been for Poland's determination and a favorable international situation (including destabilization in the region in the wake of the Russian-Georgian conflict, combined with a strong will to bring Ukraine closer to the European Union under President Viktor Yushchenko).

The results of the Eastern Partnership initiative are still limited, though views that it has proved a failure are far from the truth. The Eastern Partnership countries are slowly but surely edging closer to the European Union, regardless of Ukraine's actions at the end of November 2013.

Despite intensified efforts as part of the Eastern Partnership, Russia is and will remain the EU's most important economic partner in the east. However, Russia is hardly eager to be part of the Eastern Partnership, and it is also accusing Poland and some other EU countries of hostile activity in the former USSR, a region perceived by the Kremlin to be its own direct sphere of influence. What's more, Russia is advancing its own idea of a Eurasian Union that would welcome all the countries now covered by the EU's Eastern Partnership initiative. All this is not helping Poland and the EU as a whole in their efforts to bring about stronger economic integration between the bloc and Eastern Partnership countries.

Still, there is no doubt that, despite the limited results of the Eastern Partnership so far, the Polish-Swedish initiative should be evaluated moderately positively from the Polish point of view, and Poland should continue making efforts to achieve the strategic objectives of the initiative. It is in Poland's strategic interest to make every effort to bring the Eastern Partnership countries closer to the European Union economically and otherwise. Without a doubt, this would not only increase Poland's role and importance in the EU, but also increase security and enhance socioeconomic development in countries beyond the EU's eastern border. Of course, the *sine qua non* condition of these countries' deeper economic integration with the EU is their political will and real determination toward convergence with the European Union.

In view of the dramatic events in Ukraine in February and March 2014 as well as the highly intensified political and military activity of Russia in Crimea, which resulted in Russia's annexation of the Crimean Peninsula, the pressing issue of the future of the Eastern Partnership in its current form is still open. The future role of Poland in shaping the economic dimension of the EU's cooperation with the Eastern Partnership countries is also up in the air.

The fact is that within the EU itself, support is growing for adopting a more individual approach to the Eastern Partnership countries, mainly with regard to financial instruments. This suggests that the Eastern Partnership concept is being reevaluated. All the same, it is in Poland's vital interest to ensure that the EU does not treat the question of enhancing economic ties with the Eastern Partnership countries as an *either/ or* alternative (either with the EU or with Russia) and does not force them to choose one party as a partner for economic integration.

In conclusion, the role of Poland in shaping the EU's economic cooperation with the Eastern Partnership countries, in particular Ukraine, seems to be invaluable. On the one hand, in view of Russia's *de facto* expansion into a substantial part of former Soviet territory, an intensification in the EU's trade and investment relations with not only Ukraine but also other Eastern Partnership countries seems to be imperative for supporting their further development. On the other hand, such actions might be perceived unfavorably by Russia. Because of the lack of a consensus by EU member states on an Eastern Europe policy, Russia could seek to marginalize the role of Poland and the Eastern Partnership in shaping the EU's economic relations in the east.

References

Cichocki, B., (2008), Perspektywy stosunków Unia Europejska–Rosja po szczycie w Chanty-Mansyjsku, PISM, Biuletyn nr 28(496), Warsaw.

COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION, (2004), European Neighbourhood Policy. Strategy Paper, 12.05.2004,

http://ec.europa.eu/world/enp/pdf/strategy/strategy_paper_en.pdf (accessed 04.09.2013).

Dorywalski, A., Szczyt Partnerstwa Wschodniego w Warszawie – przebieg i analiza, http://www.psz.pl/index. php?option=content&task=view&id=39784 (accessed 30.08.2013).

Falkowski, K., (2013), Dyferencjacja współpracy krajów WNP z Unią Europejską, in: Unia Europejska.pl, No. 2 (219), 2013, pp. 28–34.

Falkowski, K., (2012), Kryzys w strefie euro wyzwaniem dla polskiej prezydencji w Unii Europejskiej, w: A. Legucka (ed.), Polska prezydencja wobec wyzwań współczesnej Unii Europejskiej, Difin, Warsaw, pp. 119–142.

Fundakowska, A., (2011), *Polska współpraca na rzecz rozwoju a Partnerstwo Wschodnie* (2009–2010), http://www.polskapomoc.gov.pl/files/dokumenty_publikacje/PUBLIKACJE_2011/projekty_polska%20 pomoc_w_krajach_PW_2011.pdf (accessed 03.09.2013).

http://www.msz.gov.pl/pl/p/msz_pl/polityka_zagraniczna/europa/partnerstwo_wschodnie/wymiar_dwus-tronny/ (accessed 06.09.2013).

http://www.msz.gov.pl/pl/p/msz_pl/polityka_zagraniczna/europa/partnerstwo_wschodnie/wymiar_wielostronny/ (accessed 06.09.2013).

http://www.msz.gov.pl/pl/p/msz_pl/polityka_zagraniczna/europa/partnerstwo_wschodnie/finansowanie/ (accessed 06.09.2013).

Kaczmarski, M., (2011), Rosja – Unia Europejska: problemy współpracy a nowe porozumienie, "Wspólnoty Europejskie", No. 5.

Partnership and Cooperation Agreements (PCAs): Russia, Eastern Europe, the Southern

Caucasus and Central Asia: http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/external_relations/relations_with_third_countries/eastern_europe_and_central_asia/r17002_en.htm (accessed 22.02.2013).

Partnerstwo Wschodnie, Ministerstwo Spraw Zagranicznych RP, http://www.eastern-partnership.pl/pw_pl/MSZ%20PW%20PL.pdf (accessed 02.09.2013).

Program 6-miesieczny polskiej prezydencji w Radzie Unii Europejskiej w II połowie 2011 r., http://prezydencjaue. gov.pl/obszary-przygotowa/programowanie (accessed 23.05.2011).

Zięba, R., (2007), Wspólna Polityka Zagraniczna i Bezpieczeństwa Unii Europejskiej, Wydawnictwa Akademickie i Profesjonalne, Warsaw.

Summary and Conclusions: Poland's Competitive Position in the European Union at the Start of 2014

Marzenna Anna Weresa

How does the Polish economy fare compared with other economies in the European Union? Has the country made the kind of progress during its first 10 years in the EU that many Poles dreamed of when Poland joined the bloc in May 2004? To what extent has EU membership made Poland more competitive internationally and helped it advance from resource-based to knowledge-based competiveness? These questions call for an analysis of the successes and failures that Poland experienced during its first decade as an EU member.

From a theoretical point of view, membership in a collective produces a mixture of short- and long-term effects, some of which are static while others are dynamic (Ładyka, 2000). The potential impact of Poland's EU membership was extensively analyzed and evaluated before Poland became part of the bloc (cf. Kawecka-Wyrzykowska, 1999; Kawecka-Wyrzykowska, Synowiec, 2001). In this monograph, we have made an attempt to assess this impact after Poland's first decade in the EU.

During this period, EU membership has had an impact not only on the Polish economy, but also on Polish politics, society, and culture. Therefore an evaluation limited to statistics would certainly be insufficient. Moreover, it is difficult to separate the impact of EU membership from that of other factors that have influenced the development of the Polish economy over the past decade. For this reason, we focus exclusively on selected aspects of this complex issue—those that are directly related to the competitiveness of the Polish economy and changes in this competitiveness during the first decade of EU membership.

The starting point for this evaluation of changes in Poland's competitive position in the EU from 2004 to 2014 is the country's potential resulting from its area, population

and national income. Poland ranks sixth in the EU28 in terms of area, population, and size of the economy measured by the value of GDP at purchasing power parity (PPP). In terms of GDP at current exchange rates, Poland ranks eighth among EU countries. This means Poland's contribution to the EU28's economic potential is smaller than suggested by the country's area and population. Still, since 2004, Poland has moved up four notches in terms of GDP at PPP, ranking behind Germany, Britain, France, and Italy, while in 2004, Poland was also behind the Netherlands, Belgium, Sweden and Austria. If competitiveness is measured by GDP growth, from 2004 to the end of 2013, Poland's GDP growth totaled 41%, meaning an expansion of 4% per annum on average. Slovakia was the only EU11¹ country that did better in this respect (42%).

As a result, Poland's competitive position measured by GDP per capita (in PPS terms) has improved since 2004. In 2004, Poland's GDP per capita (in PPS terms) accounted for 45% of the average level in the EU15, while in 2013 the figure improved to 62%. Poland's development gap with the EU15 has therefore narrowed by 17 percentage points. On the other hand, there have also been processes of divergence between EU11 countries. Some EU countries from Central and Eastern Europe, such as Lithuania and Slovakia, bridged the development gap separating them from the EU15 slightly faster than Poland in 2004–2013. Moreover, Poland's GDP per capita (€15,500 in PPS terms) is among the lowest in the EU28 and far below the EU average (€25,700), ranking Poland 23rd in the EU, ahead of only Hungary, Latvia, Croatia, Romania, and Bulgaria.

There are smaller disparities between Poland and the EU15 in terms of social well-being indicators. A composite measure of the quality of life and social development understood in this way is the Human Development Index (HDI), computed by the United Nations Development Program (UNDP). Poland's HDI is steadily rising. In 2013, Poland was ranked 39th in terms of the HDI, three slots higher than in 2004, and ahead of some EU15 countries, including Portugal.

Poland's international competitive position measured by the size and structure of its external economic relations has changed substantially since the country's EU accession. The dynamic growth of exports and imports has led to an increase in Poland's still-insufficient contribution to overall EU trade. In 2004, Poland's contribution to total EU exports (i.e. the combined exports of the 28 countries that were EU members in 2013) was 2.3%, while the country's contribution to total EU imports was 2.7%. In 2013, Poland's role rose to 4% in EU28 exports and 3.8% in imports. Moreover, Poland's contribution to total EU exports increased more rapidly than in the case of imports. A look at the geographical breakdown of Poland's foreign trade reveals that the share of EU28 countries in both Polish exports and imports decreased by about 7–8 percentage points from 2004 to 2013. However, EU countries remain the main export

¹ The EU11 stands for the countries from Central and Eastern Europe (CEE) that joined the EU in 2004, 2007 and 2013. In addition to Poland, these are the Czech Republic, Hungary, Slovakia, Slovenia, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Romania, Bulgaria, and Croatia.

and import markets for Polish goods; they account for about 70% of Poland's total exports and for nearly two-thirds of the country's imports. Germany remains Poland's number one economic partner, although its share in Polish exports fell from 30% in 2004 to 25% in 2013, and its share in Polish imports decreased from 24% to 21%.

The significant increase in Poland's foreign trade during the country's first decade in the EU confirms the theoretical findings about integration having a trade creation effect. Meanwhile, the geographical structure of Poland's trade is being diversified rather slowly. The good news, however, is that the growth in Poland's trade with foreign partners, including those throughout the EU, has been accompanied by a gradual decline in the role of EU countries in Poland's foreign trade. This means Polish companies are building their competitiveness not only on the EU market but globally.

Also of note is a fundamental change in Poland's foreign trade balance. When it joined the EU in 2004, Poland had a deficit in the intra-EU trade of goods. Since 2005 this trade has shown a surplus—and one that has been steadily growing since 2008. Also on the rise is the coverage of imports by exports in Poland's overall foreign trade; that increased from 0.83 in 2004 to 0.98 in 2013. Positive but relatively slow changes have taken place in the structure of Poland's exports. The share of technology-intensive goods rose from 2.3% in 2004 to around 6% in 2013, but these are mostly goods that are easy to imitate. Labor-intensive goods remain an important export item for Poland, accounting for more than 20% of the country's total exports.

Since the country's EU entry, there has been a qualitative asymmetry in Poland's trade with other EU countries. Poland had comparative advantages chiefly in the trade of goods produced in sectors with low value added, while its main trading partners have had advantages in the trade of technology-intensive goods. Poland does not have advantages in the trade of technology-intensive products that are difficult to imitate, but has made some progress in this area: its comparative disadvantage is steadily decreasing. Moreover, the proportion of intra-industry trade in Poland's total trade with other EU countries gradually increased from 2004 to 2013, but inter-industry trade still accounts for the dominant portion of this exchange.

Summing up the general trends in Polish foreign trade in 2004–2013, it is important to note that the scale and intensity of all the positive changes that could be observed in Poland's foreign trade were insufficient to contribute to a significant improvement in the country's international competitive ability to sell, although some progress is already visible in this area.

Aside from foreign trade, another manifestation of the international competitiveness of the Polish economy is the ability to attract foreign factors of production, especially foreign direct investment (FDI). Poland leads the way among EU11 countries in terms of its share of the cumulative FDI stock in the EU11 region. This share is high, at about 30%, and remained unchanged in the 2004–2013 period. However, the FDI inflow to Poland declined in 2009–2010 as a result of the global crisis. After a slight short-lived increase in 2011, the FDI inflow slowed down again in 2012–2013. As a result, Poland's share of the EU11's total FDI inflow has been in single-digit territory since 2012. In 2004–2011, it had hovered around 30%-40%. This means Poland's long-term attractiveness as a destination for FDI remains at a moderate level, mainly due to factors such as fewer advantages related to low labor costs, a worsening demographic situation and cumbersome administrative barriers for doing business.

This is confirmed by an assessment made by the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), according to which Poland's investment attractiveness index has remained unchanged since the country's EU accession and is still among the lowest in the EU11. This does not mean that Poland's EU membership has had no impact on the country's attractiveness to foreign investors. Just the opposite: the stream of FDI flowing into Poland began growing when Poland was still an EU candidate state (Weresa, 2006). The econometric analysis conducted in this book shows that Poland's EU entry has enhanced the country's appeal to foreign investors and led to an increased inflow of FDI.

To sum up this evaluation of changes in Poland's competitive position in 2004–2013, it should be noted that the competitiveness of the Polish economy improved during the country's first decade in the EU, despite the high volatility of the international environment and the need to meet new challenges posed by the outbreak of the global crisis in 2007. Poland showed considerable resilience to the negative implications of the crisis, maintaining a moderate rate of GDP growth and clinging to the path of economic convergence. The increased competitiveness of the Polish economy is confirmed by its better position in international competitiveness rankings. In the World Economic Forum's *Global Competitiveness Report*, Poland moved up from 60th place in 2004 to 42nd place in 2013, ranking second among EU11 countries after Estonia. In 2004, Poland was behind most EU11 countries in this league table, outperforming only Romania and Croatia.

Several factors contributed to improving Poland's competitiveness in 2004–2013. In terms of resources, two factors were of key importance: investment and human capital.

The impact of investment on the Polish economy was especially visible in 2004–2008 when the value of investment increased steadily, mustering double-digit growth in 2006–2007. This was largely due to Poland joining the EU and the improvement in the Polish economy. However, the global economic crisis put a stop to this positive trend, and the value of investment in Poland decreased from 2009 onward—except in 2011, when a short-lived rebound was recorded. In 2013, investment continued to decrease, albeit at a slower rate.

Overall, with Poland in the EU, investment has been stimulated by increased FDI and a growing absorption of EU structural funds. These have helped finance a number of new infrastructure projects. Poland's network of expressways and freeways increased more than fourfold in 2004–2013, accompanied by the development of airport infrastructure and the start of work to modernize railroad infrastructure. However, these positive changes have not covered energy infrastructure, which has fallen into disrepair, largely due to unstable regulations and changing environmental standards. Still,

growing investment—especially in the first few years after accession—and the gradual improvement of the road infrastructure stimulated the growth of competitiveness in the 2004–2013 period.

Further resource-related factors behind Poland's increased competitiveness are an improved quality of human capital and an increase in total factor productivity (TFP). In 2004–2013, total factor productivity in Poland grew at an average rate of 1.8% a year, which was one of the best figures in the EU11. Among EU11 countries, only Slovakia and Lithuania had similar rates of TFP growth, while the EU15 recorded no change in total factor productivity in 2004–2013 (with the growth rate at 0.0%). In Poland, the TFP contribution to economic growth was 36% on average in 2004–2013, slightly less than in most other EU11 countries, but more than in the EU15 on average.

The detailed nature of Poland's economic growth can be scrutinized using a human capital-augmented growth accounting model—one expanded to include human capital, along with capital and labor. Human capital—defined as the number of employed persons with a tertiary education and aged 15–74 years—contributed significantly to Poland's economic growth during the country's first decade in the EU. This means that the country's economic growth and the improvement in the competitive position of the Polish economy were driven to some extent by an increased accumulation of human capital.

Poland's EU entry has also resulted in many changes in economic policy. Adapting the country's legal system to European law has led to economic liberalization and increased the role of market processes and competition. These adjustments covered the market for goods, services, capital and labor and led to some improvement in the conditions of doing business since 2009. That the conditions of doing business in Poland have improved is confirmed by the country's advancement by 10 notches, to 45th place, in the World Bank's *Doing Business 2014* rankings. In terms of conditions of doing business, Poland outperformed countries including Spain, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, and Hungary. However, several EU11 countries, namely Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Slovenia, ranked ahead of Poland.

To sum up the analyses contained in this book, it can be concluded that Poland managed to improve its competitive position among European Union states during its first decade in the EU, mainly due to a better use of internal resources and greater resilience to external shocks than in other EU countries. It is difficult to fully evaluate quantitatively to what extent this was the result of Poland's EU membership, and to what extent other factors were at play. In any case, this assessment of Poland's competitiveness is relative: we compare Poland with other EU member states, specifically its Central and Eastern European peers, which had undergone similar transitions from central planning to a market economy. In other words, we measure Poland's competitive position in relative terms, so it depends not only on the progress made in the Polish economy, but also on the robustness and direction of the changes that have taken place in other countries. A full aggregate assessment of Poland's track record as an EU member extends beyond the scope of this study. The intention of the authors was to show some key trends and focus on selected areas of special importance to competitiveness.

Of special note among the direct benefits of EU membership are changes in how Polish enterprises function on the EU single market. EU entry has also enabled Polish companies to join European and global value chains, and made the country eligible for a wealth of funds for infrastructure projects and human capital development. Poland has access to the EU's Cohesion Fund, which seeks to level out development disparities.

On the minus side, EU membership has not yet led to an improved innovativeness of the Polish economy. Moreover, increased R&D financing from the EU budget has yet to result in significant progress in Poland's science and technology system. Poland has one of the lowest scores in the EU Excellence of Science and Technology Index. Equally low is Poland's ranking in the Index of Economic Impact of Innovation, which is only half the EU average. As a result, the process of Poland's convergence with the EU15 in terms of real GDP per capita has been accompanied by a divergence in relation to the EU average in terms of innovativeness. Catching up with EU innovation leaders has been impossible. Of course, the impact of membership is not only direct, but also indirect and sometimes only visible in the long term. This especially applies to investment in science and education, which tends to produce results only after several years. Therefore regular monitoring of progress in this area and potential adjustments in economic policy are crucial.

Despite the many benefits of Poland's integration with the EU, many problems still need to be resolved. For example, bureaucracy is still a major issue in Poland, the law-making and enforcement system is complicated and riddled with red tape, and the country has made insufficient progress in reforming institutions. Moreover, Poland is reaching a point where it will no longer be able to compete with low input costs alone. The country's human capital resources are shrinking due to demographic factors and to people leaving the country to work in other EU countries. A further rise in productivity is needed to improve competitiveness—a boost that could come from competing with innovative goods and services. But Poland still has a lot of catching up to do in this department. According to the Central Statistical Office (GUS), the percentage of revenue generated by Polish enterprises from the sale of innovative products is among the lowest in the EU11. What's more, in 2012 this percentage was just over half that in 2004. Meanwhile, rapid productivity growth depends on a greater use of new sources of competitiveness, especially innovation and human capital. For this reason, it is necessary to not only invest in the creation of new knowledge and the development of human capital, but also support the transfer of knowledge from science to business and the spread of innovation. This is not possible without further institutional changes, especially without supporting the development of entrepreneurship, making the labor market more flexible, and reducing bureaucracy. A further significant improvement in the competitiveness of the Polish economy would be a transition from competing with
resources to competing with knowledge. This means that the current imitation-based model should be scrapped and replaced by a model based on innovation.

References

Kawecka-Wyrzykowska, E., Synowiec, E. (ed.), (2001), Unia Europejska, Przygotowania Polski do członkostwa, Institute for Market, Consumption and Business Cycles Research, Warsaw.

Kawecka-Wyrzykowska, E., (1999), Polska w drodze do Unii Europejskiej, PWE, Warsaw.

Ładyka, S., (2000), Z teorii integracji gospodarczej, Warsaw School of Economics, Warsaw.

Weresa M.A. (2006), EU eastern enlargement and foreign direct investment flows to Poland, in: P. Jaworski, T. Mickiewicz, Polish EU Accession in Comparative Perspective: Macroeconomics, Finance and the Government, SSEES University College London, London, pp. 131–148.



THE WARSAW SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS

Established in 1906, the Warsaw School of Economics (SGH) is the oldest university of economics in Poland. One in three economists in Poland in the 20th century was a grad-uate of the School.

The Warsaw School of Economics has about 15,000 students, including postgraduate students and Ph.D. candidates. Every year it produces about 2,000 graduates who find employment in both the public and private sectors—in banks, financial institutions, consulting firms and multinational companies.

The Warsaw School of Economics offers more than a dozen study programs at the bachelor's and master's levels in Polish and English as well as more than 120 postgraduate courses, two MBA programs and a choice of doctoral studies. The School is a member of the Global Alliance in Management Education (CEMS), an elite alliance of academic and corporate institutions dedicated to educating future generations of international business leaders.

> Warsaw School of Economics 162 Niepodległości Ave., 02-554 Warsaw tel. +48 22 564 60 00, fax +48 22 849 53 12 info: +48 22 564 64 64 e-mail: informacja@sgh.waw.pl http://www.sgh.waw.pl/

How does the Polish economy fare compared with other economies in the European Union? Has the country made the kind of progress during its first 10 years in the EU that many Poles dreamed of when Poland joined the bloc in May 2004? To what extent has EU membership made Poland more competitive internationally and helped it advance from resource-based to knowledge-based competitiveness?

This book aims to find answers to these questions and determine how competitive Poland is in the European Union a decade after it joined the bloc. The Polish economy is shown in a broader comparative perspective against the background of other EU members.

The analyses in this book go beyond a simple scoreboard approach that could fail to capture all structural factors. The country comparisons are conducted in both quantitative and qualitative terms, enabling the authors to forecast future trends and indicate policy priorities.

WARSAW SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS PRESS 162 Niepodległości Ave., 02-554 Warsaw tel. +48 22 564 94 77, fax +48 22 564 86 86 www.wydawnictwo.sgh.waw.pl e-mail: wydawnictwo@sgh.waw.pl

